
 

 

South Carolina Board of Health and Environmental Control 

 

Agenda 

 

December 12, 2019 

 

Call to Order – 10:00 a.m., Board Room (#3420)  

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control,  

2600 Bull Street, Columbia, S.C. 

 

1. Minutes of November 7, 2019 meeting 

 

2. Administrative and Consent Orders issued by Health Regulation 

 

3. Administrative and Consent Orders issued by Environmental Affairs 

 

4. Public Hearing and Request for Notice of Final Regulation Approval, 

Regulation 61-43, Standards for the Permitting of Agricultural Animal Facilities, 

Proposed Amendment, Document No. 4886 

 

5. Public Hearing and Request for Notice of Final Regulation Approval, 

Regulation 30-1, Statement of Policy, and Regulation 30-14, Administrative 

Procedures, Proposed Amendment, Document No. 4897  

 

6. Public Hearing and Request for Notice of Final Regulation Approval, 

Regulation 61-32, Soft Drink and Water Bottling Plants, Proposed Amendment, and 

Regulation 61-54, Wholesale Commercial Ice Manufacturing, Proposed Repeal, 

Document No. 4903 

 

7. Public Hearing and Request for Notice of Final Regulation Approval, 

Regulation 61-36, Frozen Desserts, Proposed Amendment, and Regulation 61-35, 

Imitation Milk, Imitation Milk Products and Products Made in Semblance of Milk and 

Milk Products, Proposed Repeal, Document No. 4902 

 

8. Public Hearing and Request for Notice of Final Regulation Approval, 

Regulation 61-1, Medical and Dental Scholarship Fund, Proposed Repeal, Document 

No. 4898 

 

9. Agency Affairs 

 

Executive Session (if needed) 

 

10. Final Review Conference - Docket No. 19-RFR-48, Maguro Enterprises, LLC, 

Groundwater Withdrawal Permit, Berkeley County, Permit No. 08IN015, for groundwater 

withdrawal at source 08IN015G01 

 

Adjournment 

 

Note:  The next scheduled meeting is January 6, 2020.   











 
SUMMARY SHEET  

BOARD OF HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL 
December 12, 2019 

 

 
     _______ ACTION/DECISION 

 
          X       INFORMATION 

 

1. TITLE:  Administrative and Consent Orders issued by the Office of Environmental Affairs. 

 

2. SUBJECT:  Administrative and Consent Orders issued by the Office of Environmental Affairs during the period 
October 1, 2019, through October 31, 2019. 

  

3. FACTS:  For the reporting period of October 1, 2019, through October 31, 2019, the Office of Environmental Affairs 

issued one hundred fifty-eight (158) Consent Orders with total assessed civil penalties in the amount of two hundred 

sixteen thousand, six hundred ninety-five ($216,695.00) dollars.  Also, seven (7) Administrative Orders were 
reported during this period with total assessed civil penalties in the amount of two thousand, two hundred 

($2,200.00) dollars. 
 

Bureau and Program 
Area 

Administrative 
Orders 

Assessed 
Penalties 

Consent 
Agreements 

Consent 
Orders 

Assessed Penalties 

Land and Waste 
Management 

     

UST Program 0 0 0 4 $3,210.00 

Aboveground Tanks 0 0 0 0 $0.00 

Solid Waste 0 0 0 1 $3,900.00 

Hazardous Waste 0 0 0 3 $35,000.00 

Infectious Waste 0 0 0 0 $0.00 

Mining 0 0 0 0 $0.00 

SUBTOTAL 0 0 0 8 $42,110.00 

Water      

Recreational Water 1 $1,000.00 0 60 $69,480.00 

Drinking Water 0 0 0 3 $4,000.00 

Water Pollution 0 0 0 3 $9,505.00 

Dam Safety 0 0 0 0 $0.00 

SUBTOTAL 1 $1,000.00 0 66 $82,985.00 

Air Quality      

SUBTOTAL 1 $700.00 0 1 $3,000.00 

Environmental Health 
Services 

  
 

  

Food Safety 1 $500.00 0 82 $88,600.00 

Onsite Wastewater 4 $0.00 0 1 $0.00 

SUBTOTAL 5 $500.00 0 83 $88,600.00 

OCRM      

SUBTOTAL 0 0 0 0 0 

TOTAL 7 $2,200.00 0 158 $216,695.00 

 

Submitted by: 

 
_____________________________ 

Myra C. Reece 
Director of Environmental Affairs 



ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS ENFORCEMENT REPORT 
BOARD OF HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL 

December 12, 2019 
 

 

BUREAU OF LAND AND WASTE MANAGEMENT 
 

 
Underground Storage Tank Enforcement 

 
 

1) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-0181-UST 

Order Date: October 9, 2019 
Individual/Entity: J & Mac, LLC 

Facility: Saluda Quick Stop 
Location: 1525 Anderson Drive 

 Williamston, SC 29697 

Mailing Address: P.O. Box 311 
 Belton, SC 29627 

County: Anderson 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit/ID Number: 11125 
Violations Cited: The State Underground Petroleum Environmental 

Response Bank Act of 1988 (SUPERB Act), S.C. Code Ann. § 44-2-10 et. seq. (2018), R.61-

92, Section 280.20(c)(1)(ii) (2012 & Supp. 2018). 
 

Summary:  J & Mac, LLC (Individual/Entity), owns underground storage tanks located in 
Williamston, South Carolina.  On June 20, 2019, the Department issued a Notice of Alleged Violation 

for not having an adequate overfill prevention system. The Individual/Entity has violated the 

SUPERB Act and the South Carolina Underground Storage Tank Control Regulation as follows: failed 
to maintain a permitted or upgraded site with an adequate overfill prevention system, in that there 

was a stick in the drop tube shut off valve of the 6,000-gallon diesel UST. All violations have been 
corrected. 

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to:   Pay a civil penalty in the amount of one 
thousand dollars ($1,000.00). 

 
 

2) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-0250-UST 
Order Date: October 14, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Sanjay and Ulka Patel 

Facility: Pee Dee Grocery 
Location: 9150 Highway 701 South 

 Conway, SC 29527   
Mailing Address: 2521 Hunters Trail 

 Myrtle Beach, SC 29588 

County: Horry 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit/ID Number: 10475 
Violations Cited: The State Underground Petroleum Environmental 

Response Bank Act of 1988 (SUPERB Act), S.C. code Ann., § 44-2-10 et. seq. (2018); and 
South Carolina Underground Storage Tank Control Regulation, 7 S.C. Code Ann., Regs. 61-

92.20.(c)(1)(ii) (2018). 



 
Summary: Sanjay and Ulka Patel (Individual/Entity) own underground storage tanks 

(USTs) located in Conway, South Carolina.  On July 5, 2019, the Department issued a Notice of 
Alleged Violation because no overfill prevention device was present on diesel tank #4.  The 

Individual/Entity has violated the SUPERB Act and the South Carolina Underground Storage Tank 

Control Regulation as follows:  failed to maintain overfill prevention equipment of an underground 
storage tank system.  The violation has been corrected.     

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to:  pay a civil penalty in the amount of one 

thousand dollars ($1,000.00).   
   

 

3) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-0269-UST 
Order Date: October 14, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Richland County School District 1 
Facility: Maintenance Facility 

Location: 220 Wayne Street 

 Columbia, SC 29201   
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Richland 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit/ID Number: 07345 
Violations Cited: The State Underground Petroleum Environmental 

Response Bank Act of 1988 (SUPERB Act), S.C. code Ann., § 44-2-10 et. seq. (2018); and 

South Carolina Underground Storage Tank Control Regulation, 7 S.C. Code Ann., Regs. 61-
92.280.10(d) (2018). 

 
Summary: Richland County School District 1 (Individual/Entity) owns underground storage 

tanks (USTs) located in Columbia, South Carolina.  On August 8, 2019, the Department issued a 

Notice of Alleged Violation because fuel was delivered into the USTs before the Annual Tank 
Registration Fees for fiscal year 2020 were paid.  The Individual/Entity has violated the SUPERB 

Act and the South Carolina Underground Storage Tank Control Regulation as follows:  introduced 
regulated substances into USTs for which the owner does not hold a currently valid registration.  

All violations have been corrected.     

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to:  pay a civil penalty in the amount of one 

thousand dollars ($1,000.00). 
   

 
4) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-0317-UST 

Order Date: October 15, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Hunter Brothers Farm  
Facility: Hunter Brothers Farm 

Location: 1625 Rocky River Road 
 Lancaster, SC 29720 

Mailing Address: 4129 Jenkins Hill Road 

 Lancaster 
 SC 29720-7426 

County: Lancaster  
Previous Orders: None 

Permit/ID Number: 18419 
Violations Cited: The State Underground Petroleum Environmental 

Response Bank Act of 1988 (SUPERB Act), S.C. code Ann. § 44-2-60(A) (2018).  



Summary:  Hunter Brothers Farm (Individual/Entity), owns and operates an underground 
storage tank located in Lancaster, South Carolina.  On August 14, 2019, the Department issued a 

Notice of Alleged Violation because annual tank registration fees for fiscal year 2020 had not been 
paid. The Individual/Entity has violated the SUPERB Act as follows: failed to pay annual tank 

registration fees.  

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to:   pay annual tank registration fees and 

associated late fees for fiscal year 2020 in the amount of six hundred five dollars ($605.00) and 
pay a civil penalty in the amount of one hundred twenty dollars ($120.00).  

 
 

Solid Waste Enforcement 

 
 

5) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-20-SW 
Order Date: October 29, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Nobles Corporation 

Facility: Nobles Corporation C&D Solid Waste 
 Processing & Recycling Facility and Nobles 

 Corporation Wood Chipping Facility  
Location: 2349 Highway 301 South   

  Dillon, SC 29536  
Mailing Address: 6995 Lester Road   

  Ocean Isle, NC  28469 

County: Dillon 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit/ID Number: 172483-2001 and 172483-3002 
Violations Cited: South Carolina Solid Waste Policy and 

Management Act of 1991, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-96-10 et seq. (2002 & Supp. 2018); Solid 

Waste Management: Compost and Mulch Production from Land-clearing Debris, Yard 
Trimmings and Organic Residuals, R.61-107.4 (Supp. 2016) Part III B.1, E.1.d, & e, E.4, 

E.5c, E.15, Part V C.2 and Part VI B.; Solid Waste Management: Solid Waste Processing 
Facilities, R.61-107.6 (1995) E.7; and Solid Waste Management:  Solid Waste Landfills and 

Structural Fill Regulation, R.61-107.19 (2012); Part II.B.1; Class 2 Solid Waste Processing 

Facility Permit number 172483-2001, Operational Plan 3.b., Special Permit Conditions A.1. 
& 3.; Type One Composting Facility Permit number 172483-3002, A.1. & 3; Operational 

Plan and Contingency Plan.  
 

Summary: Nobles Corporation (Individual/Entity) owns and operates a C&D Processing 
Facility and Wood Chipping Facility located in Dillon, South Carolina. During multiple inspections, 

the Department's Inspector observed violations and on May 7, 2019, a Notice of Alleged Violation 

was issued. The Individual/Entity violated the South Carolina Solid Waste Policy and Management 
Act, the Solid Waste Management:  Compost and Mulch Production from Land-clearing Debris, Yard 

Trimmings and Organic Residuals Regulation; Solid Waste Management:  Solid Waste Processing 
Facilities Regulation; Solid Waste Management:  Solid Waste Landfills and Structural Fill Regulation 

and associated Permits as follows:  exceeded the on-site storage limit for unprocessed and 

preprocessed C&D material for greater than one week; failed meet the required buffers, failed to 
contain all waste in the tipping area, failed to obtain a permit from the Department to operate a 

structural fill; stored unprocessed land clearing debris outside the permitted area and in excess of 
the permitted limit; failed to have adequate fire lanes; and, failed to obtain a permit from the 

Department before burning land clearing debris at the Wood Chipping Facility.   
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to:  apply a two foot cover and seed the finished 



surface of the structural fill area; submit a copy of a deed notation for the area of the property 
that was filled; remove all remaining compost from the Wood Chipping Facility and terminate the 

permit; and, pay a civil penalty in the amount of three thousand, nine hundred dollars ($3,900.00) 
in accordance with the terms of a promissory note. 

   

 
Hazardous Waste Enforcement 

 
 

6) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-23-HW  
Order Date: October 3, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Spartanburg Medical Center – Mary Black 

Campus 
Facility: Spartanburg Medical Center – Mary Black 

Campus  
Location: 1700 Skylyn Drive 

 Spartanburg, SC 29307 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Spartanburg 

Previous Orders: 16-6-HW ($12,000.00) 
Permit/ID Number: SCR 000 001 131    

Violations Cited: The South Carolina Hazardous Waste 
Management Act, S.C. Code Ann.  §§ 44-56-10 et seq. (2018), and the South Carolina 

Hazardous Waste Management Regulation, 6 and 7 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-79 (2012 and 

Supp. 2018).        
 

 Summary: Spartanburg Medical Center, Mary Black Campus (Individual/Entity) provides 
health care services at its facility located at 1700 Skylyn Drive, Spartanburg, South Carolina. The 

Department conducted an inspection on April 23, 2019. The Individual/Entity violated the South 

Carolina Hazardous Waste Management Act and the Hazardous Waste Management Regulations 
as follows: failed to accurately determine if a waste was a hazardous waste; failed to keep 

containers holding hazardous waste closed, except when it is necessary to add or remove waste; 
failed to ensure each container is labeled or marked clearly with accumulation start dates; failed to 

move containers from the satellite area to the storage area with three (3) days from the date the 

excess began accumulating; accumulated acutely hazardous waste in excess of one (1) quart; 
failed to clean up a hazardous waste discharge that occurred during processing; failed to label each 

container with the appropriate EPA Hazardous Waste Number(s); failed to receive an extension 
from the Department to allow hazardous waste to remain onsite for longer than 180 days; failed 

to record inspections in an inspection log or summary, and keep such records at the facility for at 
least three (3) years from the date of inspection; failed to submit a legible copy of the manifest to 

the Department, with some indication that the generator has not received confirmation of delivery 

from the designated facility; failed to label or mark clearly each container of universal lamps; and 
failed to demonstrate the length of time universal waste had been accumulated from the date it 

became a waste.         
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of twenty-

six thousand dollars ($26,000.00). 
 

 
 

 
 

 



7) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-25-HW  
Order Date: October 3, 2019 

Individual/Entity: P&L Development, LLC 
Facility: P&L Development, LLC 

Location: 513 Old Griffin Road 

 Piedmont, SC 29673 
Mailing Address: 1874 Highway 72 

 West Clinton, SC 29325 
County: Greenville 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit/ID Number: SCR 000 748 553    

Violations Cited: The South Carolina Hazardous Waste 

Management Act, S.C. Code Ann.  §§ 44-56-10 et seq. (2018), and the South Carolina 
Hazardous Waste Management Regulation, 6 and 7 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-79 (2012 and 

Supp. 2018).  

   
 Summary: P&L Development, LLC (Individual/Entity) is a generator of hazardous waste 

located in Greenville County, South Carolina. The Department conducted an inspection conducted 

on May 7, 2019. The Individual/Entity violated the South Carolina Hazardous Waste Management 
Act and the Hazardous Waste Management Regulations as follows: failed to have all containers 

holding hazardous waste closed, except when necessary to add or remove waste; failed to ensure 
that each container containing hazardous waste shall be permanently and legibly marked with the 

following or equivalent statement: “Hazardous Waste- federal laws prohibit improper disposal”; 
failed to ensure that the date upon which each period of accumulation begins is clearly marked 

and visible for inspection on each container; failed to file a revised or new Notification Form with 

the Department whenever acute hazardous waste was produced within thirty (30) days after such 
waste was first produced; and failed to file a revised or new Notification Form with the Department 

whenever the information previously provided (generator status) became outdated or inaccurate. 
 

 Action: The individual/Entity is required to: submit to the Department for review and 

approval, a Waste Management Plan (WMP) for all hazardous wastes generated at the facility. The 
WMP shall include, but not be limited to: (a) the method(s) for tracking the length of time stored 

onsite; (b) the procedures for labeling and ensuring containers are closed and in good condition; 
and (c) the procedure for determining proper waste disposal; within fifteen (15) days of receipt of 

any written comments or deficiencies from the Department’s review of the WMP, revise the WMP 
and resubmit for further review; upon receiving the Department’s written approval of the WMP, 

immediately implement the WMP as part of the facility’s operating record; and pay a civil penalty 

in the amount of four thousand dollars ($4,000.00).  
 

 
8) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-26-HW  

Order Date: October 17, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Highland Industries, Inc. 
Facility: Highland Industries, Inc. 

Location: 650 Chesterfield Highway 
 Cheraw, SC 29520 

Mailing Address: Same 

County: Chesterfield 
Previous Orders: None 
Permit/ID Number: SCD 045 639 861    
Violations Cited: The South Carolina Hazardous Waste 

Management Act, S.C. Code Ann.  §§ 44-56-10 et seq. (2018), and the South Carolina 



Hazardous Waste Management Regulation, 6 and 7 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-79 (2012 and 
Supp. 2018).  

   
 Summary: Highland Industries, Inc. (Individual/Entity) is a generator of hazardous waste 
located in Chesterfield County, South Carolina. The Department conducted an inspection on May 

7, 2019. The Individual/Entity violated the South Carolina Hazardous Waste Management Act and 

the Hazardous Waste Management Regulations as follows: failed to have all containers holding 
hazardous waste closed, except when necessary to add or remove waste; failed to mark containers 

either with the words: “Hazardous Waste” or with other words that identified the contents of the 
container;  failed to ensure the date upon which each period of accumulation begins is clearly 

marked and visible for inspection on each container; failed to keep a container holding hazardous 
waste closed during storage, except when it is necessary to add or remove waste; failed to ensure 

each container containing hazardous waste shall be permanently and legibly marked with the 

following or equivalent statement: “Hazardous Waste – federal laws prohibit improper disposal”; 
failed to labeled each container with the appropriate EPA Hazardous Waste Number(s); failed to 

demonstrate the length of time that the universal waste has been accumulated from the date it 
becomes a waste or is received; failed to ensure that each lamp or a container or package in which 

such lamps are contained are labeled or marked clearly with one of the following phrases: 

"Universal Waste - Lamp(s)," or "Waste Lamp(s)," or “Used Lamp(s)"; and failed to ensure that 
each battery or a container or package in which such batteries are contained are labeled or marked 

clearly with one of the following phrases: “Universal Waste – Battery(ies),” or “Waste Battery(ies),” 
or “Used Battery(ies).” 

 
 Action: The individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of five 

thousand dollars ($5,000.00). 

 
 

 
BUREAU OF WATER 

 

 
Recreational Waters Enforcement 

 
 

9) Order Type and Number: Administrative Order 19-120-RW 
Order Date: August 28, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Harrar Holdings II, LLC 

Facility: Serendipity 
Location: 407 71st Avenue North 

 Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Horry 

Previous Orders: None  
Permit/ID Number: 26-G14-1 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Harrar Holdings II, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the 

proper operation and maintenance of a spa. On June 3, 2019, and June 30, 2019, the spa was 
inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the equipment 
room was not locked; the gate did not self-close and latch; the chlorine and pH levels were not 

within the acceptable range of water quality standards; the cyanuric acid level was above the water 



quality standards acceptable limit; and, the spa temperature was not being monitored and posted 
to the public.  

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of one 

thousand dollars ($1,000.00).  

 
 

10) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-176-RW 
Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Magnolia Hospitality, LLC 
Facility: Best Western 

Location: 11445 Ocean Highway 

 Pawleys Island, SC 29585 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Georgetown 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit/ID Number: 22-114-1 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Magnolia Hospitality, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the 
proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 27, 2019, July 15, 2019, and August 12, 

2019, the pool was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and 
maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a 

ladder was missing a bumper; the chlorine and pH levels were not within the acceptable range of 

water quality standards; the life ring did not have a permanently attached rope; and, the bound 
and numbered log book was not maintained on a daily basis. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of two 

thousand, forty dollars ($2,040.00). 

 
 

11) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-177-RW 
Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Arrowood Swim Club 

Facility: Arrowood Swim Club 
Location: 1209 Craig Avenue 

 Lancaster, SC 29720 
Mailing Address: 1989 Shamrock Avenue 

 Lancaster, SC 29720 
County: Lancaster 

Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 29-006-1 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Arrowood Swim Club (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper 

operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 19, 2019, and August 8, 2019, the pool was 

inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 
Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a ladder was not 

tight and secure; the pool floor was dirty; the plaster on the pool floor was chipped; the deck was 
uneven with sharp edges; a skimmer was missing a weir and the basket was floating; the drinking 

water fountain was not operating properly; the flow meter was not operating properly; there was 
standing water on the floor in the pool equipment room; the life ring did not have a permanently 



attached rope; the pool rules sign was damaged and was not legible; and, the recirculation and 
filtration system was leaking. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 

eighty dollars ($680.00). The civil penalty has been paid. 

 
 

12) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-178-RW 
Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: West Farm Homeowners’ 
 Association, Inc. 

Facility: West Farm  

Location: 400 Chillingham Court 
 Fountain Inn, SC 29644 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Greenville 

Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 23-1208B  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: West Farm Homeowners’ Association, Inc. (Individual/Entity) owns and is 

responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 27, 2019, and August 12, 
2019, the pool was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and 

maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the 

chlorine and pH levels were not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; the 
disinfection equipment was not operating; the recirculation and filtration system was not operating; 

and, the automatic controller was not operating. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 

eighty dollars ($680.00). 
 

 
13) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-179-RW 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: The Young Men’s Christian Association of 
Sumter, S.C. 

Facility: YMCA Sumter 
Location: 50 Willow Drive 

 Sumter, SC 29150 
Mailing Address: 510 Miller Road 

 Sumter, SC 29150 

County: Sumter 
Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 43-005-1 & 43-051-1 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 

Summary: The Young Men’s Christian Association of Sumter, S.C. (Individual/Entity) owns 
and is responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool and a spa. On July 2, 2019, 

and July 31, 2019, the pool and spa were inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to 
properly operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools 

Regulation as follows: the pump room was not locked; there were non-pool related items stored 
in the pump room; the chlorine and pH levels were not within the acceptable range of water quality 

standards; the pool rules sign was not completely filled out; the Vac Alert system was not operating; 



the main drain grates were broken; there were no “No Lifeguard On Duty – Swim At Your Own 
Risk” signs; there were leaking pipes in the pump room; there was a chlorine leak in the pump 

room; the disinfection equipment was not operating properly; and, the bound and numbered log 
book was not maintained a minimum of three times per week by the pool operator of record. 

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of one 
thousand, three hundred sixty dollars ($1,360.00). 

 
 

14) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-181-RW 
Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Hartsville Ventures, LLC 

Facility: Hampton Inn 
Location: 203 East Carolina Avenue 

 Hartsville, SC 29550 
Mailing Address: 3722 Shipyard Boulevard, Suite C 

 Wilmington, NC 28403 

County: Darlington 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit/ID Number: 16-1007B 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Hartsville Ventures, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the 

proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 18, 2019, and July 22, 2019, the pool was 

inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 
Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the chlorine and 

pH levels were not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; only one “Shallow Water 
– No Diving Allowed” sign was posted; and, only one “No Lifeguard On Duty – Swim At Your Own 

Risk” sign was posted.   

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 

eighty dollars ($680.00). The civil penalty has been paid. 
 

 
15) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-182-RW 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Canaan Pointe Limited Partnership 

Facility: Canaan Pointe  
Location: 200 Canaan Pointe Drive 

 Spartanburg, SC 29306 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Spartanburg 

Previous Orders: 16-134-RW ($680.00)  
Permit/ID Number: 42-186-1  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Canaan Pointe Limited Partnership (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible 

for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 11, 2019, and July 17, 2019, the pool 
was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the chlorine level 
was not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; a skimmer lid was cracked; there 

were no paper towels in the bathroom; the drinking water fountain was not operating properly; 
the foot rinse shower was not operating properly; the pool equipment room piping was leaking; 



and, the  “No Lifeguard On Duty – Swim At Your Own Risk” signs did not have the correct size 
lettering. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of one 

thousand, three hundred sixty dollars ($1,360.00).  The civil penalty has been paid. 

 

 
16) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-183-RW 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Sandpebble Beach Club Interval Owners 

Association, Inc. 
Facility: Sandpebble Condominiums 

Location: 1011 South Ocean Boulevard 

 Surfside Beach, SC 29575 
Mailing Address: 2001 South Ocean Boulevard 

 Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 
County: Horry  

Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 26-Q43-1 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Sandpebble Beach Club Interval Owners Association, Inc. (Individual/Entity) 

owns and is responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a spa. On June 4, 2019, and 
July 15, 2019, the spa was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and 

maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a 

skimmer was missing a weir; the gate did not self-close and latch; the main drain grates were 
broken; the spa rules sign was not completely filled out and was not legible; only one “No Lifeguard 

On Duty – Swim At You Own Risk” sign was posted; and, the bound and numbered log book was 
not maintained on a daily basis.   

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00). 

 

  
17) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-185-RW 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Bhavish, LLC 

Facility: Super 8 Motel 

Location: 1832 ½ West Lucas Street 
 Florence, SC 29501 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Florence 

Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 21-119-1 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Bhavish, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper 

operation and maintenance of a pool. On July 10, 2019, and August 5, 2019, the pool was 

inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 
Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the lifeline floats 

were not properly spaced; the lifeline was deteriorated; a ladder was missing bumpers; the pool 
furniture was not at least four feet from the edge of the pool; the pool floor was not clean; the 

depth marker tiles at the waterline were not the appropriate size; the pump room was not locked; 



the gate did not self-close and latch; the chlorine and pH levels were not within the acceptable 
range of water quality standards; the emergency notification device was not operating; the bound 

and numbered log book was not maintained on a daily basis; the bound and numbered log book 
was not maintained a minimum of three times per week by the pool operator of record; the 

disinfection equipment was not operating; and, the recirculation and filtration system was not 

operating. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00). 

 
 

18) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-186-RW 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Maniben, LLC 

Facility: Quality Inn & Suites 
Location: 7251 Garners Ferry Road 

 Columbia, SC 29209 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Richland 

Previous Orders: None  
Permit/ID Number: 40-356-1 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Maniben, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper 

operation and maintenance of a pool. On May 28, 2019, July 12, 2019, and August 9, 2019, the 
pool was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a handrail was 
missing a bolt cover; the water level was too low; a skimmer was missing a weir; the plaster on 

the pool floor was chipped and had sharp edges; the gate did not self-close and latch; the chlorine 

and pH levels were not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; the main drain 
grates were not in place; the bound and numbered log book was not available for review during 

the first inspection; and, the bound and numbered log book was not maintained on a daily basis 
during the second inspection. 

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of two 
thousand, forty dollars ($2,040.00). 

 
 

19) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-187-RW 
Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Cliff Ridge Colony Homeowners 

Association, Inc.  
Facility: Cliff Ridge Colony  

Location: 200 Rhododendron Drive 
 Cleveland, SC 29635 

Mailing Address: Same 

County: Greenville 
Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 23-245-1  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Cliff Ridge Colony Homeowners Association, Inc. (Individual/Entity) owns and 

is responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On July 10, 2019, July 24, 2019, 



and August 7, 2019, the pool was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly 
operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as 

follows: the lifeline was not attached to the pool wall on the first inspection; the lifeline floats were 
not properly spaced and were damaged on the second inspection; the lifeline floats were not 

properly spaced on the third inspection; a ladder was missing bumpers; the chlorine and pH levels 

were not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; and, the bound and numbered 
log book was not maintained on a daily basis.  

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of two 

thousand, forty dollars ($2,040.00). 
 

 

20) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-188-RW 
Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Andover Park Apartments Limited 
Partnership  

Facility: Andover Park 

Location: 831 Cleveland Street 
 Greenville, SC 29601 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Greenville 

Previous Orders: None  
Permit/ID Number: 23-142-1  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Andover Park Apartments Limited Partnership (Individual/Entity) owns and is 

responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 19, 2019, and July 25, 
2019, the pool was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and 

maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a 

ladder was missing a bolt cover and rungs; the pool floor was not clean; there was debris in the 
skimmer baskets; the foot rinse shower was missing; the chlorine and pH levels were not within 

the acceptable range of water quality standards; and, the bound and numbered log book was not 
maintained on a daily basis. 

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00). 

 
 

21) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-189-RW 
Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Woodstream Farms Apartments Limited 

Partnership 
Facility: Woodstream Farms Apartments  

Location: 200 Mitchell Drive 
 Greenville, SC 29615 

Mailing Address: Same 

County: Greenville 
Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 23-110-1  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Woodstream Farms Apartments Limited Partnership (Individual/Entity) owns 

and is responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On July 2, 2019, and August 



6, 2019, the pool was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and 
maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the 

chlorine and pH levels were not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; and, the 
bound and numbered log book was not maintained on a daily basis.  

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00). 

 
 

22) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-184-RW 
Order Date: October 2, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Forest Oaks Apartments (SC) Owner, LLC 

Facility: Forest Oaks Apartments 
Location: 1878 Gingercake Circle 

 Rock Hill, SC 29732 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: York 

Previous Orders: 17-128-RW ($680.00); 
 18-168-RW ($1,360.00)  

Permit/ID Number: 46-159-1 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Forest Oaks Apartments (SC) Owner, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is 

responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 20, 2019, and August 5, 

2019, the pool was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and 
maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: there 

was debris in the skimmer baskets; a skimmer was missing a weir; the flow meter was not operating 
properly; a ladder was missing non-slip tread inserts; the bathroom did not have paper towels; the 

chlorine level was not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; the cyanuric acid 

level was above the water quality standards acceptable limit; and, the cyanuric acid level was not 
checked weekly. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of two 

thousand, seven hundred twenty dollars ($2,720.00). The civil penalty has been paid. 

 
 

23) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-190-RW 
Order Date: October 2, 2019 

Individual/Entity: KLSV Hotels & Investments, LLC 
Facility: Quality Inn & Suites 

Location: 2625 Cherry Road 

 Rock Hill, SC 29730 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: York 
Previous Orders: 17-108-RW ($340.00)  

Permit/ID Number: 46-036-1 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: KLSV Hotels & Investments, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for 
the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 17, 2019, and July 19, 2019, the pool 

was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 
Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the lifeline floats 

were not properly spaced; the pool wall had tiles that were chipped; the drinking water fountain 



was not operating properly; there was no foot rinse shower; the flow meter was not operating 
properly; a gate did not self-close and latch; the life ring rope was deteriorated; the log book was 

not properly bound and numbered; the bound and numbered log book was not maintained a 
minimum of three times per week by the pool operator of record; the cyanuric acid level was not 

checked weekly; and, the recirculation system was not operating properly. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of one 

thousand, three hundred sixty dollars ($1,360.00). 
 

 
24) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-191-RW 

Order Date: October 2, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Hotel 2650, LLC 
Facility: Towne Place Suites 

Location: 2650 Hospitality Boulevard 
 Florence, SC 29501 

Mailing Address: Same 

County: Florence 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit/ID Number: 21-1026B 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Hotel 2650, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper 

operation and maintenance of a pool. On July 3, 2019, and July 23, 2019, the pool was inspected, 

and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has 
violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the pool furniture was not at least four 

feet from the edge of the pool; a skimmer basket was broken; the chlorine and pH levels were not 
within the acceptable range of water quality standards; and, the cyanuric acid level was not 

recorded on a weekly basis in the bound and numbered log book.  

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 

eighty dollars ($680.00). 
 

 
25) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-192-RW 

Order Date: October 2, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Foxfire Motel Properties, LLC 

Facility: Days Inn Beach Front  
Location: 1403 South Ocean Boulevard 

 Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Horry 

Previous Orders: 18-048-RW ($2,040.00); 
 18-233-RW ($1,700.00) 

Permit/ID Number: 26-H81-1  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 

Summary: Foxfire Motel Properties, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the 
proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On May 23, 2019, and July 16, 2019, the pool was 

inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 
Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the gate did not 

self-close and latch; and, the chlorine level was not within the acceptable range of water quality 
standards. 



 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of two 

thousand, seven hundred twenty dollars ($2,720.00). 
 

 

26) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-193-RW 
Order Date: October 3, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Regal Manor Homeowners’ Association, 
Inc. 

Facility: Regal Manor 
Location: 549 Starlight Drive 

 Fort Mill, SC 29715 

Mailing Address: 1612 Military Cut Off Road, Suite 108 
 Wilmington, NC 28403 

County: York 
Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 46-1084B & 46-1085C 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Regal Manor Homeowners’ Association, Inc. (Individual/Entity) owns and is 
responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool and a kiddie pool. On June 5, 2019, 

and July 12, 2019, the pool and kiddie pool were inspected, and violations were issued for failure 
to properly operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools 

Regulation as follows: the foot rinse shower was not operating; the flow meter was not operating; 

the chlorine and pH levels were not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; the 
cyanuric acid level was above the water quality standards acceptable limit; there were unlabeled 

chemicals in the pump room; the cyanuric acid level was not recorded a minimum of once per 
week in the bound and numbered log book; the bound and numbered log book was not maintained 

on a daily basis; and, the bound and numbered log book was not maintained a minimum of three 

times per week by the pool operator of record. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of one 
thousand, three hundred sixty dollars ($1,360.00). 

 

 
27) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-194-RW 

Order Date: October 3, 2019 
Individual/Entity: National Health Investors, Inc. 

Facility: Cascade Verdae  
Location: 10 Fountainview Terrace 

 Greenville, SC 29607 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Greenville 

Previous Orders: None  
Permit/ID Number: 23-1148D  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: National Health Investors, Inc. (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for 

the proper operation and maintenance of a spa. On March 15, 2019, June 20, 2019, and July 26, 
2019, the spa was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and 

maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the 
chlorine and pH levels were not within the acceptable range of water quality standards.  

 



Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of two 
thousand, forty dollars ($2,040.00). 

 
 

28) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-195-RW 

Order Date: October 4, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Param Hospitality Group, LLC 

Facility: Days Inn 
Location: 875 Riverview Road 

 Rock Hill, SC 29730 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: York 

Previous Orders: None  
Permit/ID Number: 46-075-1 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Param Hospitality Group, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the 

proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 28, 2019, and August 13, 2019, the pool 
was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the water was 
cloudy; there was debris in the skimmer baskets; a skimmer basket was broken; a skimmer was 

missing a weir;  the flow meter was not operating properly; a gate did not self-close and latch; the 
chlorine level was not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; the cyanuric acid 

level was above the water quality standards acceptable limit; the main drain grates were not visible 

due to cloudy water; the life ring was deteriorated and did not have a permanently attached rope; 
the shepherd’s crook was not visible; the emergency notification device was not approved and was 

not within two hundred feet of the pool; the facility address was not posted at the emergency 
notification device; the pool rules sign was not completely filled out; the bound and numbered log 

book was not maintained on a daily basis; a ladder was missing non-slip tread inserts; and, the 

drinking water fountain was not within fifty feet of the pool.  
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00). 

 

 
29) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-196-RW 

Order Date: October 7, 2019 
Individual/Entity: GrayBul GateWay, LP 

Facility: Gateway at Rock Hill  
Location: 820 Sebring Drive 

 Rock Hill, SC 29730 

Mailing Address: 200 East Broad Street, Suite 220 
 Greenville, SC 29601 

County: York 
Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 46-1131B 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: GrayBul GateWay, LP (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper 
operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 17, 2019, and July 25, 2019, the pool was inspected, 

and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has 
violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the pool walls were dirty; there was 

debris in the skimmer baskets; the bathrooms did not have toilet paper; the pH level was not within 



the acceptable range of water quality standards; the “Shallow Water – No Diving Allowed” signs 
were obstructed; the “No Lifeguard On Duty – Swim At Your Own Risk” signs were obstructed and 

did not have the correct size lettering; the bound and numbered log book was not maintained on 
a daily basis; and, the cyanuric acid level was not checked weekly. 

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00).  The civil penalty has been paid. 

 
 

30) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-197-RW 
Order Date: October 7, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Marsh Manor Property Owners Association 

Facility: Marsh Manor 
Location: 902 Sea Mountain Highway 

 North Myrtle Beach, SC 29582 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Horry 

Previous Orders: None  
Permit/ID Number: 26-B45-1  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Marsh Manor Property Owners Association (Individual/Entity) owns and is 
responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 7, 2019, and July 1, 2019, 

the pool was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. 

The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the lifeline 
floats were not properly spaced; the pool deck was uneven with sharp edges; and, the chlorine 

and pH levels were not within the acceptable range of water quality standards.  
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 

eighty dollars ($680.00). 
 

 
31) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-198-RW 

Order Date: October 8, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Midas Clemson, LLC 
Facility: Courtyard Marriott  

Location: 201 Canoy Lane  
 Clemson, SC 29631 

Mailing Address: 1804 Borman Circle Drive 
 St. Louis, MO 63146 

County: Pickens 

Previous Orders: None  
Permit/ID Number: 39-1058B 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Midas Clemson, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper 

operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 11, 2019, and August 13, 2019, the pool was 
inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the chlorine and 
pH levels were not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; and, the bound and 

numbered log book was not available for review. 
 



Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00). The civil penalty has been paid. 

 
 

32) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-199-RW 

Order Date: October 8, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Gulf Stream Villas Homeowners 

Association, Inc. 
Facility: Gulf Stream Villas Condos  

Location: 1601 South Waccamaw Drive 
 Garden City, SC 29576 

Mailing Address: Same 

County: Georgetown 
Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 22-108-1  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 

Summary: Gulf Stream Villas Homeowners Association, Inc. (Individual/Entity) owns and 
is responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 14, 2019, and July 22, 

2019, the pool was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and 
maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a 

gate did not self-close and latch; the chlorine level was not within the acceptable range of water 
quality standards; the emergency notification device was not operational; the current pool operator 

of record information was not posted to the public; and, the lifeline floats were not properly spaced. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 

eighty dollars ($680.00).  The civil penalty has been paid. 
 

 

33) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-200-RW 
Order Date: October 8, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Highpointe of Clemson Owners’  
 Association, Inc. 

Facility: The View at the Pier  

Location: 145 Highpointe Boulevard 
 Seneca, SC 29678 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Oconee 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit/ID Number: 37-1012B, 37-1014B, & 37-1013D  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Highpointe of Clemson Owners’ Association, Inc. (Individual/Entity) owns and 

is responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool, lazy river, and a spa. On June 
12, 2019, and August 1, 2019, the pool, lazy river, and spa were inspected, and violations were 

issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public 

Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: there was debris in the skimmer baskets; a gate did not 
self-close and latch; there was a hole in the perimeter fence with openings greater than four inches; 

the shepherd’s crook bolt was reversed; the pool rules sign was not completely filled out; the bound 
and numbered log book was not maintained on a daily basis; there was a large open hole in the 

ground in the pool area that posed a hazard; depth marker tiles at the water line were missing and 
were cracked; a ladder had a broken rung; there was no life ring; there was no shepherd’s crook 

at the lazy river; the “No Lifeguard On Duty – Swim At Your Own Risk” signs were obstructed; 



there was no spa thermometer; the chlorine level was not within the acceptable range of water 
quality standards; and, a handrail was not tight and secure. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of two 

thousand, forty dollars ($2,040.00). 

 
 

34) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-201-RW 
Order Date: October 8, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Young Men’s Christian Association  
 of the Upper Pee Dee 

Facility: Chesterfield Family YMCA 

Location: 344 East Boulevard 
 Chesterfield, SC 29709 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Chesterfield 

Previous Orders: None 

Permit/ID Number: 13-1002B & 13-1003C  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Young Men’s Christian Association of the Upper Pee Dee (Individual/Entity) 

owns and is responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool and a kiddie pool. On 
July 29, 2019, and August 12, 2019, the pool and kiddie pool were inspected, and violations were 

issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public 

Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the lifeline with floats was not attached to the pool wall; 
depth marker tiles at the water line were missing; the water level was too low; the pump room 

was open to the public; the gate did not self-close and latch; the chlorine level was not within the 
acceptable range of water quality standards; the bound and numbered log book was not 

maintained on a daily basis and it was not maintained a minimum of three times per week by the 

pool operator of record; the emergency notification device was not operating; and, the current 
pool operator of record information was not posted to the public. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of one 

thousand, three hundred sixty dollars ($1,360.00). 

 
 

35) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-202-RW 
Order Date: October 8, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Mani, Inc.  
Facility: Holiday Inn Express Hotel & Suites  

Location: 118 Sleep Inn Drive 

 Orangeburg, SC 29118 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Orangeburg 
Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 38-083-1  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Mani, Inc. (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper operation 
and maintenance of a pool. On February 22, 2019, June 24, 2019, and August 1, 2019, the pool 

was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 
Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a ladder was 

missing a bolt cover; skimmers were missing weirs and the baskets were broken; the pool 



equipment room piping was leaking; the chlorine and pH levels were not within the acceptable 
range of water quality standards; the emergency notification device was not operational and the 

physical address of the pool was not displayed; the pool rules sign was faded;  and, the bound and 
numbered log book was not maintained on a daily basis.   

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of two 
thousand, forty dollars ($2,040.00).  The civil penalty has been paid. 

 
 

36) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-203-RW 
Order Date: October 8, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Hutch & Hutch Properties, LLC 

Facility: Holly Hill Country Club 
Location: 9159 Old State Road 

 Holly Hill, SC 29059 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Orangeburg 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit/ID Number: 38-003-1  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Hutch & Hutch Properties, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for 
the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On July 1, 2019, and August 5, 2019, the pool 

was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a ladder was not 
tight and secure; non-pool related items were stored in the pool equipment room and it was 

unlocked; the gate did not self-close and latch; the pH level was not within the acceptable range 
of water quality standards; the life ring was not properly hung in its designated location; the 

emergency notification device was not approved and the physical address of the pool was not 

displayed; and, the current pool operator of record information was not posted to the public.   
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six 
hundred eighty dollars ($680.00). 

 

 
37) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-204-RW 

Order Date: October 14, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Willow Run Condominium Homeowners 

Association, Inc. 
Facility: Willow Run Condominiums  

Location: 2000 Greens Boulevard 

 Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 
Mailing Address: 1810 Greens Boulevard, Unit 104 

 Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 
County: Horry 

Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 26-517-1 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Willow Run Condominium Homeowners Association, Inc. (Individual/Entity) 

owns and is responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 13, 2019, 
and July 2, 2019, the pool was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate 

and maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: 



there were damaged floats on the lifeline; a ladder was not tight and secure; a ladder was missing 
bumpers; a gate did not self-close and latch; the life ring was deteriorated; a skimmer was missing 

a weir; and, the bathrooms were not accessible.  
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 

eighty dollars ($680.00). The civil penalty has been paid. 
 

 
38) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-206-RW 

Order Date: October 14, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Saluda Valley Country Club 

Facility: Saluda Valley Country Club  

Location: 598 Beaverdam Road 
 Williamston, SC 29697 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Anderson 

Previous Orders: 16-058-RW ($340.00, 04-100-1) 

Permit/ID Number: 04-099-1 & 04-100-1  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Saluda Valley Country Club (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the 

proper operation and maintenance of a pool and a kiddie pool. On May 29, 2019, and July 12, 
2019, the pool and kiddie pool were inspected, and violations were issued for failure to properly 

operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as 

follows: the gate did not self-close and latch; the life ring was deteriorated; the facility address 
was not posted at the emergency notification device; the pool rules sign was not completely filled 

out; the recirculation and filtration system was leaking; the water level was too high; the main 
drain grate was not in place; the lifeline floats were not properly spaced; a ladder was not tight 

and secure; a bathroom was dirty and did not have toilet paper, soap, paper towels, or a hand 

dryer; and, the chlorine level was not within the acceptable range of water quality standards.  
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of two 
thousand, forty dollars ($2,040.00).  The civil penalty has been paid. 

 

 
39) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-207-RW 

Order Date: October 14, 2019 
Individual/Entity: PRG Beckett Farms, LLC 

Facility: Beckett Farms 
Location: 1111 Gennett Circle 

 Fort Mill, SC 29715 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: York 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit/ID Number: 46-1173B 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: PRG Beckett Farms, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the 

proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 26, 2019, and August 12, 2019, the pool 
was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a skimmer was 
missing a weir; a gate did not self-close and latch; the emergency notification device was not 

operational; the pool rules sign was not completely filled out; only one “Shallow Water – No Diving 



Allowed” sign was posted; the “No Lifeguard On Duty – Swim At Your Own Risk” signs did not have 
the correct size lettering; the current pool operator of record information was not posted to the 

public; and, the log book was not properly bound and numbered. On August 13, 2019, a follow-up 
inspection was conducted, and it was determined that all of the deficiencies had been addressed.   

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00).  The civil penalty has been paid. 

 
 

40) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-208-RW 
Order Date: October 14, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Santee-Cooper Resort, Incorporated 

Facility: Lake Marion Golf Villas Apartments  
Location: 100 Bogey Boulevard 

 Santee, SC 29142 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Orangeburg 

Previous Orders: None  
Permit/ID Number: 38-1030B  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Santee-Cooper Resort, Incorporated (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible 
for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 28, 2019, and August 7, 2019, the 

pool was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: there was debris 
in the skimmer baskets; the gate did not self-close and latch; the chlorine and pH levels were not 

within the acceptable range of water quality standards; the life ring was not clear of obstructions; 
the pool rules sign did not have all of the required rules; the “No Lifeguard On Duty – Swim At 

Your Own Risk” signs were obstructed; and, the bound and numbered log book was not maintained 

on a daily basis.  
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00). 

 

 
41) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-209-RW 

Order Date: October 14, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Gauri, LLC 

Facility: Quality Inn & Suites Santee 
Location: 8929 Old Number Six Highway 

 Santee, SC 29142 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Orangeburg 

Previous Orders: None  
Permit/ID Number: 38-028-1  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Gauri, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper operation 

and maintenance of a pool. On June 14, 2019, and August 1, 2019, the pool was inspected, and a 
violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated 

the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the lifeline floats were not properly spaced; a 
ladder was not tight and secure and a bolt cover was in disrepair; the pool floor was not clean; the 

pool walls were not clean and there was dirt and oil on the waterline tiles; algae was present on 



the walls and floor of the pool; the plaster on the pool floor was chipped; the deck was not clean 
or clear of hazards; there was debris in the skimmer baskets; the water level was too high; 

skimmers were missing weirs; the drinking water fountain and foot rinse shower were not operating 
properly; the gate did not self-close and latch; the chlorine and pH levels were not within the 

acceptable range of water quality standards; the life ring was deteriorated on the first inspection, 

and was not United States Coast Guard approved on the second inspection; the physical address 
of the pool was not posted at the emergency notification device and was not water resistant; the 

pool rules sign was cracked and faded; one of the “No Lifeguard On Duty – Swim At Your Own 
Risk” signs was damaged; and, the bound and numbered log book was not available for review.  

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 

eighty dollars ($680.00). 

 
 

42) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-210-RW 
Order Date: October 14, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Keyaom, LLC 

Facility: Baymont Inn 
Location: 2350 Chestnut Street 

 Orangeburg, SC 29116 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Orangeburg 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit/ID Number: 38-070-1  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Keyaom, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper 
operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 26, 2019, and July 30, 2019, the pool was inspected, 

and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has 

violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the deck depth marker tiles were not 
non-slip finished; a ladder was missing bumpers and non-slip tread inserts; a bolt cover was in 

disrepair; the pool walls were not clean and there was dirt and oil on the waterline tiles; the plaster 
on the pool floor was delaminated and chipped; the pool furniture was not at least four feet from 

the edge of the pool; there was debris in the skimmer baskets; the drinking water fountain and 

foot rinse shower were not operating properly; the chlorine level was not within the acceptable 
range of water quality standards; the main drain grates were not visible due to cloudy water; the 

pool rules sign was not completely filled out; the “Shallow Water – No Diving Allowed” and “No 
Lifeguard On Duty – Swim At Your Own Risk” signs were cracked and damaged; the current pool 

operator of record information was not posted to the public; and, the bound and numbered log 
book was not maintained on a daily basis.   

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to:  pay a civil penalty in the amount of six 
hundred eighty dollars ($680.00). 

 
 

43) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-211-RW 

Order Date: October 14, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Magnolia Place of Charleston, LLC 

Facility: Magnolia Place Apartments 
Location: 101 Hutson Drive 

 Summerville, SC 29483 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Dorchester 



Previous Orders: None  
Permit/ID Number: 18-078-1 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Magnolia Place of Charleston, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible 

for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 4, 2019, and July 26, 2019, the pool 
was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: tiles were missing 
on the pool wall; a skimmer was missing a weir; the foot rinse shower was not operating properly; 

a gate did not self-close and latch; the bound and numbered log book was not maintained on a 
daily basis; the pool equipment room was not locked; and, the chlorine level was not within the 

acceptable range of water quality standards.  

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 

eighty dollars ($680.00). 

 
 

44) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-217-RW 

Order Date: October 14, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Nalini Hospitality, LLC 

Facility: Quality Inn 
Location: Highway 1 at I-26 

 West Columbia, SC 29169 
Mailing Address: 2516 Augusta Road 

 West Columbia, SC 29169 

County: Lexington 
Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 32-120-1 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 

Summary: Nalini Hospitality, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper 
operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 5, 2019, and July 8, 2019, the pool was inspected, 

and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has 
violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a ladder was missing bumpers; a 

skimmer was missing a weir; the pool walls were not clean; there was no drinking water fountain 
at the time of the June 5, 2019 inspection; the drinking water fountain was not operating properly 

at the time of the July 8, 2019 inspection; there was no foot rinse shower; the chlorine and pH 

levels were not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; the pool rules sign was not 
completely filled out; the “Shallow Water – No Diving Allowed” signs did not have the correct 

wording; the facility could not produce current valid documentation for the pool operator of record; 
and, the bound and numbered log book was not maintained on a daily basis. 

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00). 

 
 

45) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-218-RW 

Order Date: October 15, 2019 
Individual/Entity: PEP-USC, LLC 

Facility: Cayce Cove Apartments  
Location: 215 Spencer Place 

 Cayce, SC 29033 
Mailing Address: 8880 Rio San Diego Drive, Suite 750 



 San Diego, CA 72108 
County: Lexington 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit/ID Number: 32-1010B & 32-1011D 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: PEP-USC, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper 

operation and maintenance of a pool and a spa. On June 4, 2019, July 9, 2019, and August 1, 
2019, the pool and spa were inspected, and violations were issued for failure to properly operate 

and maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: 
the water level was too high and the waterline depth marker tiles were not visible due to the high 

water level on the first inspection; a ladder was missing bumpers; a ladder was missing a non-slip 

tread insert; the water level was too low on the second inspection; a skimmer was missing a weir; 
there was algae on the pool walls; pipes were leaking in the equipment room; the gate did not 

self-close and latch; the chlorine and pH levels were not within the acceptable range of water 
quality standards; the cyanuric acid level was above the water quality standards acceptable limit; 

the main drain grates were not in place; the emergency notification device was not operating; 

there were no “Shallow Water – No Diving Allowed” signs posted; the “No Lifeguard On Duty – 
Swim At Your Own Risk” signs did not have the correct wording or correct size letters; the facility 

address was not posted at the emergency notification device; there was no thermometer in the 
spa; the pool was green; and, the bound and numbered log book was not available for review.  

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of four 

thousand, eighty dollars ($4,080.00).  The civil penalty has been paid. 

 
 

46) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-212-RW 
Order Date: October 17, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Villas Holdings 144 DE, LLC 

Facility: Villas at Regal Manor Regent Park 
Location: 1069 Chateau Crossing Drive 

 Fort Mill, SC 29715 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: York 

Previous Orders: None  
Permit/ID Number: 46-1184B 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Villas Holdings 144 DE, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the 
proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 3, 2019, and July 29, 2019, the pool was 

inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: skimmer baskets 
were missing on the first inspection; there was debris in the skimmer baskets on the second 

inspection; the shepherd’s crook was not permanently attached to the handle; the pool rules sign 
did not have all of the required rules on the first inspection; the pool rules sign was not completely 

filled out on the second inspection; the bound and numbered log book was not available for review; 

a handrail was missing a bolt cover; the bathrooms were not clean; the drinking water fountain 
was not operating properly; the chlorine and pH levels were not within the acceptable range of 

water quality standards; and, the emergency notification device was not operational.  
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00). The civil penalty has been paid. 

 



47) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-213-RW 
Order Date: October 17, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Ballards Pointe III, LLC 
Facility: Wyndham Lake Marion Resort 

Location: 401 Bass Drive 

 Santee, SC 29142 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Orangeburg 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit/ID Number: 38-1023B  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 

Summary: Ballards Pointe III, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the 
proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 27, 2019, and August 8, 2019, the pool was 

inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 
Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a handrail was not 

tight and secure; the pool walls were not clean and there was dirt and oil on the waterline tiles; 

algae was present on the walls and floor of the pool; skimmers were missing weirs; the foot rinse 
shower was not operating properly; the automatic controller was not permitted, not in use, and 

had not been removed; unapproved test strips were being used to test the water quality; the 
chlorine and pH levels were not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; the life 

ring was not accessible; only one “No Lifeguard On Duty – Swim At Your Own Risk” sign was 
posted; the bound and numbered log book was not maintained on a daily basis; the disinfection 

equipment was not operating properly; the recirculation and filtration system pump was filled with 

leaves; and, there were chlorine sticks in the skimmer baskets.  
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00). 

 

 
48) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-214-RW 

Order Date: October 17, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Rock Hill Holdings 160, LLC 

Facility: The Villas at Riverview 

Location: 1364 Riverview Road 
 Rock Hill, SC 29732 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: York 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit/ID Number: 46-034-1 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Rock Hill Holdings 160, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the 

proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On July 12, 2019, and August 13, 2019, the pool was 
inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the lifeline floats 

were not properly spaced; a ladder was missing non-slip tread inserts; the plaster on the pool floor 
was chipped; the pool furniture was not at least four feet from the edge of the pool; there was 

debris in the skimmer baskets; the water level was too high on the first inspection, and the water 
level was too low on the second inspection; the bathrooms did not have soap, toilet paper, or paper 

towels; the foot rinse shower was not operating properly; a gate did not self-close and latch; the 
chlorine and pH levels were not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; the main 

drain grates were not visible due to cloudy water; the shepherd’s crook was missing a bolt; the 



bound and numbered log book was not maintained on a daily basis, the cyanuric acid level was 
not recorded on a weekly basis in the bound and numbered log book; and, there were chlorine 

sticks in the skimmer baskets. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 

eighty dollars ($680.00). The civil penalty has been paid. 
 

 
49) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-215-RW 

Order Date: October 17, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Sunrise Hotels of Coralville, LLC 

Facility: Country Inn & Suites 

Location: 2756 Laurens Road 
 Greenville, SC 29607 

Mailing Address: 10415 Centrum Parkway 
 Pineville, NC 28134 

County: Greenville 

Previous Orders: None  
Permit/ID Number: 23-133-1 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Sunrise Hotels of Coralville, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for 
the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 25, 2019, and August 16, 2019, the pool 

was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a ladder was 
missing non-slip tread inserts; there was no foot rinse shower; the chlorine level was not within 

the acceptable range of water quality standards; the shepherd’s crook was missing a bolt; only one 
“Shallow Water – No Diving Allowed” sign was posted; only one “No Lifeguard On Duty – Swim At 

Your Own Risk” sign was posted; the log book was not properly bound and numbered; and, the 

depth marker tiles did not have the appropriate size letters and numbers. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00). 

 

 
50) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-216-RW 

Order Date: October 17, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Shoreline Villas Homeowners  

 Association, Inc. 
Facility: Shoreline Villas  

Location: 801 South Ocean Boulevard 

 North Myrtle Beach, SC 29582 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Horry 
Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 26-816-1  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Shoreline Villas Homeowners Association, Inc. (Individual/Entity) owns and is 
responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On May 22, 2019, and August 12, 

2019, the pool was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and 
maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a 

handrail and a ladder were missing bolt covers; a skimmer was missing a weir; the drinking water 



fountain was not operating; the gate did not self-close and latch; the chlorine and pH levels were 
not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; the life ring and the life ring rope were 

deteriorated on the first inspection, and the life ring rope was too short on the second inspection; 
the cyanuric acid level readings were not being recorded on a weekly basis in the bound and 

numbered log book; and, the bound and numbered log book was not maintained on a daily basis. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 

eighty dollars ($680.00). 
 

 
51) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-205-RW 

Order Date: October 21, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Roper Apartment Management, LLC 
Facility: Roper Mountain Woods Apartments 

Location: 100 Turtle Creek Drive 
 Greenville, SC 29615 

Mailing Address: Same 

County: Greenville 
Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 23-415-1  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Roper Apartment Management, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible 

for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 10, 2019, and July 17, 2019, the pool 

was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 
Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: bolt covers were in 

disrepair; there was debris in the skimmer baskets; the bathrooms did not have soap; the drinking 
water fountain was not operating properly; the chlorine and pH levels were not within the 

acceptable range of water quality standards; and, the cyanuric acid level was above the water 

quality standards acceptable limit. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00).  The civil penalty has been paid. 

 

 
52) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-219-RW 

Order Date: October 21, 2019 
Individual/Entity: SRI SAI, LLC 

Facility: Days Inn by Wyndham Seneca  
Location: 11015 North Radio Station Road 

 Seneca, SC 29678 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Oconee 

Previous Orders: None  
Permit/ID Number: 37-035-1 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: SRI SAI, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper operation 

and maintenance of a pool. On June 27, 2019, and August 2, 2019, the pool was inspected, and a 
violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated 

the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a ladder was missing bumpers; the foot rinse 
shower was not operating properly; the pH level was not within the acceptable range of water 

quality standards; the life ring was deteriorated, was not United States Coast Guard approved, and 



the life ring did not have a permanently attached rope; the emergency notification device was not 
operational; and, one of the “No Lifeguard On Duty – Swim At Your Own Risk” signs did not have 

the correct size lettering.  
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 

eighty dollars ($680.00).  The civil penalty has been paid. 
 

 
53) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-220-RW 

Order Date: October 21, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Sunset Harbour Property Owners 

Association, Inc. 

Facility: Sunset Harbour Amenity Center  
Location: 1803 Waterway Drive 

 North Myrtle Beach, SC 29582 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Horry 

Previous Orders: None  
Permit/ID Number: 26-R08-1 & 26-R09-1 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Sunset Harbour Property Owners Association, Inc. (Individual/Entity) owns and 
is responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool and a spa. On May 23, 2019, 

June 24, 2019, and July 29, 2019, the pool was inspected, and violations were issued for failure to 

properly operate and maintain. On June 24, 2019, and July 29, 2019, the spa was inspected, and 
violations were issued for failure to properly operate and maintain.  The Individual/Entity has 

violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the pool rules sign was not completely 
filled out; the current pool operator of record information was not posted to the public; a bolt cover 

was in disrepair; a skimmer was missing a weir; the life ring was deteriorated; the bound and 

numbered log book was not maintained on a daily basis; the chlorine level was not within the 
acceptable range of water quality standards; the spa temperature was not posted to the public; 

and, the main drain grates were broken.  
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of two 

thousand, seven hundred twenty dollars ($2,720.00).  The civil penalty has been paid. 
 

 
54) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-221-RW 

Order Date: October 21, 2019 
Individual/Entity: BCH, LLC 

Facility: Knights Inn St. George 

Location: 114 Winningham Road 
 St. George, SC 29477 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Dorchester 

Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 18-074-1 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: BCH, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper operation 

and maintenance of a pool. On June 21, 2019, and July 25, 2019, the pool was inspected, and a 
violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated 

the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a ladder was missing bumpers; a gate did not 



self-close and latch; the chlorine level was not within the acceptable range of water quality 
standards; and, the life ring was deteriorated.  

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 

eighty dollars ($680.00). 

 
 

55) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-223-RW 
Order Date: October 21, 2019 

Individual/Entity: The Oaks at Winyah Bay Association, Inc. 
Facility: The Oaks at Winyah Bay  

Location: 148 Oak Bay Drive 

 Georgetown, SC 29440 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Georgetown 
Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 22-1050D  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: The Oaks at Winyah Bay Association, Inc. (Individual/Entity) owns and is 
responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a spa. On July 1, 2019, July 18, 2019, 

and August 14, 2019, the spa was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly 
operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as 

follows: depth marker tiles on the spa wall were missing; the water level was too high; the gate 

did not self-close and latch; the chlorine and pH levels were not within the acceptable range of 
water quality standards; and, the spa temperature was not posted to the public. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of two 

thousand, forty dollars ($2,040.00). 

 
 

56) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-222-RW 
Order Date: October 22, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Sandtrap and Robinson, Inc. 

Facility: Robinson Cottage 
Location: 211 31st Avenue North 

 North Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 
Mailing Address: 500 Main Street 

 North Myrtle Beach, SC 29582 
County: Horry 

Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 26-R12-1 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Sandtrap and Robinson, Inc. (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the 

proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 19, 2019, and July 26, 2019, the pool was 

inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 
Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a handrail was not 

tight and secure; the gate did not self-close and latch; the chlorine level was not within the 
acceptable range of water quality standards; the facility address was not posted at the emergency 

notification device; and, the bound and numbered log book was not maintained on a daily basis. 
 



Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00).  The civil penalty has been paid. 

 
 

57) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-224-RW 

Order Date: October 22, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Harbourgate Resort Homeowners’  

 Association, Inc. 
Facility: Harbourgate Resort 

Location: 2120 Sea Mountain Highway 
 North Myrtle Beach, SC 29582 

Mailing Address: 124 Highway 17 South 

 North Myrtle Beach, SC 29582 
County: Horry 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit/ID Number: 26-1396D 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Harbourgate Resort Homeowners’ Association, Inc.  (Individual/Entity) owns 

and is responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a spa. On July 1, 2019, and July 
29, 2019, the spa was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and 

maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the 
chlorine and pH levels were not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; and, the 

bound and numbered log book was not maintained on a daily basis.  

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 

eighty dollars ($680.00). 
 

 

58) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-225-RW 
Order Date: October 22, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Grainger Family Limited Partnership 
Facility: Village at Bay Tree  

Location: Highway 9 

 North Myrtle Beach, SC 29582 
Mailing Address:   1620 Highway 646 

 Loris, SC 29569 
County: Horry 

Previous Orders: None  
Permit/ID Number: 26-B41-1  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Grainger Family Limited Partnership (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible 

for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On May 30, 2019, June 19, 2019, and August 
12, 2019, the pool was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and 

maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the 

life ring rope was deteriorated; the bound and numbered log book was not maintained on a daily 
basis; the chlorine level was not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; and, the 

main drain grate was not in place. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of two 
thousand, forty dollars ($2,040.00). 

 



59) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-226-RW 
Order Date: October 22, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Kirtan Hospitality, Inc. 
Facility: Comfort Inn & Suites  

Location: 110 Birchtree Drive 

 Greenwood, SC 29649 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Greenwood 
Previous Orders: 16-139-RW ($680.00) 

Permit/ID Number: 24-051-1  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 

Summary: Kirtan Hospitality, Inc. (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper 
operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 3, 2019, and July 25, 2019, the pool was inspected, 

and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has 
violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the drinking water fountain was not 

operating; the gate did not self-close and latch; the chlorine and pH levels were not within the 

acceptable range of water quality standards; there was no main drain grate; the life ring did not 
have a permanently attached rope on the first inspection; the life ring was not United States Coast 

Guard approved on the second inspection; there was no emergency notification device; only one 
“Shallow Water – No Diving Allowed” sign was posted; the bound and numbered log book was not 

available for review; a bolt cover was missing; the deck drain was broken; and, there were chlorine 
tablets in the skimmer baskets. 

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of one 
thousand, three hundred sixty dollars ($1,360.00). 

 

 
60) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-228-RW 

Order Date: October 22, 2019 

Individual/Entity: C & S, LLC 
Facility: Knights Inn  

Location: 1850 Richland Avenue West 
 Aiken, SC 29801 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Aiken 

Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 02-028-1  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: C & S, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper operation 

and maintenance of a pool. On June 3, 2019, and July 22, 2019, the pool was inspected, and a 

violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated 
the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the lifeline floats were not properly spaced; the 

lifeline did not have the minimum number of floats required; a bolt cover was missing; a ladder 
was missing bumpers; the pool walls were dirty; skimmers were missing weirs; the drinking water 

fountain and foot rinse shower were not operating properly; the chlorine level was not within the 

acceptable range of water quality standards; the main drain grates were not visible due to cloudy 
water; the bound and numbered log book was not maintained on a daily basis; and, a light in the 

pool wall was out of its niche. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00). 



 
61) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-229-RW 

Order Date: October 22, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Mid-America Apartments, L.P. 

Facility: Spring Creek Apartments  

Location: 10 Capewood Road 
 Simpsonville, SC 29680 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Greenville 

Previous Orders: None  
Permit/ID Number: 23-262-1  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Mid-America Apartments, L.P. (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for 

the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 28, 2019, and August 13, 2019, the pool 
was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the lifeline floats 

were not properly spaced; a ladder was missing bumpers; the chlorine level was not within the 
acceptable range of water quality standards; the shepherd’s crook was missing a bolt; the cyanuric 

acid level was not checked weekly; and, tiles were missing on the pool wall.  
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00). 

 

 
62) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-227-RW 

Order Date: October 23, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Woodside Plantation Country Club, Inc. 

Facility: Woodside Plantation Country Club 

Location: 1000 Woodside Plantation Drive 
 Aiken, SC 29803 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Aiken 

Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 02-076-1  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)(10) 

 
Summary: Woodside Plantation Country Club, Inc. (Individual/Entity) owns and is 

responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On September 20, 2019, 
Department staff conducted an inspection of the pool as the result of a complaint that an incident 

requiring an EMS response, emergency room visit, or hospitalization had occurred at the pool on 

September 8, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as 
follows: failed to report to the Department in writing, on a Department approved form, any death, 

injury, or accident requiring an EMS response, emergency room visit, or hospitalization within 
seventy-two hours of the occurrence. 

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of four 
hundred dollars ($400.00). 

 

 

 

 
 



63) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-231-RW 
Order Date: October 24, 2019 

Individual/Entity: St. Philip’s Place Homeowner’s 
Association, Inc. 

Facility: St. Philip’s Place  

Location: 99 St. Philip Street 
 Charleston, SC 29403 

Mailing Address: 106 Pitt Street 
 Mount Pleasant, SC 29464 

County: Charleston 
Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 10-229-1 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: St. Philip’s Place Homeowner’s Association, Inc. (Individual/Entity) owns and is 
responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On May 31, 2019, and August 7, 

2019, the pool was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and 

maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the 
emergency notification device was not operational; there was no pool rules sign; there were no 

“No Lifeguard On Duty – Swim At Your Own Risk” signs posted; the current pool operator of record 
information was not posted to the public; the bound and numbered log book was not maintained 

on a daily basis; the disinfection equipment was not in operable condition; the recirculation and 
filtration system was not operating properly; the automatic controller was not operating; there 

were chlorine sticks in the skimmer baskets; the lifeline floats were damaged; and, the chlorine 

level was not within the acceptable range of water quality standards.  
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00). The civil penalty has been paid. 

 

 
64) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-232-RW 

Order Date: October 24, 2019 
Individual/Entity: South Shores Homeowners  

Association, Inc., Individually and d.b.a. 

South Shores I 
Facility: South Shores I  

Location: 1119 South Ocean Boulevard 
 Surfside Beach, SC 29577 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Horry 

Previous Orders: 18-142-RW ($340.00) 

Permit/ID Number: 26-937-1 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: South Shores Homeowners Association, Inc., Individually and d.b.a. South 

Shores I (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of 

a pool. On June 5, 2019, and July 15, 2019, the pool was inspected, and a violation was issued for 
failure to properly operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming 

Pools Regulation as follows: a ladder was not tight and secure; the chlorine and pH levels were not 
within the acceptable range of water quality standards; the bound and numbered log book was not 

maintained on a daily basis; and, the life ring rope was too short. 
 



Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of one 
thousand, one hundred twenty dollars ($1,120.00).  The civil penalty has been paid. 

 
 

65) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-233-RW 

Order Date: October 24, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Lila Group, LLC 

Facility: Travelodge 
Location: 9117 Old Number Six Highway 

 Santee, SC 29142 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Orangeburg 

Previous Orders: None  
Permit/ID Number: 38-075-1  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  
 

Summary: Lila Group, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper 

operation and maintenance of a pool. On July 1, 2019, and August 6, 2019, the pool was inspected, 
and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has 

violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a ladder was missing bumpers and non-
slip tread inserts; the plaster on the pool floor was chipped; the pool walls were not clean and 

there was dirt and oil on the waterline tiles; algae was present on the walls and floor of the pool; 
the drinking water fountain and foot rinse shower were not operating properly; the life ring was 

not clear of obstructions; the pool rules sign was not completely filled out; the “No Lifeguard On 

Duty – Swim At Your Own Risk” signs were damaged; the current pool operator of record 
information was not posted to the public; and, the bound and numbered log book was not 

maintained on a daily basis.  
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 

eighty dollars ($680.00). 
 

 
66) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-234-RW 

Order Date: October 24, 2019 

Individual/Entity: George Cut It, Inc. 
Facility: Mermaid Inn 

Location: 5400 North Ocean Boulevard 
 Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Horry 

Previous Orders: 17-006-RW ($680.00)  

Permit/ID Number: 26-326-1 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: George Cut It, Inc. (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper 

operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 10, 2019, July 12, 2019, and July 25, 2019, the pool 

was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 
Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a ladder was 

missing a bumper; the pool floor was dirty; a gate did not self-close and latch; the chlorine and pH 
levels were not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; the life ring was 

deteriorated; and, the bound and numbered log book was not maintained on a daily basis. 
 



Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of three 
thousand, three hundred sixty dollars ($3,360.00). The civil penalty has been paid. 

 
 

67) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-235-RW 

Order Date: October 24, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Council of Co-Owners, Duneside 

 Horizontal Property Regime III 
Facility: Duneside III 

Location: 116 South Waccamaw Drive 
 Garden City, SC 29576 

Mailing Address: P.O. Box 14280 

 Surfside Beach, SC 29587 
County: Horry 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit/ID Number: 26-J17-1 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: Council of Co-Owners, Duneside Horizontal Property Regime III 

(Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On 
June 14, 2019, and July 22, 2019, the pool was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to 

properly operate and maintain. The Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools 
Regulation as follows: a ladder was missing bumpers; the chlorine level was not within the 

acceptable range of water quality standards; the cyanuric acid level was above the water quality 

standards acceptable limit; the life ring was deteriorated; and, the bound and numbered log book 
was not maintained on a daily basis.  

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 

eighty dollars ($680.00). 

 
 

68) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-230-RW 
Order Date: October 25, 2019 

Individual/Entity: NCSC Myrtle Beach Owner, LLC 

Facility: Fairfield Inn by Marriott Myrtle Beach North  
Location: 10231 North Kings Highway 

 Myrtle Beach, SC 29572 
Mailing Address: 200 West 41st Street, Suite 602 

 New York, NY 10036 
County: Horry 

Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 26-L93-1 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 
Summary: NCSC Myrtle Beach Owner, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for 

the proper operation and maintenance of a pool. On June 10, 2019, and July 10, 2019, the pool 

was inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 
Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: a skimmer was 

missing a weir; the filtration system was not operating properly; the chlorine level was not within 
the acceptable range of water quality standards; the life ring did not have a permanently attached 

rope; and, the bound and numbered log book was not available for review. 
 



Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00). The civil penalty has been paid. 

 
 

69) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-237-RW 

Order Date: October 25, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Phu Hwy 76 Clemson, LLC 

Facility: Grand Marc  
Location: 125 Anderson Hwy 

 Clemson, SC 29631 
Mailing Address: 1749 Marcia Louise Drive 

 South Haven, MS 38672 

County: Pickens 
Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 39-1087D 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-51(J)  

 

Summary: Phu Hwy 76 Clemson, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the 
proper operation and maintenance of a spa. On June 10, 2019, and August 12, 2019, the spa was 

inspected, and a violation was issued for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 
Individual/Entity has violated the Public Swimming Pools Regulation as follows: the chlorine and 

pH levels were not within the acceptable range of water quality standards; and, the cyanuric acid 
level was above the water quality standards acceptable limit. 

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: pay a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred 
eighty dollars ($680.00). The civil penalty has been paid. 

 
 

Drinking Water Enforcement 

 
 

70) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-020-DW 
Order Date: October 3, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Town of Allendale 

Facility: Town of Allendale  
Location: 1296 South Main Street 

 Allendale, SC 29810 
Mailing Address: P.O. Box 551 

 Allendale, SC 29810 
County: Allendale 

Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 0310001 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-58.17.K(1)(b),  

and 61-58.17.I(2)(a) 
 

Summary: Town of Allendale (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper 

operation and maintenance of a public water system (PWS). On August 26, 2019, a violation was 
issued as a result of review of monitoring records; and, on August 26, 2019, a violation was issued 

for failure to notify the Department. The Individual/Entity has violated the State Primary Drinking 
Water Regulation as follows: the PWS tested present for total coliform and E. coli, which resulted 

in a violation of the maximum contaminant level (MCL) for E. coli; and, failed to notify the 
Department by the end of the day when the system was notified of an E. coli present test result. 

 



Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: submit a standard operating procedure to 
ensure that all monitoring and reporting requirements for bacteriological monitoring are complied 

with; submit a corrective action plan to include proposed steps to address the MCL violation; pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of four thousand dollars ($4,000.00); and, pay a stipulated penalty 

in the amount of four thousand dollars ($4,000.00) should any requirement of the Order not be 

met.  

 
 

71) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-021-DW 
Order Date: October 14, 2019 

Individual/Entity: The Whitfield Company, LLC 
Facility: Dollar General – McClellanville   

Location: 10141 Highway 17 North 

 McClellanville, SC 29458 
Mailing Address: 6518 Dorchester Road 

 North Charleston, SC 29418 
County: Charleston 

Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: 1070008 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-58.17.K(1)(a) 

 
Summary: The Whitfield Company, LLC (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the 

proper operation and maintenance of a public water system (PWS). On September 12, 2019, a 
violation was issued as a result of review of monitoring records. The Individual/Entity has violated 

the State Primary Drinking Water Regulation as follows: the PWS tested present for total coliform 

and E. coli, which resulted in a violation of the maximum contaminant level (MCL) for E. coli. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: submit a corrective action plan to include 
proposed steps to address the MCL violation; and, pay a stipulated penalty in the amount of 

four thousand dollars ($4,000.00) should any requirement of the Order not be met.  

 

 
72) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-022-DW 

Order Date: October 29, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Town of Latta 

Facility: Town of Latta 
Location: 107 NW Railroad Avenue 

 Latta, SC 29565 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Dillon 

Previous Orders: 18-026-DW ($2,000.00)  
Permit/ID Number: 1710002  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-58.7 

 
Summary: The Town of Latta (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the proper 

operation and maintenance of a public water system (PWS). On June 27, 2019, the PWS was 
inspected and rated unsatisfactory for failure to properly operate and maintain. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the State Primary Drinking Water Regulation as follows: there were 

galvanized water lines causing discolored water; fire flow testing had not been completed; system 
valves had not been located and mapped, and no records had been submitted to document testing 

of the valves; the PWS was not adequately staffed to manage the leak detection and repair 
program; the Diversified Plastics elevated storage tank had a leak between the riser and the bowl; 



a water audit had not been completed; and, deficiencies from the previous survey were not 
corrected. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: obtain the required construction permit and 

construct a new three hundred thousand gallon elevated storage tank; complete the required 

maintenance and flow testing on each of the remaining fifty-six fire hydrants, and submit the flow 
testing results for review and approval; submit documentation identifying all of the two hundred 

fifty-one valves, and submit a valve and hydrant maintenance program for review and approval; 
submit a written request of the intended use of two out-of-service wells at the PWS; complete 

construction of the Highway 301 Water Line Replacement and Water Service Lines Project No. 
16181; complete all of the recommended repairs to the Industrial Park elevated storage tank per 

the September 6, 2019 inspection report, and submit a final report from the contractor verifying 

the completed work; and, pay a stipulated penalty in the amount of eight thousand dollars 
($8,000.00) should any requirement of the Order not be met.  

 
 

Water Pollution Enforcement 

 
 

73) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-062-W 
Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Town of Calhoun Falls 
Facility: Calhoun Falls WWTF 

Location:    125 Walnut Street 

 Abbeville County, SC 
  Mailing Address:   P.O. Box 246 

       Calhoun Falls, SC 29628 
County:     Abbeville 

Previous Orders: 17-008-W ($2,800.00);  

 19-015-W ($9,800.00) 
Permit/ID Number: NPDES Permit SC0025721 

Violations Cited:    Pollution Control Act, S.C Code Ann § 48-1- 110 
(d) (2008 & Supp. 2018); Water Pollution Control Permits, S.C. Code Ann Regs. 61-

9.122.41 (a) and (d) (2011). 

 
Summary: The Town of Calhoun Falls (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for the 

proper operation and maintenance of a wastewater treatment facility (WWTF) located in Abbeville 
County, South Carolina. On June 21, 2018, a Notice of Violation was issued as a result of violations 

of the permitted discharge limits for chronic effluent toxicity (CTOX) as reported on the discharge 
monitoring reports submitted to the Department for the February 2018 through April 2018 quarterly 

monitoring period and violations were also reported of the permitted discharge limits for CTOX for 

the November 2018 through January 2019 quarterly monitoring period. The Individual/Entity has 
violated the Pollution Control Act and Water Pollution Control Permit Regulations as follows:  failed 

to comply with the effluent discharge limits of the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
Permit for CTOX.  

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: submit to the Department a Corrective Action 
Plan (CAP) addressing compliance with the permitted discharge limits for CTOX, monitor for CTOX 

for one year after final implementation of the CAP; perform a Toxicity Identification 
Evaluation/Toxicity Reduction Evaluation if there is a CTOX failure observed during the one year 

monitoring period following the implementation of the CAP; submit quarterly reports on progress 
toward attainment of compliance; pay a civil penalty in the amount of two hundred eighty dollars 



($280.00); and pay a suspended penalty in the amount of two thousand five hundred and twenty 
dollars ($2,520.00) should any requirement of the Order not be met.  

 
 

74)  Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-063-W 

Order Date: October 3, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Lowcountry Regional Water System 

Facility: Town of Hampton WWTF 
Location: 501 Saluda Street 

 Hampton, SC 29924 
Mailing Address: P.O. Box 647 

 Hampton, SC 29924-3516 

County: Hampton 
Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: NPDES Permit SC0021318 
Violations Cited: Pollution Control Act, S.C Code Ann § 48-1- 110 

(d) (2008 & Supp. 2018); Water Pollution Control Permits, S.C. Code Ann Regs. 61-

9.122.41 (a) and (d) (2011). 
 

Summary: Lowcountry Regional Water System (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible 
for the proper operation and maintenance of a wastewater treatment facility (WWTF) located in 

Hampton County, South Carolina. On March 15, 2019, a Notice of Violation was issued as a result 
of violations of the permitted discharge limits for ammonia-nitrogen (ammonia) and cadmium as 

reported on discharge monitoring reports submitted to the Department. The Individual/Entity has 

violated the Pollution Control Act and Water Pollution Control Permits Regulation as follows: failed 
to comply with the effluent discharge limits of its National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

permit for ammonia and cadmium.  
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: complete a six (6) month monitoring period 

without violation to confirm a return to compliance; submit a corrective action plan in the event of 
a failed effluent limitation during the six (6) month monitoring period; pay a civil penalty in the 

amount of two thousand one hundred dollars ($2,100.00); and pay a stipulated penalty in the 
amount of two thousand one hundred dollars ($2,100.00) should any requirement of the Order not 

be met.  

 
             

75)         Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-064-W 
Order Date: October 3, 2019 

Individual/Entity: SK Builders  
Facility: Cliffabee Leas Subdivision 

Location:    Located off Walhalla Highway 

     Seneca, SC 29672 
  Mailing Address:   P.O. Box 561  

       Greer, SC 29652 
County:     Oconee County  

Previous Orders: None  

Permit/ID Number: NPDES Permit N/A 
Violations Cited:   Pollution Control Act, S.C Code Ann § 48-1- 110 (d) (2008 

& Supp. 2018); Water Pollution Control Permits, S.C. Code Ann Regs. 61-9.122.26 (a) 
(2011). 

 
Summary: SK Builders (Individual/Entity) owns and is responsible for land disturbing 

activity associated with construction located in Oconee County, South Carolina. On March 11, 2019, 



a Notice of Noncompliance was issued as a result an inspection of the site. The Individual/Entity 
has violated the Pollution Control Act and Water Pollution Control Permit Regulations as follows: 

failed to apply and obtain required permits from the Department prior to initiating land disturbing 
activity.  

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: submit all construction permit applications 
required by the Department for lots under construction; and, pay a civil penalty in the amount of 

four thousand dollars ($7,125.00). 
 

 
 

BUREAU OF AIR QUALITY 

 
 

76) Order Type and Number: Administrative Order 19-022-A 
Order Date: October 14, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Mr. Robert J. Coe 

Facility: N/A 
Location: 6 R Street 

 Anderson, SC 29625 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Anderson 
Previous Orders: N/A 

Permit/ID Number: N/A 

Violations Cited: 5 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-62.2, Prohibition of 
Open Burning 

 
Summary:  Mr. Robert J. Coe (Individual/Entity), is the owner of the property located in 

Anderson, South Carolina.  The Department conducted an open burning investigation on May 1, 

2018, in response to a complaint.  The Individual/Entity has violated South Carolina Air Pollution 
Control Regulations in that he burned materials other than those specifically allowed by Section I 

of the regulation.  
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: cease all open burning except in accordance 

with the open burning regulations; and pay to the Department a civil penalty in the amount of 
seven hundred dollars ($700.00). 

 
 

77) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-024-A 
Order Date: October 17, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Palmer’s Quality Construction, Inc. 

Facility: Palmer’s Quality Construction 
Location:    901 B Long Point Road 

     Mount Pleasant, SC 29464 
Mailing Address:   Same 

County: Charleston 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit/ID Number: N/A 

Violations Cited:    5 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-62.2 Prohibition of 
Open Burning 

 
 Summary: Palmer’s Quality Construction, Inc. (Individual/Entity), is the owner of the 

property located at 901 B Long Point Road in Mount Pleasant, South Carolina.  The Department 



conducted open burning investigations on July 18, 2018, and August 10, 2018, in response to 
complaints.  The Individual/Entity has violated South Carolina Air Pollution Control Regulations in 

that it burned materials other than those specifically allowed by Section I of the regulation, 
specifically land-clearing debris less than 1,000 feet from public roadways and residential sites. 

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: cease all open burning except in accordance 
with the Open Burning Regulation; and pay a civil penalty in the amount of three thousand dollars 

($3,000.00). 
 

 
 

BUREAU OF ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH SERVICES 

 
 

Food Safety Enforcement 
 

 

78) Order Type and Number: Administrative Order 2019-206-06-043 
Order Date: October 1, 2019  

Individual/Entity: Joseph Stocco, d.b.a. Ole Shillelagh Sports 
Bar       

Facility: Joseph Stocco, d.b.a. Ole Shillelagh Sports Bar          
Location: 405 South Kings Highway                             

 Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 

Mailing Address: Same  
County: Horry 

Previous Orders: 2016-206-06-012 ($1,000.00)  
Permit Number: 26-206-12519 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Ole Shillelagh Sports Bar (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Myrtle 

Beach, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on March 18, 2019, March 28, 2019, 
and April 1, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 

Regulation as follows: failed to maintain the premises free of insects, rodents, and other pests. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 

with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 
penalty in the amount of five hundred dollars ($500.00). 

 
 

79) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-01-050 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 
Individual/Entity: TD’s of Clemson 

Facility: TD’s of Clemson 
Location: 339 College Avenue 

 Clemson, SC 29631 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Pickens 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 39-206-00639 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 



Summary:  TD’s of Clemson (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Clemson, South 
Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on September 5, 2017, July 12, 2018, June 25, 

2019, and July 5, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 
Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that outer openings of the retail food 

establishment were protected against the entry of insects and rodents by filling or closing the holes 

and other gaps along floors, walls and ceiling, closed tight-fitting windows, and solid, self-closing 
doors; failed to keep food contact surfaces of cooking equipment and pans free of encrusted grease 

deposits and other soil accumulations and non-food contact surfaces clean and free of accumulation 
of dust, dirt, food residue, and other debris; and failed to clean the physical facilities as often as 

necessary to keep them clean. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of four hundred dollars ($400.00). 

 
 

80) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-01-053 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Lowery Food Mart #5 

Facility: Lowery Food Mart #5 
Location: 1698 Wells Highway 

 Seneca, SC 29678 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Oconee 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 37-206-01058 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Lowery Food Mart #5 (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Oconee, 

South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on November 7, 2017, September 6, 2018, 
and July 30, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 

Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that cleaned equipment and utensils, laundered linens, and 
single-use articles shall be stored in a clean, dry location where they are not exposed to splash, 

dust, or other contamination and at least 6 inches off the floor. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of two hundred dollars ($200.00). 

 
 

81) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-01-058 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 
Individual/Entity: O’Charley’s #246  

Facility: O’Charley’s #246 
Location: 3723 Clemson Boulevard 

 Anderson, SC 29621 

Mailing Address: 3028 Sidco Drive 
 Nashville, TN 37204 

County: Anderson 
Previous Orders: 2015-206-01-040 ($800.00); 

 2016-206-01-037 ($1,000.00); 
 2018-206-01-025 ($3,500.00) 

Permit Number: 04-206-02393 



Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  O’Charley’s #246 (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Anderson, South 
Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on June 4, 2018, June 14, 2018, and May 13, 

2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation 

as follows: failed to keep equipment food contact surfaces and utensils clean to sight and touch 
and failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control for safety foods. 

 
Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 

with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 
penalty in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). 

 

 
82) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-01-060 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 
Individual/Entity: O’Charley’s #295 

Facility: O’Charley’s #295 

Location: 452 Bypass 72 NW 
 Greenwood, SC 29649 

Mailing Address: 3028 Sidco Drive 
 Nashville, TN 37204 

County: Greenwood 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 24-206-01462 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  O’Charley’s #295 (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Greenwood, 
South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on June 19, 2018, June 18, 2019, and June 

27, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 

Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control 
for safety foods. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 
 

 
83) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-02-063 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Purple International Bistro and Sushi 

Facility: Purple International Bistro and Sushi 

Location: 933 South Main Street  
 Greenville, SC 29601 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Greenville 

Previous Orders: 2016-206-02-041 ($800.00); 

 2018-206-02-001 ($1,000.00); 
 2018-206-02-062 ($800.00) 

Permit Number: 23-206-11185 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Purple International Bistro and Sushi (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located 

in Greenville, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on June 20, 2019, and June 



28, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 
Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that refrigerated, ready-to-eat, time/temperature control for 

safety foods were discarded if the temperature and time combination exceeded seven (7) days or 
if the package was not properly date marked. 

 

Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 
with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00). 
 

 
84) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-02-071 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Denny’s Restaurant #2054 
Facility: Denny’s Restaurant #2054 

Location: 2521 Wade Hampton Boulevard 
 Greenville, SC 29615 

Mailing Address: 203 East Main Street 

 Spartanburg, SC 29319 
County: Greenville 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 23-206-11692 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

 

Summary:  Denny’s Restaurant #2054 (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in 
Greenville, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on August 2, 2019, August 8, 

2019, and August 14, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 
Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 

time/temperature control for safety foods. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 

 

 
85) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-02-074 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Liberty West End 

Facility: Liberty West End 
Location: 941 South Main Street 

 Greenville, SC 29601 

Mailing Address: 1177 Southgate Drive 
 Charleston, SC 29407 

County: Greenville 
Previous Orders: 2016-206-02-049 ($800.00); 

 2017-206-02-020 ($1,500.00); 

 2018-206-02-025 ($1,000.00); 
 2019-206-02-010 ($1,000.00) 

Permit Number: 23-206-09279 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Liberty West End (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Greenville, South 

Carolina. The Department conducted an inspection on August 5, 2019. The Individual/Entity has 



violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that 
refrigerated, ready-to-eat, time/temperature control for safety foods were discarded if the 

temperature and time combination exceeded seven (7) days or if the package was not properly 
date marked. 

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). 
 

 
86) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-02-076 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Greenville Drive Stadium #4  
 (500 Club) 

Facility: Greenville Drive Stadium #4 (500 Club) 
Location: 945 South Main Street 

 Greenville, SC 29601 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Greenville 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 23-206-08936 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

 

Summary:  Greenville Drive Stadium #4 (500 Club) (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant 
located in Greenville, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on January 22, 2018, 

November 2, 2018, and July 11, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail 
Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to provide individual disposable towels at each 

hand washing sink or group of adjacent handwashing sinks. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 

with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 
penalty in the amount of four hundred dollars ($400.00). 

 

 
87) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-03-074 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 
Individual/Entity: JJ Tea House 

Facility: JJ Tea House 
Location: 601 Main Street, Unit D 

 Columbia, SC 29201 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Richland 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 40-206-08012 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  JJ Tea House (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Columbia, South 

Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on August 30, 2017, August 29, 2018, and August 
28, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 

Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that refrigerated, ready-to-eat, time/temperature control for 
safety foods were discarded if the temperature and time combination exceeded seven (7) days or 

if the package was not properly date marked. 



 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 

 

 
88) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-03-087 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Buffalo Creek Bar & Grill 

Facility: Buffalo Creek Bar & Grill 
Location: 750 Marina Way 

 Prosperity, SC 29127 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Lexington 

Previous Orders: 2018-206-03-092 ($800.00) 
Permit Number: 32-206-01301 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Buffalo Creek Bar & Grill (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Prosperity, 

South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on June 30, 2017, June 8, 2018, June 7, 
2019, and July 25, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 

Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 
time/temperature control for safety foods. 

 

Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 
with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00). 
 

 

89) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-03-088 
Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Wings & Ale 
Facility: Wings & Ale 

Location: 154 Ellis Avenue 

 Lexington, SC 29072 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Lexington 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 32-206-06151 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 

Summary:  Wings & Ale (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Lexington, South 
Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on July 28, 2017, July 25, 2018, August 3, 2018, 

and July 19, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 
Regulation as follows: failed to clean the physical facilities as often as necessary to keep them 

clean. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of four hundred dollars ($400.00). 

 
 

 



90) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-03-090 
Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Mills-Jarrett Building Canteen  
Facility: Mills-Jarrett Building Canteen  

Location: 1751 Calhoun Street 

 Columbia, SC 29201 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Richland 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 40-206-01919 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 

Summary:  Mills-Jarrett Building Canteen (Individual/Entity) is a canteen located in 
Columbia, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on November 14, 2016, 

November 14, 2017, September 10, 2018, January 3, 2019, March 19, 2019, and May 29, 2019. 
The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as 

follows: failed to ensure that a person in charge is certified by a food protection manager 

certification program that is recognized by the Conference for Food Protection. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 
with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 
 

 

91) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-03-093 
Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: No. 1 China 2 
Facility: No. 1 China 2 

Location: 5214 Highway 321 

 Gaston, SC 29053 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Lexington 
Previous Orders: 2014-206-03-048 ($500.00); 

 2019-206-03-035 ($800.00) 

Permit Number: 32-206-05811 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  No. 1 China 2 (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Gaston, South 

Carolina. The Department conducted an inspection on August 20, 2019. The Individual/Entity has 
violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that 

refrigerated, ready-to-eat, time/temperature control for safety foods were discarded if the 

temperature and time combination exceeded seven (7) days, or if the package was not properly 
date marked and failed to store foods in a manner to prevent cross contamination. 

 
Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 

with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). 
 

 
 

 
 

 



92) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-03-095 
Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Quick Stop Exxon  
Facility: Quick Stop Exxon  

Location: 9102 Farrow Road 

 Columbia, SC 29203 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Richland 
Previous Orders: 2019-206-03-081 ($1,400.00) 

Permit Number: 40-206-08572  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 

Summary:  Quick Stop Exxon (Individual/Entity) is a convenience store located in Columbia, 
South Carolina. The Department conducted an inspection on August 23, 2019. The Individual/Entity 

has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain 
proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control for safety foods. 

 

Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 
with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). 
 

 
93) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-05-021 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Hot Wok 
Facility: Hot Wok 

Location: 2390 Chestnut Street, Suite A7 
 Orangeburg, SC 29115 

Mailing Address: Same 

County: Orangeburg 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 38-206-02759 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 

Summary:  Hot Wok (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Orangeburg, South 
Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on March 25, 2019, April 4, 2019, and August 13, 

2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation 
as follows: failed to properly cool cooked time/temperature control for safety foods; and failed to 

ensure that refrigerated, ready-to-eat, time/temperature control for safety foods were discarded if 
the temperature and time combination exceeded seven (7) days or if the package was not properly 

date marked. 

 
Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 

with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 
penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 

 

 
94) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-06-060 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Marco Polo  

Facility: Marco Polo  
Location: 513 North Ocean Boulevard  

 Myrtle Beach, SC 29577  



Mailing Address: Same 
County: Horry  

Previous Orders: 2018-206-06-127 ($2,600.00) 
Permit Number: 26-206-13571 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Marco Polo (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Myrtle Beach, South 

Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on July 26, 2018, September 5, 2018, and April 
25, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 

Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control 
for safety foods; failed to ensure that refrigerated, ready-to-eat, time/temperature control for 

safety foods were discarded if the temperature and time combination exceeded seven (7) days or 

if the package was not properly date marked; failed to properly thaw time/temperature control for 
safety foods; failed to protect food from contamination by storing in a clean, dry location, where it 

is not exposed to splash, dust, or other contamination, at least 6 inches above the floor; failed to 
ensure that equipment is maintained in a state of repair and condition that meets the regulation 

requirements; and failed to provide individual disposable towels at each hand washing sink or 

group of adjacent handwashing sinks.  
 

Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 
with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of one thousand, five hundred dollars ($1,500.00). 
 

 

95) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-06-084 
Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Flip Flops Bar and Grill  
Facility: Flip Flops Bar and Grill  

Location: 9618 Shore Drive   

 Myrtle Beach, SC 29572 
Mailing Address: 504 30th Avenue North #16 

 Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 
County: Horry  

Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 26-206-11154  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Flip Flops Bar and Grill (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Myrtle 

Beach, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on April 20, 2018, November 16, 
2018, and May 14, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 

Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 

time/temperature control for safety foods. 
 

Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 
with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 

 
 

96) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-06-099 
Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: NY Style Pizzeria  
Facility: NY Style Pizzeria  

Location: 706 North Ocean Boulevard  



 Myrtle Beach, SC 29577  
Mailing Address: P.O. Box 3034    

 Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 
County: Horry  

Previous Orders: 2019-206-06-066 ($800.00) 

Permit Number: 26-206-12078 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  NY Style Pizzeria (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Myrtle Beach, 

South Carolina. The Department conducted an inspection on June 26, 2019. The Individual/Entity 
has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain 

proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control for safety foods and failed to ensure 

written procedures were in place and made available to the Department when the facility uses time 
as a public health control. 

 
Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 

with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). 
 

 
97) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-07-041 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Belgian Gelato  

Facility: Belgian Gelato  

Location: 6 Vendue Range   
 Charleston, SC 29401 

Mailing Address: Same   
County: Charleston  

Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 10-206-07879  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Belgian Gelato (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Charleston, South 

Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on February 6, 2018, February 5, 2019, February 

15, 2019, February 28, 2019, and April 30, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South 
Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that a person in charge 

is certified by a food protection manager certification program that is recognized by the Conference 
for Food Protection. 

 
Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 

with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of six hundred dollars ($600.00). 
 

 
98) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-07-046 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 

Individual/Entity: RB’s Seafood Restaurant  
Facility: RB’s Seafood Restaurant  

Location: 97 Church Street  
 Mount Pleasant, SC 29464 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Charleston 

Previous Orders: 2015-206-07-078 ($800.00); 



 2017-206-07-010 ($800.00); 
 2018-206-07-027 ($2,000.00) 

Permit Number: 10-206-04737 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 

Summary:  RB’s Seafood Restaurant (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Mount 
Pleasant, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on May 23, 2017, May 22, 2018, 

June 4, 2018, and April 29, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 
Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 

time/temperature control for safety foods; failed to properly cool cooked time/temperature control 
for safety foods; failed to properly thaw time/temperature control for safety foods; and failed to 

use effective methods to cool cooked time/temperature control for safety foods. 

 
Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 

with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 
penalty in the amount of one thousand, two hundred fifty dollars ($1,250.00). 

 

 
99) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-07-082 

Order Date: October 1, 2019 
Individual/Entity: RB’s Seafood Restaurant  

Facility: RB’s Seafood Restaurant  
Location: 97 Church Street  

 Mount Pleasant, SC 29464 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Charleston 

Previous Orders: 2015-206-07-078 ($800.00); 
 2017-206-07-010 ($800.00); 

 2018-206-07-027 ($2,000.00); 

 2019-206-07-046 ($1,250.00) 
Permit Number: 10-206-04737 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  RB’s Seafood Restaurant (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Mount 

Pleasant, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on May 22, 2018, April 29, 2019, 
July 1, 2019, July 2, 2019, and July 3, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina 

Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 
time/temperature control for safety foods; failed to maintain the premises free of insects, rodents, 

and other pests; failed to properly thaw time/temperature control for safety foods; and failed to 
use effective methods to cool cooked time/temperature control for safety foods.  

 

Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 
with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of three thousand, seven hundred fifty dollars ($3,750.00). 
 

 

100) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-01-044 
Order Date: October 2, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Kentucky Fried Chicken #007 
Facility: Kentucky Fried Chicken #007 

Location: 653 Highway 28 Bypass 
 Anderson, SC 29624 

Mailing Address: 904 Montague Avenue 



 Greenwood, SC 29649 
County: Anderson 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 04-206-02686 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Kentucky Fried Chicken #007 (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in 

Anderson, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on February 14, 2017, January 
4, 2018, November 29, 2018, December 5, 2018, May 9, 2019, and May 15, 2019. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: 
failed to keep food contact surfaces of cooking equipment and pans free of encrusted grease 

deposits and other soil accumulations and non-food contact surfaces clean and free of accumulation 

of dust, dirt, food residue, and other debris; and failed to clean the physical facilities as often as 
necessary to keep them clean. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 

with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 
 

 
101) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-01-056 

Order Date: October 2, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Kentucky Fried Chicken 

Facility: Kentucky Fried Chicken 

Location: 2701 North Main Street 
 Anderson, SC 29621 

Mailing Address: 880 S. Pleasantburg Drive, Suite 4C 
 Spartanburg, SC 29606 

County: Anderson 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 04-206-03258 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Kentucky Fried Chicken (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Anderson, 

South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on September 25, 2017, August 14, 2018, 
and July 26, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 

Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that outer openings of the retail food establishment were 
protected against the entry of insects and rodents by filling or closing the holes and other gaps 

along floors, walls, and ceiling; closed tight-fitting windows; and solid, self-closing doors. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of two hundred dollars ($200.00). 

 
 

102) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-02-050 

Order Date: October 3, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Another Broken Egg Cafe  

Facility: Another Broken Egg Cafe  
Location: 1025 Woodruff Road, Suite G-103  

 Greenville, SC 29607 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Greenville 



Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 23-206-11100 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Another Broken Egg Cafe (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in 

Greenville, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on June 12, 2018, May 29, 2019, 
and June 7, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 

Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control 
for safety foods. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 
 

 
103) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-02-068 

Order Date: October 3, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Hong Kong Restaurant 
Facility: Hong Kong Restaurant 

Location: 7704-J Augusta Road  
 Piedmont, SC 29673 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Greenville 

Previous Orders: 2017-206-02-002 ($2,200.00) 

Permit Number: 23-206-11185 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Hong Kong Restaurant (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Greenville, 

South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on July 3, 2018, July 2, 2019, and July 10, 

2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation 
as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control for safety 

foods; failed to use effective methods to cool cooked time/temperature control for safety foods; 
failed to ensure that outer openings of the retail food establishment were protected against the 

entry of insects and rodents by filling or closing the holes and other gaps along floors, walls, and 

ceiling, closed tight-fitting windows, and solid, self-closing doors; and failed to protect food from 
contamination by storing in a clean, dry location where it is not exposed to splash, dust, or other 

contamination at least 6 inches above the floor. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of three thousand, seven hundred fifty dollars ($3,750.00). 

 
 

104) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-02-073 
Order Date: October 3, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Compadres MexMex Grill  

Facility: Compadres MexMex Grill  
Location: 2541 South Pleasantburg Drive  

 Greenville, SC 29601 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Greenville 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 23-206-09997 



Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Compadres MexMex Grill (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in 
Greenville, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on August 9, 2018, August 6, 

2019, August 14, 2019, and August 23, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina 

Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 
time/temperature control for safety foods. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand, six hundred dollars ($1,600.00). 

 

 
105) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-05-017 

Order Date: October 3, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Elloree Truck Stop  

Facility: Elloree Truck Stop  

Location: 6642 Old Highway #6 
 Elloree, SC 29047 

Mailing Address: P.O. Box 512 
 Elloree, SC 29047 

County: Orangeburg 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 38-206-02493 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Elloree Truck Stop (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Elloree, South 
Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on June 20, 2018, August 20, 2018, September 

4, 2018, July 3, 2019, and July 11, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina 

Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain the premises free of insects, 
rodents, and other pests. 

 
Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 

with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of one thousand, two hundred dollars ($1,200.00). 
 

 
106) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-06-090 

Order Date: October 3, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Nathan’s Famous-Scoops Ice Cream  

Facility: Nathan’s Famous- Scoops Ice Cream  

Location: 1401 South Kings Highway  
 Myrtle Beach, SC 29575 

Mailing Address: 4407 Camellia Drive  
 Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 

County: Horry 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 26-206-11821 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Nathan’s Famous-Scoops Ice Cream (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located 
in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on March 27, 2018, 

November 2, 2018, and June 10, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail 



Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 
time/temperature control for safety foods. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 

with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 
 

 
107) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-07-055 

Order Date: October 7, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Edith Smith D/B/A Amy’s Kitchen  

Facility: Amy’s Kitchen  

Location: 100-B Central Avenue   
 Goose Creek, SC 29445  

Mailing Address: P.O. Box 612  
 Goose Creek, SC 29445  

County: Berkeley  

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 08-206-06919 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Amy’s Kitchen (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Goose Creek, South 
Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on March 1, 2018, February 5, 2019, February 

15, 2019, February 26, 2019, March 8, 2019, and March 19, 2019. The Individual/Entity has 

violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that 
a person in charge is certified by a food protection manager certification program that is recognized 

by the Conference for Food Protection. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, obtain 
and provide documentation of its designated employee’s completion of the certified food protection 

manager certification program; and pay a civil penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars 
($800.00). 

 

 
108) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-01-042 

Order Date: October 8, 2019 
Individual/Entity: El Arriero  

Facility: El Arriero  
Location: 4355 Highway 24  

 Anderson, SC 29626 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Anderson 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 04-206-03470 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  El Arriero (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Anderson, South 

Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on November 20, 2017, August 13, 2018, and 
May 29, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 

Regulation as follows: failed to keep shellstock tags or labels attached to the container in which 
the shellstock are received until the container is empty. 

 



Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of four hundred dollars ($400.00). 
 

 

109) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-02-077 
Order Date: October 8, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Panera Bread #1161  
Facility: Panera Bread #1161  

Location: 1922 Augusta Road  
 Greenville, SC 29601 

Mailing Address: Same 

County: Greenville 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 23-206-09209 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 

Summary:  Panera Bread #1161 (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Greenville, 
South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on May 21, 2018, February 12, 2019, and 

August 28, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 
Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that the handwashing sinks were accessible at all times. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of four hundred dollars ($400.00). 
 

 
110) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-03-078 

Order Date: October 8, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Firehouse Subs 
Facility: Firehouse Subs 

Location: 7467 Saint Andrews Road  
 Irmo, SC 29063 

Mailing Address: P.O. Box 50645 

 Columbia, SC 29250 
County: Lexington 

Previous Orders: 2018-206-03-108 ($1,475.00) 
Permit Number: 32-206-06513 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Firehouse Subs (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Irmo, South 

Carolina. The Department conducted an inspection on July 2, 2019. The Individual/Entity has 
violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain 

proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control for safety foods. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). 

 
 

 
 

 



111) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-204-07-001 
Order Date: October 9, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Maine Line Lobster  
Facility: Maine Line Lobster  

Location: 1883 Andell Bluff Road  

 Johns Island, SC 29455 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Charleston  
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 10-204-10972 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 

Summary:  Maine Line Lobster (Individual/Entity) is a mobile food unit located in Johns 
Island, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on November 29, 2017, June 22, 

2018, and June 4, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 
Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that outer openings of the retail food 

establishment were protected against the entry of insects and rodents by filling or closing the holes 

and other gaps along floors, walls, and ceiling; closed tight-fitting windows; and solid, self-closing 
doors. 

 
Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 

with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 
penalty in the amount of two hundred dollars ($200.00). 

 

 
112) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-01-061 

Order Date: October 9, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Theo’s 

Facility: Theo’s 

Location: 302-1 South Main Street  
 Abbeville, SC 29620 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Abbeville 

Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 01-206-00877 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Theo’s (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Abbeville, South Carolina. 

The Department conducted inspections on July 17, 2019, July 26, 2019, and August 1, 2019. The 
Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: 

failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control for safety foods. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). 

 

 
113) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-02-046 

Order Date: October 9, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Cantinflas Mexican Restaurant 

Facility: Cantinflas Mexican Restaurant 
Location: 10 South Main Street  

 Greenville, SC 29601 



Mailing Address: Same 
County: Greenville 

Previous Orders: 2016-206-02-030 ($400.00); 
 2018-206-02-047 ($1,000.00); 

 2019-206-02-028 ($2,750.00) 

Permit Number: 23-206-07370 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Cantinflas Mexican Restaurant (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in 

Greenville, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on June 18, 2019, June 27, 
2019, and July 2, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 

Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 

time/temperature control for safety foods; and failed to ensure the grade decal posted by the 
Department was not obscured, covered, defaced, relocated, or removed. 

 
Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 

with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25; obtain and provide 

documentation of its designated staff members completion of an accredited Food Handler 
Certification program; pay a civil penalty in the amount of two thousand, five hundred dollars 

($2,500.00); and pay a suspended penalty in the amount of five hundred dollars ($500.00) should 
any requirement of the Order not be met. 

 
 

114) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-06-104 

Order Date: October 9, 2019 
Individual/Entity: New Dragon Chinese   

Facility: New Dragon Chinese   
Location: 104 West Broad Street    

 Hemingway, SC 29554 

Mailing Address: P.O. Box 1445 
 Hemingway, SC 29554  

County: Williamsburg  
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 45-206-00290  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  New Dragon Chinese (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Hemingway, 
South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on May 29, 2018, October 30, 2018, and 

July 9, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 
Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that refrigerated, ready-to-eat, time/temperature control for 

safety foods were discarded if the temperature and time combination exceeded seven (7) days or 

if the package was not properly date marked. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 

 
 

115) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-07-069 
Order Date: October 9, 2019 

Individual/Entity: D. D. Peckers Wing Shack  
Facility: D. D. Peckers Wing Shack  

Location: 1660 Savannah Highway  



 Charleston, SC 29407 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Charleston 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 10-206-05589 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  D. D. Peckers Wing Shack (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in 
Charleston, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on July 13, 2017, May 30, 2018, 

May 24, 2019, and June 3, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 
Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that refrigerated, ready-to-eat, 

time/temperature control for safety foods were discarded if the temperature and time combination 

exceeded seven (7) days or if the package was not properly date marked. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand, six hundred dollars ($1,600.00). 

 
 

116) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-01-049 
Order Date: October 14, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Sardi’s Den 
Facility: Sardi’s Den 

Location: 520-2 Old Greenville Highway  

 Clemson, SC 29631 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Pickens 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 39-206-00909 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Sardi’s Den (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Clemson, South 
Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on September 21, 2017, July 17, 2018, July 27, 

2018, July 11, 2019, and July 19, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail 

Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to keep equipment food contact surfaces and 
utensils clean to sight and touch and failed to clean the physical facilities as often as necessary to 

keep them clean. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of six hundred dollars ($600.00). 

 
 

117) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-04-018 
Order Date: October 14, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Savmart  

Facility: Savmart  
Location: 2518 Highway 9 West   

 Dillon, SC 29536 
Mailing Address: P.O. Box 486 

 Little Rock, SC 29567  
County: Dillon  

Previous Orders: None 



Permit Number: 17-206-00575 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Savmart (Individual/Entity) is a convenience store located in Dillon, South 

Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on April 19, 2018, March 27, 2019, and April 4, 

2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation 
as follows: failed to provide a temperature measuring device required for the immersion into food. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of four hundred dollars ($400.00). 

 

 
118) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-04-047 

Order Date: October 14, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Quincy’s Steak House  

Facility: Quincy’s Steak House  

Location: 1924 West Lucas Street  
 Florence, SC 29501 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Florence 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 21-206-01609 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
 

Summary:  Quincy’s Steak House (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Florence, 
South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on July 11, 2017, May 11, 2018, May 18, 

2018, August 27, 2018, and July 2, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina 

Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 
time/temperature control for safety foods. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of two thousand, four hundred dollars ($2,400.00). 
 

 
119) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-04-050 

Order Date: October 14, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Magnolia on Main   

Facility: Magnolia on Main   

Location: 226 East Main Street    
 Bennettsville, SC 29515 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Marlboro  

Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 34-206-00666  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Magnolia on Main (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Bennettsville, 

South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on November 13, 2018, November 19, 
2018, and July 23, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 



Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 
time/temperature control for safety foods. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 
 

 
120) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-05-024 

Order Date: October 14, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Ruby Tuesday #4396 

Facility: Ruby Tuesday #4396 

Location: 1183 Knox Avenue  
 North Augusta, SC 29841 

Mailing Address: P.O. Box 781199 
 Wichita, KS 67278 

County: Aiken 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 02-206-01915 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Ruby Tuesday #4396 (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in North 
Augusta, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on August 8, 2019, August 14, 

2019, and August 22, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 

Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that the temperature of the fresh hot water 
sanitizing rinse as it enters the manifold, may not be more than 194 degrees in a mechanical 

operation, less than 165 degrees for a stationary rack, single temperature machine, or less than 
180 degrees for all other machines. 

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of four hundred dollars ($400.00). 
 

 

121) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-06-112 
Order Date: October 14, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Burger King #1215    
Facility: Burger King #1215  

Location: 501 South Kings Highway    
 Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 

Mailing Address: P.O. Box 7971  

 Madison, WI 53713  
County: Horry  

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 26-206-11560  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Burger King #1215 (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Myrtle Beach, 

South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on May 15, 2019, June 26, 2019, July 3, 
2019, and July 22, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 

Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to provide water at a temperature of at least 100°F 
through a mixing valve or combination faucet at the handwashing sink(s). 

 



Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 
 

 

122) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-07-088 
Order Date: October 14, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Freddo  
Facility: Freddo   

Location: 239 ½ King Street   
 Charleston, SC 29401 

Mailing Address: Same 

County: Charleston 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 10-206-09296 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 

Summary:  Freddo (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Charleston, South Carolina. 
The Department conducted inspections on July 11, 2018, July 18, 2018, and July 11, 2019. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: 
failed to maintain the premises free of insects, rodents, and other pests. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of four hundred dollars ($400.00). 
 

 
123) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-08-003 

Order Date: October 14, 2019 

Individual/Entity: El Super Internacional    
Facility: El Super Internacional   

Location: 71 Pope Avenue    
 Hilton Head Island, SC 29928 

Mailing Address: 21 Simmonsville Road  

 Bluffton, SC 29910  
County: Beaufort  

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 07-206-09234  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  El Super Internacional (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Hilton Head 

Island, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on April 23, 2019, May 3, 2019, 
May 14, 2019, and May 24, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 

Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to provide a test kit or other device that accurately 
measures the concentration of MG/L of sanitizing solutions. 

 

Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 
with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 
 

 
 

 



124) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-08-005 
Order Date: October 14, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Katie O’Donalds   
Facility: Katie O’Donalds   

Location: 1008 Fording Island Road    

 Bluffton, SC 29910 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Beaufort  
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 07-206-04048  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 

Summary:  Katie O’Donalds (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Bluffton, South 
Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on September 21, 2017, September 10, 2018, 

and August 12, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 
Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 

time/temperature control for safety foods. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 

 
 

125) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-208-04-003 

Order Date: October 14, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Turbeville Correctional Center     

Facility: Turbeville Correctional Center   
Location: 1578 Clarence Coker Highway  

 Turbeville, SC 29162  

Mailing Address: 4444 Broad River Road  
 Columbia, SC 29221  

County: Clarendon  
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 14-208-08013  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Turbeville Correctional Center (Individual/Entity) operates a cafeteria located 
in Turbeville, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on June 13, 2019, June 20, 

2019, June 29, 2019, and July 8, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail 
Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain the premises free of insects, rodents, 

and other pests. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 

 

 
126) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-03-081 

Order Date: October 16, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Quick Stop Exxon 

Facility: Quick Stop Exxon 
Location: 9102 Farrow Road  

 Columbia, SC 29203 



Mailing Address: Same 
County: Richland 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 40-206-08572 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary: Quick Stop Exxon (Individual/Entity) is a convenience store located in 

Columbia, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on April 30, 2019, June 25, 2019, 
July 2, 2019, and July 12, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 

Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 
time/temperature control for safety foods; failed to clean non-food contact surfaces at a frequency 

to preclude accumulation of soil residues; failed to provide a covered receptacle for sanitary napkins 

in the toilet room used by females; failed to ensure that physical facilities were maintained in good 
repair; and failed to clean the physical facilities as often as necessary to keep them clean. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand, four hundred dollars ($1,400.00). 
 

 
127) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-01-055 

Order Date: October 18, 2019 
Individual/Entity: El Jimador Veijo, LLC 

Facility: El Jimador Veijo, LLC 

Location: 2114 Highway 81 
 Anderson, SC 29621 

Mailing Address: Same  
County: Anderson 

Previous Orders: 2018-206-01-035 ($550.00) 

Permit Number: 04-206-04183 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  El Jimador Veijo, LLC (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Anderson, 

South Carolina. The Department conducted an inspection on July 24, 2019. The Individual/Entity 

has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain 
proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control for safety foods. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). 

 

 
128) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-01-059 

Order Date: October 18, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Anderson Elks Lodge #1206 

Facility: Anderson Elks Lodge #1206 

Location: 225 McGee Road 
 Anderson, SC 29625 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Anderson 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 04-206-02747 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 



Summary:  Anderson Elks Lodge #1206 (Individual/Entity) operates a restaurant located 
in Anderson, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on November 28, 2017, 

October 30, 2018, and August 20, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail 
Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to ensure food contact surfaces and utensils were 

cleaned. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of two hundred dollars ($200.00). 

 
 

129) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-01-063 

Order Date: October 18, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Ingles #16 Deli Bakery 

Facility: Ingles #16 Deli Bakery 
Location: 462 S. Main Street 

 Belton, SC 29627 

Mailing Address: P.O. Box 6676 
 Asheville, NC 28816 

County: Anderson 
Previous Orders: 2016-206-01-035 ($800.00) 

Permit Number: 04-206-02411 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 

Summary:  Ingles #16 Deli Bakery (Individual/Entity) is a deli/bakery located in Belton, 
South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on January 23, 2018, February 2, 2018, 

January 14, 2019, and August 26, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail 
Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 

time/temperature control for safety foods. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00). 

 

 
130) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-02-059 

Order Date: October 18, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Jimmy & Pete’s Clock Restaurant 

Facility: Jimmy & Pete’s Clock Restaurant 
Location: 1803 Easley Bridge Road 

 Greenville, SC 29611 

Mailing Address: 1249 South Pleasantburg Drive 
 Greenville, SC 29605 

County: Greenville 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 23-206-04619 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Jimmy & Pete’s Clock Restaurant (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in 
Greenville, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on June 17, 2019, June 24, 

2019, and June 28, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 
Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 

time/temperature control for safety foods. 



Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 
with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 
 

 

131) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-02-070 
Order Date: October 18, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Tokyo Japanese Restaurant 
Facility: Tokyo Japanese Restaurant 

Location: 906 Tiger Boulevard 
 Clemson, SC 29631 

Mailing Address: Same 

County: Pickens 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 39-206-02009 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 

Summary:  Tokyo Japanese Restaurant (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in 
Clemson, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on October 5, 2017, August 8, 

2018, and July 22, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 
Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 

time/temperature control for safety foods. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 

 
 

132) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-03-080 

Order Date: October 18, 2019 
Individual/Entity: San Jose Mexican Restaurant 

Facility: San Jose Mexican Restaurant 
Location: 5303 Highway 321, Suites A & B 

 Gaston, SC 29053 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Lexington 

Previous Orders: 2018-206-03-144 ($800.00) 
Permit Number: 32-206-06615 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  San Jose Mexican Restaurant (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in 

Gaston, South Carolina. The Department conducted an inspection on July 12, 2019. The 
Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: 

failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control for safety foods, and 
failed to ensure that refrigerated, ready-to-eat, time/temperature control for safety foods were 

discarded if the temperature and time combination exceeded seven (7) days, or if the package was 

not properly date marked. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). 
 

 



133) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-03-091 
Order Date: October 18, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Taqueria Guadalajara 
Facility: Taqueria Guadalajara 

Location: 1807 Decker Boulevard 

 Columbia, SC 29206 
Mailing Address: 407 Libby Lane 

 Lexington, SC 29072 
County: Richland 

Previous Orders: 2017-206-03-030 ($1,600.00); 
 2018-206-03-141 ($2,000.00) 

Permit Number: 40-206-07338 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Taqueria Guadalajara (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Columbia, 
South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on August 9, 2019, and August 19, 2019. 

The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as 

follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control for safety 
foods. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00). 

 

 
134) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-03-101 

Order Date: October 18, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Menkoi Ramen 

Facility: Menkoi Ramen 

Location: 1004 Gervais Street 
 Columbia, SC 29201 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Richland 

Previous Orders: 2014-206-03-132 ($500.00) 

Permit Number: 40-206-06890 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Menkoi Ramen (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Columbia, South 

Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on November 1, 2017, September 24, 2018, and 
September 4, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 

Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control 

for safety foods. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). 

 
 

135) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-06-110 
Order Date: October 18, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Café Blue at Hotel Blue 
Facility: Café Blue at Hotel Blue  

Location: 705 South Ocean Boulevard  



 Myrtle Beach, SC 29577  
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Horry  
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: N/A 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary: Café Blue at Hotel Blue (Individual/Entity) is a hotel with a restaurant 
located in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on May 23, 2019, 

and July 25, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 
Regulation as follows: providing food to the public without a valid permit issued by the Department. 

 

Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 
with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00). 
 

 

136) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-06-118 
Order Date: October 18, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Bombay at the Beach  
Facility: Bombay at the Beach  

Location: 702 North Kings Highway  
 Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 

Mailing Address: Same 

County: Horry  
Previous Orders: 2018-206-06-123 ($200.00); 

 2018-206-06-159 ($200.00); 
 2019-206-06-038 ($1,000.00) 

Permit Number: 26-206-13564 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Bombay at the Beach (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Myrtle Beach, 
South Carolina. The Department conducted an inspection on August 14, 2019. The Individual/Entity 

has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain 

proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control for safety foods. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). 
 

 

137) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-06-120 
Order Date: October 18, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Loco Gecko  
Facility: Loco Gecko 

Location: 805 South Ocean Boulevard  

 Myrtle Beach, SC 29577  
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Horry 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 26-206-12118 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 



Summary:  Loco Gecko (Individual/Entity) operates a restaurant located in Myrtle Beach, 
South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on September 7, 2018, March 7, 2019, and 

August 12, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 
Regulation as follows: failed to keep food contact surfaces of cooking equipment and pans free of 

encrusted grease deposits and other soil accumulations and non-food contact surfaces clean and 

free of accumulation of dust, dirt, food residue, and other debris. 
 

Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 
with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of two hundred dollars ($200.00). 
 

 

138) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-06-125 
Order Date: October 18, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Wendy’s #213 
Facility: Wendy’s #213   

Location: 2625 Dick Pond Road   

 Myrtle Beach, SC 29588 
Mailing Address: 8040 Arrowridge Boulevard, Suite 100  

 Charlotte, NC 28273  
County: Horry  

Previous Orders: 2016-206-06-053 ($800.00); 
 2018-206-06-115 ($800.00); 

 2019-206-06-014 ($1,000.00) 

Permit Number: 26-206-07460 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Wendy’s #213 (Individual/Entity), located in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina, is a 

restaurant. The Department conducted an inspection on July 24, 2019. The Individual/Entity has 

violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to ensure written 
procedures were in place and made available to the Department when the facility uses time as a 

public health control. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25; obtain 
and provide documentation of its designated staff members completion of an accredited Food 

Handler Certification program; and pay a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand dollars 
($1,000.00).  

 
 

139) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-06-135 

Order Date: October 18, 2019 
Individual/Entity: New China Buffet DBA Lucky Cho 

Facility: New China Buffet DBA Lucky Cho  
Location: 1700 Highway 17 North  

 Surfside Beach, SC 29575 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Horry  

Previous Orders: 2016-206-06-089 ($800.00); 
 2017-206-06-017 ($1,200.00); 

 2018-206-06-052 ($2,000.00); 
 2018-206-06-147 ($1,500.00) 

Permit Number: 26-206-13065 



Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  New China Buffet DBA Lucky Cho (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in 
Surfside Beach, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on December 20, 2018, 

May 23, 2019, and August 19, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail 

Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to properly cool cooked time/temperature control 
for safety foods and failed to use effective methods to cool cooked time/temperature control for 

safety foods. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 
with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25; obtain and provide 

documentation of its designated staff members completion of an accredited Food Handler 

Certification program; pay a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00); and 
pay a suspended penalty in the amount of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) should any 

requirement of the Order not be met. 
 

 

140) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-07-093 
Order Date: October 18, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Earth Fare #200 Deli  
Facility: Earth Fare #200 Deli  

Location: 74 Folly Road  
 Charleston, SC 29407 

Mailing Address: 220 Continuum Drive  

 Fletcher, NC 28732  
County: Charleston  

Previous Orders: 2018-206-07-008 ($1,600.00); 
 2019-206-07-016 ($1,000.00) 

Permit Number: 10-206-02693 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Earth Fare #200 Deli (Individual/Entity) is a deli located in Charleston, South 
Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on August 12, 2019, and August 13, 2019. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: 

failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control for safety foods. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00). 
 

 

141) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-07-094 
Order Date: October 18, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Tommy Condons d.b.a. VB Hosp. Group 
Facility: Tommy Condons d.b.a. VB Hosp. Group  

Location: 160 Church Street  

 Charleston, SC 29401 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Charleston  
Previous Orders: 2018-206-07-063 ($800.00) 

Permit Number: 10-206-10199 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 



Summary:  Tommy Condons d.b.a. VB Hosp. Group (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant 
located in Charleston, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on September 6, 

2017, August 29, 2018, and August 21, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina 
Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain the proper sanitization 

concentration in a chemical sanitizer used in a manual or mechanical operation during contact 

times. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). 
 

 

142) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-07-100 
Order Date: October 18, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Old Towne Restaurant  
Facility: Old Towne Restaurant   

Location: 229 King Street     

 Charleston, SC 29401  
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Charleston  
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 10-206-00466  
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 

Summary:  Old Towne Restaurant (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Charleston, 
South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on June 3, 2017, June 7, 2019, and July 

30, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 
Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control 

for safety foods and failed to ensure that refrigerated, ready-to-eat, time/temperature control for 

safety foods were discarded if the temperature and time combination exceeded seven (7) days or 
if the package was not properly date marked. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 
 

 
143) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-07-107 

Order Date: October 18, 2019 
Individual/Entity: McDonald’s #10431   

Facility: McDonald’s #10431   

Location: 3710 Rivers Avenue   
 North Charleston, SC 29406 

Mailing Address: 8584 Rivers Avenue, Suite 103 
 North Charleston, SC 29406 

County: Charleston  

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 10-206-07131 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  McDonald’s #10431 (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in North 
Charleston, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on December 18, 2018, June 

24, 2019, August 14, 2019, and August 22, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South 



Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding 
temperatures of time/temperature control for safety foods; failed to ensure written procedures 

were in place and made available to the Department when the facility uses time as a public health 
control; and failed to maintain the premises free of insects, rodents, and other pests. 

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand, six hundred dollars ($1,600.00). 
 

 
144) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-06-117 

Order Date: October 21, 2019 

Individual/Entity: La Trattoria    
Facility: La Trattoria    

Location: 3100 Highway 17 South     
 Murrells Inlet, SC 29576  

Mailing Address: Same 

County: Horry  
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 26-206-13637 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  La Trattoria (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Murrells Inlet, South 

Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on April 24, 2018, January 14, 2019, and August 

13, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 
Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control 

for safety foods. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 

 
 

145) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-06-136 

Order Date: October 21, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Denny’s   

Facility: Denny’s   
Location: 1200 US Highway 17 North   

 Surfside Beach, SC 29575 
Mailing Address: 2160 Scenic Highway North  

 Snellville, GA 30078  

County: Horry  
Previous Orders: 2019-206-06-103 ($3,200.00) 

Permit Number: 26-206-13752 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 

Summary:  Denny’s (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Surfside Beach, South 
Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on August 1, 2019, and August 2, 2019. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: 
failed to keep equipment food contact surfaces and utensils clean to sight and touch; failed to keep 

food contact surfaces of cooking equipment and pans free of encrusted grease deposits and other 
soil accumulations and non-food contact surfaces clean and free of accumulation of dust, dirt, food 

residue, and other debris; failed to ensure that equipment is maintained in a state of repair and 



condition that meets the regulation requirements; failed to maintain proper holding temperatures 
of time/temperature control for safety foods; failed to ensure that refrigerated, ready-to-eat, 

time/temperature control for safety foods were discarded if the temperature and time combination 
exceeded seven (7) days, or if the package was not properly date marked; failed to ensure that 

except for containers holding food that can be readily and unmistakably recognized such as dry 

pasta, working containers holding food or food ingredients that are removed from their original 
packages for use in the food establishment, such as cooking oils, flour, herbs, potato flakes, salt, 

spices, and sugar shall be identified with the common name of the food; and failed to ensure that 
physical facilities were maintained in good repair. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of two thousand, seven hundred fifty dollars ($2,750.00). 
 

 
146) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-07-098 

Order Date: October 21, 2019 

Individual/Entity: O’Charley’s #397 
Facility: O’Charley’s #397   

Location: 2150 Northwoods Boulevard, Building 200    
 North Charleston, SC 29406 

Mailing Address: 3030 Sidco Drive 
 Nashville, TN 37204  

County: Charleston  

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 10-206-05026  

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  O’Charley’s #397 (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in North Charleston, 

South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on June 26, 2019, August 8, 2019, and 
August 12, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 

Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control 
for safety foods. 

 

Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 
with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 

penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 
 

 
147) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-08-007 

Order Date: October 21, 2019 

Individual/Entity: World of Beer   
Facility: World of Beer    

Location: 30 Shelter Cove Lane     
 Hilton Head Island, SC 29968 

Mailing Address: 10910 Sheldon Road 

 Tampa, FL 33626  
County: Beaufort  

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 07-206-10130 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 



Summary: World of Beer (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Hilton Head 
Island, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on October 15, 2018, August 22, 

2019, and August 29, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 
Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 

time/temperature control for safety foods. 

 
Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 

with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 
penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 

 
 

148) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-08-008 

Order Date: October 21, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Buffalo’s   

Facility: Buffalo’s    
Location: 11 Village Park Square     

 Bluffton, SC 29910 

Mailing Address: 476 Mount Pelia Road  
 Bluffton, SC 29910 

County: Beaufort  
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 07-206-09520 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 

Summary:  Buffalo’s (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Bluffton, South Carolina. 
The Department conducted inspections on October 9, 2018, October 24, 2018, and August 20, 

2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation 
as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control for safety 

foods. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 

 

 
149) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-04-046 

Order Date: October 22, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Sub Depot  

Facility: Sub Depot   
Location: 117 Highway 15- 401 Bypass East   

 Bennettsville, SC 29512 

Mailing Address: P.O. Box 508 
 Laurinburg, NC 28353 

County: Florence  
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 34-206-00567 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Sub Depot (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Bennettsville, South 
Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on August 31, 2018, March 27, 2019, June 28, 

2019, and July 8, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 
Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to properly cool cooked time/temperature control for 



safety foods; and failed to use effective methods to cool cooked time/temperature control for safety 
foods. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand, six hundred dollars ($1,600.00). 
 

 
150) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-06-121 

Order Date: October 22, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Cici’s Pizza  

Facility: Cici’s Pizza   

Location: 3533 Northgate Road   
 Myrtle Beach, SC 29577  

Mailing Address: 430 Ramsey Street, Suite 106 
 Fayetteville, NC 28302 

County: Horry  

Previous Orders: 2017-206-06-128 ($800.00); 
 2018-206-06-061 ($1,250.00): 

 2019-206-06-010 ($500.00) 
Permit Number: 26-206-10030 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Cici’s Pizza (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in Myrtle Beach, South 

Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on August 9, 2019, August 19, 2019, and August 
22, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 

Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control 
for safety foods and failed to use effective methods to cool cooked time/temperature control for 

safety foods. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand, five hundred dollars ($1,500.00). 

 

 
151) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-01-066 

Order Date: October 23, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Denny’s #7906 

Facility: Denny’s #7906 
Location: 3501 Clemson Boulevard 

 Anderson, SC 29621 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Anderson 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 04-206-03555 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Denny’s #7906 (Individual/Entity) operates a restaurant located in Anderson, 

South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on April 26, 2018, August 30, 2018, and 
August 26, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 

Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control 
for safety foods. 

 



Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 
 

 

152) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-02-065 
Order Date: October 23, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Menkoi Udon & Soba House 
Facility: Menkoi Udon & Soba House 

Location: 241-B North Main Street 
 Greenville, SC 29601 

Mailing Address: 801 East Springs Road 

 Columbia, SC 29223 
County: Greenville 

Previous Orders: 2019-206-02-011 
Permit Number: 23-206-11594 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Menkoi Udon & Soba House (Individual/Entity) operates a restaurant located 

in Greenville, South Carolina. The Department conducted an inspection on July 23, 2019. The 
Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: 

failed to ensure that refrigerated, ready-to-eat, time/temperature control for safety foods were 
discarded if the temperature and time combination exceeded seven (7) days or if the package was 

not properly date marked. 

 
Action: The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in accordance 

with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay a civil 
penalty in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). 

 

 
153) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-02-072 

Order Date: October 23, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Tanners 

Facility: Tanners 

Location: 322 South Pleasantburg Drive 
 Greenville, SC 29607 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Greenville 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 23-206-02170 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Tanners (Individual/Entity) operates a restaurant located in Greenville, South 

Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on May 28, 2019, June 7, 2019, and July 22, 
2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation 

as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of time/temperature control for safety 

foods. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 
 

 



154) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-02-075 
Order Date: October 23, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Greenville Drive Stadium Main 
Facility: Greenville Drive Stadium Main 

Location: 945 South Main Street 

 Greenville, SC 29601 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Greenville 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 23-206-08932 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 

Summary:  Greenville Drive Stadium Main (Individual/Entity) operates a restaurant located 
in Greenville, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on January 22, 2018, 

November 2, 2018, November 8, 2018, and July 11, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the 
South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain the proper 

sanitization concentration in a chemical sanitizer used in a manual or mechanical operation during 

contact times. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand, six hundred dollars ($1,600.00). 
 

 

155) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-03-092 
Order Date: October 23, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Taste of China Hut 
Facility: Taste of China Hut 

Location: 2233 Decker Boulevard 

 Columbia, SC 29206 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Richland 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 40-206-07854 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Taste of China Hut (Individual/Entity) operates a restaurant located in 
Columbia, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on August 17, 2017, August 17, 

2018, August 6, 2019, and August 16, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina 
Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 

time/temperature control for safety foods. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand, six hundred dollars ($1,600.00). 

 

 
156) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-08-004 

Order Date: October 23, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Captain Woody’s Bar & Grill  

Facility: Captain Woody’s Bar & Grill  
Location: 17 State of Mind Street  

 Bluffton, SC 29910 



Mailing Address: P.O. Box 2551 
 Bluffton, SC 29910 

County: Beaufort  
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 07-206-09168 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Captain Woody’s Bar & Grill (Individual/Entity) is a restaurant located in 
Bluffton, South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on March 25, 2019, July 25, 2019, 

and July 31, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment 
Regulation as follows: failed to properly thaw time/temperature control for safety foods. 

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of two hundred dollars ($200.00). 
 

 

157) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-01-071 
Order Date: October 24, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Waffle House #2243 
Facility: Waffle House #2243 

Location: 7505 Highway 76 
 Pendleton, SC 29670 

Mailing Address: P.O. Box 6450 

 Norcross, GA 30091 
County: Anderson 

Previous Orders: 2018-206-02-049 
Permit Number: 04-206-04370 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  Waffle House #2243 (Individual/Entity) operates a restaurant located in 

Anderson, South Carolina. The Department conducted an inspection on September 16, 2019. The 
Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: 

failed to ensure that refrigerated, ready-to-eat, time/temperature control for safety foods were 

discarded if the temperature and time combination exceeded seven (7) days or if the package was 
not properly date marked. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). 

 

 
158) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-03-102 

Order Date: October 24, 2019 
Individual/Entity: Pearlz 

Facility: Pearlz 

Location: 936 Gervais Street 
 Columbia, SC 29201 

Mailing Address: 1177 Southgate Drive 
 Charleston, SC 29458 

County: Richland 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 40-206-06489 



Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Pearlz (Individual/Entity) operates a restaurant located in Columbia, South 
Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on June 25, 2018, September 20, 2018, and 

September 10, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food 

Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding temperatures of 
time/temperature control for safety foods. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 

accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 
a civil penalty in the amount of eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 

 

 
159) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-07-115 

Order Date: October 24, 2019 
Individual/Entity: 82 Queen Street 

Facility: 82 Queen Street  

Location: 82 Queen Street  
 Charleston, SC 29401 

Mailing Address: Same 
County: Charleston  

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: 10-206-08206 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 

 
Summary:  82 Queen Street (Individual/Entity) operates a restaurant located in Charleston, 

South Carolina. The Department conducted inspections on November 28, 2017, September 26, 
2018, September 11, 2019, and September 19, 2019. The Individual/Entity has violated the South 

Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: failed to maintain proper holding 

temperatures of time/temperature control for safety foods. 
 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand, six hundred dollars ($1,600.00). 

 
 

160) Order Type and Number: Consent Order 2019-206-01-041 
Order Date: October 31, 2019 

Individual/Entity: Anderson Quick Stop 
Facility: Anderson Quick Stop  

Location: 1701 Pearman Dairy Road  

 Anderson, SC 29621 
Mailing Address: Same 

County: Anderson  
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: 04-206-04382 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-25 
 

Summary:  Anderson Quick Stop (Individual/Entity) is a convenience store located in 
Anderson, South Carolina. The Department conducted an inspection on June 26, 2019. The 

Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Retail Food Establishment Regulation as follows: 
providing food to the public without a valid permit issued by the Department. 

 



Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to: operate and maintain the facility in 
accordance with the requirements of all applicable regulations, including S.C. Regs. 61-25, and pay 

a civil penalty in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). 
 

 

Onsite Wastewater Enforcement 
 

 
161)      Order Type and Number: Administrative Order 19-44-OSWW 

Order Date: October 1, 2019    
Individual/Entity: Linda H. Bolding 

Facility: Linda H. Bolding 

Location: 453 Police Club Road   
 Union, SC 29379 

Mailing Address: Same               
County: Union 

Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: None 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-56 

 
Summary:  Linda H. Bolding (Individual/Entity) owns property located in Union, South 

Carolina. The Department conducted an investigation on August 14, 2019, and observed domestic 
wastewater discharging onto the surface of the ground. The Individual/Entity has violated the 

South Carolina Onsite Wastewater (OSWW) Systems Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that 

no septic tank effluent, domestic wastewater, or sewage was discharged to the surface of the 
ground without an appropriate permit from the Department. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to repair the OSWW system within five (5) days 

to effectively stop the discharging of septic tank effluent, domestic wastewater, or sewage to the 

surface of the ground; or immediately vacate the residence to eliminate the flow of domestic 
wastewater to the OSWW system; and pay a suspended penalty in the amount of five thousand 

dollars ($5,000.00) should any requirement of the Order not be met. 
 

 

162)     Order Type and Number: Administrative Order 19-46-OSWW 
Order Date: October 9, 2019    

Individual/Entity: Bertha V. Chapman 
Facility: Bertha V. Chapman 

Location: 125 Gardner Road   
 Spartanburg, SC 29307 

Mailing Address: Same                                                       

County: Spartanburg 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: None 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-56 

 

Summary:  Bertha V. Chapman (Individual/Entity) owns property located in Spartanburg, 
South Carolina. The Department conducted an investigation on August 22, 2019, and observed 

domestic wastewater discharging onto the surface of the ground from multiple pipes connected to 
the barn located on the Site. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Onsite 

Wastewater (OSWW) Systems Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that no septic tank effluent, 
domestic wastewater, or sewage was discharged to the surface of the ground without an 



appropriate permit from the Department and failed to ensure that a dwelling that is occupied for 
more than two (2) hours a day has an approved means of domestic wastewater disposal. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to immediately vacate the barn to eliminate the 

flow of domestic wastewater and ensure the barn remains vacated until all plumbing fixtures are 

connected to a Department approved OSWW system; and pay a suspended penalty in the 
amount of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) should any requirement of the Order not be met. 

 
         

163) Order Type and Number: Administrative Order 19-47-OSWW 
 Order Date: October 9, 2019    

Individual/Entity: Paulette Loudermilk 

Facility: Paulette Loudermilk 
Location: 262 Crenshaw Road   

 Cowpens, SC 29330 
Mailing Address: Same                                                   

County: Cherokee 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: None 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-56 
 

Summary:  Paulette Loudermilk (Individual/Entity) owns property located in Cowpens, 
South Carolina. The Department conducted an investigation on August 30, 2019, and observed 

domestic wastewater discharging onto the surface of the ground and running from the Site onto 

an adjacent property. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Onsite Wastewater 
(OSWW) Systems Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that no septic tank effluent, domestic 

wastewater, or sewage was discharged to the surface of the ground without an appropriate permit 
from the Department. 

 

Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to repair the OSWW system within five (5) days 
to effectively stop the discharging of septic tank effluent, domestic wastewater, or sewage to the 

surface of the ground; or immediately vacate the residence to eliminate the flow of domestic 
wastewater to the OSWW system; and pay a suspended penalty in the amount of five thousand 

dollars ($5,000.00) should any requirement of the Order not be met. 

 
 

164)     Order Type and Number: Administrative Order 19-48-OSWW 
Order Date: October 14, 2019    

Individual/Entity: James C. Dabbs 
                                                    Willie Dean Dabbs 

                                                      Olin Keith Dabbs 

Facility: James C. Dabbs 
                                                    Willie Dean Dabbs 

                                                    Olin Keith Dabbs 
Location: 324 South 5th Street   

 Lockhart, SC 29364 

Mailing Address: P.O. Box 277 
                                                    Lockhart, SC 29364                  

County: Union 
Previous Orders: None 

Permit Number: None 
Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-56 

 



Summary:  James C. Dabbs, Willie Dean Dabbs, and Olin Keith Dabbs (Individuals/Entities) 
own property located in Union, South Carolina. The Department conducted an investigation on 

August 21, 2019 and observed a camper on the property not connected to an approved means of 
domestic wastewater disposal. The Individual/Entity has violated the South Carolina Onsite 

Wastewater (OSWW) Systems Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that a dwelling that is 

occupied for more than two (2) hours a day has an approved means of domestic wastewater 
disposal. 

 
Action:  The Individuals/Entities are required to either within fifteen days connect the 

camper at the Site to the public sewer system and submit to the Department confirmation from 
the public sewer provider that the Site is connected to the public sewer system; or immediately 

vacate the camper at the Site and ensure it remains vacated until the Department has confirmed 

that the camper is connected to public sewer; and pay a suspended penalty in the amount of 
five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) should any requirement of the Order not be met. 

 
 

165)      Order Type and Number: Consent Order 19-45-OSWW 

Order Date: October 4, 2019    
Individual/Entity: Roy Leon Wylde 

Facility: Roy Leon Wylde 
Location: 132 Wild Turkey Lane   

 Pacolet, SC 29372 
Mailing Address: Same                                                                   

County: Union 

Previous Orders: None 
Permit Number: None 

Violations Cited: S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-56 
 

Summary:  Roy Leon Wylde (Individual/Entity) owns property located in Pacolet, South 

Carolina. The Department conducted an investigation on August 14, 2019 and observed an 
unapproved OSWW system being installed and in use. The Individual/Entity has violated the South 

Carolina Onsite Wastewater (OSWW) Systems Regulation as follows: failed to ensure that a 
dwelling that is occupied for more than two (2) hours a day has an approved means of domestic 

wastewater disposal. 

 
Action:  The Individual/Entity is required to immediately vacate the residence and ensure 

it remains vacated until a proper OSWW system is installed and approved by the Department in 
accordance with all requirements of R. 61-56 and the September 4, 2019, Permit to Construct; and 

pay a suspended penalty in the amount of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) should any 
requirement of the Order not be met. 

 

 
 

 

 

* Unless otherwise specified, “Previous Orders” as listed in this report include orders issued by Environmental 

Affairs Programs within the last five (5) years. 







1 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
 

STATE REGISTER NOTICE OF FINAL REGULATION 
FOR R.61-43, STANDARDS FOR THE PERMITTING OF AGRICULTURAL ANIMAL 

FACILITIES 
 

December 12, 2019 
 

Document No. 4886 
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL 

CHAPTER 61 
Statutory Authority: 1976 Code Sections 44-1-60, 44-1-65, 46-45-80, and 48-1-10 et seq. 

 
61-43. Standards for the Permitting of Agricultural Animal Facilities. 
 
Synopsis: 
 
The Department of Health and Environmental Control (“Department”) amends R.61-43, Standards for the 
Permitting of Agricultural Animal Facilities, to incorporate Act 139 of 2018, which amended S.C. Code 
Sections 44-1-60 and 46-45-80 and added Section 44-1-65. S.C. Code Section 44-1-65 establishes specific 
requirements for review and appeal of decisions by the Department regarding the permitting, licensing, 
certification, or other approval of poultry and other animal facilities, except for swine facilities. Section 
44-1-60 sets procedures for reviewing permits for poultry and other animal facilities, except swine facilities, 
relating to appeals from Department decisions giving rise to contested cases. Section 46-45-80 includes 
provisions regarding setback distances for poultry and other animal facilities, except swine facilities, so as 
to prohibit requiring additional setback distances if established distances are achieved, allow waiver of the 
established setback distances in certain circumstances, and other purposes.  
 
The Department also makes amendments to correct typographical errors, citation errors, and other errors 
and omissions that have come to the Department’s attention. These include correcting form references and 
regulation references, updating definitions, adding and/or omitting language and punctuation, clarification, 
reorganizing sections for consistency, and other such changes.  
 
The Department published a Notice of Drafting in the February 22, 2019, South Carolina State Register. 
 
Instructions: Replace R.61-43, Standards for the Permitting of Agricultural Animal Facilities, in its 
entirety with this amendment. 
 
Indicates Matter Stricken 
Indicates New Matter 
 
Text: 
 
61-43. Standards for the Permitting of Agricultural Animal Facilities. 
 
(Statutory Authority: 1976 Code Sections 48-1-30, 47-20-40, 47-20-60, and 47-20-160 et seq.44-1-60, 
44-1-65, 46-45-80, and 48-1-10 et seq.) 
 

Table of Contents 
 
Part 50   General Definitions 



2 
 

Part 100  Swine Facilities 
 100.10. Purpose, Applicability, Inactive Facilities, and Facilities Permitted Prior to the Effective Date 

of the Regulation. 
 100.20. Permits and Compliance Period. 
 100.30. Exclusions. 
 100.40. Relationship to Other Regulations. 
 100.50. Permit Application Requirements (Animal Facility Management Plan Submission 

Requirements). 
 100.60. Public Notice Requirements. 
 100.70. Permit Decision Making Process. 
 100.80. Swine Facility, Lagoon, Treatment System, and Manure Storage Pond Siting Requirements. 
 100.90. General Requirements for Swine Manure Lagoons, Treatment Systems, and Swine Manure 

Storage Ponds. 
 100.100. Manure Utilization Area Requirements. 
 100.110. Spray Application System Requirements. 
 100.120. Frequency of Monitoring for Swine Manure. 
 100.130. Dead Swine Disposal Requirements. 
 100.140. Other Requirements. 
 100.150. Odor Control Requirements. 
 100.160. Vector Control Requirements. 
 100.170. Record Keeping. 
 100.180. Reporting. 
 100.190. Training Requirements. 
 100.200. Violations. 
Part 200  Animal Facilities (other than swine) 
 200.10. Purpose, Applicability, Inactive Facilities and Facilities Permitted Prior to the Effective Date 

of Regulation. 
 200.20. Permits and Compliance Period. 
 200.30. Exclusions. 
 200.40. Relationship to Other Regulations. 
 200.50. Permit Application Requirements (Animal Facility Management Plan Submission 

Requirements). 
 200.60. Public Notice Requirements. 
 200.70. Permit Decision Making Process. 
 200.80. Animal Facility, Lagoon, Treatment System, and Manure Storage Pond Siting Requirements. 
 200.90. General Requirements for Animal Manure Lagoons, Treatment Systems, and Animal Manure 

Storage Ponds. 
 200.100. Manure Utilization Area Requirements. 
 200.110. Spray Application System Requirements. 
 200.120. Frequency of Monitoring for Animal Manure. 
 200.130. Dead Animal Disposal Requirements. 
 200.140. Other Requirements. 
 200.150. Odor Control Requirements. 
 200.160. Vector Control Requirements. 
 200.170. Record Keeping. 
 200.180. Reporting. 
 200.190. Training Requirements. 
 200.200. Violations. 
Part 300  Innovative and Alternative Technologies 
 300.10. General. 
 300.20. Submittal Requirements. 



3 
 

 300.30. Requirements in Lieu of Requirements Under Part 100 and Part 200 of This Regulation. 
 300.40. Innovative and Alternative Treatment Technologies. 
 300.50. Exceptional Quality Compost. 
 300.60. Public Notice Requirements. 
Part 400  Manure Broker/Land Applier Operations. 
 400.10. Purpose and Applicability. 
 400.20. Permits and Compliance Period. 
 400.30. Relationship to Other Regulations. 
 400.40. Permit Application Procedures (Broker Management Plan Submission Requirements). 
 400.50. Permit Decision Making Process. 
 400.60. Manure Utilization Area Requirements. 
 400.70. Other Requirements. 
 400.80. Odor Control Requirements. 
 400.90. Vector Control Requirements. 
 400.100. Record Keeping. 
 400.110. Reporting. 
 400.120. Training Requirements. 
 400.130. Violations. 
Part 500  Integrator Registration Program. 
 500.10. General. 
 500.20. Submittal Requirements. 
 500.30. Certificate of Integrator Registration. 
 500.40. Reporting. 
 500.50. Other Requirements. 
 500.60. Violations. 
Part 600  Severability 
 
Part 50. General Definitions.  
 
 For purposes of this regulation, the following definitions apply: 
 
“Active Animal Facility” means a facility with a minimum of 30,000 pounds normal production animal 
live weight and in production. 
 
“Affected Person” means a property owner with standing within a one (1)-mile radius of the proposed 
building footprint or permitted poultry facility or other animal facility, except a swine facility, who is 
challenging on his own behalf the permit, license, certificate, or other approval for the failure to comply 
with the specific grounds set forth in the applicable department regulations governing the permitting of 
poultry facilities and other animal facilities, other than swine facilities. 
 
 A. “Agricultural animal” means an animal confined in an agricultural facility. 
 
 B. “Agricultural facility” means a lot, building, or structure, which is used for the commercial production 
of animals in an animal facility. 
 
 C. “Agronomic rate” ismeans the animal manure and other animal by-products application rate designed: 
(1) to provide the amount of nitrogen needed by the food crop, feed crop, fiber crop, cover crop, or 
vegetation grown on the land and; (2) to minimize the amount of nitrogen in the animal manure that passes 
below the root zone of the crop or vegetation grown on the land to the groundwater and; (3) to provide the 
amount of other organic and inorganic plant nutrients which promote crop or vegetative growth, such as 



4 
 

calcium-carbonate equivalency; and (4) to provide the amount of phosphorus needed by the crop or 
vegetation grown on the land without causing an excessive buildup of phosphorus in the soil. 
 
 D. “Animal” means any domesticated animal. 
 
 E. “Animal by-product” means a secondary or incidental product of animal production that may include 
bedding, spilled feed, water or soil, milking center washwater, contaminated milk, hair, feathers, dead 
animals or other debris. This definition may also refer to dead animal or animal manure compost. 
 
 F. “Animal facility” means an agricultural facility where animals are confined and fed or maintained for 
a total of forty-five (45) days or more in a twelve (12)-month period and crops, vegetative, forage growth, 
or post harvest residues are not sustained in the normal growing season over any portion of the lot or facility. 
Structures used for the storage of animal manure and other animal by-products from animals in the operation 
also are part of the animal facility. Two (2) or more animal facilities under common ownership or 
management are considered to be a single animal facility if they are adjacent or utilize a common system 
for animal manure storage. 
 
 G. “Animal Facility Management Plan” means a plan prepared by the United States Department of 
Agriculture’s Natural Resources Conservation Service (USDA-NRCS) or a professional engineer detailing 
the management, handling, treatment, storage, or utilization of manure generated in an animal facility. This 
plan shall include facility management details and a detailed map of each manure utilization area showing 
all buffer zones and setbacks, a description of the land use, the crops grown on the site, the timing for 
application of swine manure to the land and a land use agreement if the site is not owned by the permittee. 
 
“Animal Feeding Operation” means a lot or facility where animals have been, are, or will be stabled or 
confined and fed for a total of forty-five (45) days or more in any twelve (12)-month period. 
 
 H. “Animal manure” means animal excreta or other commonly associated organic animal manures 
including, but not limited to, bedding, litter, feed losses, or water mixed with the manure. 
 
 I.“Annual animal manure application rate” is the maximum amount of animal manure that can be 
agronomically applied to a unit area of land during any 365-day period. 
 
 J.“Annual constituent loading rate” means the maximum amount of a constituent that can be applied to 
a unit area of a manure utilization area during any 365-day period. 
 
“Application rate” means the amount of manure applied at any one time based on agronomic rates. 
 
“Approval to Operate (ATO)” means a letter from the Department granting approval to place the facility 
into operation. 
 
 K. “Average animal live weight” means the sum of the average exit weight of the animal from the facility 
and the average entry weight divided by two, as shown by the following formula: 
 
  Average animal live weight = (Average Exit Weight + Average Entry Weight)/2 
 
 L.“Broker” means a person who accepts or purchases dry animal manure or other animal by-products 
from agricultural facilitiesproducers and transfers this product to a third party for land application. 
 



5 
 

“Certification of Construction” means a document certified by the consultant, PE or NRCS staff that a 
certain construction project has been completed in accordance with the terms, conditions, and specifications 
contained in the permit of applicable regulations. 
 
 M.“Closed facility” means an animal facility that has ceased operations (no confined animals at the 
facility) and is no longer in production, and all lagoons and waste storage ponds have been properly closed 
out and cannot be placed back into operation without a new permit. 
 
 N. “Commercial Facility” means an animal facility that produces animals or animal by-products for 
commercial sale, boards animals, rents animals, or provides a service utilizing the animals for a fee.The 
facility is considered commercial if the owner earned at least one thousand dollars gross farm income in at 
least three of the first five years. 
 
 O. “Compost” ismeans an organic soil conditioner that has been stabilized to a humus-like product, is 
free of viable human and plant pathogens and plant seeds, does not attract insects or vectors, can be handled 
and stored without nuisancein compliance with the regulations, and is beneficial to the growth of plants. 
 
 P.“Composting” ismeans the biological decomposition and stabilization of organic substrates, under 
conditions that allow development of thermophilic temperatures as a result of biologically produced heat, 
to produce a final product that is stable, free of pathogens and plant seeds, and can be beneficially applied 
to land. Composting requires special conditions of moisture and aeration to produce thermophilic 
temperatures. 
 
“Concentrated Animal Feeding Operation (CAFO)” means as defined by the Environmental Protection 
Agency (EPA). 
 
“Confined Animal Manure Management (CAMM) Certification” means an operator, manager, owner, of 
an animal facility or manure utilization area, has taken and received certification from passing a class that 
is provided by Clemson University, Clemson Extension, the South Carolina Department of Health and 
Environmental Control, and the USDA Natural Resource Conservation Service. 
 
 Q. “Constituent limit” ismeans a numerical value that describes the amount of a constituent allowed per 
unit amount of animal manure (e. g., milligrams per kilogram of total solids); the amount of a constituent 
that can be applied to a unit area of land (e. g., pounds per acre); or the volume of a material that can be 
applied to a unit area of land (e.g., gallons per acre). 
 
 R. “Cover crop” ismeans a small grain crop, including, but not limited to, oats, wheat, or barley; grasses; 
or other crop grown for agronomic use or to maintain topsoil and prevent soil erosion. 
 
“Critical Habitat” means the term used to define those areas of habitat containing physical and biological 
features that are essential for an endangered or threatened species to recover and that require special 
management or protection as defined by the U.S. Endangered Species Act or the South Carolina Department 
of Natural Resources. 
 
 S.“Cumulative constituent loading rate” means the maximum amount of a constituent that can be applied 
to an area of land. 
 
 T.“Cumulative impacts” means an increase or enlarging of impact to the environment or community by 
the successive addition or accumulation of animal facilities in an area. 
 



6 
 

 U. “CWA” means the Clean Water Act (formerly referred to as the Federal Water Pollution Control Act 
or Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972) Pub. L. 92-500, as amended by Pub. L. 
95-217, Pub. L. 95-576, Pub. L. 96-483, and Pub. L. 97-117, 33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq. Specific references to 
sections within the CWA shall be according to Pub. L. 92-500 notation. 
 
 V. “Deemed Permitted Facility” means an agricultural animal facility that held a valid permit from the 
Department for their swine facility prior to July 1, 1996, or for their animal facility prior to June 26, 1998. 
 
 W.“Department” means the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control. 
 
“Discharge” means any release, air emission or dismissal of sewage, industrial waste, agriculture waste, or 
other waste into any waters of the State, whether treated or not. 
 
“Downwind Receptors” refers to virtual three-dimensional coordinates placed off site where the 
concentrations of emissions would be measured for comparison to air quality standards. 
 
 X. “Dry manure” means manure, bedding, litter, feed losses, or composted animal material (animal 
manure or dead animals) that is not in a liquid form. Dry animal manure can normally be easily handled 
with a shovel or other similar equipment and it can be placed in piles without liquid manure or leachate 
drainage occurring. 
 
 Y. “Dry weight basis” means calculated on the basis of having been dried at 105 degrees Celsius until 
reaching a constant mass (i.e., essentially 100 percent solids content). 
 
 Z.“EPA” means the United States Environmental Protection Agency. 
 
“Evergreen Buffer” means flora that have foliage remaining green and functional through at least more than 
one growing season and are not considered deciduous. 
 
 AA.“Ephemeral stream” means a stream that flows only in direct response to rainfall or snowmelt in 
which discrete periods of flow persist no more than twenty-nine (29) consecutive days per event. 
 
 BB.“Excessive Mortality” means total animal mortality in any one twenty-four (24)-hour period that 
exceeds the design capacity of the normal method of dead animal disposal. This may include utilizing the 
barns to compost the excessive mortality. 
 
 CC.“Expansion” means an increase in the permitted number of animals or normal production animal live 
weight at the facility or that will result in physical construction at the facility.For facilities with a lagoon, 
treatment system or manure storage pond, expansion means an increase due to construction in the maximum 
capacity of the existing lagoon, treatment system or manure storage pond as determined using the 
appropriate design standards of the United States Department of Agriculture’s Natural Resource 
Conservation Service. An animal manure treatment lagoon that is converted to animal manure storage pond 
is considered an expansion of the facility. For facilities permitted prior to 1998, where the treatment/storage 
design function was not clearly specified, the Department shall review the facility’s operation records and 
compliance history to determine the current function and condition of the manure handling structures. If 
the existing structure can handle additional animals, without physical alteration, significant changes in the 
original function of the structure, or any significant increase in odor, the Department may allow this increase 
in animals without classifying the change as an expansion. 
 
“Feedlot” means an animal feeding operation (AFO) which is used in intensive animal farming for finishing 
livestock. 



7 
 

 
 DD.“FEMA” means the Federal Emergency Management Agency. 
 
 EE.“Feed crops” are means crops produced primarily for consumption by animals. These include, but 
are not limited to: corn, grains, and grasses. 
 
 FF.“Fiber crops” aremeans crops including, but not limited to, flax and cotton. 
 
 GG.“Floodplain” means land adjacent to water bodies that periodically becomes temporarily inundated 
with water during or after rainfall events. The land inundated from a flood whose peak magnitude would 
be experienced on an average of once every 100 years is the 100-year floodplain. The 100-year flood has a 
1% one (1) percent probability of occurring in one given year. 
 
 HH.“Food crops” aremeans crops produced primarily for human consumption. These include, but are not 
limited to, fruits, vegetables, and tobacco. 
 
“Footprint” means the area of ground covered by an agricultural facility, i.e., the part of the property that 
the animal facility is constructed on. 
 
“Freeboard” means additional capacity in a storage/treatment structure, designed to provide a safety margin 
of storage in the event that a rainfall occurs when the structure is full. The design storm is normally a 
twenty-five (25)-year storm of twenty-four (24) hours duration. 
 
 II.“Groundwater” ismeans water below the land surface in the saturated zone. 
 
“Inactive Facility” means an animal facility that is not considered in production, but the facility and/or 
lagoon(s)/waste pond(s) have not been properly closed out. The owner/operator/permittee will continue to 
pay the annual fees throughout the inactive period of the permit and is required to maintain the facility 
and/or lagoon(s)/waste storage pond(s) and will be inspected by the Department on a routine basis. 
 
 JJ.“Integrator” or “Integrating company” means any entity or person(s) who contracts with agricultural 
animal producers to grow animals to be supplied to this person(s) at the time of removal from the animal 
growing houses or facilities and exercises substantial operational control over an animal facility along with 
the owner/operator of the facility. Substantial operational control includes, but is not limited to, the 
following: directs the activities of persons working at the animal facility either through a contract, direct 
supervision, or on-site participation; owns the animals; or specifies how the animals are grown, fed, or 
medicated. This definition does not include independent producers that contract with other independent 
producers to accomplish a portion of the animal growing process under contract. 
 
 KK.“Intermittent stream” means a stream that generally has a defined natural watercourse, which does 
not flow year-round but flows beyond periods of rainfall or snowmelt. 
 
 LL.“Lagoon” means an impoundment used in conjunction with an animal facility, the primary function 
of which is to store or stabilize, or both, manure, organic wastes, wastewater, and contaminated runoff. 
 
 MM.“Land application” ismeans the spraying or spreading of manure or other animal by-products onto 
the land surface; the injection of manure below the land surface into the root zone; or the incorporation of 
manure into the soil so that the manure can either condition the soil or fertilize crops or vegetation grown 
in the soil. 
 



8 
 

“Land Applier” means any person who accepts or purchases manure or other animal by-products from 
producers for use as a fertilizer or soil enhancer on land either owned, leased, or managed by the land 
applier. 
 
 NN.“Large Animal Facility” means an animal facility (excluding swine facilities) that has a capacity for 
more than 500,000 pounds and less than 1,000,000 pounds of normal production animal live weight at any 
one time. 
 
 OO.“Large Swine Facility” means a swine facility with a capacity for greater than 500,000 pounds and 
less than 1,000,000 pounds of normal production animal live weight at any one time. 
 
 PP.“Liquid manure” means manure that by its nature, or after being diluted with water, can be pumped 
easily and which is removed either intermittently or continuously from an animal lagoon, manure storage 
pond or treated effluent from other types of animal manure treatment systems. 
 
 QQ.“Manure” means the fecal and urinary excretion of livestock and poultry. This material may also 
contain bedding, spilled feed, water or soil. It may also include wastes not associated with livestock excreta, 
such as milking center washwater, contaminated milk, hair, feathers, or other debris. Manure may be 
described in different categories as related to solids and moisture content, such as dry manure and liquid 
manure. 
 
“Manure Application Rate” means managing manure at a rate of tons per acre to optimize its beneficial 
returns while minimizing its potential environmental impact by land applying at agronomic rates. 
 
 RR.“Manure storage pond” means a structure used for impounding or storing manure, wastewater, and 
contaminated runoff as a component of an agricultural manure management system. Manure is stored for a 
specified period of time, one (1) year or not less than ninety (90) days, and then the pond is emptied. This 
definition does not include tanks or other similar vessels. 
 
 SS.“Manure utilization area” means land on which animal manure (including swine manure) is spread as 
a fertilizer and is synonymous with land application site or land application area. 
 
“Mass Burial Site” means a part of a plot of land approved by the Department designated to handle 
excessive mortality. 
 
 TT.“mg/l” means milligrams per liter. 
 
 UU.“NRCS” ismeans the Natural Resources Conservation Service of the United States Department of 
Agriculture. 
 
 VV.“NRCS-CPS” ismeans the Natural Resources Conservation Service’s Conservation Practice 
Standards as given in the USDA-NRCS, SC Handbook of Conservation Practices. 
 
 WW.“Normal production animal live weight at any one time” means the maximum number of animals 
at the facility at any one time multiplied by the average animal live weight of those animals. 
 
“Notice of Intent (NOI)” means a document provided by the Department used by an applicant to notify the 
surrounding property owners of the applicant’s intent to construct a permitted animal facility. 
 
 XX.“Nuisance” means a condition causing danger or annoyance to a limited number of persons or to the 
general public. 



9 
 

 
“Outstanding Recreational or Ecological Resource Waters (ORW)” means waters which are of exceptional 
recreational, ecological importance, or of unusual value. Such waters may include, but are not limited to: 
waters in national or state parks or wildlife refuges; waters supporting threatened or endangered species; 
waters under the National Wild and Scenic Rivers Act or South Carolina Scenic Rivers Act; waters known 
to be significant nursery areas for commercially important species or known to contain significant 
commercial or public shellfish resources; or waters used for or having significant value for scientific 
research and study. 
 
“Operator” means the person(s) that manages a permitted animal facility or may be CAMM certified. 
 
“Owner” means the owner or operator of any facility of activity subject to regulations under R.61-43. 
 
 YY.“Pasture” ismeans land on which animals feed directly on feed crops including, but not limited to, 
legumes, grasses, grain stubble, or stover. 
 
“Permit” means any license, certificate, registration, variance, or other approval issued by or required by 
the Department or any of its divisions, pursuant to any statute or regulation. 
 
“Permit Extension” means a one (1)-year extension with justification that must be applied for in writing ten 
(10) days prior to the permit expiration date. 
 
“Permit Modification” means a minor or moderate change to a facility’s permit that is considered, as 
determined by the Department, to not change the general operations of the permitted site but are necessary 
to continue the regulated operation of the facility. Permit Modifications are not required to be Public 
Noticed. 
 
“Permittee” means any person authorized to conduct any activity or business pursuant to a valid permit 
issued by or filed with the Department. 
 
“Permitting Decision” means any decision by the Department to issue, modify, deny, or withdraw the 
permit. 
 
 ZZ.“Person” means any individual, public or private corporation, political subdivision, association, 
partnership, corporation, municipality, State or Federal agency, industry, co-partnership, firm, trust, estate, 
any other legal entity whatsoever, or an agent or employee thereof. 
 
“Plant Available Nitrogen (PAN)” means the quantity of Nitrogen made available during the growing 
season after fertilizing materials are applied. A certain amount of the Nitrogen is immobilized, and the 
remaining Nitrogen is available to the plant. 
 
 AAA.“Potable water well” means any well designed and/or constructed to produce potable water for 
consumption by humans or animals. 
 
 BBB.“Producer” ismeans a person who grows or confines animals; a person responsible for the manure 
produced at an animal facility; a person processing manure; and/or a person responsible for the land 
application of manure. 
 
“Production” means a facility that meets the permit requirements based on 30,000 pounds of Normal 
Production Animal Live Weight. 
 



10 
 

 CCC.“Professional Engineer” or “Engineer” ismeans a person who, by reason of his special knowledge 
of the mathematical and physical sciences and the principles and methods of engineering analysis and 
design, acquired by professional education and practical experience, is qualified to practice engineering, all 
as attested by his legal registration as a professional engineer in this StateSouth Carolina. 
 
“Public Hearing” means a proceeding, properly noticed in accordance with applicable state and federal 
laws, during which comments are received and testimony is taken to establish a record of concern prior to 
an administrative action by the Department. 
 
“Public Notice” means the notice of an application or of proposed agency action published in accordance 
with applicable statutes and regulations. 
 
 DDD.“Range land” ismeans open land with indigenous vegetation. 
 
“Ranged Animal Facility” means the size of the range area is sufficient to allow for the natural degradation 
or utilization of the manure with no adverse impact to the environment. Ranged facilities shall also maintain 
adequate vegetative buffers between the animal range and the adjacent property lines and/or waters of the 
State to prevent runoff from reaching adjacent property and/or waters of the State.  
 
“Replacement in Kind” means construction of the same size or less of animal growing barn(s), and the same 
number or less of animal live weight, at the same location as the barn(s) being replaced. 
 
 EEE.“Residence” means a permanent inhabited dwelling, any existing church, school, hospital, or any 
other structure which is routinely occupied by the same person or persons more than twelve (12) hours per 
day or by the same person or persons under the age of eighteen (18) for more than two (2) hours per day, 
except those owned by the applicant. 
 
“Rolling Average” means the laboratory results from the most recent analysis averaged with the previous 
manure analysis for a particular form of manure annually. The rolling average analysis sequence should be 
started over after any major modification or changes to the lagoon/waste storage pond. 
 
“Routinely” means a regular course of procedure. 
  
 FFF.“Runoff” ismeans rainwater or other liquid that drains overland on any part of a land surface and 
runs off of the land surface. 
 
 GGG.“Seasonal High Water Table” ismeans the surface between the zone of saturation and the zone of 
aeration, where the pore water pressure is equal to atmospheric pressure, and which exhibits the shallowest 
average water depth in relation to the surface during the wettest season. 
 
 HHH.“Small Animal Facility” means an animal facility (other than swine) that has a capacity for 500,000 
pounds of normal production animal live weight or less at any one time. 
 
 III.“Small Swine Facility” means a swine facility with a capacity for 500,000 pounds of normal 
production animal live weight or less at any one time. 
 
 JJJ.“Source Water Protection Area” means an area either above and/or below ground that is the source 
of water for a public drinking water system via a surface water intake or a water supply well that is 
designated by the State for increased protection. 
 



11 
 

“South Carolina National Heritage Corridor” means a National Heritage Area, federally designated in 1996, 
spanning seventeen (17) counties and 320 miles across South Carolina, and committed to promoting and 
preserving the cultural, natural, and historic resources of South Carolina. 
 
 KKK.“State” means the State of South Carolina. 
 
“Surface Water Runoff” means the flow of water that occurs when excess stormwater, meltwater, or other 
sources flows over the Earth’s surface.  
 
 LLL.“Swine” means a domesticated animal belonging to the porcine species. 
 
 MMM.“Swine by-product” means a secondary or incidental product of swine production that may 
include bedding, spilled feed, water or soil,milking center washwater, contaminated milk hair, feathers, 
dead swine or other debris. This definition may also refer to dead swine or swine manure compost. 
 
 NNN.“Swine facility” means an agricultural facility where swine are confined and fed or maintained for 
a total of forty-five (45) days or more in a twelve (12)-month period and crops, vegetative, forage growth, 
or post-harvest residues are not sustained in the normal growing season over any portion of the lot or 
facility. Structures used for the storage of swine manure from swine in the operation are also are part of the 
swine facility. Two or more swine facilities under common ownership or management are considered to be 
a single swine facility if they are adjacent or utilize a common system for swine manure treatment and/or 
storage. For any new or expanding swine facility, the combined normal production of all swine facilities 
owned by the producer, and of all swine facilities owned by corporations having a common majority 
shareholder in common with the producer, within twenty-five (25) miles of the new or expanding facility 
shall be used to determine the normal production of the new or expanding facility. For example, when a 
new facility has a proposed capacity of 300,000 pounds of normal production and the producer owns two 
other swine facilities within twenty-five (25) miles of the new or expanding swine facility and the normal 
production of each facility is 400,000 pounds, the proposed swine facility’s normal production is 1,100,000 
(300,000 + 400,000 + 400,000) pounds. 
 
 OOO.“Swine manure” means swine excreta or other commonly associated organic animal manures 
including, but not limited to, bedding, litter, feed losses, or water mixed with the manure. 
 
 PPP.“µg/l” means microgram per liter. 
 
 QQQ.“Vector” means a carrier that is capable of transmitting a pathogen from one organism to another 
including, but not limited to, flies and other insects, rodents, birds, and vermin. 
 
“Waiver” means a document recording the deferral of a right, claim, or privilege. 
 
“Waste Storage Pond” means an earthen waste impoundment that temporarily stores organic wastes such 
as manure and wastewater. 
 
 RRR.“Wastewater” means any water which during the confinement of animals or the handling, storage, 
or treatment of manure, dead animals, and litter, etc. comes into contact with the animals, manure, litter, 
spilled feed, etc. Wastewater includes, but is not limited to, wash waters, contaminated milk, and storm 
water (except storm water runoff from land application areas where the application of manure has been 
properly applied) that comes into contact with manure. 
 
 SSS. “Watershed” means a drainage area contributing to a river, lake, or stream. 
 



12 
 

 TTT.“Waters of the State” means lakes, bays, sounds, ponds, impounding reservoirs, springs, artesian 
wells, rivers, perennial and navigable streams, creeks, estuaries, marshes, inlets, canals, the Atlantic Ocean 
within the territorial limits of the State, and all other bodies of water, natural or artificial, public or private, 
inland or coastal, fresh or salt, which are wholly or partially within or bordering the State or within its 
jurisdiction. This definition does not include ephemeral or intermittent streams. This definition includes 
wetlands as defined in this section. 
 
 UUU.“Wetlands” means lands that have a predominance of hydric soil, are inundated or saturated by 
water or groundwater at a frequency and duration sufficient to support a prevalence of hydrophytic 
vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions, and, under normal circumstances, do 
support a prevalence of hydrophytic vegetation. Normal circumstances refer to the soil and hydrologic 
conditions that are normally present without regard to whether the vegetation has been removed. Wetlands 
shall be identified through the confirmation of the three wetlands criteria: hydric soil, hydrology, and 
hydrophytic vegetation. All three criteria shall be met for an area to be identified as wetlands. Wetlands 
generally include swamps, marshes, and bogs. 
 
“X-Large Animal Facility” means an animal facility (excluding swine) with 1,000,000 pounds or more of 
normal production animal live weight at any one time. 
 
“X-Large Swine Facility” means a swine facility with 1,000,000 pounds or more of normal production 
animal live weight at any one time. 
 

PART 100 
SWINE FACILITIES 

 
100.10. Purpose, Applicability, Inactive Facilities, and Facilities Permitted Prior to the Effective Date 
of Regulation. 
 
 A. Purpose. 
 
  1. To establish standards for the growing or confining of swine, processing of swine manure and other 
swine by-products, and land application of swine manure and other swine by-products in such a manner as 
to protect the environment, and the health and welfare of citizens of the State from pollutants generated by 
this process. 
 
  2. To establish standards, which consist of general requirements, constituent limits, management 
practices, and operational standards, for the utilization of swine manure and other swine by-products 
generated at swine facilities. Standards included in this part are for swine manure and other swine 
by-products applied to the land. 
 
  3. To establish standards for the frequency of monitoring and record keeping requirements for 
producers who operate swine facilities. 
 
  4. To establish standards for the proper operation and maintenance of swine facilities. 
 
  5. To establish criteria for swine facilities and manure utilization areas location as they relate to 
protection of the environment and public health and welfare as outlined by statute. The location of swine 
facilities and manure utilization areas as they relate to zoning in an area is not covered in this regulation. 
Local county or municipal governments may have zoning requirements and these regulations neither 
interfere with nor restrict such zoning requirements. Permit applicants should contact local municipal and 
county authorities to determine any local requirements that may be applicable. 



13 
 

 
 B. Applicability. 
 
  1. This part applies to: 
 
   a. All new swine facilities; 
   
   b. All expansions of existing swine facilities;and 
 
   c. New manure utilization areas for existing swine facilities; 
 
   d. All inactive facilities; and 
 
   e. All facilities and lagoon closures. 
 
  2. This part applies to all swine manure and other swine by-products applied to the land. 
 
  3. This part applies to all land where swine manure and other swine by-products are applied. 
 
 C. Inactive Facilities. 
 
  1. If a swine facility is closedinactive for two (2) years or less, a producer may resume operations of 
the facility under the same conditions by which it was previously permitted by notifying the Department in 
writing that the facility is being operated again. 
 
  2. For swine facilities that have been closedinactive for more than two (2) years but less than five (5) 
years, the Department shall review the existing permit and modify its operating conditions as necessary 
prior to the facility being placed back into operation. 
 
  3. For swine facilities that have been closedinactive for more than five (5) years, the producer shall 
properly close out any lagoon, treatment system or manure storage pond associated with the facility. The 
closeout shall be accomplished in accordance with RegulationR.61-82. The permittee shall submit a 
closeout plan that meets at a minimum NRCS-CPS within a time frame prescribed by the Department. 
Additional time may be granted by the Department to comply with the closeout requirement or to allow a 
producer to apply for a new permit under this regulation, as appropriate. 
 
  4. If a swine facility is closesinactive for more than five (5) years, the permit is considered expired and 
the producer shall apply for a new permit and all requirements under this partof R.61-43 shall be met before 
the facility can resume operations. During the closeout of the facilities and/or lagoons/waste storage ponds, 
annual fees are required to be paid until proper closeout is certified and approved. 
 
 D.  Facilities Permitted Prior to the Effective Date of Regulation. 
 
  1. All existing swine facilities with permits issued by the Department before July 1, 1996, do not need 
to apply for a permit as they are deemed permitted (deemed permitted swine facilities) swine facilities 
unless they have been closed inactive for more than two (2) years or expand operations. These facilities 
shall meet the following sections of Part 100: Section 100.20 (Permits and Compliance Period); Section 
100.90 items A, G, and N –T (General Requirements for Lagoons, Treatment Systems and Manure Storage 
Ponds); Section 100.100 items B.1.-2223. (Manure Utilization Area Requirements); Section 100.110.G.-J. 
(Spray Application System Requirement); Section 100.120 A,C, and D (Frequency of Monitoring for Swine 
Manure); Section 100.130 A,B, C item 2-3 (Dead Swine Disposal Requirements); Section 100.140 A, C-JI 



14 
 

(Other Requirements); Section 100.150 B-GF (Odor Control Requirements); Section 100.160 B-DC 
(Vector Control Requirements); Section 100.170 (Record Keeping); Section 100.180 (Reporting); Section 
100.190 A. - F.(Training Requirements); and Section 100.210 (Violations). The capacity of a deemed 
permitted facility is the maximum capacity of the existing lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage 
pond as determined using swine lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond capacity design 
standards of the United States Department of Agriculture’s Natural Resource Conservation Service. 
 
  2. All existing swine facilities with permits issued by the Department between July 1, 1996, and the 
effective date of these regulations do not need to apply for a new permit if they hold a valid permit from 
the Department, unless they have been closedinactive for more than two (2) years. These facilities shall 
meet all the requirements of these regulations. 
 
  3. All existing swine facilities that were constructed and placed into operation prior to July 1, 1996, 
but have never received an agricultural permit from the Department, shall apply for a permit from the 
Department. These facilities shall meet all the requirements of this regulation as the Department determines 
appropriate. The Department shall review the site and make a determination on a case-by-case basis on 
which requirements are applicable. 
 
  4. An existing facility may be required to submit for approval an updated Animal Facility Management 
Plan on a case-by-case basis by the Department. The Department shall notify the permittee in writing of 
this requirement. The permittee shall submit this updated plan within a time frame prescribed by the 
Departmenthas six (6) months or an agreed upon time frame from the date of notification to submit an 
updated Animal Facility Management Plan. Failure to submit the updated plan within this time frame is a 
violation of the Pollution Control Act and these regulations, and may result in permit revocation. 
 
  5. Both the setbacks and other requirements for manure utilization areas shall be met when a new 
manure utilization area (MUA) is added by the owner of any swine facility regardless of when the facility 
was permitted. 
 
  6. If an existing facility regulated under Part 200 of these regulations proposes to convert to a swine 
facility, it shall be considered a new swine facility under these regulations. Converted facilities shall be 
permitted as new swine facilities and meet all criteria for new swine facilities before they begin operation 
as a swine facility. 
   
  7. If an existing swine facility proposes to expand operations or increase the number of permitted swine 
such that it falls into a new size classification, the facility shall be considered a new swine facility in that 
size classification under these regulations. The facility shall meet all the requirements for the new 
classification. 
 
100.20. Permits and Compliance Period. 
 
 A.  Permit Requirement. Swine manure and other swine by-products from a new or expanded swine 
facility can only be generated, handled, stored, treated, processed, or land applied in the State in accordance 
with a permit issued by the Department under the provisions of this part. Existing producers that are required 
by the Department to update their Animal Facility Management Plan shall meet the requirements of this 
part to the extent practical as determined by the Department. 
 
 B. Large Swine Facilities with 1,000,000 pounds or more normal production live weightmust also apply 
for an individual National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit for Confined Animal 
Feeding Operations (CAFO)in accordance with the provisions of Regulation 61-9. 
 



15 
 

 CB. Permits issued under this regulation are no-discharge permits. 
 
 DC. The requirements in this part shall be implemented through a permit issued to any producer who 
operates a swine facility where swine manure and other swine by-products are generated, handled, treated, 
stored, processed, or land applied. 
 
 ED. The requirements under this part may be addressed in permits issued to producers who only land 
apply swine manure and other swine by-products. 
 
 FE. Notification Requirements. The permittee shall notify the Department in writing and receive written 
Departmental approval, except as otherwise noted, prior to any change in operations at a permitted facility, 
including, but not limited to, the following: 
 
  1. Change in ownership and control of the facility. The Department has thirty (30) days from the receipt 
of a complete and accurate notification of transfer of ownership to either: request additional information 
regarding the transfer or the new owner; deny the transfer; or approve the transfer of ownership. If the 
Department does not act within thirty (30) days, the transfer is automatically approved. If additional 
information is requested by the Department in a timely manner, the Department shall act on this additional 
information, when it is received, within the same time period as the initial notification. 
   
  2. Increase in the permitted number of swine. 
 
  3. Increase in the normal production animal live weight of the existing permitted swine facility. 
 
  4. Addition of manure utilization areas. 
 
  5. Change in swine manure and other swine by-products treatment, handling, storage, processing or 
utilization. 
 
  6. Change in method of dead swine disposal. 
 
 GF. Permit Modification.Permit modifications for items 100.20.FE.3 and 100.20.FE.5 for facilities 
regulated under this part which shall result in expansions shall adhere to the requirements of this part and 
other applicable statutes, regulations, or guidelines. 
 
 HG. Permit modification for items 100.20.FE.2-3 which result in an expansion may be required to obtain 
new written waivers or agreement for reduction of setbacks from adjoining property owners (if applicable). 
 
100.30. Exclusions.  
 
The following do not require permits from this part unless specifically required by the Department under 
Section 100.30.G. 
 
 A.  Existing swine facilities that are deemed permitted under Section 100.10.D.1. are excluded from 
applying for a new permit unless an expansion is proposed, a new manure utilization areas isare added, or 
it isas required by the Department. New manure utilization areas added to an existing facility shall meet the 
appropriate requirements in this part. However, deemed permitted facilities shall meet the requirements of 
this regulation as outlined in Section 100.10.D.1. (Purpose, Applicability, Inactive Facilities, and Facilities 
Permitted Prior to the Effective Date of Regulation). 
 



16 
 

 B. Except as given in Section 100.30.G, swine facilities that do not have a lagoon, manure storage pond, 
or liquid manure treatment system, having 10,000 pounds or less of normal production animal live weight 
at any one time are excluded from obtaining a permit from the Department. However, these facilities shall 
have and implement an Animal Facility Management Plan for their facility that meets the requirements of 
this regulation. 
 
 C. Except as given in Section 100.30.G, swine facilities, that do not have a lagoon, manure storage pond, 
or liquid manure treatment system, having more than 10,000 pounds of normal production animal live 
weight at any one time and less than 30,000 pounds of normal production animal live weight at any one 
time are excluded from obtaining a permit from the Department. However, these facilities shall submit an 
Animal Facility Management Plan to the Department and implement an Animal Facility Management Plan 
for their facility that meets the requirements of this regulation. 
 
 D.  Except as given in Section 100.30.G, ranged swine facilities where the size of the range area is 
sufficient to allow for natural degradation or utilization of the swine manure with no adverse impact to the 
environment are excluded from obtaining a permit from the Department. Ranged facilities shall also 
maintain adequate vegetative buffers between the swine range and waters of the State. 
 
 E. Except as given in Section 100.30.G, swine facilities that doare not produceclassified swine for 
commercial purposes are excluded from obtaining a permit from the Department. 
 
 F. Except as given in Section 100.30.G, swine facilities that hold valid permits issued by the Department 
are not required to obtain a new permit if they decide to replace in kind any of the swine growing houses.If 
the permittee chooses to leave the old swine houses in place to utilize for another purpose other than housing 
animals, the Department shall perform a preliminary site inspection for the proposed location of the 
replacement houses and approve the site prior to construction. 
 
 G.  Swine Ffacilities exempted under Sections 100.30.A, B, C, D, E, and F may be required by the 
Department to obtain a permit. The Department shall visit the site before requiring any of these facilities to 
obtain a permit. 
 
100.40. Relationship to Other Regulations.  
 
The following regulations are referenced throughout this part and may apply to facilities covered under this 
regulation. 
 
 A. Nuisances are addressed in Regulation 61-46. 
 
 B. A. Applications, application fees, and the time schedules governing the review of applications, and 
annual operating fees are addressed in RegulationR.61-30, Environmental Protection Fees. 
 
 C. B. The proper closeout of wastewater treatment facilities isare addressed in RegulationR.61-82, Proper 
Closeout of Wastewater Treatment Facilities. This includes swine lagoons and manure storage ponds. 
 
 D. Permitting requirements for concentrated animal feeding operations as defined by Regulation61-9 are 
contained in Regulation61-9. 
 
 E.C. Setbacks and construction specifications for potable water wells and monitoring wells shall be in 
accordance with RegulationR.61-71, Well Standards. 
 



17 
 

 F.D. Permits for air emissions from incinerators are addressed in RegulationR.61-62, Air Pollution 
Control Regulations and Standards. 
 
 G. E. Disposal of swine lagoon sludge in a municipal solid waste landfill unit is addressed in Regulation 
R.61-107.25819, Solid Waste Management: Solid Waste Landfills and Structural Fill. 
 
 H. F. Disposal of swine manure with domestic or industrial sludge is addressed in Regulation R.61-9, 
Water Pollution Control Permits, and permitted under R.61-9. 
 
 I. Procedures for contested cases are addressed in Regulation 61-72 and Rules of the State’s 
Administrative Law Judge Division. 
 
 J.G. Laboratory Certification is addressed in RegulationR.61-81, State Environmental Laboratory 
Certification Program. 
 
 K.H. Water Classifications and Standards are addressed in RegulationR.61-68. 
 
100.50. Permit Application Procedures (Animal Facility Management Plan Submission 
Requirements). 
 
 A.  Preliminary Site Evaluations. The Department shall perform a preliminary evaluation of the proposed 
site at the request of the applicant. Written requests for preliminary site inspection shall be made using a 
form, as designated by the Department. The Department shall not schedule a preliminary site inspection 
until all required information specified in the form has been submitted to the Department. This evaluation 
should be performed prior to preparation of the Animal Facility Management Plan. Once the preliminary 
site inspection is performed, the Department shall issue an approval or disapproval letter for the proposed 
site. 
 
 B. A producer who proposes to build a new swine facility or expand an existing swine facility shall make 
application for a permit under this part using an application form as designated by the Department. The 
following information shall be included in the application package. 
 
  1. A completed and accurate application form. 
 
  2. An Animal Facility Management Plan prepared by qualified Natural Resources Conservation 
Service (NRCS) personnel or a S.C. registered professional engineer (PE). Other qualified individuals, such 
as certified soil scientists, or S.C. registered professional geologists (PG), etc., may prepare the land 
application component of an Animal Facility Management Plan. The Animal Facility Management Plan 
shall at a minimum contain: 
 
   a. Facility name, address, telephone numbers, email address (if applicable), county, and National 
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Permit or other permit number (if applicable); 
   
   b. Facility location description and the zoning or land use restrictions in this area (this information 
is available from the county); 
 
   c. Applicant’s name, address, and telephone number (if different from above); 
 
   d. Operator’s name and CAMM number; 
 
   e. Facility capacity; 



18 
 

 
    i. Number of swine; 
 
    ii. Pounds of normal production animal live weight at any one time; 
 
    iii. Amount in gallons of swine manure generated per year; 
 
    iv. Description of swine manure storage and storage capacity of lagoon, treatment system, or 
manure storage pond (if applicable); and 
 
    v. Description of swine manure and other swine by-products treatment (if any). 
 
   f. Concentration of constituents in swine manure including but not limited to the constituents given 
below: 
 
    i. Nutrients. 
 
     (a) Nitrate. (Only needed for aerobic treatment systems). 
 
     (b) Ammonium-Nitrogen. 
 
     (c) Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN). 
 
     (d) Organic Nitrogen (Organic Nitrogen = TKN - Ammonium Nitrogen). 
 
     (e) P2O5 (Phosphorous Pentoxide). 
 
     (f) K2O (potash). 
 
    ii. Constituents. 
 
     (a) Copper. 
 
     (b) Zinc. 
 
    iii. Name, address, SC lab certification number, and telephone number of the laboratory 
conducting the analyses. 
 
    iiiiv. For new swine facilities, swine manure analysis information does not have to be initially 
submitted as the Department shall use swine manure analysis from similar sites or published data (such as: 
Clemson University, American Society of Agricultural Engineers, Midwest Planning Service Document, 
NRCS Technical Guide or equivalent) in the review of the application. Analysis of the actual swine manure 
generated shall be submitted to the Department six (6) months after a new swine facility starts operation or 
prior to the first application of swine manure to a manure utilization area, whichever occurs first. If this 
analysis is significantly different from the estimated analysis used in the permitting decision, the 
Department may require a permit modification as necessary to address the situation. Analysis shall be 
conducted by Clemson University Extension Service or a laboratory certified by the Department. This 
laboratory shall have and maintain certification for the constituents to be analyzed. 
 
   g. Swine manure and other swine by-products handling and application information shall be 
included as follows: 



19 
 

 
    i. A crop management plan which includes the time of year of the swine manure and other swine 
by-products application and how it relates to crop type, crop planting, and harvesting schedule (if 
applicable) for all manure utilization areas; 
 
    ii. Name, address, and telephone number of the producer(s) that will land apply the swine manure 
and other swine by-products if different from the permittee; 
 
    iii. Type of equipment used to transport and/or spread the swine manure and other swine 
by- products (if applicable); and 
 
    iv. For spray application systems, plans and specifications with supporting details and design 
calculations for the spray application system. 
 
   h. Facility and manure utilization area information shall be included (as appropriate): 
 
    i. Name, and address, and tax map number of landowner and location of manure utilization 
area(s); 
 
    ii. List previous calendar years that swine manure and/or dry manure and other swine by-products 
were applied and application amounts, where available; 
 
    iii. Facility and manure utilization area location(s) on maps drawn to approximate scale including: 
 
     (a) Topography (7.5’ minutes or equivalent) and drainage characteristics (including ditches); 
 
     (b) Adjacent land usage (within 1/4 mile of property line minimum) and location of inhabited 
dwellings and public places showing property lines and tax map number; 
 
     (c) All known water supply wells on the applicant’s property and within 500 feet of the 
facility’s footprint of construction or within 200 feet of any manure utilization areas; 
 
     (d) Adjacent waters of the State surface water bodies (including ephemeral and intermittent 
streams) or the nearest waterbody; 
 
     (e) Swine manure utilization area boundaries and buffer zones; 
      
     (f) Right-of-Ways (Utilities, roads, etc.); 
 
     (g) Soil types as given by soil tests or soil maps, a description of soil types, and boring locations 
(as applicable); 
 
     (h) Recorded Plats, Surveys, or other acceptable maps that include property boundaries; and 
 
     (i) Information showing the 100-year and 500-year floodplain as determined by FEMA. 
 
    iv. For manure utilization areas not owned by the permit applicant, a signed agreement between 
the permit applicant and the landowner acceptable to the Department detailing the liability for the land 
application. The agreement shall include, at a minimum, the following: 
 



20 
 

     (a) Producer’s name, farm name, farm address, CAMM number and county in which the farm 
is located; 
 
     (b) Landowner’s name, address, phone number; 
 
     (c) Location (map with road names, tax map numbers, and county identified) of the land to 
receive manure application; 
 
     (d) Field acreage, acreage less setbacks, and crops grown; 
 
     (e) Name of manure hauler; 
 
     (f) Name of manure applier; 
 
     (g) A statement that land is not included in any other management plans and manure or compost 
from another farm is not being applied on this land; and any manure utilization areas that are included in 
multiple Animal Facility Management Plans, identify the names of all facilities that include this manure 
utilization area in their plan; and 
 
     (h) A signed statement which informs the landowner that he is responsible for spreading and 
utilizing this manure in accordance with the requirements of the Department and RegulationR.61-43. 
 
    i. For other manure utilization areas that are included in multiple Animal Facility Management 
Plans identify the names of all facilities that include this manure utilization area in their plan. 
 
  3. Groundwater monitoring well details and proposed groundwater monitoring program (if applicable). 
 
  4. The Animal Facility Management Plan shall contain an odor abatement plan for the swine facility, 
lagoon, treatment system, manure storage pond, and manure utilization areas. For more specific details, see 
Section 100.150 (Odor Control Requirements). 
 
  5. A Vector Abatement Plan shall be included for the swine facility, lagoon, treatment system, manure 
storage pond, and manure utilization areas. For more specific details, see Section 100.160 (Vector Control 
Requirements). 
 
  6. The Dead Swine Disposal Plan. The plan shall include written details for handling and disposal of 
dead swine. Plans should include method of disposal, any construction specifications necessary, and 
management practices. See Section 100.130 for specific requirements on dead swine disposal. 
 
  7. A Soil Monitoring Plan. A soil monitoring plan shall be developed for all manure utilization areas,. 
sSee Section 100.100 (Manure Utilization Area Requirements) for more detailed information. 
 
  8. Plans and specifications for all other manure treatment or storage structures, such as holding tanks 
or manure storage sheds. 
 
  9. All “Notice of Intent to Build or Expand a Swine Facility” forms as provided by the Department 
and a tax map (or equivalent) to scale showing all neighboring property owners and identifying which 
property has inhabited dwellings that are required to be notified. See Section 100.60 (Public Notice 
Requirements) for more detailed information. 
 



21 
 

  10. An Emergency Plan. The emergency plan shall at a minimum contain a list of entities or agencies 
the producer shall contact in the event of a structural failure (such as a dike/dam breach)lagoon, treatment 
system, or manure storage pond breach, major mass animal mortality, fire, flood, or other similar type 
problem. For facilities in the coastal areas of the State, the emergency plan shall address actions to be taken 
by a producer during hurricane season (such as providing additional freeboard during that time) and when 
advance warning is given on any extreme weather condition. 
 
  11. All waivers as specified in Section 100.80 (Facility, Lagoon, Treatment System, and Manure 
Storage Pond Siting Requirements), if applicable. 
 
  12. Application fee and the first year’s operating fee as established by RegulationR.61-30. 
 
 C. The Department may request an applicant to provide any additional information deemed necessary to 
complete or correct deficiencies in the swine facility permit application prior to processing the application 
or issuing, modifying, or denying a permit. 
 
 D. Applicants shall submit all required information in a format acceptable to the Department. 
 
 E. An application package for a permit is complete when the Department receives all of the required 
information which has been completed to its satisfaction. Incomplete submittal packages may be returned 
to the applicant by the Department. 
 
 F. Application packages for permit modifications only need to contain the information applicable to the 
requested modification or any additional information the Department deems necessary. 
 
 
100.60. Public Notice Requirements. 
 
 A.  Small Swine Facilities(500,000 pounds or less of normal production live weight). 
 
  1. For persons seeking to construct a new small swine facility, the Department shall have the applicant 
notify all adjoining property owners and people residing on property within 1/4 mile (1320 feet) of the 
proposed location of the facility (footprint of construction) of the applicants intent to build a swine facility. 
The applicant shall use a notice of intent form provided by the Department. The Department shall also post 
up to four notices on the perimeter of the property or in close proximity to the property, in visible locations 
as determined by the Department. The notice of intent shall advise adjoining property owners that they can 
send comments on the proposed animal facility directly to the Department. 
 
  1. For persons seeking to construct a new small swine facility, the applicant shall: 
 
   a. Notify all adjoining property owners and people residing on property within 1/4 mile (1,320 feet) 
of the proposed location of the facility (footprint of construction and manure storage pond) of the applicant’s 
intent to build a swine facility. 
 
   b. Notify the parties listed in A.1.a. of this section using an NOI form provided by the Department. 
The NOI shall advise the adjoining property owners they may send comments on the proposed animal 
facility directly to the Department. 
 
  2. For existing small swine facilities seeking to expand their current operations, the Department shall 
post up to four notices of intent to expand a swine facility on the perimeter of the property or in close 
proximity to the property, in visible locations as determined by the Department. 



22 
 

 
  2. For persons seeking to construct a new small swine facility or expand an established small swine 
facility, the Department shall post a Public Notice of application received, for fifteen (15) business days, 
on the Department’s website. The Department may also post up to four (4) notices, in the four (4) cardinal 
directions around the perimeter of the property or in close proximity to the property, in visible locations as 
determined by the Department. 
 
  3. For small swine facilities, the Department shall review all comments received. If the Department 
receives twenty (20) or more letters from different people living in a two-mile radius of the proposed facility 
requesting a meeting or the Department determines significant comment exists, a meeting shall be held to 
discuss and seek resolution to the concerns prior to a permit decision being made. All persons who have 
submitted written comments shall be invited in writing to the meeting. First Class US mail service, email, 
or hand delivery to the address of the interested party shall be used by the Department for the meeting 
invitation. However, if the Department determines that the number of persons who submitted written 
comments is significant, the Department shall publish a notice of the public meeting in a local newspaper 
of general circulation instead of notifying each individual by fFirst cClass mail. In addition, the Department 
shall notify all group leaders and petition organizers in writing or email. Agreement of the parties is not 
required for the Department to make a permit decision. 
 
 B. Large Swine Facilities(greater than 500,000 pounds normal production live weight). 
 
  1. For persons seeking to construct a new large swine facility or expand an established large swine 
facility, the applicant shall: 
 
   a. Notify all property owners within 1/4 mile (1320 feet) of the proposed location of the facility 
(footprint of construction ) utilizing a form provided by the Department; and 
 
   a. Notify all adjoining property owners and people residing on property within 1/4 mile (1,320 feet) 
of the proposed location of the facility (footprint of construction and manure storage pond) of the applicant’s 
intent to build a swine facility. 
 
   b. Notify persons residing on adjoining property; 
 
   b. Notify the parties listed in B.1.a. of this section using an NOI form provided by the Department. 
The NOI shall advise the adjoining property owners they may send comments on the proposed animal 
facility directly to the Department. 
 
  2. For persons seeking to construct a new large swine facility or expand an established large swine 
facility, the Department shallat the expense of the applicant: 
 
   a.Publish a notice of intent to construct or expand an established swine facility in a local newspaper 
of general circulation Post a Public Notice of application received, for fifteen (15) business days, on the 
Department’s website. The Department may also post up to four (4) notices, in the four (4) cardinal 
directions around the perimeter of the property or in close proximity to the property, in visible locations as 
determined by the Department; 
 
   b. Notify the appropriate county commission; 
 
   c. Notify the appropriate water supply district (owners or operators of any potable surface water 
treatment plant located downstream from the proposed swine facility that could reasonably be expected to 
be adversely impacted if a significant problem arose); and 



23 
 

 
   d. Notify any person who asked to be notified;. 
 
  3. First Class US mail service, email, or hand delivery to the address of a person to be notified shall 
be used by the Department for the notifications in Section 100.60.B.2.b-d. If the Department determines 
that members of the same group or organization have submitted comments or a petition, the Department 
shall only notify all groups, organization leaders, and petition organizers in writing, or email. The 
Department shall ask these leaders and organizers to notify their groups or any concerned citizens who 
signed the petitions. 
 
  4. The notice shall contain instructions for public review and comment to the Department on the 
proposed construction and operation of the swine facility. The notice shall allow for a minimum thirty 
fifteen (15) business-day comment period. 
 
  5. When the Department receives twenty (20) or more letters or emails from different people living in 
a two-mile radius of the proposed facility requesting a hearingpublic meeting or the Department determines 
there is significant public interest, the Department shall conduct a public hearingmeeting and shall provide 
notice of the public hearing meeting in accordance with the notice requirements provided for in Section 
100.60.B.2.a-d. The initial public notice and hearing meeting notice can be combined into one notice.The 
Department shall provide at least thirty days (30) notice of the hearing. 
 
 C. Additional requirements for X-large swine facilitieswith 1,000,000 pounds or more normal production 
live weight. 
 
  1. For persons seeking to construct a new X-large swine facility or expand an established X-large 
swine facilitywith 1,000,000 pounds or more normal production live weight, the applicant shall notify all 
property owners and person(s) residing on property within one mile (5280 feet) of the proposed location of 
the X-large swine facility (footprint of construction and manure storage pond) by certified mail. The 
notification must include the following information: 
 
   a. Name and address of the person proposing to construct an X-large swine facility; 
 
   b. The type of swine facility, the design capacity, and a description of the proposed swine manure 
management system; 
 
   c. The name and address of the preparer of the Animal Facility Management Plan; 
 
   d. The address of the local Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) office; and 
 
   e. A statement approved by the Department informing the adjoining property owners and property 
owners within one (1) mile of the proposed facility that they may submit written comments or questions to 
the Department. 
 
  2. The applicant shall conduct a minimum of one public meeting to present to the public the proposed 
project, its purpose, design, and environmental impacts. The applicant shall provide at least thirty (30) days 
(30) notice of the meeting date and time by advertisement in a local newspaper of general circulation in the 
area of the proposed facility. The public meeting notice can be combined into one (1) notice in combination 
with the notice run by the Department. However, the applicant must provide information concerning the 
date, time, and location of the public meeting at the time of application. The minutes of the public meeting, 
proof of advertisement, and opinions derived from the meeting must be submitted to the Department. 
 



24 
 

  3. The Department shall conduct a public hearingmeeting and shall provide notice of the public 
hearingmeeting in accordance with the notice requirements provided for in Section 100.60.CB.2.a-d. The 
initial public notice and hearingmeeting notice can be combined into one (1) notice. The Department shall 
provide at least thirty (30) days (30)notice of the hearingmeeting. 
 
 D.  For properties that have multiple owners or properties that are in an estate with multiple heirs, the 
Department, at the expense of the applicant, shall publishsend an notice of intentNOI to construct an animal 
facility in a local paper of general circulation in the area of the facilityby certified mail to each individual. 
This notice in the newspaper shall serve as notice to these multiple property owners of the 
producer’sapplicant’s intent to build a swine facility.The cost to run this notice is not included in the 
application fee, and therefore shall be billed directly to the permit applicant for payment. This notice fee 
shall be paid prior to the issuance of the permit. 
 
 E. When comments are received by electronic email, the Department shall acknowledge receipt of the 
comment by electronic mail. These comments shall be handled in the same manner as written comments 
received by postal mail. 
 
 F. The Department shall consider all relevant comments received in determining a final permit decision. 
 
 G.  The Department shall send notice of the permit decision to issue or deny the permit to the applicant, 
all persons who commented in writing to the Department, and all persons who attended the public hearing 
ormeeting, if held. First Class US mail service, email, or hand delivery to the address of a person to be 
notified shall be used by the Department for the decision notification. However, if the Department 
determines that members of the same group or organization have submitted comments or a petition, the 
Department shall only notify all group leaders and petition organizers in writing or email. The Department 
shall ask these leaders and organizers to notify members of their groups or any concerned citizens who 
signed the petitions. 
 
 H.  For permit issuances, the Department shall publish a notice of issuance of a permit to construct or 
expand a swine facility in a local newspaper of general circulation in the area of the facilityon the 
Department’s website. 
 
 I. For permit denials, the Department shall give the permit applicant a written explanation which outlines 
the specific reasons for the permit denial. 
 
 J. For permit denials, the Department may publish a notice of decision in a local newspaper of general 
circulation in the area of the facility. If the number of concerned citizens who submitted written comments 
is small, the department may send each concerned citizen a letter by first class mail in lieu of the newspaper 
noticeon the Department’s website. 
 
 K.  The Department shall include, at a minimum, the following information in the public notices: the 
name and location of the facility, a description of the operation and the method of manure and other swine 
by-products handling, instructions on how to appeal the Department’s decision, the time frame for filing an 
appeal, the date of the decision, and the date upon which the permit becomes effective. 
 
100.70. Permit Decision Making Process. 
 
 A.  No permit shall be issued before the Department receives a complete application package. 
 
 B. The agricultural program of the Department is not involved in local zoning and land use planning. 
Local government(s) may have more stringent requirements for agricultural animal facilities. The permittee 



25 
 

is responsible for contacting the appropriate local government(s) to ensure that the proposed facility meets 
all the local requirements. 
 
 C. After the Department has received a complete application package, a technical review shall be 
conducted by the Department. The Department may request any additional information or clarification from 
the applicant or the preparer of the Animal Facility Management Plan to help with the determination on 
whether a permit should be issued or denied. If a permit application package meets all applicable 
requirements of this part, a permit may be issued. 
 
 D.  A preliminary site inspection shall be made by the Department before a permit decision is 
madecomplete application package is received by the Department. 
 
 E. The Department shall consider the cumulative impacts including, but not limited to;: impacts from 
evaporation; storm water; and other potential and actual point and nonpoint sources of pollution runoff; 
levels of nutrients or other elements in the soils and nearby waterways; groundwater or aquifer 
contamination; pathogens or other elements; and the pollution assimilative capacity of the receiving 
waterbody. These cumulative impacts will be considered prior to permitting new or expanded swine 
facilities. Alternative manure and other swine by-products treatment and utilization methods may be 
required in watersheds which are nutrient-sensitive waters, or impaired by pathogens. 
 
 F. The Department shall act on all permits to prevent, so far as reasonably possible considering relevant 
standards under state and federal laws, an increase in pollution of the waters and air of the State from any 
new or enlarged sources. 
 
 G.  The Department also shall act on all permits so as to prevent degradation of water quality due to the 
cumulative and secondary effects of permit decisions. Cumulative and secondary effects are impacts 
attributable to the collective effects of a number of swine facilities in a defined area and include the effects 
of additional projects similar to the requested permit proposed on sites in the vicinity. All permit decisions 
shall ensure that the swine facility and manure treatment and utilization alternative with the least adverse 
impact on the environment be utilized. To accomplish this, new and expanding facilities, except X-large 
swine facilitieswith 1,000,000 pounds or more normal production live weight, shall use the best available 
technology economically achievable for the handling, storage, processing, treatment, and utilization of 
manure. New and expanding X-large swine facilities with 1,000,000 pounds or more normal production 
live weightshall use the best available technology for the handling, storage, processing, treatment, and 
utilization of manure. Cumulative and secondary effects shall include, but are not limited to; runoff from 
land application of swine manure and a swine facility; evaporation and atmospheric deposition of elements; 
ground-water or aquifer contamination; the buildup of elements in the soil; and other potential and actual 
point and nonpoint sources of pollution in the vicinity. 
 
 H.  The Ssetback limits given in this partPart 100 are minimumsiting requirements (with exception to 
those that are not labeled as minimum requirements, which are absolutes). On a case-by-case basis the 
Department may require additional separation distances applicable to swine facilities. The Department shall 
evaluate the proposed site including, but not limited to, the following factors when determining if additional 
distances are necessary following factors to determine if any special conditions are necessary: 
 
  1.Proximity to 100-year floodplain Latitude and Longitude; 
 
  2.Geography and soil types on the site Down-wind Receptors; and 
 
  3. Location in a watershed Nutrient Management Plan;. 
 



26 
 

  4.Classification or impairment of adjacent waters; 
 
  5.Proximity to a State Designated Focus Area; Outstanding Resource Water; Heritage Corridor; 
Historic Preservation District; State Approved Source Water Protection Area; state or national park or 
forest; state or federal research area; and privately-owned wildlife refuge, park, or trust property; 
 
  6. Proximity to other known point source discharges and potential nonpoint sources; 
 
  7. Slope of the land; 
 
  8. Swine manure application method and aerosols; 
 
  9. Runoff prevention; 
 
  10. Adjacent groundwater usage; 
 
  11. Down-wind receptors; and 
 
  12. Aquifer vulnerability. 
 
 I. The appeal of a permit decision is governed by the SC Administrative Procedures Act, Regulation 
61-72, and the Rules of the State’s Administrative Law Judge Division. 
 
 J.I. When a permit is issued it shall contain an issue date, an effective date, and, when applicable, a 
construction expiration date. The effective date shall be at least twenty (20) fifteen (15) calendar days after 
the issue date to allow for any appeals. If a timely appeal is not received, the permit shall be effective on 
the effective date. 
 
 K. J. The swine facility, lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond can be built only when the 
permit is effective with no appeals pending. The facility cannot be placed into operation until the 
Department grants written authorizationApproval to begin operationsOperate (ATO). 
 
 L. K. To receive anauthorization to begin operations ATO, the producer shall have the preparer of the 
Animal Facility Management Plan submit in writing to the Department the following information: 
 
  1. Certification that the construction of the structural components (such as the facility footprint, the 
lagoon, treatment system and manure storage pond) has been completed in accordance with the approved 
Animal Facility Management Plan and the requirements of this regulation; 
 
  2. Certification that no portion of the facility has been construction in the 100-year floodplain; 
 
  3. Certification for containment of structural failures, if applicable; and 
 
  4. Certification for lagoon or manure storage pond lining, if applicable. 
 
 M.L. The Department shall conduct a final inspection before granting authorizationapproval to a 
producer to begin operations. 
 
 N.M. The Department shall grant written authorizationapproval for the producer to begin operations after 
it has received the information in 100.70.LK and the results of a final inspection are satisfactory. 
 



27 
 

 O. N. Swine Facility Permit Construction Expiration and Extensions. 
 
  1. Construction permits issued by the Department for agricultural animal facilities shall be given two 
(2) years from the effective date of the permit to start construction and three (3) years from the effective 
date of the permit to complete construction. 
 
  2. If the proposed construction as outlined in the permit is not started prior to the construction start 
expiration date, the construction permit is invalid unless an extension in accordance with this regulation is 
granted. 
 
  3. If construction is not completed and the facility is not placed into operation prior to the construction 
completion expiration date, the construction permit is invalid unless an extension in accordance with this 
regulation is granted. 
 
  4. If only a portion of permitted facility (animal growing houses and associated manure treatment 
and/or storage structures are completely constructed, but not all houses originally permitted were 
constructed) is completed prior to the construction completion expiration date, the construction for the 
remainder of the permit may be utilized within the permit life. The permittee shall obtain Departmental 
approval prior to utilizing the permit in this manner. The Department may require that the permittee submit 
additional information or update the Animal Facility Management Plan prior to approval. 
 
  5. Extensions of the construction permit start and completion dates may be granted by the Department. 
The permittee shall submit a written request explaining the delay and detailing any changes to the proposed 
construction. This request shall be received not later than 60 days prior tothe expiration date that the 
permittee proposes to extend. The maximum extension period shall not exceed one (1) year. There shall be 
no more than two (2), one-year extension periods per permit to construct, granted. 
 
 P.O. Permits issued under this regulation for all swine facilities shall be renewed at least every seven (7) 
years. However, if a facility is classified as a CAFO under the NPDES Regulations in R.61-9, the expiration 
date shall be no more than five (5) years after the issue date. 
 
 Q. P. An expired permit (final expiration date for renewal) issued under this part continues in effect until 
a new permit is effective if the permittee submits a complete application, to the satisfaction of the 
Department, at least 180 days before the existing permit expires. The Department may grant permission to 
submit an application later than the deadline for submission stated above, but no later than the permit 
expiration date. If the facility has been closed for any two (2) consecutive years since the last permit was 
issued, the provision for the expiring permit remaining in effect does not apply since the permit is no longer 
valid. Permittees shall notify the Department in writing within thirty (30) calendar days of when they go 
out of business. 
 
 R.Q. Permit renewal applications shall meet all the requirements of this regulation as the Department 
determines appropriate. The Department shall review the site and make a determination on a case-by-case 
basis on which requirements are applicable. 
 
 S.R. No permit will be issued to an applicant who contracts with an integrator or integrating company 
unless the permit is in accordance with the approved cumulative environmental and public health impact 
assessment plan as required in part 500.20 (Integrator Submittal Requirements) of this regulation. 
 
100.80. Swine Facility, Lagoon, Treatment System, and Manure Storage Pond Siting Requirements. 
 



28 
 

 A. Siting Requirements applicable to all small (500,000 pounds or less of normal production live 
weight)swine facilities and the lagoons, treatment systems, and manure storage ponds associated with them. 
 
  1. The minimum separation distance between a swine facility (not including a lagoon, treatment 
system, manure storage pond, or manure utilization areas) and a potable water well (excluding the 
applicant’s well) is 200 feet. The minimum separation distance between a swine facility (not including a 
lagoon, treatment system, manure storage pond, or manure utilization areas) and a potable water well owned 
by the applicant is 50 feet (as required by R.61-71). 
 
  2. The minimum separation distance between a lagoon, treatment system, or a manure storage pond 
and a public or private human drinking water well (excluding the applicant’s well) is 500 feet. The minimum 
separation distance between a lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond and a potable water well 
owned by the applicant is 100 feet. 
 
  3. Except for site drainage, the minimum separation distance required between a ditch or swale, which 
drains directly into waters of the State (excludingincluding ephemeral and intermittent streams) and a swine 
facility, swine lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond is 100 feet. The setback from ditches may 
be reduced by the Department, if a permanent vegetative water quality buffer, that meets NRCS standards 
at a minimum, is installed and maintained. 
 
  4. Except for site drainage, the minimum separation distance required between a ditch or swale, which 
drains directly into an ephemeral or intermittent stream, and a swine facility, swine lagoon, treatment 
system, or manure storage pond is 50 feet. The setback from ditches may be reduced by the Department, if 
a permanent vegetative water quality buffer, that meets NRCS standards at a minimum, is installed and 
maintained. 
 
  5.4. The minimum separation distance required between a swine facility, lagoon, treatment system, or 
manure storage pond and ephemeral or intermittent streams is 100 feet. The setback from ephemeral or 
intermittent streams may be reduced by the Department, if a permanent vegetative water quality buffer, that 
meets NRCS standards at a minimum, is installed and maintained. 
 
  6.5. The minimum separation distance required between a small swine facility (not including the 
lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond) and waters of the State (excluding ephemeral and 
intermittent streams) is 100 feet. 
 
  7.6. The minimum separation distance required between a small swine lagoon, treatment system, or 
manure storage pond and waters of the State (excluding ephemeral and intermittent streams) is 500 feet. 
 
  8.7. If the waters of the State (not including ephemeral and intermittent streams) are designated 
Outstanding Resource Waters, Critical Habitat Waters of federally endangered species, or Shellfish 
Harvesting Waters, the minimum separation distance required between a small swine lagoon, treatment 
system, or a manure storage pond and waters of the State (not including ephemeral and intermittent streams) 
is 1,320 feet (1/4 mile). 
 
  9. The distance required between a small swine lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond and 
waters of the State (not including ephemeral and intermittent streams) can be reduced to 200 feet if the 
permittee implements a design to control the discharge from a failed lagoon, treatment system or manure 
storage pond so that it never enters waters of the State (not including ephemeral and intermittent streams) 
and the designer, either a NRCS employee or a registered engineer, certifies that the system has been 
constructed as specified. The distance shall not be reduced if the waters of the state are designated 



29 
 

Outstanding Resource Waters, Critical Habitat Waters of federally endangered species, or Shellfish 
Harvesting Waters. 
 
  10. For small facilities with a capacity of 250,000 pounds or less of normal production animal live 
weight at any one time, the separation distance required between a swine growing area (pens or barns not 
including range areas) and the distance to lot line of real property owned by another person is 200 feet or 
1000 feet from the nearest residence, whichever is greater. 
 
  11.8. For small swine facilities with a capacity of more than 250,000 pounds and less than 500,001 
pounds of normal production animal live weight at any one time, the separation distance required between 
a swine growing area (pens or barns not including range areas) and the lot line of real property owned by 
another person is 400 feet or and 1,000 feet from the nearest residence, whichever is greater. 
 
  12. For small facilities with a capacity of 250,000 pounds or less of normal production animal live 
weight at any one time, the separation distance required between a lagoon, treatment system, and/or manure 
storage pond and the lot line of real property owned by another person is 300 feet or 1000 feet from the 
nearest residence, whichever is greater. 
 
  13.9. For small swine facilities with a capacity of more than 250,000 pounds and less than 500,001 
pounds of normal production animal live weight at any one time, the separation distance required between 
a lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond and the lot line of real property owned by another 
person is 600 feet or and 1,000 feet from the nearest residence, whichever is greater. 
 
  14.10. The distances in items 10-138 and 9 above can be reduced by written consent of the adjoining 
property owner, unless a swine facility is located on the adjacent property or within 1,000 feet of the 
property line. Written consent is not needed when the Department reduces the distances under the 
requirements of Part 300. 
 
 B. Siting Requirements applicable to all large swine facilities, with less than 1,000,000 pounds normal 
production live weight, and the lagoons, treatment systems, and manure storage ponds associated with the 
facility. 
 
  1. The minimum separation distance between a large swine facility with less than 1,000,000 pounds 
normal production live weight(not including a lagoon, treatment system, manure storage pond, or manure 
utilization areas) and a potable water well (excluding the applicant’s well) is 200 feet. The minimum 
separation distance between a swine facility (not including a lagoon, treatment system, manure storage 
pond, or manure utilization areas) and a potable water well owned by the applicant is 50 feet (as required 
by R.61-71). 
 
  2. The minimum separation distance between a lagoon, treatment system, or a manure storage pond, 
with less than 1,000,000 pounds normal production live weightand a public or private human drinking water 
well (excluding the applicant’s well) is five hundred (500) feet. The minimum separation distance between 
a lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond and a potable water well owned by the applicant is 100 
feet. 
 
  3. Except for site drainage, the minimum separation distance required between a ditch or swale, which 
drains directly into waters of the State (excludingincluding ephemeral and intermittent streams) and a swine 
facility, swine lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond, with less than 1,000,000 pounds normal 
production live weight, associated with a large swine facility is 100 feet.The setback from ditches may be 
reduced by the Department, if a permanent vegetative water quality buffer at least 50 feet wide, that meets 
NRCS standards at a minimum, is installed and maintained. 



30 
 

 
  4.Except for site drainage, the minimum separation distance required between a ditch or swale, which 
drains directly into an ephemeral or intermittent stream, and a swine facility, swine lagoon, treatment 
system, or manure storage pond, with less than 1,000,000 pounds normal production live weight, is 50 feet. 
 
  54. The minimum separation distance required between a large swine facility, lagoon, treatment 
system, or manure storage pond, with less than 1,000,000 pounds normal production live weight, and 
ephemeral or intermittent is 100 feet. The setback from ephemeral or intermittent streams may be reduced 
by the Department, if a permanent vegetative water quality buffer at least 50 feet wide, that meets NRCS 
standards at a minimum, is installed and maintained. associated with the facility and ephemeral or 
intermittent streams is 200 feet. 
 
  65. The minimum separation distance required between a large swine facility with less than 1,000,000 
pounds normal production live weight(not including the lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond) 
and waters of the State (excludingincluding ephemeral and intermittent streams) is 200 feet. 
 
  76. The minimum separation distance required between a large swine lagoon, treatment system, or 
manure storage pond, with less than 1,000,000 pounds normal production live weight,and waters of the 
State (not including ephemeral and intermittent streams) is 1,320 feet (1/4 mile). If the waters of the State 
(not including ephemeral and intermittent streams) are designated Outstanding Resource Waters, Critical 
Habitat Waters of federally endangered species, or Shellfish Harvesting Waters, the minimum separation 
distance required between a lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond and waters of the State (not 
including ephemeral and intermittent streams) is 2,640 feet (½ mile). A minimum 100-foot wide vegetative 
water quality buffer of plants and trees is required to be installed and maintained on the site between the 
facility and any down slope waters of the State. Sites with existing vegetation may qualify to utilize the 
existing vegetation for a buffer, if the vegetation is deemed sufficient. For new facilities constructed in 
areas where natural vegetation is not present, the Department shall evaluate these sites on a case-by-case 
basis to determine the amount of vegetative buffer that shall be planted. However, each site shall be required 
at a minimum to provide a vegetative buffer that meets the current NRCS standards. 
 
  8. The distance required between a large swine lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond, with 
less than 1,000,000 pounds normal production live weight, and waters of the State (not including ephemeral 
and intermittent streams) can be reduced to 500 feet if the permittee implements a design to control the 
discharge from a failed lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond so that it never enters waters of 
the State (not including ephemeral and intermittent streams) and the designer, either a NRCS employee or 
a professional engineer, certifies that the plan has been implemented as specified. The distance shall not be 
reduced if the waters of the state are designated Outstanding Resource Waters, Critical Habitat Waters of 
federally endangered species, or Shellfish Harvesting Waters. 
 
  9.7. The minimum separation distance required between a large swine facility with less than 1,000,000 
pounds normal production live weight (growing area, pens or barns not including range areas) and real 
property owned by another person is 1,000 feet. 
 
  10. For swine facilities with a capacity of 500,001 to 750,000 pounds of normal production animal 
live weight at any one time, the minimum separation distance required between a lagoon, treatment system, 
or manure storage pond and real property owned by another person is 1,000 feet. 
 
  11.8. For large swine facilities with a capacity of 750,001 to 1,000,000 pounds of normal production 
animal live weight at any one time,the minimum separation distance required between a lagoon, treatment 
system and/or a waste manure storage pond and real property owned by another person is 1,250 feet. 
 



31 
 

  12.9. The minimum separation distance required between large swine facilities with less than 
1,000,000 pounds normal production live weightis two (2) miles. 
 
  13.10. A separation distance to adjacent land as provided in items 9-11 7 and 8 above does not apply 
to a swine facility, lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond which is constructed or expanded, if 
the titleholder of adjoining land to the concentrated swine operation executes a written waiver with the title 
holder of the land where the swine facility is established or proposed to be located, under terms and 
conditions that the parties negotiate. The written waiver becomes effective only upon the recording of the 
waiver in the office of the Register of Deeds of the county in which the benefited land is located. The filed 
waiver precludes enforcement of 100.80.B.9-117 and 8 as it relates to the swine facility and to real property 
owned by another person. The permittee shall submit a copy of the document with the recording stamp to 
the Department. The separation distances shall not be reduced or waived if a swine facility is located on the 
adjacent property or within 1,000 feet of the property line. 
 
 C. Siting requirements applicable to X-large swine facilities, with 1,000,000 pounds or more normal 
production live weight, and the lagoons, treatment systems, and manure storage ponds associated with the 
facility are as follows: 
 
  1. The minimum separation distance required between an X-large swine facility with 1,000,000 pounds 
or more normal production live weightand waters of the State (excludingincluding ephemeral and 
intermittent streams) is 2,640 feet (½ mile). 
 
  2. The minimum separation distance required between an X-large swine lagoon, treatment system, or 
manure storage pond, with 1,000,000 pounds or more normal production live weight,and waters of the State 
(not including ephemeral and intermittent streams) is 2,640 feet (½ mile). If the waters of the State (not 
including ephemeral and intermittent streams) are designated Outstanding Resource Waters, Critical 
Habitat Waters of federally endangered species, or Shellfish Harvesting Waters, the minimum separation 
distance required between a lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond and waters of the State (not 
including ephemeral and intermittent streams) is 3,960 feet (3/4 mile). A minimum 100-foot wide 
vegetative water quality buffer of plants and trees is required to be installed and maintained on the site 
between the facility and any down slope waters of the State. Sites with existing vegetation may qualify to 
utilize the existing vegetation for a buffer, if the vegetation is deemed sufficient. For new facilities 
constructed in areas where natural vegetation is not present, the Department shall evaluate these sites on a 
case-by-case basis to determine the amount of vegetative buffer that shall be planted. However, each site 
shall be required at a minimum to provide a vegetative buffer that meets the current NRCS standards. 
 
  3. The minimum separation distance required between an X-large swine facility, with 1,000,000 
pounds or more normal production live weight(including the lagoon, treatment system, and manure storage, 
pond) and real property owned by another person or a residence (excluding the applicant’s residence) is 
1,750 feet. 
 
  4. The minimum separation distance between an X-large swine facility with 1,000,000 pounds or more 
normal production live weight (including a lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond) and a potable 
water well (excluding the applicant’s well) is 1,750 feet. 
 
  5. The minimum separation distance required between X-large swine facilities with 1,000,000 pounds 
or more normal production live weight is twenty-five (25) miles. 
 
 D. A new swine facility or an expansion of an established swine facility may not be located in the 
100-year floodplain. 
 



32 
 

 E. Water (a pond) that is completely surrounded by land owned by the permit applicant and has no 
connection to other water is excluded from the setback requirements outlined in this part. 
 
 F. All lagoon and manure storage pond setbacks contained in this part shall be measured from the outside 
toe of the dike. 
 
 G. Setback limits given in this part are minimum siting requirements, except those not labeled as 
minimum requirements, which are absolutes. On a case-by-case basis the Department may require 
additional separation distances to the minimum setbacks applicable to swine facilities. See Section 
100.70.H. for specific criteria evaluated for determining if greater setbacks should be required. 
 
100.90. General Requirements for Swine Manure Lagoons, Treatment Systems, and Swine Manure 
Storage Ponds. 
 
 A. The lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond shall be designed by a professional engineer 
or an NRCS engineer and the construction shall be certified by the design engineer or professional engineer 
licensed in S.C. It is a violation of these regulations and the Pollution Control Act for the owner or operator 
of the facility to make modifications or physical changes to the lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage 
pond without the prior approval of the Department and supervision of NRCS or a professional engineer. 
Plans and specifications for lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond modifications shall be 
designed and certified by NRCS or a professional engineer and submitted to the Department for approval 
prior to the modification. 
 
 B. Swine manure lagoons and manure storage ponds shall be designed at a minimum to NRCS-CPS. The 
manure storage pond or lagoon or manure storage pond shall be designed to provide a minimum storage for 
manure, wastewater, normal precipitation less evaporation, normal runoff, residual solids accumulation, 
capacity for the twenty-five (25) year - twenty-four (24) hour storm event (precipitation and associated 
runoff) and at least one and one half (1 ½) feet of freeboard. New X-large swine facilities with 1,000,000 
pounds or more normal production live weightshall be designed to provide storage capacity for all the above 
mentioned items including the fifty (50) year - twenty-four (24) hour storm event (precipitation and 
associated runoff) and at least two (2) feet of freeboard. 
 
 C. All lagoons and storage ponds shall be provided with a liner, designed with an initial specific discharge 
rate of less than 0.0156 feet/day in order to protect groundwater quality. Lagoons and manure storage ponds 
at swine facilities shall be lined with either a natural liner or a geomembrane liner or a combination thereof. 
Lagoons and manure storage ponds at X-large swine facilities with 1,000,000 pounds or more normal 
production live weightor at facilities within delineated source water protection areas or vulnerable recharge 
areas, as determined by the Department, shall be lined with a geomembrane liner such that the vertical 
hydraulic conductivity does not exceed 5 x 10-7 cm/sec. Geomembrane liners, at a minimum, shall meet 
NRCS-CPS. When lagoons or manure storage ponds are lined using only soils with low permeability rates 
(e.g., clay), the Department shall require appropriate documentation to demonstrate that the computed soil 
permeability of the liner is sufficient to prevent seepage greater than the initial specific discharge rate. 
Appropriate certification shall be provided by the preparer of the Animal Facility Management Plan that 
the NRCS-CPS for lining lagoons and/or manure storage ponds with soils have been met. 
 
 D. Lagoons and manure storage ponds at swine facilities shall not exceed one million cubic feet of total 
volume, unless the lagoon or manure storage pond implements a design to control the discharge from a 
failed lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond so that it never enters waters of the State. 
 



33 
 

 E. Large swine facilities with less than 1,000,000 pounds normal production live weightare prohibited 
from utilizing open anaerobic lagoons or manure storage ponds. These facilities shall utilize best available 
technology that is economically achievable for the manure handling, treatment, storage, and utilization. 
 
 F. X-Large swine facilities with 1,000,000 pounds or more normal production live weightare prohibited 
from utilizing open lagoons or manure storage ponds. These facilities shall utilize best available technology 
for the manure handling, treatment, storage, and utilization. Lagoons and manure storage ponds utilized at 
X-large swine facilities with 1,000,000 pounds or more normal production live weightshall be designed 
with airtight covers. Air pollution control devices utilizing the Best Available Technology shall be installed 
on all lagoon cover vents and openings to remove ammonia, hydrogen sulfide, methane, formaldehyde, and 
any other organic and inorganic air pollutants, which may be required by the Department. Such air pollution 
control devices shall meet all the requirements of the Department and appropriate air quality permits shall 
be obtained. "Best Available Technology” means, for the air emissions purpose of this regulation, the rate 
of emissions which reflects the most stringent emissions limitations required by any State regulation or 
permit, existing at the time the application is made, for all pollutants emitted from this source category; or, 
the most stringent emissions limit achieved in actual practice, whichever is more stringent. 
 
 G. If seepage results in either an adverse impact to groundwater or a significant adverse trend in 
groundwater quality occurs, as determined by the Department, the lagoon or manure storage pond shall be 
repaired at the owner’s or operator’s expense. Assessment and/or additional monitoring (more wells, 
additional constituents, and/or increased sampling frequency) may be required by the Department to 
determine the extent of the seepage. The repairs and/or assessment shall be completed in accordance with 
an implementation schedule approved by the Department. The Department may require groundwater 
corrective action. 
 
 H. Manure and other swine by-products shall not be placed directly in or allowed to come into contact 
with groundwater and/or surface water. The minimum separation distance between the lowest point of the 
lagoon and/or manure storage pond and the seasonal high water table beneath the lagoon and/or manure 
storage pond is two (2) feet. If a geomembrane liner is installed, then the minimum separation distance is 
one (1) foot from the seasonal high water table. Designs that include controlled drainage for water table 
adjustment shall be evaluated by the Department on a case-by-case basis, and may include additional 
monitoring and groundwater control requirements. If a design is proposed for water table adjustment, the 
design shall not impact wetlands. Groundwater monitoring wells may be required to be installed and 
monitored at a frequency as given in the permit for the facility in situations where a liner is used to allow 
the lowest point of a lagoon to be less than two (2) feet to the seasonal high water table. 
 
 I. Owners of lagoons and manure storage ponds at large and X-large swine facilities (greater than 500,000 
pounds normal production live weight) areshall be required to install at least one (1) up-gradient and two 
(2) down-gradient monitoring wells at a depth which the Department considers appropriate around the 
lagoon or series of lagoons in order to monitor groundwater quality. For small swine facilities (500,000 
pounds or less of normal production live weight), the Department may require monitoring wells upon 
Department review of the submittal package. 
 
 J. A groundwater monitoring plan shall be submitted with the permit application to the Department. All 
applicable State certification requirements regarding well installation, laboratory analyses, and report 
preparation shall be met. Groundwater monitoring wells shall be sampled at least once annually by qualified 
personnel, at the expense of the permittee. Monitoring wells at X-large swine facilities with 1,000,000 
pounds or more normal production live weightmust be sampled at least quarterly, unless more frequent 
sampling is specified in the permit. The results shall be submitted to the Department in accordance with the 
specified permit requirements. Groundwater monitoring results shall be maintained by the producer for 



34 
 

eight (8) years. The Department may conduct routine and random visits to the swine facility to sample the 
monitoring wells. 
 
 K.  The monitoring wells shall be properly installed and sampled prior to use of the lagoon or manure 
storage pond. All monitoring wells shall be sampled in accordance with the parameters identified in the 
permit such that a background concentration level can be established. 
 
 L. Before the construction of a lagoon and/or a manure storage pond, the owner or operator shall remove 
all under-drains that exist from previous agricultural operations that are under the lagoon or manure storage 
pond and/or within twenty-five (25) feet of the outside toe of the proposed lagoon or manure storage pond 
dike. This requirement does not include under-drains that are approved as a part of a design that includes 
controlled drainage for water table adjustment. 
 
 M. Lagoons and manure storage ponds at X-large swine facilities with 1,000,000 pounds or more normal 
production live weightshall install automated lagoon level monitoring devices 
 
 N.  Proper water levels in lagoons and manure storage ponds, as per plans and specifications, shall be 
maintained at all times by the permittee. The Department may require specific lagoon or manure storage 
pond volume requirements in permits. An approved marker shall be installed to measure waste levels. 
 
 O. If a lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond, or both, breaches or fails in any way, the owner 
or operator of the swine facility shall immediately notify the Department, the appropriate local government 
officials, and the owners or operators of any potable surface water treatment plant located downstream from 
the swine facility that could reasonably be expected to be adversely impacted. 
 
 P. Lagoons, treatment systems, and manure storage ponds shall be completely enclosed with an 
acceptable fence, unless a fence waiver is obtained from the Department. 
 
 Q. Lagoons and manure storage ponds shall have at least four (4) warning signs posted in the four (4) 
cardinal directions around the perimeter of the structure. These signs should read, “Warning - Deep and 
Polluted Water”, and one should be posted on each side of the lagoon or manure storage pond. 
 
 R. Vegetation on the dikes and around the lagoon or manure storage pond should be kept below a 
maximum height of eighteen (18) inches. Trees or deeply rooted plants shall be prevented from growing on 
the dikes or within twenty-five (25) feet of the outside toe of the dikes of the lagoon, treatment systems, or 
manure storage pond. Existing trees on the dikes shall be evaluated by NRCS staff or a dam engineer 
licensed in South Carolina to determine if they should be removed or remain. 
 
 S. Livestock or other animals that could cause erosion or damage to the dikes of the lagoon or manure 
storage pond shall not be allowed to enter the lagoon or manure storage pond, or graze on the dike or within 
twenty-five (25) feet of the outside toe of the dike. 
 
 T. The Department shall require existing facilities, regardless of size, with a history of manure handling, 
treatment, and disposal problems related to a lagoon, to phase out the existing lagoon and incorporate new 
technology. 
 
100.100. Manure Utilization Area Requirements. 
 
 A.  Application Rates. The Department shall approve an Animal Facility Management Plan that 
establishes an application rate for each manure utilization area based on the agronomic application rate of 
the specific crop(s) being grown. Other factors considered are the manure and other swine by-products’ 



35 
 

impact on the environment, animals, and people living in the vicinity. The application rate shall also be 
based on the limiting constituent (either a nutrient or other constituent as given in item 100.100.B). In 
developing annual constituent loading rates and cumulative constituent loading rates, the Department shall 
consider: 
 
  1. Soil type; 
 
  2. Type of vegetation growing in land-applied area; 
 
  3. Proximity to 100-year floodplain; 
 
  4. Location in watershed; 
 
  5. Nutrient sensitivity of receiving land and waters; 
 
  6,. Soil nutrient testing in conjunction with soil productivity information; 
 
  7. Nutrient, copper, zinc, and constituent content of the manure and other swine by-products being 
applied; 
 
  8. Proximity to a State Designated Focus Area; Outstanding Resource Water; Heritage Corridor; 
Historic Preservation District; State Approved Source Water Protection Area; state or national park or 
forest; state or federal research area; and privately-owned wildlife refuge, park, or trust property; 
 
  9. Proximity to other point and nonpoint sources; 
 
  10. Slope of land; anything over ten (10) percent must use runoff best management practices, runoff 
controls, or conservation features as per NRCS. 
 
  11. Distance to water table or groundwater aquifer; 
 
  12. Timing of manure application to coincide with vegetative cover growth cycle; 
 
  13. Timing of harvest of vegetative cover; 
 
  14. Hydraulic loading limitations; 
 
  15. Soil assimilative capacity; 
 
  16. Type of vegetative cover and its nutrient uptake ability; 
 
  17. Method of land application; and 
 
  18. Aquifer vulnerability. 
 
 B. Constituent Limits for Land Application of Swine manure and other swine by-products. 
 
  1.Swine Manure and other swine by-products. The Department may establish constituent limits in 
permits on a case-by-case basis on swine manure and other swine by-products to be land applied. Swine 
manure and other swine by-products containing only the standard constituents at normal concentrations as 
given by commonly accepted reference sources, such as Clemson University, American Society of 



36 
 

Agricultural Engineers, Midwest Planning Service Document, or NRCS, can be land applied at or below 
agronomic rates without any specific constituent limits in a permit. When the swine manure or other swine 
by-products analysis indicates there are levels of copper, or other constituents of concern, the Department 
shall establish constituent limits in permits for each constituent of concern to ensure the water quality 
standards of Regulation R.61-68 are maintained. For these cases the producer shall comply with the 
following criteria: 
 
   a. Constituent Limits. If swine manure and other swine by-products subject to a constituent limit is 
applied to land, either: 
 
    i. the cumulative loading rate for each constituent shall not exceed the rates in Table 1 of Section 
100.100; or 
 
    ii. the concentration of each constituent in the swine manure and other swine by-products shall 
not exceed the concentrations in Table 2 of Section 100.100. 
 
   b. Constituent concentrations and loading rates - swine manure. 
 
    i. Cumulative constituent loading rates. 
        
TABLE 1 OF SECTION 100.100 - CUMULATIVE CONSTITUENT LOADING RATES 
Cumulative Constituent Loading Rate 

Constituent (kilograms per 
hectare) (pounds per acre) 

Copper 1500 1339   
Zinc 2800 2499   
 
    ii. Constituent concentrations. 
   
TABLE 2 OF SECTION 100.100 - CONSTITUENT CONCENTRATIONS 
Monthly Average Concentrations 
Constituent Dry weight basis (milligrams per kilogram) 
Copper 1500 
Zinc 2800 
 
    iii. Annual constituent loading rates. 
        
TABLE 3 OF SECTION 100.100 - ANNUAL CONSTITUENT LOADING RATES 
Annual Constituent Loading Rate 

  (kilograms per hectare  
per 365 day period) 

(pounds per acre per 
365 day period) 

Constituent   
Copper 75 67   
Zinc 140 125   
 
   c. Additional constituents limits may be required, from the application information or subsequent 
monitoring in a permit thereafter, but such needs shall be assessed on an individual project basis. 
 



37 
 

   d. No producer shall apply sSwine manure and other swine by-products shall not be applied subject 
to the cumulative constituent loading rates in Table 1 of Section 100.100.B.1 to land if any of the rates in 
Table 1 of Section 100.100.B.1 have been reached unless the constituent is removed from the manure and 
other swine by-products. 
 
   e. No producer shall apply sSwine manure and other swine by-products shall not be applied to land 
during a 365-day period after the annual application rate in Table 3 of Section 100.100.B.1 has been 
reached. 
 
   f. If swine manure and other swine by-products subject to the cumulative constituent loading rates 
in Table 1 of Section 100.100.B.1 have not been applied to the site, then the cumulative rates apply. 
 
   g. If swine manure and other swine by-products subject to the cumulative constituent loading rates 
in Table 1 of Section 100.100.B.1 have been applied to the site and the cumulative amount of each 
constituent is known, the cumulative amount of each constituent applied to the site shall be used to 
determine the additional amount of each constituent that can be applied to the site in accordance with 
Section 100.100.B.1.a.i (cumulative loading rate shall not exceed the cumulative constituent loading rate). 
 
   h. Manure application shall not exceed the agronomic rate of application for plant available nitrogen 
(PAN) for the intended crop(s) on an annual basis. For those years that fertilizer is land applied, manure in 
combination with the fertilizer shall not be used so as to exceed the agronomic rate of nutrient utilization 
of the intended crop(s). 
 
  2. Any producer who confines swine shall ensure that the applicable requirements in this part are met 
when the swine manure and other swine by-products are applied to the land. 
 
  3. Swine manure and other swine by-products shall not be applied to land that is saturated from recent 
precipitation, flooded, frozen, or snow-covered. Swine manure and other swine by-products shall not be 
applied during inclement weather or when a significant rain event is forecasted to occur within forty-eight 
(48) hours, unless approved by the Department in an emergency situation. 
 
  4. Swine manure and other swine by-products shall not be placed directly in groundwater. 
 
  5.The All land application equipment, (e.g. Spreader, injection) when used once or more per year, shall 
be calibrated at least annually by the producerperson land applying. A permit may require more frequent 
calibrations to ensure proper application rates. The two (2) most recent calibration records should be 
retained by the producer and made available for Department review upon request. If the land application 
equipment has not been used in over a year, then the equipment shall be calibrated prior to use. 
 
  6. No producer shall apply sSwine manure and other swine by-products shall not be applied to the land 
except in accordance with the requirements in this part. 
 
  7. A producer who supplies swine manure and other swine by-products to another person for land 
application shall provide the person who will land apply the manure and other swine by-products with the 
concentration of plant available nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, and the concentration of all other 
constituents listed in the permit. The producer shall also supply the person who will land apply the manure 
with a copy of the crop management plan included in their Animal Facility Management Planor a copy of 
the Land Application brochure approved by the Department which outlines the land application 
requirements and responsibility for proper management of animal manure. 
 



38 
 

  8. Swine manure and other swine by-products shall not be applied to or discharged onto a land surface 
when the vertical separation between the ground surface and the seasonal high water table is less than 1.5 
feet at the time of application, unless approved by the Department on a case-by-case basis. For special 
cases, no land application can occur when the vertical separation from the ground surface to the water table 
is less than 1.5 feet at the time of application unless a situation is deemed an emergency with departmental 
concurrence. 
 
  9. Soil sampling (usually 6-8 inch depth) shall be conducted for each field prior to manure application 
to determine the appropriate application rate. Each field should be sampled at least once per year. If manure 
application frequency shall be less than once per year, then at least one (1) soil sample shall be taken prior 
to returning to that field for land application. All new manure utilization areas shall be evaluated using the 
NRCS-CPS to determine the suitability for application and the limiting nutrient (nitrogen or phosphorus). 
However, fields that are high in phosphorus may also be required to incorporate additional runoff control 
or soil conservation features as directed by the Department. 
 
  10. Soil sampling to a depth of eighteen (18) inches shallmay be performedrequired by the Department 
within forty-five (45) days after each application of swine manure, but no more than two (2) times per year 
if the application frequency is more than twice per year. This sampling shall be performed for at least three 
(3) years after the initial application on at least one (1) representative manure utilization area for each crop 
grown to verify the estimated calculated swine manure application rates for the utilization areas. The date 
of manure application and the date of sampling shall be carefully recorded. The sampling shall be conducted 
at depths of zero to six (0 to 6) inches, six to twelve (6 to 12) inches, and twelve to eighteen (12 to 18) 
inches with nitrates and phosphorus being analyzed. 
 
  11. The results of the pre-application and post-application sampling shall be used by the producercrop 
farmer to adjust as necessary, the amount of swine manure to be applied to a manure utilization area to meet 
the agronomic application rate for the crop(s) to be grown. These results shall be submitted to the 
Department at the time of application for permit renewal. 
 
  12. Additional soil sampling to greater depths may be required by the Department on a case-by-case 
basis to ensure there is no potential for groundwater contamination. The permit shall give the appropriate 
depth and frequency for all soil sampling. 
 
  13. The permittee shall obtain the following information needed to comply with the requirements in 
this part.: 
 
   a. A manure transfer contract shall be developed for the producer to use with any person who is 
accepting manure in quantities greater than twelve (12) tons per recipient per year. The contract should 
contain, at a minimum, the following information: 
 
    i. Name, address, county and telephone number of the person who is purchasing or accepting 
animal manure and other animal by-products; 
 
    ii. Manure nutrient composition (pounds per ton of Plant Available Nitrogen, Phosphorus, and 
Potassium) to be filled in or provided by the producer. This information shall be obtained from the manure 
analysis results and the producer shall provide this information on the manure transfer contract. 
 
    iii. Land application field information. 
 
    iv. Physical description (acreage, crop, soil type); 
 



39 
 

    v. Soil test results (Phosphorus, Zinc, and Copper in pounds/acre); and 
 
    vi. Recommended application rates (Nitrogen, Phosphorus, and Potassium in pounds per/acre as 
reported on a soil test). 
 
   b. Attach a copy of a soils map, topographic map, county tax map, plat, FSA map, or a site plan 
sketch which includes the following information: 
 
    i. Manure application area with setbacks outlined; 
 
    ii. Known water supply wells within 100 feet of the property line; 
 
    iii. Adjacent surfacewaters, including ditches, streams, creeks, and ponds; and 
 
    iv. Identification of roads and highways to indicate location. 
 
   c. Description of application equipment and name of person to land apply manure; 
 
   d. Signed agreement that informs the land owner that he is responsible and liable for land applying 
the animal manure and other animal by-products in accordance with these regulations; and 
 
   e. A copy of the land application requirements shall be provided to the recipient of the manure. 
 
  14. All persons who routinely accept manure from a producer, in quantities greater than twelve tons 
per recipient per year, shall be listed in the approved Animal Facility Management Plan. The Animal 
Facility Management Plan shall include the appropriate manure utilization area information for the sites 
routinely used by other persons. The producer shall inform the recipient of the responsibility to properly 
manage the land application of manure to prevent discharge of pollutants to waters of the State (including 
ephemeral and intermittent streams). The person accepting the manure may be required by the Department 
to have an Animal Facility Management Plan and a permit for their manure utilization areas.All persons 
who routinely accept manure from a producer, in quantities greater than twelve (12) tons per recipient per 
year, shall be listed in the approved animal facility management plan. The animal facility management plan 
shall include the appropriate manure utilization area information for the sites routinely used by other 
persons. The producer shall inform the applier of their responsibility and have a signed manure transfer 
contract to properly manage the land application of manure to prevent discharge of pollutants to waters of 
the State (including ephemeral and intermittent streams). The person accepting the manure may be required 
by the Department to have an animal facility management plan and a permit for their manure utilization 
areas. 
 
  15. All persons who accept manure from a producer, regardless of whether the land is included in the 
waste management plan, are responsible for land applying the manure in accordance with these 
requirements. The Department may require the person(s) land applying the manure to correct any problems 
that result from the application of manure.All persons who accept manure from a producer, in quantities 
less than twelve (12) tons per recipient per year are responsible for land applying the manure in accordance 
with these requirements and must have a signed agreement with the producer explaining their responsibility 
to comply with the regulations. The Department may require the persons(s) land applying the manure to 
correct any problems that result from the application of manure. 
 
  16. Swine manure shall not be applied to cropland more than thirty (30) days before planting or during 
dormant periods for perennial species, unless otherwise approved by the Department in an emergency 
situation. 



40 
 

 
  17. When the Department receives nuisance complaints on a land application site, the Department may 
restrict land application of animal manure on this site completely or during certain time periods. 
 
  18. The Department may require manure, spread on cropland,to be disked in immediately. 
 
  19. Manure (solid or liquid) shall only be applied when weather and soil conditions are favorable and 
when prevailing winds are blowing away from nearby dwellings. Animal manure should not be applied to 
land when the soil is saturated, flooded, during rain events, or when a significant rain event is forecasted to 
occur within forty-eight (48) hours, unless otherwise approved by the Department in an emergency 
situation. 
 
  20. Manure shall not be spread in the floodplain if there is danger of a major runoff event, unless the 
manure is incorporated during application or immediately after application. 
 
  21. If the manure is stockpiled more than three (3) daysoutside, the manure shall be stored on a concrete 
pad or other approved pad (such as plastic or clay lined) and covered, on a daily basis (unless otherwise 
specified in the permit) with an acceptable cover to prevent odors, vector attraction, and runoff. The cover 
should be vented properly with screen wire to let the gases escape. The edges of the cover should be properly 
anchored. 
 
  22. Producers who contract to transfer the swine manure and other swine by-products produced at their 
facility to a manure broker shall modify their existing Animal Facility Management Plan if they discontinue 
using the designated broker or if the manure broker goes out of the manure brokering business.If a producer, 
who contracts to transfer the swine manure and other swine by-products produced at their facility, changes 
brokers, he must submit notification and a new broker contract for approval to the Department. 
 
  23. The body of vehicles transporting manure shall be wholly enclosed and, while in transit, be kept 
covered with a canvas cover provided with eyelets and rope tie-downs, or any other approved method which 
shall prevent blowing or spillage of loose material or liquids. Should any spillage occur during the 
transportation of the manure, the owner/operator shall take immediate steps to clean up the manure. 
 
 C. Setbacks for manure utilization areas (MUA) for small, large and X-large swine facilities. 
 
  1. Siting Requirements applicable to all manure utilization areas associated with small swine 
facilities(500,000 pounds or less normal production live weight. 
 
   a. The minimum separation distance in feet required between a manure utilization area and a 
residence is 300 feet. If there are no residences within 300 feet of the manure utilization area, manure can 
be applied up to the property line. The 300-foot setback may be waived with the consent of the owner of 
the residence. If the application method is injection or immediate (same day) incorporation, manure may 
be applied up to the property line. The setbacks are imposed at the time of application. The Department 
may impose these setbacks on previously approved sites to address problems on a case-by-case basis. 
 
   b. The minimum separation distance in feet required between a manure utilization area and waters 
of the State (not including ephemeral and intermittent streams), ditches, and swales that drain directly into 
waters of the State (not including ephemeral and intermittent streams) is 100 feet. 
 
   c. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and 
ephemeral and intermittent streams is 100 feet when spray application is the application method, 75 feet 
when incorporation is the application method, and 50 feet when injection is the application method. When 



41 
 

incorporation is accomplished within twenty-four (24) hours of the initial application, the distance can be 
reduced to 50 feet. 
 
   d. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and ditches 
and swales, that drain directly into ephemeral and intermittent streams is 50 feet. 
 
   e. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and a public 
and privatepotable drinking water well is 200 feet. 
 
  2. Siting Requirements applicable to all manure utilization areas associated with large swine 
facilitieswith less than 1,000,000 pounds normal production live weight. 
 
   a. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and a 
residence is 300 feet. If there are no residences within 300 feet of the manure utilization area, manure can 
be applied up to the property line. The 300-foot setback may be waived with the consent of the owner of 
the residence. If the application method is injection or immediate (same day) incorporation, manure may 
be applied up to the property line. The setbacks are imposed at the time of application. The Department 
may impose these setbacks on previously approved sites to address problems on a case-by-case basis. 
 
   b. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and waters 
of the State (not including ephemeral and intermittent streams), ditches, and swales that drain directly into 
waters of the State (not including ephemeral and intermittent streams) is 100 feet. 
 
   c. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and 
ephemeral and intermittent streams is 100 feet when spray application is the application method, 75 feet 
when incorporation is the application method, and 50 feet when injection is the application method. When 
incorporation is accomplished within 24 hours of the initial application, the distance can be reduced to 50 
feet. 
 
   d. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and ditches 
and swales that drain directly into ephemeral and intermittent streams is 50 feet. 
 
   e. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and a public 
and private drinking water well is 200 feet. 
 
  3. Siting Requirements applicable to all manure utilization areas associated with large swine 
facilitieswith 1,000,000 pounds or more normal production live weight. 
 
   a. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and real 
property owned by another person is 200 feet from the property lines. 
 
   b. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and an 
occupied residence is 750 feet (excluding the applicant’s residence). 
 
   c. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and waters 
of the State (not including ephemeral and intermittent streams), ditches, and swales is 150 feet. 
 
   d. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and a public 
and private drinking water well is 200 feet. 
 



42 
 

   e. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and 
ephemeral and intermittent streams is 100 feet. 
 
  42. Water (pond) that is completely surrounded by land owned by the applicant and has no connection 
to surface water is excluded from the setback requirements outlined in this part. 
 
  53. The Department may establish in permits additional application buffer setbacks for property 
boundaries, roadways, residential developments, dwellings, water wells, drainage ways, and surface water 
(including ephemeral and intermittent streams) as deemed necessary to protect public health and the 
environment. Factors taken into consideration in the establishment of additional setbacks would be swine 
manure application method, adjacent land usage, public access, aerosols, runoff prevention, adjacent 
groundwater usage, aquifer vulnerability, and potential for vectors and odors. 
 
 D.  The Department may establish additional permitting restrictions based upon soil and groundwater 
conditions to ensure protection of the groundwater and surface waters of the State (including ephemeral 
and intermittent streams). Criteria may include but is not limited to soil permeability, clay content, depth 
to bedrock, rock outcroppings, aquifer vulnerability, proximity to State Approved Source Water Protection 
Area and depth to the seasonal high groundwater table. 
 
 E. The Department may establish permit conditions to require that swine manure and other swine 
by- products application rates remain consistent with the lime and fertilizer requirements for the cover, 
feed, food, and fiber crops based on land grant universities (in the southeast) published lime and fertilizer 
recommendations (such as the Lime and Fertilizer Recommendations, Clemson Extension Services, 
Circular 476). 
 
 F. Groundwater Monitoring for Manure Utilization Areas. 
 
  1. For X-large swine facilitieswith 1,000,000 pounds or more normal production live weight, at least 
one (1) up-gradient and two (2) down-gradient groundwater monitoring wells shall be installed for each 
drainage basin intersected by the manure utilization areas. The location, design, and construction 
specifications for the monitoring wells shall be submitted in the application package. The information shall 
be reviewed and approved by the Department prior to permit issuance. The permit will contain specific 
requirements for sampling the groundwater monitoring wells including the frequency and parameters for 
sampling. 
 
  2. For small and large swine facilities(500,000 pounds or less normal production live weight) and large 
swine facilities with less than 1,000,000 pounds normal production live weight, the Department may require 
groundwater monitoring at manure utilization areas as appropriate. 
 
  3. The Department may establish minimum requirements in permits for soil and/or groundwater 
monitoring for manure utilization areas. Factors taken into consideration in the establishment of soil and 
groundwater monitoring shall include depth to the seasonal high groundwatergroundwater depth, operation 
flexibility, application frequency, type of swine manure and other swine by-products, size of manure 
utilization area, aquifer vulnerability, proximity to a State Approved Source Water Protection Area, and 
loading rate. 
 
   a. The Department may establish pre-application and post-application site monitoring requirements 
in permits for limiting nutrients or limiting constituents as determined by the Department. 
 



43 
 

   b. The Department may establish permit conditions, which require the permittee to reduce, modify, 
or eliminate the swine manure and other swine by-products applications based on the results of this 
monitoring data. 
 
   c. The Department may modify, revoke and reissue, or revoke a permit based on the monitoring 
data. 
 
 G. The Department may require periodic monitoring of any wet weather ditches or perennial streams 
which are in close proximity to any manure utilization areas. 
 
100.110. Spray Application System Requirements. 
 
 A. Spray application of swine manure utilizingusing irrigation equipment. This includes all methods of 
surface spray application, including but not limited to, fixed gun application, traveling or mobile gun 
application, or center pivot application. 
 
 B. New X-large swine facilities with 1,000,000 pounds or more normal production live weightare 
prohibited from utilizing spray application systems for manure application. Manure must be incorporated 
into the manure utilization fields utilizing subsurface injection at a depth of not less than six inches. 
 
 C. Manure utilization area slopes shall not exceed ten (10) percent unless approved by the Department. 
The Department may require that slopes be less than ten (10)% percent based on site conditions. 
 
 D. Swine manure distribution systems shall be designed so that the distribution pattern optimizes uniform 
application. 
 
 E. Hydraulic Application Rates. 
 
  1. Application rates shall normally be based on the agronomic rate for the crop to be grown at the 
manure utilization area. As determined by soil conditions, the hydraulic application rate may be reduced 
below the agronomic rate to ensure no surface ponding, runoff, or excessive nutrient migration to the 
groundwater occurs. 
 
  2. The hydraulic application rate may be limited based on constituent loading including any constituent 
required for monitoring under this regulation. 
 
 F. Swine manure and other swine by-products shall not be landapplied or discharged onto a land 
surfacewhen the vertical separation between the ground surface and the seasonal high water table is less 
than 1.5 feet at the time of application, unless approved by the Department on a case-by-case basis. For 
special cases, no land application can occur when the vertical separation from the ground surface to the 
water table is less than 1.5 feet at the time of application unless a situation is deemed an emergency with 
departmental concurrence. 
 
 G. Conservation measures, such as terracing, strip cropping, etc., may be required in specific areas 
determined by the Department as necessary to prevent potential surface runoff from entering or leaving the 
manure utilization areas. The Department may consider alternate methods of runoff controls that may be 
proposed by the applicant, such as berms. 
 
 H. For swine facilities, a system for monitoring the quality of groundwater may also be required for the 
proposed manure utilization areas. The location of all the monitoring wells shall be approved by the 
Department. The number of wells, constituents to be monitored, and the frequency of monitoring shall be 



44 
 

determined on a case-by-case basis based upon the site conditions such as type of soils, depth of water table, 
aquifer vulnerability, proximity to State Approved Source Water Protection Area, etc. 
 
 I. If an adverse trend in groundwater quality is identified, further assessment and/or corrective action 
may be required. This may include an alteration to the permitted application rate or a cessation of manure 
application in the impacted area. 
 
 J. Spray application systems shall be designed and operated in such a manner to prevent drift of liquid 
manure onto adjacent property. 
 
100.120. Frequency of Monitoring for Swine Manure. 
 
 A. The producer and/or integrator shall be responsible for having representative samples based on 
Clemson University Extension Service recommendations of the swine manure collected and analyzed at 
least once per year and when the feed composition significantly changes. The constituents to be monitored 
shall be given in the permit. The analyses shall be used to determine the amount of swine manure to be land 
applied. In order to ensure that the permitted application rate (normally the agronomic rate) is met, the 
application amount shall be determined using a rolling average of the previous analyses. The Department 
shall establish minimum requirements for the proper method of sampling and analyzing of swine manure. 
Facilities with permits that do not specify which constituents to monitor shall monitor for 
Ammonium-Nitrogen, Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN), Organic Nitrogen (Organic Nitrogen = 
TKN - Ammonium Nitrogen), P2O5, and K2O. 
 
 B. The Department may require nitrogen, potassium, phosphorus, the constituents listed in Table 1 and 
Table 2 of Section 100.100 (Manure Utilization Area Requirements), and any other constituent contained 
in a permit to be monitored prior to each application. 
 
 C. Permittees do not have to analyze for any constituent they can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the 
Department is not present in their swine manure. 
 
 D.  All monitoring shall be done in accordance with collection procedures in Standard Methods for 
Analysis of Water and Wastewater or other Department guidelines. Analysis shall be conducted by Clemson 
University Extension Service or a laboratory certified by the Department. This laboratory shall have and 
maintain certification for the constituents to be analyzed. 
 
100.130. Dead Swine Disposal Requirements. 
 
 A.  Dead swine disposal shall be done as specified in the approved Animal Facility Management Plan. 
The Dead Swine Disposal Plan shall include the following: 
 
  1. Primary Method of disposal for the handling and disposal of dead swine that result from normal 
mortality on the farm. 
 
  2. Alternate Method for the handling and disposal of dead swine that result from excessive mortality 
on the farmat the facility. The normal method of disposal may not be sufficient to handle an excessive 
mortality situation. Each producer shouldshall have ana Department approved emergency or alternate 
method to dispose of excessive mortality. Excessive mortality burial sites shall be preapproved by the 
Department prior to utilization. 
 
 B. Burial. (For existing facilities permitted prior to January 2020 with a burial site approved by the 
Department) Facility permits issued after January 2020 or permitted facilities prior to January 2020 without 



45 
 

an approved burial site from the Department must find an alternate method for daily and emergency dead 
animal disposal. 
 
  1. Burial pits may be utilized for emergency conditions, as determined by the Department, when the 
primary method of disposal is not sufficient to handle excessive mortality. 
 
  2. Burial pits shall not be located in the 100-year floodplain. 
 
  3. Soil type shall be evaluated for leaching potential. 
 
  4. Burial pits shall not be located or utilized on sites that are in areas that may adversely affectimpact 
surface or groundwater quality or further impact impaired water bodies. 
 
  5. The bottom of the burial pit may not be within two (2) feet of the seasonal high groundwater 
leveltable. 
 
  6. No burial site shall be allowed to flood with surface water. 
 
  7. Swine placed in a burial site shall be covered daily with sufficient cover (six (6) inches per day 
minimum) to prohibit exhumation by feral animals. 
 
  8. When full, the burial site shall be properly capped (minimum two (2) feet) and grassed to prohibit 
erosion. 
 
  9. Proposed burial pit sites shall be approved by the Department. The Department may conduct a 
geologic review of the proposed site prior to approval. 
 
  10. The Department may require any new or existing producers to utilize another method of dead swine 
disposal if burial is not managed according to the Dead Swine Disposal Plan or repeated violations of these 
burial requirements occur or adverse impact to surface or groundwater is determined to exist. 
 
  11. The Department may require groundwater monitoring for dead animal burial pits on a case-by-case 
basis. The Department shall consider all of the facts including, but not limited to, the following: depth to 
the seasonal high water table; aquifer vulnerability; proximity to a State Approved Source Water Protection 
Area; groundwater use in the area; distance to adjacent surface waters; number of dead animals buried; and 
frequency of burial in the area. 
 
 C. Incinerators. 
 
  1. For facilities proposing an incinerator for dead swine disposal, either a permit for the air emissions 
shall be obtained from the Department’s Bureau of Air Quality before the incinerator can be built or the 
following criteria shall be met in order to qualify for an exemption from an air permit: 
 
   a. The emission of particulate matter shall be less than one (1) pound per hour at the maximum rated 
capacity. 
 
   b. The incinerator shall be a package incinerator and have a rated capacity of 500 pounds per hour 
or smaller which burns virgin fuel only.that meets the requirements from the Department’s Bureau of Air 
Quality (BAQ); and 
 
   c. The incinerator shall not exceed an opacity limit of ten (10)% percent. 



46 
 

 
  2. Incinerators used for dead swine disposal shall be properly operated and maintained. Operation shall 
be as specified in the owner’s manual provided with the incinerator. The owner’s manual shall be kept on 
site and made available to Department personnel upon request. 
 
  3. The use of the incinerator to dispose of waste oil, hazardous waste, or any other waste chemical is 
prohibited. The use of the incinerator shall be limited to dead swine disposal only unless otherwise approved 
by the Department’s Bureau of Air Quality. 
 
 D. Composters. Composters used for dead swine disposal shall be designed by a professional engineer or 
an NRCS representative and operated in accordance with the approved Animal Facility Management Plan. 
Packaged composters shall be approved on a case-by-case basis. 
 
 E. Disposal of dead swine in a municipal solid waste landfill shall be in accordance with Regulation 
R.61- 107.25819. 
 
 F. Disposal of swine carcasses or body parts into manure lagoons, treatment systems, storage ponds, 
waters of the State, ephemeral and intermittent streams, ditches, and swales is prohibited. 
 
 G. Other methods of dead swine disposal that are not addressed in this regulation may be proposed in the 
Dead Swine Disposal Plan. Disposal of animal carcasses or body parts by rendering shall be approved by 
the Department and include a signed contract with the rendering company. 
 
 H. Other methods of dead animal disposal that are not addressed in this regulation may be proposed in 
the Dead Animal Disposal Plan. 
 
100.140. Other Requirements. 
 
 A.  There shall be no discharge of pollutants from the operation into surface waters of the State (including 
ephemeral and intermittent streams). There shall be no discharge of pollutants into groundwater, which 
could cause groundwater quality not to comply with the groundwater standards established in South 
Carolina RegulationR.61-68. 
 
 B. On a case-by-case basis, the Department may impose additional or more stringent requirements for 
the management, handling, treatment, storage, or utilization of swine manure and other swine by-products. 
 
 C. The following cases shall be evaluated for additional or more stringent requirements: 
 
  1. Source water protection. Facilities and manure utilization areas located within a state approved 
source water protection area. 
 
  2. 303(d) Impaired Water bodies Waterbodies List. Facilities and manure utilization areas located 
upstream of an impaired waterbody. 
 
  3. Proximity to Outstanding Resource Waters, trout waters, shellfish waters, or potential to adversely 
affect a federally listed endangered or threatened species, its habitat, or a proposed or designated critical 
habitat. 
 
  4. Aquifer Vulnerability Area, an area where groundwater recharge may affect an aquifer. 
  



47 
 

 D. If an adverse impact to the waters of the State, including ephemeral and intermittent streams, or 
groundwater from swine manure and other swine by-products handling, storage, treatment, or utilization 
practices are documented, through monitoring levels exceeding the standards set forth in Regulation 
R.61-68 or a significant adverse trend occurs, the Department may require the producer responsible for the 
swine manure and other swine by-products to conduct an investigation to determine the extent of impact. 
The Department may require the producer to remediate the water to within acceptable levels as set forth in 
Regulation R.61-68. 
 
 E. No manure may be released from a swine manure lagoon, treatment system, or storage pond or the 
premises of a swine facility to waters of the State, (including ephemeral and intermittent streams.) unless 
the manure is treated to water quality standards and a permit pursuant to Section 402 or 404 of the CWA 
has been issued by the Department. 
 
 F. Swine medical waste cannot be disposed into swine lagoons, treatment systems, or manure storage 
ponds, or land applied with swine manure and other swine by-products. 
 
 G. In the event of a discharge from a swine lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond, the 
permittee is required to notify the Department immediately, within twenty-four (24) hours of the discharge. 
 
 H. When the Department determines that an nuisanceundesirable condition exists at a swine facility, the 
permittee shall take action to correct the nuisanceundesirable condition to the degree and within the time 
frame designated by the Department. 
 
 I. Permittees shall maintain all-weather access roads to their facilities at all times. 
 
 J. The body of vehicles transporting manure shall be wholly enclosed and while in transit, be kept 
covered with a canvas cover provided with eyelets and rope tie-downs, or any other approved method which 
shall prevent blowing or spillage of loose material or liquids. Should any spillage occur during the 
transportation of the manure, the owner/operator shall take immediate steps to clean up the manure. 
 
100.150. Odor Control Requirements. 
 
 A. The Animal Facility Management Plan shall contain an odor abatement plan for the swine facility, 
lagoon, treatment system, manure storage pond, and manure utilization areas shall consist of the following: 
 
  1. Operation and maintenance practices which are used to eliminate or minimize undesirable odor 
levels in the form of a Best Management Plan for Odor Control; 
 
  2. Use of treatment processes for the reduction of undesirable odor levels; 
 
  3. Additional setbacks from property lines beyond the minimum setbacks given in this part; 
 
  4. Other methods as may be appropriate; or 
 
  5. Any combination of these methods. 
 
 B. Producers shall utilize Best Management Practices normally associated with the proper operation and 
maintenance of a swine facility, lagoon, treatment system, manure storage pond, and any manure utilization 
area to ensure an undesirable level of odor does not exist. 
 



48 
 

 C. No producer may cause, allow, or permit emission into the ambient air of any substance or 
combination of substances in quantities that an undesirable level of odor is determined to result unless 
preventive measures of the type set out below are taken to abate or control the emission to the satisfaction 
of the Department. When an odor problem comes to the attention of the Department through field 
surveillance or specific complaints, the Department shall determine if the odor is at an undesirable level by 
considering the character and degree of injury or interference to:. 
 
  1. The health or welfare of the people; 
 
  2. Plant, animal, freshwater aquatic, or marine life; 
 
  3. Property; or 
 
  4.Enjoyment of life or use of affected property. 
 
 D. After determining an undesirable level of odor exists, the Department shall require remediation of the 
undesirable level of odor. If the Department determines an undesirable level of odor exists, the Department 
may require these abatement or control practices, including, but not limited to the following: 
 
 E. The Department may require abatement or control practices, including, but not limited to the 
following: 
 
  1. Removale or disposale of odorous materials; 
 
  2. Methods in handling and storage of odorous materials that minimize emissions; 
 
   a. Drying to a moisture content of fifty (50)% percent or less; 
 
   b. Solids Sseparation from liquid manure, and composting of solids; 
 
   c. Use Ddisinfection to kill microorganisms present in manure; 
 
   d. Aeratione of manure; 
 
   e. Anaerobic digestion in a sealed vessel; 
 
   f. Composting of solid manure and other swine by-products; 
 
   g. Utilize Oodor Ccontrol Aadditives. 
 
  3. Prescribed standards in the maintenance of premises to reduce odorous emissions; 
 
   a. Filtration (biofilters or other filter used to remove dust and odor) of ventilation air; 
 
   b. Keeping animals clean orand separated from manure; 
 
   c. Adjust number of animals confined in the pens or paddocks in accordance with Clemson 
University Animal Space Guidelines.; 
 
   d. Frequent removal of manure from animal houses; 
 



49 
 

   e. Adding a layer of water in the shallow pits after the manure is removed; 
 
   f. Feeding areas should be kept dry, and waste feed accumulation should be minimized; 
 
   g. Maintaining feedlot surfaces in a dry condition (twenty-five (25)%- to forty (40)% percent 
moisture content), with effective dust control; 
 
   h. Proper maintenance of the dead swine disposal system; 
 
   i. Covering or reducinge the surface area of manure and other swine by-products storage. (Vents 
shall be provided for release of pressure created by manure gases if completely sealed covers are used); 
 
   j. Planting trees around or downwind of the manure and other swine by-products storage and 
treatment facilities (trees shall not be planted within twenty-five (25) feet of the toe of the dike.);  
 
   k. Incorporatione of manure and other swine by-products immediately after land application; 
 
   l. Selection of appropriate times for land application. 
 
  4. Best Available Technology to reduce odorous emissions. 
 
 F.E. Nothing in this section prohibits an individual or group of persons from bringing a complaint against 
a swine facility including problems at lagoons, treatment systems, manure storage ponds, and manure 
utilization areas. 
 
 G. F. If the permittee fails to control or abate the odor problems at a land application site to the satisfaction 
and within a time frame determined by the Department, approval for land application of manure on the 
manure utilization area in question may be revoked. Additional land may be required to be added to the 
Animal Facility Management Plan, if necessary to provide a sufficient amount of land for manure 
utilization. If the permittee fails to control or abate the odor problems at a swine facility, lagoon, treatment 
system, manure storage pond, and any manure utilization area to the satisfaction and within a timeframe 
determined by the Department, the permit may be revoked. If the permittee fails to control or abate the odor 
problems at land application sites, approval for land application of manure on the manure utilization area 
in question may be revoked. Additional land may be required to be added to the Animal Facility 
Management Plan, if necessary to provide a sufficient amount of land for manure utilization. 
 
100.160. Vector Control Requirements. 
 
 A.  Vector Abatement Plan. The Vector Abatement Plan shall at a minimum consist of the following: 
 
  1.Normal Best management practices used at the swine facility, lagoon, treatment system, manure 
storage pond, and manure utilization areas to ensure there is no accumulation of organic or inorganic 
materials to the extent and in such a manner as to create a harborage for rodents or other vectors that may 
be dangerous to public health. 
 
  2. A list of specific actions to be taken by the producer if vectors are identified as a problem at the 
swine facility, lagoon, treatment system, manure storage pond, or any manure utilization area. These actions 
should be listed for each vector problem, e.g., actions to be taken for fly problems, actions to be taken for 
rodent problems, etc. 
 



50 
 

 B. No producer may cause, allow, or permit vectors to breed or accumulate in quantities that result in an 
nuisanceundesirable level, as determined by the Department. 
 
 C. The Department shall require remediation of the problem to the satisfaction of the Department, after 
determining a vector problem exists. For an existing facility, if the Department determines a vector problem 
exists, the Department may require these abatement or control practices, including but not limited to the 
following: 
 
 D. The Department may require abatement or control practices, including, but not limited to the 
following: 
 
  1. Remove and properly dispose of vector infested materials; 
 
  2. Methods in handling and storage of materials that minimize vector attraction; 
 
   a. Remove spilled or spoiled feed from the house as soon as practicably possible not to exceed 
forty-eight (48) hours, unless otherwise approved by the Department; 
 
   b. Remove and properly dispose of dead animals as soon as practicably possible not to exceed 
twenty-four (24) hours, unless otherwise approved by the Department; 
 
   c. Increase the frequency of manure removal from animal houses; 
 
   d. Prevent solids buildup in the pit storage or on the floors or walkways; 
 
   e. Remove excess manure packs along walls and curtains; 
 
   f. Compost solid manure and other swine by-products; 
 
   g. Appropriate use of vector control chemicals, poisons, or insecticides (take caution to prevent 
insecticide resistance problems); 
 
   h. Utilize traps, or electrically charged devices; 
 
   i. Utilize biological agents; 
 
   j. Utilize Integrated Pest Management; and 
 
   k. Incorporate manure and other swine by-products immediately (within twenty-four (24) hours) 
after land application. 
 
  3. Prescribed standards in the maintenance of premises to reduce vector attraction; 
 
   a. Remove standing water that may be a breeding area for vectors; 
 
   b. Keep animals clean or separated from manure; 
 
   c. Keep facility clean and free from trash or debris; 
 
   d. Properly utilize and service bait stations; 
 



51 
 

   e. Keep feeding areas dry, and minimize waste feed accumulation; 
 
   f. Keep grass and weeds mowed around the facility and manure storage or treatment areas; 
    
   g. Maintain the dead swine disposal system; 
 
   h. Cover or reduce the surface area of manure and other swine by-products storage. (Vents shall be 
provided for release of pressure created by manure gases if completely sealed covers are used); 
 
   i. Store feed and feed supplements properlyProperly store feed and feed supplements; 
 
   j. Conduct a weekly vector monitoring program; 
 
   k. Be aware of insecticide resistance problems, and rotate use of different insecticides; 
 
   l. Prevent and repair leaks in waterers, water troughs or cups; and 
 
   m. Ensure proper grading and drainage around the buildings to prevent rain water from entering the 
buildings or ponding around the buildings. 
 
  4. Utilize the Bbest available control technology to reduce vector attraction and breeding. 
 
100.170. Record Keeping. 
 
 A.  A copy of the approved Animal Facility Management Plan, including approved updates, and a copy 
of the permit(s) issued to the producer shall be retained by the permittee for as long as the swine facility is 
in operation. 
 
 B. All application information submitted to the Department shall be retained by the permittee for eight 
(8) years. However, if the facility was permitted prior to June 26, 1998, and the permittee has previously 
discarded these documents since there was no requirement to maintain records at that time, this requirement 
shall not apply. 
 
 C. Records shall be developed for each manure utilization area. These records shall be kept for eight (8) 
years. The records shall include the following: 
 
  1. For each time swine manure and other swine by-products are applied to the site, the amount of swine 
manure and other swine by-products applied (in gallons per acre or pounds per acre, as appropriate), the 
location of the site, and the date and time of manure and other swine by-products applicationdate and time 
of the application, and the location of the application; 
 
  2. All sampling results for swine manure that is land applied, if applicable; 
 
  3. All soil monitoring results, if applicable; 
 
  4. All groundwater monitoring results, if applicable; and 
 
  5. Crops grown. 
 
 D.  Records for the facility to include the following on a monthly basis: 
 



52 
 

  1.Monthly aAnimal count and the normal production animal live weight; and 
 
  2. Mortality count and method of disposal. 
 
 E. Records for lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond operations to include the following: 
 
  1. Monthly water levels of the lagoon, treatment system, and manure storage pond; and 
 
  2. Groundwater monitoring results, if applicable. 
 
 F. All records retained by the producer shall be kept at either the facility, an appropriate business office, 
or other location as approved by the Department. 
 
 G.  All records retained by the producer shall be made available to the Department during normal business 
hours for review and copying, upon request by the Department. 
 
100.180. Reporting. 
 
 A.  All large and X-large swine operations (greater than 500,000 pounds of normal production live 
weight) shall submit, on a form approved by the Department, the following on an annual basis or more 
frequently if required by a permit or regulation: 
 
  1. All manure sampling results for the last year, if applicable, and the latest rolling average 
concentration for the land limiting constituent; 
 
  2. All soil monitoring results, if applicable; 
 
  3. All groundwater monitoring results, if applicable; 
 
  4. Calculated application rates for all manure utilization areas; and 
 
  5. The adjusted application rates, if applicable, based on the most recent swine manure sampling, soil 
samples, and crop yields. The application rate change could also be due to a change in field use, crop grown, 
or other factors. 
 
 B. The Department may require small swine facilities (500,000 pounds or less of normal production live 
weight)to submit annual reports on a case-by-case basis. 
 
 C. The Department may establish permit conditions to require a swine facility to complete and submit a 
comprehensive report every five (5) years. The Department shall review this report to confirm that the 
permitted nutrient application rates have not been exceeded. Based on the results of the review, additional 
soil and/or groundwater monitoring requirements, permit modification, and/or corrective action may be 
required. 
 
100.190. Training Requirements. 
 
 A.  An owner/operator of a new or existing swine facility, lagoon, manure storage pond, or manure 
utilization area shall complete a training program on the operation of swine manure management created 
by Clemson University, i.e. (CAMM). 
 



53 
 

 B.  Owners/Operators of new and existing largeswine facilities (greater than 500,000 pounds of normal 
production live weight)shall be required to pass a test and become certified as a part of the training program 
created by Clemson University. The Department may require operators with documented violations to pass 
a test through Clemson’s program. 
 
 C. The training and/orcertification shall be completed by owners/operators of new facilities prior to 
start-up of operations. 
 
 D. The training and/or certification shall be completed by owners/operators of existing facilities within 
two (2) years of the effective date of this regulation. The certification program shall be completed by 
owners/operators involved in a transfer of ownership within one (1) year of the transfer of ownership 
approval. 
 
 E. Training and/or The certification shall be maintained as long as the facility remains in operation. 
 
 F. Failure to obtain the training andcertification as provided in this Section shall be deemed a violation 
of this Rregulation. 
 
 G.  Additional Training and Certification Requirements for X-Large Swine Facilitieswith 1,000,000 
pounds or greater normal production live weight. 
 
  1. The Department shall classify all manure treatment systems serving X-large swine facilities, giving 
due regard to size, types of work, character, and volume of manure to be treated, and the use and nature of 
the land resources receiving the manure. 
 
  2. Manure treatment systems may be classified in a group higher than indicated at the discretion of the 
Department by reason of the following: 
 
   a. Incorporation in the treatment system of complex features which cause the treatment system to 
be more difficult to operate than usual; or 
 
   b. A waste stream that is unusually difficult to treat; or 
 
   c. Conditions of flow; or 
 
   d. Use of the receiving lands requiring an unusually high degree of system operation control; or 
 
   e. Combinations of such conditions or circumstances. 
 
  3. The classifications for biological treatment systems are based on the following groups: 
 
   a. Group I - B. All agricultural manure treatment systems which include one (1) or more of the 
following units: primary settling, chlorination, sludge removal, imhoff tanks, sand filters, sludge drying 
beds, land spraying, grinding, screening, oxidation, and stabilization ponds. 
 
   b. Group II - B. All agricultural manure treatment systems which include one (1) or more of the 
units listed in Group I-B and, in addition, one (1) or more of the following units: sludge digestion, aerated 
lagoon, and sludge thickeners. 
 
   c. Group III - B. All agricultural manure treatment systems which include one (1) or more of the 
units listed in Groups I-B and II-B and, in addition, one (1) or more of the following: trickling filters, 



54 
 

secondary settling, chemical treatment, vacuum filters, sludge elutriation, sludge incinerator, wet oxidation 
process, contact aeration, and activated sludge (either conventional, modified, or high rate processes). 
 
   d. Group IV - B. All agricultural manure treatment systems which include one (1) or more of the 
units listed in Groups I-B, II-B, and III-B and, in addition, treat manure having a raw five (5)-day 
biochemical oxygen demand of five thousand5,000 pounds a per day or more. 
 
  4. The classifications for physical chemical manure treatment systems are based on the following 
groups: 
 
   a. Group I-P/C. All agricultural manure treatment systems which include one (1) or more of the 
following units: primary settling, equalization, pH control, and oil skimming. 
 
   b. Group II-P/C. All agricultural manure treatment systems which include one (1) or more of the 
units listed in Group I-P/C and, in addition, one (1) or more of the following units: sludge storage, dissolved 
air flotation, and clarification. 
 
   c. Group III-P/C. All agricultural manure treatment systems which include one (1) or more of the 
units listed in Groups I-P/C and II-P/C and, in addition, one (1) or more of the following: 
oxidation/reduction reactions, cyanide destruction, metals precipitation, sludge dewatering, and air 
stripping. 
 
   d. Group IV-P/C. All agricultural manure treatment systems which include one (1) or more of the 
units listed in Groups I-P/C, II-P/C and III-P/C and, in addition, one (1) or more of the following: membrane 
technology, ion exchange, tertiary chemicals, and electrochemistry. 
 
  5. It shall be unlawful for any person or corporation to operate an agricultural manure treatment system 
at a an X-large swine facility with 1,000,000 pounds or more normal production live weightunless the 
operator-in-charge holds a valid certificate of registration issued by the Board of Certification of 
Environmental Systems Operators in a grade corresponding to the classification of the agricultural manure 
treatment system supervised by him or her. 
 
100.200. Violations. 
 
 A.  Persons who violate this regulation or any permit issued under this regulation are subject to the 
penalties in Sections 48-1-320 (Criminal Penalties) and 48-1-330 (Civil Penalties) of the South Carolina 
Pollution Control Act. 
 
 B. X-Large swine facilities with 1,000,000 pounds or more normal production live weightshall be 
assessed automatic penalties (up to $10,000 per day per violation) for the following violations: 
 
  1. Lagoon, treatment system or manure storage pond breach, or loss of containment that is not the 
direct result of an Act of God. 
 
  2. Manure Utilization Area runoff due to improper manure application methods. 
 
  3. Discharge to groundwater on site causing groundwater to exceed any water quality standard 
established in RegulationR.61-68. 
 



55 
 

 C. Second occurrence of any of the violations outlined in 100.21000.B. at aan X-large swine facility with 
1,000,000 pounds or more normal production live weightshall result in immediate revocation of the permit 
and the automatic assessment of appropriate penalties. 
 
 D. Immediate cessation of manure application will also be enforced on sites where groundwater quality 
is adversely affected. 
 
 E. Any person who falsifies, tampers with, or knowingly renders inaccurate any monitoring device or 
method required by the Department to be maintained as a condition in a permit, or who alters or falsifies 
the results obtained by such devices or methods, shall be deemed to have violated a permit condition and 
shall be subject to the penalties provided for pursuant to 48-1-320 and 48-1-330 of the Code. 
 

PART 200 
ANIMAL FACILITIES (OTHER THAN SWINE) 

 
  200.10. Purpose, Applicability, Inactive Facilities and Facilities Permitted Prior to the Effective Date 

of Regulation. 
  200.20. Permits and Compliance Period. 
  200.30. Exclusions. 
  200.40. Relationship to Other Regulations. 
  200.50. Permit Application Requirements (Animal Facility Management Plan Submission 

Requirements). 
  200.60. Public Notice Requirements. 
  200.70. Permit Decision Making Process. 
  200.80. Facility, Lagoon, Treatment Systems, and Manure Storage Pond Siting Requirements. 
  200.90. General Requirements for Animal Manure Lagoons, Treatment Systems, and Animal 

Manure Storage Ponds. 
  200.100. Manure Utilization Area Requirements. 
  200.110. Spray Application System Requirements. 
  200.120. Frequency of Monitoring for Animal Manure. 
  200.130. Dead Animal Disposal Requirements. 
  200.140. Other Requirements. 
  200.150. Odor Control Requirements. 
  200.160. Vector Control Requirements. 
  200.170. Record Keeping. 
  200.180. Reporting. 
  200.190. Training Requirements. 
  200.200. Violations. 
 
200.10. Purpose, Applicability, Inactive Facilities, and Facilities Permitted Prior to Effective Date of 
the Regulation. 
 
 A. Purpose. 
 
  1. To establish standards for the growing or confining of animals, processing of animal manure and 
other animal by-products, and land application of animal manure and other animal by-products in such a 
manner as to protect the environment, and the health and welfare of citizens of Tthe State from pollutants 
generated by this process. 
 
  2. To establish standards, which consist of general requirements, constituent limits, management 
practices, and operational standards, for the utilization of animal manure and other animal by-products 



56 
 

generated at animal facilities. Standards included in this part are for animal manure and other animal 
by-products applied to the land. 
 
  3. To establish standards for the frequency of monitoring and record keeping requirements for 
producers who operate animal facilities. 
 
  4. To establish standards for the proper operation and maintenance of animal facilities. 
 
  5. To establish criteria for animal facilities and manure utilization areas location as they relate to 
protection of the environment and public health. The location of animal facilities and manure utilization 
areas as they relate to zoning in an area is not covered in this regulation. Local county or municipal 
governments may have zoning requirements and these regulations neither interfere with nor restrict such 
zoning requirements. Permit applicants should contact local municipal and county authorities to determine 
any local requirements that may be applicable. 
 
 B. Applicability. 
 
  1. This part applies to: 
 
   a. All new animal facilities; 
 
   b. All expansions of existing animal facilities; and 
 
   c. New manure utilization areas for existing animal facilities.; 
 
   d. All inactive facilities; and 
 
   e. All facilities and lagoon closures. 
 
  2. This part applies to all animal manure and other animal by-products applied to the land. 
 
  3. This part applies to all land where animal manure and other animal by-products are applied. 
 
 C. Inactive Facilities. 
 
  1. If an animal facility is closedinactive for two (2) years or less, a producer may renewresume 
operations of the facility under the same conditions by which it was previously permitted by notifying the 
Department in writing that the facility is being operated again. 
 
  2. For animal facilities that have been closedinactive for more than two (2) years but less than five (5) 
years, the Department shall review the existing permit and modify its operating conditions as necessary 
prior to the facility being placed back into operation. 
 
  3. For all other than swine animal facilities that have been closedinactive for five (5) or more years, 
the producer shall properly close out any lagoon, treatment system or manure storage pond associated with 
the facility. The closeout shall be accomplished in accordance with RegulationR.61-82. The permittee shall 
submit a closeout plan that meets at a minimum NRCS-CPS within a time frame prescribed by the 
Department. Additional time may be granted by the Department to comply with the closeout requirement 
or to allow the producer to apply for a new permit under this regulation, as appropriate. 
 



57 
 

  4.If an animal facility closes for more than five years, the requirements under this part shall be met 
before the facility can renew operations. If an animal facility is inactive for more than five (5) years, the 
permit is considered expired and the producer shall apply for a new permit and all requirements of R.61-43 
shall be met before the facility can resume operations. During the closeout of the facilities and/or 
lagoons/waste storage ponds, annual fees are required until proper closeout is certified and approved. 
 
 D.  Facilities Permitted Prior to the Effective Date of the Regulation. 
 
  1. All existing animal facilities with permits issued by the Department before June 286, 1998, do not 
need to apply for a new permit as they are deemed permitted (deemed permitted animal facilities) unless 
they have been closed inactive for more than two (2) years or expand operations. These facilities shall meet 
the following sections of Part 200: Section 200.20 (Permits and Compliance Period), Section 200.90.A., 
D., and J. - O. (General Requirements for Animal Manure Lagoons, Treatment Systems, and Animal 
Manure Storage Ponds), Section 200.100.B.1.-2223. (Manure Utilization Area Requirements), Section 
200.110.H.-I. (Spray Application System Requirements), Section 200.120.A., C.-D. (Frequency of 
Monitoring for Animal Manure), Section 200.130.A.,B., and C.2.-3. (Dead Animal Disposal 
Requirements), Section 200.140.A., C.-I. (Other Requirements), Section 200.150.B.-F. (Odor Control 
Requirements), Section 200.160.B.-DC. (Vector Control Requirements), Section 200.170 (Record 
Keeping), Section 200.180 (Reporting), Section 200.190 (Training Requirements), and Section 200.200 
(Violations). The capacity of a deemed permitted facility that does not have a lagoon is the number of 
animals and normal production animal live weight permitted by the Department prior to the effective date 
of these regulations. For deemed permitted facilities with lagoons, the capacity is the maximum capacity of 
the existing animal manure lagoon, treatment system, and animal manure storage pond as determined using 
the appropriate animal manure lagoon, treatment system, and animal manure storage pond capacity design 
criteria of the United States Department of Agriculture’s Natural Resource Conservation Service. 
 
  2. All existing animal facilities with permits issued by the Department between June 26, 1998, and the 
effective date of these regulations do not need to apply for a new permit if they hold a valid permit from 
the Department, unless they have been closedinactive for more than two (2) years. These facilities shall 
meet all the requirements of these regulations. 
 
  3. All existing animal facilities that were constructed and placed into operation prior to June 26, 1998, 
but have never received an agricultural permit from the Department, shall apply for a permit from the 
Department. This facility shall meet all the requirements of this regulation as the Department determines 
appropriate. The Department shall review the site and make a determination on a case-by-case basis on 
which requirements are applicable. 
 
  4. An existing animal facility may be required to obtainsubmit an updated Animal Facility 
Management Plan on a case-by-case basis by the Department. The Department shall notify the permittee in 
writing of this requirement. The permittee has six (6) months or an agreed upon timeframe from the date of 
notification to submit an updated Animal Facility Management Plan. Failure to submit the updated plan 
within this time frame is a violation of the Pollution Control Act and these regulations, and may result in 
permit revocation. 
 
  5. Both the setbacks and other requirements for manure utilization areas shall be met when a new 
manure utilization (MUA) area is added by the owner of any animal facility regardless of when the facility 
was permitted. 
 
  6. If an existing animal facility regulated under this part proposes to convert to a swine facility, it shall 
be considered a new swine facility under these regulations. Converted facilities shall be permitted as new 
swine facilities and meet all criteria for new swine facilities before they begin operation as a swine facility. 



58 
 

 
200.20. Permits and Compliance Period. 
 
 A.  Permit Requirement. Animal manure and other animal by-products from a new or expanded animal 
facility can only be generated, handled, stored, treated, processed, or land applied in the State in accordance 
with a permit issued by the Department under the provisions of this part. Existing producers that are required 
by the Department to update their Animal Facility Management Plan shall meet the requirements of this 
part to the extent practical as determined by the Department. 
 
 B. Permits issued under this regulation are no-discharge permits. 
 
 C. The requirements in this part shall be implemented through a permit issued to any producer who 
operates an animal facility where animal manure and other animal by-products are produced, processed, or 
disposedgenerated, handled, treated, stored, processed, or land applied. 
 
 D.  The requirements under this part may be addressed in permits issued to producers who only land apply 
animal manure and other animal by-products. 
 
 E. Notification Requirements. The permittee shall notify the Department in writing and receive written 
Departmental approval, except where notedas otherwise noted, prior to any change in operationals 
procedures at a permitted facility, including, but not limited to, the following: 
 
  1. Change in ownership and control of the facility. The Department has thirty (30) days from the receipt 
of a complete and accurate notification of transfer of ownership to either: request additional information 
regarding the transfer or the new owner; deny the transfer; or approve the transfer of ownership. If the 
Department does not act within thirty (30) days, the transfer is automatically approved. If additional 
information is requested by the Department in a timely manner, the Department shall act on this additional 
information, when it is received, within the same time period as the initial notification. 
 
  2. Increase in the permitted number of animals. 
 
  3. Addition of manure utilization areas. 
 
  4. Change in animal manure and other animal by-products treatment, handling, storage, processing, or 
utilization. 
 
  5. Change in method of dead animal disposal. 
 
 F. Permit Modification. Permit modifications for items 200.20.E.2 and 200.20.E.4 for facilities regulated 
under this part which will result in expansions shall adhere to the requirements of this part and other 
applicable statutes, regulations, or guidelines. 
 
 G.  Permit modification for items 200.20.E.2 which result in an expansion may be required to obtain new 
written waivers or agreement for reduction of setbacks from adjoining property owners (if applicable). 
 
200.30. Exclusions.  
 
The following do not require permits from this part unless specifically required by the Department under 
item 200.30.G. 
 



59 
 

 A.  Existing animal facilities that are deemed permitted under Section 200.10.D.1 are excluded from 
applying for a new permit unless an expansion is proposed, new manure utilization areas are added, or as 
required by the Department. However, deemed permitted facilities shall meet the requirements of this 
regulation as outlined in Section 200.10.D (Purpose, Applicability, Inactive Facilities and Facilities 
Permitted Prior to the Effective Date of Regulation). 
 
 B. Except as given in Section 200.30.G, animal facilities with only ranged animals and no lagoon, 
treatment system, or manure storage pond is associated with the facility are excluded from obtaining a 
permit from the Department. The range area shall be of sufficient size to allow for natural degradation or 
utilization of the animal manure with no adverse impact to the environment. Ranged facilities shall also 
maintain adequate vegetative buffers between the animal range and waters of the State. 
 
 C. Except as given in Section 200.30.G, animal facilities, that do not have a lagoon, manure storage pond, 
or liquid manure treatment system, having 10,000 pounds or less of normal production animal live weight 
at any one time are excluded from obtaining a permit from the Department,. but However, these facilities 
shall have and implement an Animal Facility Management Plan for their facility that meets the requirements 
of this regulation. 
 
 D.  Except as given in Section 200.30.G, animal facilities, that do not have a lagoon, manure storage 
pond, or liquid manure treatment system, having more than 10,000 pounds of normal production animal 
live weight at any one time and having less than 30,000 pounds of normal production animal live weight at 
any one time are excluded from obtaining a permit from the Department. However, these facilities shall 
submit an Animal Facility Management Plan to the Department and implement an Animal Facility 
Management Plan for their facility that meets the requirements of this regulation. 
 
 E. Except as given in Section 200.30.G, animal facilities that are not classified as commercial facilities 
are excluded from obtaining a permit from the Department. 
 
 F. Except as given in Section 200.30.G, animal facilities that hold valid permits issued by the Department 
are not required to obtain a new permit if they decide to replace in kind any of the animal growing houses.If 
the permittee chooses to leave the old houses in place to utilize for another purpose other than housing 
animals, the Department shall perform a preliminary site inspection for the proposed location of the 
replacement houses and approve the site prior to construction. 
 
 G.  Animal facilities exempted under Sections 200.30.A, B, C, D, E, and F may be required by the 
Department to obtain a permit. The Department shall visit the site before requiring any of these facilities to 
obtain a permit. 
 
200.40. Relationship to Other Regulations.  
 
 The following regulations are referenced throughout this part and may apply to facilities covered under 
this regulation. 
 
 A. Nuisances are addressed in Regulation 61-46. 
 
 BA. Application and annual operating fees are addressed in RegulationR.61-30. 
 
 CB. The proper closeouts of wastewater treatment facilities are addressed in RegulationR.61-82. This 
includes animal lagoons and manure storage ponds. 
 



60 
 

 D. Permitting requirements for concentrated animal feeding operations as defined by Regulation61-9 are 
contained in Regulation61-9. 
 
 EC. Setbacks and construction specifications for potable water wells and monitoring wells shall be in 
accordance with RegulationR.61-71. 
 
 FD. Permits for air emissions from incinerators are containedaddressed in RegulationR.61-62. 
 
 GE.  Disposal of animal manure in a municipal solid waste landfill unit is addressed in 
RegulationR.61-107.25819. 
 
 HF. Disposal of animal manure with domestic or industrial sludge is addressed in RegulationR.61-9 and 
permitted under R.61-9. 
 
 I. Procedures for contested cased are addressed in Regulation61-72 and the Rules of the State’s 
Administrative Law Judge Division. 
 
 JG. Laboratory Certification is addressed in RegulationR.61-81. 
 
 KH. Water Classifications and Standards are addressed in RegulationR.61-68. 
 
200.50. Permit Application Procedures (Animal Facility Management Plan Submission 
Requirements). 
 
 A.  Preliminary Site Evaluations. The Department shall perform a preliminary evaluation of the proposed 
site at the request of the applicant. Written requests for preliminary site inspection shall be made using a 
form, as designated by the Department. The Department shall not schedule a preliminary site inspection 
until all required information specified in the form has been submitted to the Department. This evaluation 
should be performed prior to preparation of the Animal Facility Management Plan. Once the preliminary 
site inspection is performed, the Department shall issue an approval or disapproval letter for the proposed 
site. 
 
 B. A producer who proposes to build a new animal facility or expand an existing animal facility shall 
make application for a permit under this part using an application form as designated by the Department. 
The following information shall be included in the application package. 
 
  1. A completed and accurate application form. 
 
  2. An Animal Facility Management Plan prepared by qualified Natural Resources Conservation 
Service personnel or a S.C. registered professional engineer (PE). Other qualified individuals, such as 
certified soil scientists, SC registered professional geologists (PG), etc., may prepare the land application 
component of an Animal Facility Management Plan. The Animal Facility Management Plan shall at a 
minimum contain: 
 
   a. Facility name, address, telephone numbers, email address (if applicable), county, and National 
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Permit or other permit number (if applicable); 
 
   b. Facility location description and the zoning or land use restrictions in this area (this information 
is available from the county); 
   
   c. Applicant’s name, address, and telephone number (if different from above); 



61 
 

 
   d. Operator’s name and CAMM number; 
 
   e. Facility capacity; 
 
    i. Number and type of animals; 
 
    ii. Pounds of normal production animal live weight at any one time; 
 
    iii. Amount of animal manure and other animal by-products generated per year (gallons for liquid 
animal manure and pounds for dry animal manure); 
 
    iv. Amount in tons of any scraped or separated solid animal manure and other animal by-products 
generated per year (if applicable); 
 
    v. Description of animal manure and other animal by-products storage and storage capacity of 
lagoon, treatment system or manure storage pond (if applicable); and 
 
    vi. Description of animal manure and other animal by-products treatment (if any). 
 
   f. Concentration of constituents in liquid animal manure including but not limited to the constituents 
given below: 
 
    i. Nutrients. 
 
     (a) Nitrate (only needed for aerobic systems). 
 
     (b) Ammonium-Nitrogen. 
 
     (c) Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN). 
 
     (d) Organic-Nitrogen (TKN - Ammonium-Nitrogen). 
 
     (e) P2O5. 
 
     (f) K2O (potash). 
 
    ii. Constituents. 
 
     (a) Arsenic. 
 
     (b) Copper. 
 
     (c) Zinc. 
 
    iii. Name, address, SC lab certification number, and telephone number of the laboratory 
conducting the analyses. 
 
    iv. For new animal facilities, liquid animal manure analysis information does not have to be 
submitted as the Department shall use manure analyses from similar sites or published data (such as: 
Clemson University, American Society of Agricultural Engineers, Midwest Planning Service Document, 



62 
 

NRCS Technical Guide or equivalent) in review of the application. Analysis of the actual animal manure 
generated shall be submitted to the Department twelve (12) months after a new animal facility starts 
operation or prior to the first application of animal manure to a manure utilization area, whichever occurs 
first. If this analysis is significantly different from the estimated analysis used in the permitting decision, 
the Department may require a permit modification as necessary to address the situation. Analysis shall be 
conducted by a laboratory certified by the Department. This laboratory shall have and maintain certification 
for the constituents to be analyzed. 
 
   g. Concentration of constituents in dry animal manure including but not limited to the following: 
 
    i. Nutrients (on a dry weight basis). 
 
     (a) Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (mg/kg). 
 
     (b) Total inorganic nitrogen (mg/kg). 
 
     (c) Total ammonia nitrogen (mg/kg) and Total nitrate, nitrogen (mg/kg). 
 
     (d) P2O5 (mg/kg). 
 
     (e) K2O (mg/kg). 
 
     (f) Calcium Carbonate equivalency (if animal manure is alkaline stabilized). 
 
    ii. Constituents (on a dry weight basis). 
 
     (a) Arsenic (mg/kg). 
 
     (b) Copper (mg/kg). 
 
     (c) Zinc (mg/kg). 
 
    iii. Name, address, S.C. lab certification number, and telephone number of the laboratory 
conducting the analyses. 
 
    iv. For new animal facilities, dry animal manure analysis information does not have to be 
submitted as the Department shall use manure analyses from similar sites or published data (such as: 
Clemson University, American Society of Agricultural Engineers, Midwest Planning Service Document, 
NRCS Technical Guide or equivalent) in review of the application. Analysis of the actual dry animal 
manure generated shall be submitted to the Department twelve (12) months after a new animal facility starts 
operation or prior to the first application of animal manure to a manure utilization area which ever 
,whichever occurs first. If this analysis is significantly different from the estimated analysis used in the 
permitting decision, the Department may require a permit modification as necessary to address the situation. 
Analysis shall be conducted by a laboratory certified by the Department. This laboratory shall have and 
maintain certification for the constituents to be analyzed. 
 
   h. Animal manure and other animal by-products handling and application information shall be 
included as follows: 
 



63 
 

    i. A crop management plan which includes the time of year of the animal manure application and 
how it relates to crop type, crop planting, and harvesting schedule (if applicable) for all manure utilization 
areas; 
 
    ii. Name, address, and telephone number of the producer(s) that will land apply the animal manure 
and other animal by-products if different from the permittee; 
 
    iii. Type of equipment used to transport and/or spread the animal manure and other animal 
by- products (if applicable); and 
 
    iv. For spray application systems, plans and specifications with supporting details and design 
calculations for the spray application system. 
 
   i. Facility and manure utilization area information shall be included (as appropriate): 
 
    i. Name and address and tax map number of landowner and location of manure utilization area(s); 
 
    ii. List previous calendar years that animal manure and other animal by-products waswere applied 
and application amounts, where 
available; 
 
    iii. Facility and manure utilization area location(s) on maps drawn to approximate scale 
including: 
 
     (a) Topography (7.5’ or equivalent) and drainage characteristics (including ditches); 
 
     (b) Adjacent land usage (within 1/4 mile of property line minimum) and location of inhabited 
dwellings and public places showing property lines and tax map number; 
 
     (c) All known water supply wells on the applicant’s property and within 200 feet of the 
facility’s property line or within 200 feet of any manure utilization areas; 
 
     (d) Adjacent surface water bodies (including ephemeral and intermittent streams); 
 
     (e) Animal manure utilization area boundaries and buffer zones; 
 
     (f) Right-of-Ways (Utilities, roads, etc.); 
 
     (g) Soil types as given by soil tests or soils maps, a description of soil types, and boring 
locations (if applicable); 
 
     (h) Recorded Plats, Surveys, or other acceptable maps that include property boundaries; and 
 
     (i) Information showing the 100-year and 500-year floodplain (as determined by FEMA). 
 
    vi. For manure utilization areas not owned by the permit applicant, a signed agreement between 
the permit applicant and the landowner acceptable to the Department detailing the liability for the land 
application. The agreement shall include, at a minimum, the following: 
 
     (a) Producer’s name, farm name, farm address, CAMM number, and county in which the farm 
is located; 



64 
 

 
     (b) Landowner’s name, address, phone number; 
 
     (c) Location (map with road names, tax map numbers, and county identified) of the land to 
receive manure 
application; 
 
     (d) Field acreage, acreage less setbacks, and crops grown; 
 
     (e) Name of manure hauler; 
 
     (f) Name of manure applier; 
 
     (g) A statement that land is not included in any other management plans and manure or compost 
from another farm is not being applied on this land; and any manure utilization areas that are included in 
multiple Animal Facility Management Plans, identify the names of all facilities that include this manure 
utilization area in their plan; and 
 
     (h) A signed statement which informs the landowner that he or she is responsible for spreading 
and utilizing this manure in accordance with the requirements of the Department and RegulationR.61-43. 
 
    v. For other manure utilization areas that are included in multiple Animal Facility Management 
Plans, identify the names of all facilities that include this manure utilization area in their plan. 
 
  3. Groundwater monitoring well details and proposed groundwater monitoring program (if applicable). 
 
  4. The Animal Facility Management Plan shall contain an odor abatement plan for the animal facility, 
lagoon, treatment system, manure storage pond, and manure utilization areas. For more specific details, see 
Section 200.150 (Odor Control Requirements). 
 
  5. A Vector Abatement Plan shall be included for the animal facility, lagoon, treatment system, or 
manure storage pond, and manure utilization areas. For more specific details see Section 200.160 (Vector 
Control Requirements). 
 
  6. The Dead Animal Disposal Plan. The plan shall include written details for handling and disposal of 
dead animals. Plans should detail method of disposal, any construction specifications necessary, and 
management practices. See Section 200.130 (Dead Animal Disposal Requirements) for specific 
requirements on dead animal disposal. 
 
  7. A Soil Monitoring Plan. A soil monitoring plan shall be developed for all manure utilization areas. 
See Section 200.100 (Manure Utilization Area Requirements) for more detailed information. 
 
  8. Plans and specifications for all other manure treatment or storage structures, such as holding tanks 
or manure storage sheds. 
 
  9. All “Notice of Intent to Build or Expand an Animal Facility” forms as provided by the Department 
and a tax map (or equivalent) to scale showing all neighboring property owners and identifying which 
property has inhabited dwellings. See Section 200.60 (Public Notice Requirements) for more detailed 
information. 
 



65 
 

  10. An Emergency Plan. The emergency plan should at a minimum contain a list of entities or agencies 
the producer shouldshall contact in the event of lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond breach, 
major mass animal mortality, fire, flood, or other similar type problem. For facilities in the coastal areas of 
the state, the emergency plan should address actions to be taken by a producer during hurricane season 
(such as providing additional freeboard during that time) and when advance warning is given on any 
extreme weather condition. 
 
  11. Adjoining property owners written agreement for reduction of setbacks (if applicable) All waivers 
as specified in Section 200.80 (Facility, Lagoon, Treatment System, and Manure Storage Pond Siting 
Requirements), if applicable. 
 
  12. Application fee and first year’s operating fee as established by RegulationR.61-30. 
 
 C. The Department may request an applicant to provide any additional information deemed necessary to 
complete or correct deficiencies in the animal facility permit application prior to processing the application 
or issuing, modifying, or denying a permit. 
 
 D.  Applicants shall submit all required information in a format acceptable to the Department. 
 
 E. An application package for a permit is complete when the Department receives all of the required 
information which has been completed to its satisfaction. Incomplete submittal packages may be returned 
to the applicant by the Department. 
 
 F. Application packages for permit modifications only need to contain the information applicable to the 
requested modification or any additional information the Department deems necessary. 
 
200.60. Public Notice Requirements. 
 
 A.  For new animal facilities, the applicant shall notify all property owners within 1,320 feet of the 
proposed location of the facility (footprint of construction) of the applicant’s intent to build an animal 
facility. The applicant shall use a notice of intent form provided by the Department. The Department shall 
post the Public Notice of application received on the Department’s website for fifteen (15) business days. 
The Department shall may also post up to four (4) notices, in the four (4) cardinal directions onaround the 
perimeter of the property or in close proximity to the property, in locations visible locationsto the public 
within the public right of ways determined by the Department. The notice of intent on the Department’s 
website shall advise adjoining property owners that they can send comments on the proposed animal facility 
directly to the Department. 
 
 B. For properties that have multiple owners or properties that are in an estate with multiple heirs, the 
Department, at the expense of the applicant,shall publish a notice of intent to construct an animal facility 
in a local paper of general circulation in the area of the facilityon the Department’s website. This notice in 
the newspaperon the Department’s website shall serve as notice to these multiple property owners of the 
producer’s intent to build an animal facility.The cost to run this notice is not included in the application fee, 
and therefore shall be billed directly to the permit applicant for payment. This notice fee shall be paid prior 
to the issuance of the permit. 
 
 C. For existing animal facilities seeking to expand their current operations, the Department shall post the 
Public Notice of application received on the Department’s website for fifteen (15) business days. The 
Department may also post up to four (4) notices in the four (4) cardinal directions onaround the perimeter 
of the property or in close proximity to the property, in locations visible locations to the public right of way 
or as determined by the Department. 



66 
 

 
 D.  The Department shall review all comments received. If the Department receives twenty (20) or more 
letters from different people“Affected Persons” requesting a meeting or the Department determines 
significant comment exists, a meeting shall be held to discuss and seek resolution to the concerns prior to 
a permit decision being made. All persons who have submitted written comments shall be invited in writing 
to the meeting. First Class US mail service, email, or hand delivery to the address of a person to be notified 
shall be used by the Department for the meeting invitation. However, if the Department determines that the 
number of persons who submitted written comments is significant, the Department shall publish a notice 
of the public meeting in a local newspaper of general circulationon the Department’s website instead of 
notifying each individual by fFirst cClass mail or email. In addition, the Department shall notify all group 
leaders and petition organizers in writing. Agreement of the parties is not required for the Department to 
make a permit decision. 
 
 E. When comments are received by electronic mailemail, the Department shall acknowledge receipt of 
the comment by electronic mail email. These comments shall be handled in the same manner as written 
comments received by postal mail. 
 
 F. The Department shall consider all relevant comments received in determining a permit decision. 
 
 G.  The Department shall give notice of the permit decision to issue or deny the permit to the applicant, 
all persons who commented in writing to the Department, and all persons who attended the meeting, if held. 
First Class US mail service or email shall be used by the Department for the notice of decision. However, 
if the Department determines that members of the same group or organization have submitted comments or 
a petition, the Department shall only notify all group leaders and petition organizers in writing. The 
Department shall ask these leaders and organizers to notify their groups or any concerned citizens who 
signed the petitions. 
 
 H.  For permit issuances, the Department shall publish a notice of issuance of a permit to construct or 
expand an animal facility in a local newspaper of general circulation in the area of the facilityon the 
Department’s website. 
 
 I. For permit denials, the Department shall give the permit applicant a written explanation, which outlines 
the specific reasons for the permit denial. 
 
 J. For permit denials, the Department shall publish a notice of decision in a local newspaper of general 
circulation in the area of the facilityor send each concerned citizen who submitted written comments a letter 
by first class mail. on the Department’s website. 
 
 K.  The Department shall include, at a minimum, the following information in the public notices on permit 
decisions: the name and location of the facility; a description of the operation and the method of manure 
handling; instructions on how to appeal the Department’s decision; the time frame for filing an appeal; the 
date of the decision; and the date upon which the permit becomes effective. 
 
200.70. Permit Decision Making Process. 
 
 A.  No permit shall be issued before the Department receives a complete application for a permitpackage. 
 
 B. The agricultural program of the Department is not involved in local zoning and land use planning. 
Local government(s) may have more stringent requirements for agricultural animal facilities. The permittee 
is responsible for contacting the appropriate local government(s) to ensure that the proposed facility meets 
all the local requirements. 



67 
 

 
 C. After the Department has received a complete application package, a technical review shall be 
conducted by the Department. The Department may request any additional information or clarification from 
the applicant or the preparer of the Animal Facility Management Plan to help with the determination on 
whether a permit should be issued or denied. If a permit application package meets all applicable 
requirements of this part, a permit may be issued. 
 
 D.  A preliminary site inspection shall be made by the Department before apermit decision is made 
complete application package is received by the Department. 
 
 E. The Department shall act on all permits to prevent, so far as reasonably possible considering relevant 
standards under state and federal laws, an increase in pollution of the waters and air of the State from any 
new or enlarged sources. 
 
 F. The setback limits given in this partPart 200 are minimumsiting requirements(with exception to those 
that are not labeled as minimum requirements, which are absolutes).On a case-by-case basis the Department 
may require additional separation distances applicable to animal facilities, lagoons, treatment systems, 
manure storage ponds, and manure utilization areas. The Department shall evaluate the proposed site 
including, but not limited to, the following factors when determining to determine if additional distances 
any special conditions are necessary: 
 
  1. Proximity to 100-year floodplain Latitude and Longitude; 
 
  2. Geography and soil types on the site; Down-wind Receptors; and 
 
  3. Location in a watershed; Nutrient Management Plan. 
 
  4. Classification or impairment of adjacent waters; 
 
  5. Proximity to a State Designated Focus Area; Outstanding Resource Water; Heritage Corridor; 
Historic Preservation District; State Approved Source Water Protection Area; state or national park or 
forest; state or federal research area; and privately-owned wildlife refuge, park, or trust property; 
 
  6. Proximity to other known point source discharges and potential nonpoint sources; 
 
  7. Slope of the land; 
 
  8. Animal manure application method and aerosols; 
 
  9. Runoff prevention; 
 
  10. Adjacent groundwater usage; 
 
  11. Down-wind receptors; and 
 
  12. Aquifer vulnerability. 
 
 G. The appeal of a permit decision is governed by the SC Administrative Procedures Act, 
Regulation61-72, and the Rules of the State’s Administrative Law Division. 
 



68 
 

 HG. When a permit is issued it shall contain an issue date, an effective date, and, when applicable, a 
construction expiration date. The effective date shall be at least twenty (20) fifteen (15) calendar days after 
the issue date to allow for any appeals. If a timely appeal is not received, the permit shall be effective on 
the effective date. 
 
 I. The permit may contain a permit expiration date. If a facility is classified as a CAFO under the NPDES 
Regulation61-9, the expiration date shall be no more than five years after the issue date. 
 
 JH. An expired permit (final expiration date for renewal) issued under this part continues in effect until 
a new permit is effective if the permittee submits a complete application, to the satisfaction of the 
Department, at least 180 days before the existing permit expires. The Department may grant permission to 
submit an application later than the deadline for submission stated above, but no later than the permit 
expiration date. If the facility has been closed for any two (2) consecutive years since the last permit was 
issued, the provision for the expiring permit remaining in effect does not apply since the permit is no longer 
valid. Permittees shall notify the Department in writing within thirty (30) days of when they go out of 
business. 
 
 KI. The animal facility, lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond can be built only when the 
permit is effective with no appeals pending. The facility cannot be placed into operation until the 
Department grants written authorization to begin operations has issued a written Approval to Operate 
(ATO). 
 
 LJ. To receive authorization to begin operationsan ATO, the producer shall have the preparer of the 
Animal Facility Management Plan submit to the Department written certification that the construction has 
been completed in accordance with the approved Animal Facility Management Plan and the requirements 
of this regulation. 
 
 MK. The Department may shall conduct a final inspection before granting authorizationan ATO to a 
producer to begin operations. 
 
 NL. The Department shall grant written authorizationapproval for the producer to begin operations after 
it has received the certification statement in 200.70.L and the results of the final inspection, if conducted, 
are satisfactory. 
 
 OM. Animal Facility Construction Permit Expiration and Extensions. 
 
  1. Construction permits issued by the Department for agricultural animal facilities shall be given two 
(2) years from the effective date of the permit to start construction and three (3) years from the effective 
date of the permit to complete construction. 
 
  2. If the proposed construction proposed under as outlined in the permit is not started prior to the 
construction start expiration date, the construction permit is invalid unless an extension in accordance with 
this regulation is granted. 
 
  3. If construction is not completed and the facility is not placed into operation prior to the construction 
completion expiration date, the construction permit is invalid unless an extension in accordance with this 
regulation is granted. 
 
  4. If a portion of the permitted facility (some of the animal growing houses are completely constructed, 
but not all houses originally permitted were constructed) is completed prior to the construction completion 
expiration date, the construction for the remainder of the permit may be utilized within the permit life. The 



69 
 

permittee shall obtain Departmental approval prior to utilizing the permit in this manner. The Department 
may require that the permittee submit additional information or update the Animal Facility Management 
Plan prior to approval. 
 
  5. Extensions of the permit construction start and completion expiration dates may be granted by the 
Department. The permittee shall submit a written request explaining the delay and detailing any changes to 
the proposed construction. This request shall be received not later than 10 days prior to the expiration date 
that the permittee proposes to extend. The maximum extension period shall not exceed one (1) year. There 
shall be no more than two (2), one (1)-year extensions periods per permit to construct, granted. 
 
200.80. Animal Facility, Lagoon, Treatment Systems and Manure Storage Pond Siting Requirements. 
 
 A. Siting requirements applicable to all animal facilities. 
 
  1. The minimum separation distance between an animal facility (animal growing areas, houses, pens 
or barns, not including range areas or manure utilization areas) and a public or private drinking water well 
(excluding the applicant’s well) is 200 feet. The minimum separation distance between an animal facility 
and a potable water well owned by the applicant is 50 feet (as required by R.61-71). 
 
  2. The minimum separation distance between an animal facility and waters of the State (including 
ephemeral and intermittent streams) located down slope from the facility is 100 feet.The setbacks required 
from ephemeral and intermittent streams may be reduced by the Department, if a permanent vegetative 
water quality buffer, that meets NRCS standards at a minimum, is installed and maintained. 
 
  3. Except for site drainage, the minimum separation distance required between an animal facility and 
a ditch or swale located down slope from the facility is 50 feet.The setbacks required from ditches may be 
reduced by the Department, if a permanent vegetative water quality buffer, that meets NRCS standards at 
a minimum, is installed and maintained. 
 
  4. A new animal facility or an expansion of an established animal facility shall not be located in the 
100-year floodplain. 
 
  5. The separation distance required between thea small animal facility or growing areas (pens or barns 
not including range areas) and the lot line of real property owned by another person is 200 feet orand 1,000 
feet from the nearest residence, whichever is greater, when the normal production animal live weight at any 
time is 500,000 pounds or less. 
 
  6. The separation distance required between thea large or X-large animal facilityies or growing areas 
(pens or barns not including range areas) and the lot line of real property owned by another person is 400 
feet or and 1,000 feet from the nearest residence, whichever is greater, when the normal production animal 
live weight at any time is greater than 500,000 pounds. 
 
 B. Siting requirements applicable to all animal lagoons, treatment systems, and manure storage ponds. 
 
  1. The minimum separation distance between a lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond and 
a public or private drinking water well (excluding the applicant’s well) is 200 feet. The minimum separation 
distance between an animal lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond and a potable water well 
owned by the applicant is 100 feet. 
 
  2. The minimum separation distance between an animal lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage 
pond and ephemeral and intermittent streams located down slope from the facility is 100 feet. The setback 



70 
 

from ephemeral and intermittent streams may be reduced by the Department, if a permanent vegetative 
water quality buffer, that meets NRCS standards at a minimum, is installed and maintained. 
 
  32. Except for site drainage, the minimum separation distance required between an animal lagoon, 
treatment system, or manure storage pond and a ditch or swale located down slope from the facility is 50 
feet.The setback from ditches may be reduced by the Department, if a permanent vegetative water quality 
buffer, that meets NRCS standards at a minimum, is installed and maintained. 
 
  43. The minimum separation distance required between an animal lagoon, treatment system, or manure 
storage pond and waters of the State (notincluding ephemeral and intermittent streams) located down slope 
from the facility is 100 feet. If the waters of the State are designated Outstanding Resource Waters, Critical 
Habitat Waters of federally endangered species, or Shellfish Harvesting Waters, the minimum separation 
distance required between a lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond and waters of the State is 
500 feet. 
 
  54. A new animal lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond or an expansion of an established 
animal lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond shall not be located in the 100-year floodplain. 
 
  65. The separation distance required between a small animal facility lagoon, treatment system, or 
manure storage pond and real property owned by another person is 300 feet orand 1,000 feet from the 
nearest residence, whichever is greater, when the normal production animal live weight at any time is 
500,000 pounds or less. 
 

  76. The separation distance required between a large animal facility lagoon, treatment system, or 
manure storage pond and real property owned by another person is 500 feet orand 1,000 feet from the nearest 
residence, whichever is greater, when the normal production animal live weight at any time is greater than 
500,000 pounds. 
 
  7. The separation distance required between an X-large animal facility lagoon, treatment system, or 
manure storage pond and real property owned by another person is 600 feet and 1,320 feet from the nearest 
residence. 
 
 C. Siting requirements applicable to all dry animal manure and other animal by products treatment or 
storage facilities (including, but not limited to, stacking sheds, burial sites, incinerators, andmanure orand 
dead animal composters). 
 
  1. The minimum separation distance between a dry animal manure and other animal by-products 
treatment or storage facility and a public or private drinking water well (excluding the applicant’s well) is 
100 feet. The minimum separation distance between a dry animal manure and other animal by-products 
treatment or storage facility and a potable water well owned by the applicant is 50 feet. 
 
  2. Except for site drainage, the minimum separation distance required between a dry animal manure 
and other animal by-products treatment or storage facility and a ditch or swale located down slope from the 
facility is 50 feet.The setback from ditches may be reduced by the Department, if a permanent vegetative 
water quality buffer, that meets NRCS standards at a minimum, is installed and maintained. 
 
  3. The minimum separation distance between a dry animal manure and other animal by-products 
treatment or storage facility and waters of the State including ephemeral and intermittent streams located 
down slope from the facility is 100 feet.The setback from ephemeral and intermittent streams may be 
reduced by the Department, if a permanent vegetative water quality buffer, that meets NRCS standards at 
a minimum, is installed and maintained. 



71 
 

 
  4. A new dry animal manure and other animal by-products treatment or storage facility or an expansion 
of an established dry animal manure and other animal by-products treatment or storage facility shall not be 
located in the 100-year floodplain. 
 
  5. The separation distance required between a dry animal manure and other animal by-products 
treatment or storage facility operated at an animal growing facility and the lot line of real property and a 
residence owned by another person shall be equivalent to the setback required for the animal growing areas 
or houses. 
 
  6. The minimum separation distance required between a dry animal manure and other animal 
by- products treatment or storage facility operated by a manure broker and the lot line of real property 
owned by another person is 200 feet and 1,000 feet to the nearest residence. However, the Department shall 
evaluate each proposed site to consider increasingthis minimum amount distances, when the amount of 
manure stored, treated or processed at this facility is significant. 
 
 D.  Water (a pond) that is completely surrounded by land owned by the permit applicant and has no 
connection to surface water is excluded from the setback requirements outlined in this part. 
 
 E. All lagoon and manure storage pond setbacks contained in this part shall be measured from the outside 
toe of the dike. 
 
 F. The setback limits given in this part are minimum siting requirements, except those not labeled as 
minimum requirements, which are absolutes. On a case-by-case basis the Department may require 
additional separation distances for the minimum setbacks applicable to animal facilities. See Section 
200.70.F. (Permit Decision Making Process), which outlines some of the factors considered to determine if 
additional setbacks should be required. 
 
 GF. The separation distances for property lines given in Section 200.80.A, B, and C above can be waived 
or reduced by written consent of the adjoining property owner. Written consent is not needed when the 
Department reduces the distances under the requirements of Part 300. 
 
 H. The separation distances to the property lines of adjacent land as provided in Section 200.80.A, B and 
C above do not apply to an animal facility, lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond which is 
constructed or expanded, if the adjoining land is owned and managed by a professional silvicultural 
corporation, is currently in agricultural crop production, or is zoned for agricultural land use. However, the 
separation distances for residences shall be met by the animal facility, lagoon, treatment system, or manure 
storage pond, unless a written waiver from the property owner has been obtained. 
 
200.90. General Requirements for Animal Manure Lagoons, Treatment Systems, and Animal 
Manure Storage Ponds. 
 
 A.  The lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond shall be designed by a professional engineer 
or an NRCS engineer and the construction shall be certified by the design engineer or professional engineer 
licensed in S.C. It is a violation of these regulations and the Pollution Control Act for the owner or operator 
of the facility to make modifications or physical changes to the lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage 
pond without the prior approval of the Department and supervision of NRCS or a professional engineer. 
Plans and specifications for lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond modifications shall be 
designed and certified by NRCS or a professional engineer and submitted to the Department for approval 
prior to the modification. 
 



72 
 

 B. Animal manure lagoons and manure storage ponds shall be designed at a minimum to NRCS-CPS. 
The lagoon or manure storage pond shall be designed to provide a minimum storage for manure, 
wastewater, normal precipitation less evaporation, normal runoff, residual solids accumulation, capacity 
for the 25 fifty (50) year-twenty-four (24) hour storm event (precipitation and associated runoff) and at least 
one and one half (1 ½)two (2) feet of freeboard.Animal manure lagoons and manure storage ponds shall be 
designed at a minimum to NRCS-CPS. The lagoon or manure storage pond shall be designed to provide a 
minimum storage for manure, wastewater, normal precipitation less evaporation, normal runoff, residual 
solids accumulation, capacity for the twenty-five (25) year - twenty-four (24) hour storm event 
(precipitation and associated runoff) and at least one and one half (1 ½) feet of freeboard. New X-large 
facilities shall be designed to provide storage capacity for all the above mentioned items including the fifty 
(50) year - twenty-four (24) hour storm event (precipitation and associated runoff) and at least two (2) feet 
of freeboard. 
 
 
 C. All lagoons and storage ponds shall be provided with a liner, designed with an initial specific discharge 
rate of less than 0.0156 feet/day in order to protect groundwater quality. When lagoons or manure storage 
ponds are lined only using soils with low permeability rates (e.g., clay), the Department shall require 
appropriate documentation to demonstrate that the computed soil permeability rates of the liner are 
sufficiently low or certification from the preparer of the Animal Facility Management Plan that the NRCS 
design standards for lining lagoons and/or manure storage ponds with soils have been met. When 
geomembrane liners are utilized, they shall be designed, at a minimum, to meet NRCS-CPS. 
 
 D. If seepage results in either an adverse impact to groundwater or a significant adverse trend in 
groundwater quality occurs as determined by the Department, the lagoon or manure storage pond shall be 
repaired at the owner’s or operator’s expense. Assessment and/or additional monitoring (more wells, 
additional constituents, and/or increased sampling frequency) may be required by the Department to further 
assess the extent of the seepage. The repairs and/or assessment shall be completed in accordance with an 
implementation schedule approved by the Department. The Department may require groundwater 
corrective action. 
 
 E. Manure shall not be placed directly in or allowed to come into contact with groundwater and/or surface 
water. The minimum separation distance between the lowest point of the lagoon or manure storage pond 
and the seasonal high water table beneath the lagoon or manure storage pond is two (2) feet. If a 
geomembrane liner is installed, the minimum separation distance is one foot from the seasonal high water 
table. Designs that include controlled drainage for water table adjustment shall be evaluated by the 
Department on a case-by-case basis, and may include additional monitoring and groundwater control 
requirements. If a design is proposed for water table adjustment, the design shall not impact wetlands. 
 
 F. Monitoring wells may be required by the Department on a case-by-case basis upon Department review 
of the submittal package. 
 
 G. A groundwater monitoring plan shall be submitted with the permit application to the Department. All 
applicable State certification requirements regarding well installation, laboratory analyses and report 
preparation shall be met. Each groundwater monitoring well installed shall be permitted and shall be 
sampled at least once annually by qualified personnel at the expense of the permittee. The results shall be 
submitted to the Department in accordance with the specified permit requirements. Groundwater Sampling 
results shall be maintained by the producer for eight (8) years. The Department may conduct routine and 
random visits to the animal facility to sample the monitoring wells. 
 



73 
 

 H. Prior to operation of the lagoon or manure storage pond, all monitoring wells shall be sampled in 
accordance with the parameters identified in the permit such that a background concentration level can be 
established. 
 
 I. Before the construction of a lagoon and/or a manure storage pond, the owner or operator shall remove 
all under-drains that exist from previous agricultural operations that are under the lagoon or manure storage 
pond and/or within twenty-five (25) feet of the outside toe of the proposed lagoon or manure storage pond 
dike. This requirement does not include under-drains that are approved as a part of designs that include 
controlled drainage for water table adjustment. 
 
 J. Proper water levels in lagoons and manure storage ponds, as per plans and specifications, shall be 
maintained at all times by the permittee. The Department may require specific lagoon or manure storage 
pond volume requirements in permits. An approved marker shall be installed to measure water levels. 
 
 K. If a lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond, or both, breaches or fails in any way, the owner 
or operator of the animal facility shall immediately notify the Department, the appropriate local government 
officials, and the owners or operators of any potable surface water treatment plant located downstream from 
the animal facility that could reasonably be expected to be adversely impacted. 
 
 L. Lagoons, treatment systems, and manure storage ponds shall be completely enclosed with an 
acceptable fence, unless a fence waiver is obtained from the Department. 
 
 M. Lagoons and manure storage ponds shall have at least four (4) warning signs posted in the four (4) 
cardinal directions around the perimeter of the structure. These signs should read, “Warning - Deep and 
Polluted Water”, and one should be posted on each side of the lagoon or manure storage pond. 
 
 N. Vegetation on the dikes and around the lagoon, treatment system or manure storage pond should be 
kept below a maximum height of eighteen (18) inches. Trees or deeply rooted plants shall be prevented 
from growing on the dikes or within twenty-five (25) feet of the outside toe of the dikes of the lagoon, 
treatment system, or manure storage pond. Existing trees on the dikes shall be evaluated by NRCS staff or 
a dam engineer licensed in South Carolina to determine if they should be removed or remain. 
 
 O. Livestock or other animals that could cause erosion or damage to the dikes of the lagoon, treatment 
system, or manure storage pond shall not be allowed to enter the lagoon, treatment system, or manure 
storage pond, or graze on the dike or within twenty-five (25) feet of the outside toe of the dike. 
 
 P. The Department shall require existing facilities, regardless of size, with a history of manure handling, 
treatment, and disposal problems related to a lagoon, to phase out the existing lagoon and incorporate new 
technology. 
 
200.100. Manure Utilization Area Requirements. 
 
 A. Application Rates. The Department shall approve an Animal Facility Management Plan that 
establishes an application rate for each manure utilization area based on the agronomic application rate of 
the specific crop(s) being grown, and the manure and other animal by-products’ impact on the environment. 
The application rate shall be based on the limiting constituent (a nutrient or other constituent as given in 
item 200.100.B). In developing annual constituent loading rates and cumulative constituent loading rates, 
the Department shall consider: 
 
  1. Soil type; 
 



74 
 

  2. Type of vegetation growing in land-applied area; 
 
  3. Proximity to 100-year floodplain; 
 
  4. Location in watershed; 
 
  5. Nutrient sensitivity of receiving land and waters; 
 
  6,. Soil nutrient testing in conjunction with soil productivity information; 
 
  7. Nutrient, copper, zinc, and constituent content of the manure and other swine by-products being 
applied; 
 
  8. Proximity to a State Designated Focus Area; Outstanding Resource Water; Heritage Corridor; 
Historic Preservation District; State Approved Source Water Protection Area; state or national park or 
forest; state or federal research area; and privately-owned wildlife refuge, park, or trust property; 
 
  9. Proximity to other point and nonpoint sources; 
 
  10. Slope of land; anything over ten (10) percent must use runoff best management practices, runoff 
controls, or conservation features as per NRCS. 
 
  11. Distance to water table or groundwater aquifer; 
 
  12. Timing of manure application to coincide with vegetative cover growth cycle; 
 
  13. Timing of harvest of vegetative cover; 
 
  14. Hydraulic loading limitations; 
 
  15. Soil assimilative capacity; 
 
  16. Type of vegetative cover and its nutrient uptake ability; 
 
  17. Method of land application; and 
 
  18. Aquifer vulnerability. 
 
 B. Constituent Limits for Land Application of Liquid and Dry Animal manure and other animal 
by-products and Operational Practices for Land Application. 
 
  1. Liquid and dry animal manure and other animal by-products.Animal manure and other animal 
by- products containing only the standard constituents at normal concentrations as given by commonly 
accepted reference sources, such as Clemson University, American Society of Agricultural Engineers, 
Midwest Planning Service Document, or NRCS, can be land applied at or below agronomic rates without 
any specific constituent limits in a permit. When the animal manure analysis indicates there are levels of 
arsenic, copper, zinc, or other constituents of concern, the Department shall establish constituent limits in 
permits for each constituent of concern to ensure the water quality standards of RegulationR.61-68 are 
maintained. For these cases the producer shall comply with the following criteria: 
 



75 
 

   a. Constituent Limits. If animal manure and other animal by-products subject to a constituent limit 
is applied to land, either: 
 
    i. The cumulative loading rate for each constituent shall not exceed the cumulative constituent 
loading rate for the constituent in Table 1 of Section 200.100; or 
 
    ii. The concentration of each constituent in the animal manure and other animal by-products shall 
not exceed the concentration for the constituent in Table 2 of Section 200.100. 
 
   b. Constituent concentrations and loading rates - animal manure and other animal by-products. 
 
    i. Cumulative constituent loading rates. 
        
TABLE 1 OF SECTION 200.100 - CUMULATIVE CONSTITUENT LOADING RATES 
Cumulative Constituent Loading Rate 
Constituent (kilograms per hectare) (pounds per acre) 
Arsenic 41 37   
Copper 1500 1339   
Zinc 2800 2499   
 
    ii. Constituent concentrations. 
   
TABLE 2 OF SECTION 200.100 - CONSTITUENT CONCENTRATIONS 
Monthly Average Concentrations 
Constituent Dry weight basis (milligrams per kilogram) 
Arsenic 41 
Copper 1500 
Zinc 2800 
 
    iii. Annual constituent loading rates. 
        
TABLE 3 OF SECTION 200.100 - ANNUAL CONSTITUENT LOADING RATES 
Annual Constituent Loading Rate 
  (kilograms per hectare (pounds per acre per 
Constituent per 365 day period) 365 day period) 
Arsenic 2.0 1.8   
Copper 75 67   
Zinc 140 125   
 
   c. Additional constituents limits may be required, from the application information or subsequent 
monitoring in a permit thereafter, but such needs shall be assessed on an individual project basis. 
 
   d. No producer shall apply aAnimal manure and other animal by-products shall not be applied 
subject to the cumulative constituent loading rates in Table 1 of Section 200.100.B.1 to land if any of the 
rates in Table 1 of Section 200.100.B.1 have been reached. 
 
   e. No producer shall apply aAnimal manure and other animal by-products or animal lagoon sludge 
shall not be applied to land during a 365-day period after the annual application rate in Table 3 of Section 
200.100.B.1 has been reached. 



76 
 

    
   f. If animal manure and the animal by-products subject to the cumulative constituent loading rates 
in Table 1 of Section 200.100.B.1 hashave not been applied to the site, thosethen cumulative rates apply. 
 
   g. If animal manure and other animal by-products subject to the cumulative constituent loading rates 
in Table 1 of Section 200.100.B.1 hashave been applied to the site and the cumulative amount of each 
constituent applied to the site in the animal manure and other animal by-products is known, the cumulative 
amount of each constituent applied to the site shall be used to determine the additional amount of each 
constituent that can be applied to the site in accordance with Section 200.100.B.1.a.i (cumulative loading 
rate shall not exceed the cumulative constituent loading rate). 
 
   h. Manure application shall not exceed the agronomic rate of application for plant available nitrogen 
(PAN) for the intended crop(s) on an annual basis. For those years that fertilizer is land applied, manures 
in combination with the fertilizer shall not exceed the agronomic rate of nutrient utilization of the intended 
crop(s). 
 
  2. Any producer who confines animals shall ensure that the applicable requirements in this part are 
met when the animal manure and other animal by-products are applied to the land. 
 
  3. Animal manure and other animal by-products shall not be applied to land that is saturated from 
recent precipitation, flooded, frozen, or snow-covered. Animal manure and other animal by-products shall 
not be applied during inclement weather or when a significant rain event is forecasted to occur within 
forty-eight (48) hours, unless approved by the Department in an emergency situation. 
   
  4. Animal manure and other animal by-products shall not be placed directly in groundwater. 
 
  5. TheAll land application equipment, when used once or more per year, shall be calibrated at least 
annually by the producer person land applying. A permit may require more frequent calibrations to ensure 
proper application rates. The two (2) most recent calibration records should be retained by the producer and 
made available for Department review upon request. If the land application equipment has not been used in 
over a year, the equipment shall be calibrated prior to use. 
 
  6. No producer shall apply aAnimal manure and other animal by-products to the land except in 
accordance with the requirements in this part. 
 
  7. A producer who supplies animal manure and other animal by-products to another person for land 
application shall provide the person who will land apply the manure and other animal by-products with the 
concentration of plant available nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, and the concentration of all other 
constituents listed in the permit. The producer shall also supply the person who will land apply the manure 
with a copy of the crop management plan included in their Animal Facility Management Plan or a copy of 
the Land Application Requirements brochure approved by the Department which outlines the land 
application requirements and responsibility for proper management of animal manure. 
 
  8. Animal manure and other animal by-products shall not be applied to or discharged onto a land 
surface when the vertical separation between the ground surface and the seasonal high water table is less 
than 1.5 feet at the time of application unless approved by the Department. For special cases, no land 
application can occur when the vertical separation from the ground surface to the water table is less than 
1.5 feet at the time of application unless a situation is deemed an emergency with departmental concurrence. 
 
  9. Soil sampling (usually six to eight (6 to 8) inch depth) shall be conducted for each field prior to 
manure application to determine the appropriate application rate. Each field should be sampled at least once 



77 
 

per year. If manure application frequency shallwill be less than once per year, then at least one (1) soil 
sample shall be taken prior to returning to that field for land application. All new manure utilization areas 
shall be evaluated using the NRCS-CPS to determine the suitability for application and the limiting nutrient 
(nitrogen or phosphorus). However, fields that are high in phosphorus may also be required to incorporate 
additional runoff control or soil conservation features as directed by the Department. Additional soil 
sampling may be required by the Department on a case-by-case basis to ensure there is no potential for 
groundwater contamination 
 
  10. Soil sampling to a depth of eighteen (18) inches shallmay be required by the Department to be 
performed within forty-five (45) days after each application of animal manure, but no more than two (2) 
times per year if the application frequency is more than twice per year. This sampling shall be performed 
for at least three (3) years after the initial application on at least one (1) representative manure utilization 
area for each crop grown to verify the estimated calculated manure application rates for the utilization areas. 
The date of manure application and the date of sampling shall be carefully recorded. The sampling shall be 
conducted at depths of zero to six (0 to 6) inches, six to twelve (6 to 12) inches, and twelve to eighteen (12 
to 18) inches with nitrates and phosphorus being analyzed. 
 
  11. The results of the pre-application and post-application sampling shall be used by the producercrop 
farmer to adjust as necessary, the amount of animal manure to be applied to a manure utilization area to 
meet the agronomic application rate for the crop(s) to be grown. These results shall be submitted to the 
Department at the time of application for permit renewal. 
 
  12. Additional soil sampling to greater depths may be required by the Department on a case-by-case 
basis to ensure there is no potential for groundwater contamination.The permit shall give the appropriate 
depth and frequency for all soil sampling. 
 
  13. The permittee shall obtain the following information needed to comply with the requirements in 
this part.: 
 
   a. Manure transfer contract shall be developed for the producer to use with any person who is 
accepting manure in quantities greater than 12 tons per recipient per year. The contract should contain, at a 
minimum, the following information: 
 
    i. Name, address, county, and telephone number of the person who is purchasing or accepting 
animal manure and other animal by-products. 
 
    ii. Manure nutrient composition (pounds per ton of plant available Nitrogen, Phosphorus, and 
Potassium) to be filled in or provided by the producer. This information shall be obtained from three (3) 
manure analysis results and the producer shall provide this information on the manure transfer contract; 
 
    iii. Land application field information; 
 
    iv. Physical description (acreage, crop soil type) 
 
    v. Soil test results (Phosphorus, Zinc, and Copper in pounds/acre); and 
 
    vi. Recommended application rates (Nitrogen, Phosphorus, and Potassium in pounds/acre as 
reported on a soil test). 
 
   b. Attach a copy of a soils map, topographic map, county tax map, plat, FSA map, or a site plan 
sketch which includes the following information: 



78 
 

 
    i. Manure application areas with setbacks outlined: 
 
    ii. Known water supply wells within 100 feet of property lines; 
 
    iii. Adjacent surface waters, including ditches, streams, creeks, and ponds; and 
 
    iv. Identification of roads and highways to indicate location. 
 
   c. Description of application equipment and name of person to land apply manure; 
 
   d. Signed agreement that informs the land owner that he is responsible and liable for land applying 
the animal manure and other animal by-products in accordance with these regulations; and 
 
   e. A copy of the land application requirements shall be provided to the recipient of the manure. 
 
  14. All persons who routinely accept manure from a producer, in quantities greater than twelve (12) 
tons per recipient per year, shall be listed in the approved Animal Facility Management Plan. The Animal 
Facility Management Plan shall include the appropriate manure utilization area information for the sites 
routinely used by other persons. The producer shall inform the recipientapplier of their responsibility and 
to have a signed manure transfer contract to properly manage the land application of manure to prevent 
discharge of pollutants to waters of the State (including ephemeral and intermittent streams). The person 
accepting the manure may be required by the Department to have an Animal Facility Management Plan and 
a permit for their manure utilization areas. 
 
  15. All persons who accept manure from a producer, regardless of whether the land is included in the 
waste management planin quantities less than twelve (12) tons per recipient per year, are responsible for 
land applying the manure in accordance with these requirements and must have a signed agreement with 
the producer explaining their responsibility to comply with the regulation. The Department may require the 
person(s) land applying the manure to correct any problems that result from the application of manure. 
 
  16. Animal manure shall not be applied to cropland more than thirty (30) days before planting or during 
dormant periods for perennial species, unless otherwise approved by the Department in an emergency 
situation. 
 
  17. When the Department receives nuisance complaints on a land application site, the Department may 
restrict land application of animal manure on weekends. When the Department receives complaints on a 
land application site, the Department may restrict land application of animal manure on this site completely 
or during certain time periods. 
 
  18. The Department may require manure, spread on cropland, to be disked in immediately. 
 
  19. Manure (solid or liquid) shall only be applied when weather and soil conditions are favorable and 
when prevailing winds are blowing away from nearby dwellings. Animal manure should not be applied to 
land when the soil is saturated, flooded, during rain events, or when a significant rain event is forecasted to 
occur within forty-eight (48) hours., unless otherwise approved by the Department in an emergency 
situation. 
 
  20. Manure shall not be spread in the floodplain if there is danger of a major runoff event, unless the 
manure is incorporated during application or immediately after application. 
 



79 
 

  21. If the manure is stockpiled more than three (3) daysoutside, the manure shall be stored on a concrete 
pad or other approved pad (such as plastic or clay lined) and covered with an acceptable cover to prevent 
odors, vector attraction, and runoff on a daily basis (unless otherwise specified in the permit). The cover 
should be properly vented with screen wire to let the gases escape. The edges of the cover should be properly 
anchored. 
 
  22. If a Pproducers who contracts to transfer the animal manure and other animal by-products produced 
at their facility a manure broker shall obtain and submit for approval an updated Animal Facility 
Management Plan if they discontinue using the designated broker or if the manure broker goes out of the 
manure brokering business changes brokers/land applier, he or she must submit notification and a new 
broker/land applier contract for approval to the Department. 
 
  23. The body of vehicles transporting manure shall be wholly enclosed and, while in transit, be kept 
covered with a canvas cover provided with eyelets and rope tie-downs, or any other approved method which 
shall prevent blowing or spillage of loose material or liquids. Should any spillage occur during the 
transportation of the manure, the owner/operator shall take immediate steps to clean up the manure. 
 
 C. Setbacks for manure utilization areas. 
 
  1. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and a residence 
is 300 feet. If there are no residences within 300 feet of the manure utilization area, manure may be applied 
up to the property line. The 300-foot setback is waived with the consent of the owner of the residence. If 
the application method is injection or immediate incorporation, manure may be applied up to the property 
line. The setbacks are imposed at the time of application. The Department may impose these setbacks on 
previously approved sites to address problems on a case-by-case basis. 
 
  2. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and waters of 
the State (including ephemeral and intermittent streams) located down slope from the area is 100 feet when 
spray application is the application method or when the manure is spread on the ground surface, 75 feet 
when incorporation is the application method, and 50 feet when injection is the application method. When 
incorporation is accomplished within twenty-four (24) hours of the initial application, the distance can be 
reduced to 50 feet. 
 
  3. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and ditches and 
swales, located down slope from the area, that discharge to waters of the State including ephemeral and 
intermittent streams is 50 feet. 
 
  4. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and a potable 
drinking water well is 100200 feet. 
 
  5. The Department may establish in permits additional application buffer setbacks for property 
boundaries, roadways, residential developments, dwellings, water wells, drainage ways, and surface water 
(including ephemeral and intermittent streams) as deemed necessary to protect public health and the 
environment. Factors taken into consideration in the establishment of additional setbacks would be animal 
manure application method, adjacent land usage, public access, aerosols, runoff prevention, adjacent 
groundwater usage, aquifer vulnerability, and potential for vectors and odors. 
 
  6. Water (pond) that is completely surrounded by land owned by the applicant and has no connection 
to surface water is excluded from the setback requirements outlined in this part. 
 



80 
 

 D.  The Department may establish additional permitting restrictions based upon soil and groundwater 
conditions to ensure protection of the groundwater and surface waters of the State (including ephemeral 
and intermittent streams). Criteria may include but is not limited to soil permeability, clay content, depth 
to bedrock, rock outcroppings, aquifer vulnerability, proximity to a State Approved Source Water 
Protection Area, and depth to the seasonal high groundwater table. 
 
 E. The Department may establish permit conditions to require that animal manure and other animal 
by- products application rates remain consistent with the lime and fertilizer requirements for the cover, 
feed, food, and fiber crops based on land grant universities (in the southeast) published lime and fertilizer 
recommendations (, such as the Lime and Fertilizer Recommendations, Clemson Extension Services, 
Circular 476). 
 
 F. The Department may establish minimum requirements in permits for soil and/or groundwater 
monitoring, for manure utilization areas. Factors taken into consideration in the establishment of soil and 
groundwater monitoring shall include groundwater depth, operation flexibility, application frequency, type 
of animal manure and other animal by-products, size of manure utilization area, aquifer vulnerability, and 
proximity to a State Approved Source Water Protection Area and loading rate. 
 
  1. The Department may establish pre-application and post-application site monitoring requirements in 
permits for limiting nutrients or limiting constituents as determined by the Department. 
 
  2. The Department may establish permit conditions, which require the permittee to reduce, modify, or 
eliminate the animal manure and other animal by-products applications based on the results of this 
monitoring data. 
 
  3. The Department may modify, revoke and reissue, or revoke a permit based on the monitoring data. 
 
 G.  The Department may require manure to be treated for odor control (i.e., composting or lime stabilizing 
for dry operations) prior to land application if the manure is not incorporated into the soil at the time of land 
application or if odors exist or are suspected to exist at an undesirable level. Manure, which has a very 
undesirable level of odor before treatment, such as turkey manure, shall not normally be permitted to be 
land applied on land near residences without appropriate treatment for odor control. 
 
200.110. Spray Application System Requirements. 
 
 A. Spray application of liquid animal manure using irrigation equipment. This includes all methods of 
surface spray application, including but not limited to, fixed gun application, traveling or mobile gun 
application, or center pivot application. 
 
 B. Manure utilization area slopes shall not exceed ten (10) percent unless approved by the Department. 
The Department may require that slopes be less than ten (10)% percent based on site conditions. 
 
 C. Animal manure distribution systems shall be designed so that the distribution pattern optimizes 
uniform application. 
 
 D.  Hydraulic Application Rates. 
 
  1. Application rates shall normally be based on the agronomic rate for the crop to be grown at the 
manure utilization area. As determined by soil conditions, the hydraulic application rate may be reduced 
below the agronomic rate to ensure no surface ponding, runoff, or excessive nutrient migration to the 
groundwater occurs. 



81 
 

 
  2. The hydraulic application rate may be limited based on constituent loading including any constituent 
required for monitoring under this regulation. 
 
 E. Animal manure and other animal by-products shall not be land applied or discharged onto a land 
surface when the vertical separation between the ground surface and the seasonal high water table is less 
than 1.5 feet at the time of application, unless approved by the Department on a case-by-case basis. For 
special cases, no land application can occur when the vertical separation from the ground surface to the 
water table is less than 1.5 feet at the time of application unless a situation is deemed an emergency with 
departmental concurrence. 
 
 F. Conservation measures, such as terracing, strip cropping, etc., may be required in specific areas 
determined by the Department as necessary to prevent potential surface runoff from entering or leaving the 
manure utilization areas. The Department may consider alternate methods of runoff controls that may be 
proposed by the applicant, such as berms. 
 
 G.  For an animal facility, Aa system for monitoring the quality of groundwater may also be required for 
the proposed manure utilization areas. The location of all the monitoring wells shall be approved by the 
Department. The number of wells, constituents to be monitored, and the frequency of monitoring shall be 
determined on a case-by-case basis based upon the site conditions such as type of soils, depth of water table, 
aquifer vulnerability, proximity to State Approved Source Water Protection Area, etc. 
 
 H.  If an adverse trend in groundwater quality is identified, further assessment and/or corrective action 
may be required. This may include an alteration to the permitted application rate or a cessation of manure 
application on the impacted area. 
 
 I. Spray application systems should be designed and operated in such a manner to prevent drift of liquid 
manure onto adjacent property. 
 
200.120. Frequency of Monitoring for Animal Manure. 
 
 A.  The producer and/or integrator shall be responsible for having representative samples, based on 
Clemson Extension Service recommendations of the animal manure collected and analyzed at least once 
per year and/or when the feed composition significantly changes. The constituents to be monitored shall be 
given in the permit. The analyses should be used to determine the amount of animal manure to be land 
applied. In order to ensure that the permitted application rate (normally the agronomic rate) is met, the 
application amount shall be determined using a rolling average of the previous analyses. The Department 
shall establish minimum requirements for the proper method of sampling and analyzing of animal manure. 
Facilities with permits that do not specify which constituents to monitor shall monitor for 
Ammonium-Nitrogen, Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN), Organic Nitrogen (Organic Nitrogen = 
TKN - Ammonium Nitrogen), P2 O5 , and K2O. 
 
 B. The Department may require nitrogen, potassium, phosphorus, the constituents listed in Table 1 and 
Table 2 of Section 200.100, and any other constituent contained in a permit to be monitored prior to each 
application. 
 
 C. Permittees do not have to analyze for any constituent that they can demonstrate to the satisfaction of 
the Department is not present in their animal manure. 
 
 D.  All monitoring shall be done in accordance with collection procedures in Standard Methods for 
Analysis of Water and Wastewater or other Department guidelines. Analysis shall be conducted by Clemson 



82 
 

University Extension Service, or a laboratory certified by the Department. This laboratory shall have and 
maintain certification for the constituents to be analyzed. 
 
200.130. Dead Animal Disposal Requirements. 
 
 A.  Dead animal disposal shall be done as specified in the approved Animal Facility Management Plan. 
The Dead Animal Disposal Plan should include the following: 
 
  1. Primary Method for the handling and disposal of normal mortality at the facility. 
 
  2. Alternate Method for the handling and disposal of excessive mortality on the farm at the facility. 
The normal method of disposal may not be sufficient to handle an excessive mortality situation. Each 
producer shouldshall have ana Department approved emergency or alternate method to dispose of excessive 
mortality. Excessive mortality burial sites shall be preapproved by the Department prior to utilization. 
 
 B. Burial. (For existing facilities permitted prior to January 2020 with a burial site approved by the 
Department) Facility permits issued after January 2020 or permitted facilities prior to January 2020 without 
an approved burial site from the Department must find an alternate method for daily and emergency dead 
animal disposal. 
 
  1. Burial pits may be utilized for emergency conditions, as determined by the Department, when the 
primary method of disposal is not sufficient to handle excessive mortality. 
 
  2. Burial pits shall not be located in the 100-year floodplain. 
 
  3. Soil type shall be evaluated for leaching potential. 
 
  4. Burial pits shall not be located or utilized on sites that are in areas that may adversely impact surface 
or groundwater quality or further impact impaired water bodies. 
 
  5. The bottom of the burial pit may not be within two (2) feet of the seasonal high groundwater 
leveltable. 
 
  6. No burial site shall be allowed to flood with surface water. 
 
  7. Animals placed in a burial site shall be covered daily with sufficient cover (six (6) inches per day 
minimum) to prohibit exhumation by feral animals. 
 
  8. When full, the burial site should be properly capped (minimum two (2) feet) and grassed to prohibit 
erosion. 
 
  9. Proposed burial pit sites shall be approved by the Department. The Department may conduct a 
geologic review of the proposed site prior to approval. 
 
  10. The Department may require theany new or existing producer to utilize another method of dead 
animal disposal if burial is not managed according to the Dead Animal Disposal Plan or repeated violations 
of these burial requirements occur or adverse impact to surface or groundwater is determined to exist. 
 
  11. The Department may require groundwater monitoring for dead animal burial pits on a case-by-case 
basis. The Department shall consider all of the facts including, but not limited to, the following: depth to 
the seasonal high water table; aquifer vulnerability; proximity to a State Approved Source Water Protection 



83 
 

Area; groundwater use in the area; distance to adjacent surface waters; number of dead animals buried; and 
frequency of burial in the area. 
 
 C. Incinerators. 
 
  1. For animal facilities proposing an incinerator for dead animal disposal, either a permit for the air 
emissions shall be obtained from the Department’s Bureau of Air Quality before the incinerator can be built 
or the following criteria shall be met in order to qualify for an exemption from an air permit: 
 
   a. The emission of particulate matter shall be less than one (1) pound per hour at the maximum rated 
capacity; 
 
   b. The incinerator shall be a package incinerator and have a rated capacity of 500 pounds per hour 
or smaller which burns virgin fuel onlythat meets the requirements from the Department’s Bureau of Air 
Quality (BAQ); and 
 
   c. The incinerator shall not exceed an opacity limit of ten (10)% percent. 
 
  2. Incinerators used for dead animal disposal shall be properly operated and maintained. Operation 
shall be as specified in the owner’s manual provided with the incinerator. The owner’s manual shall be kept 
on site and made available to Department personnel upon request. 
 
  3. The use of the incinerator to dispose of waste oil, hazardous, or any other waste chemical is 
prohibited. The use of the incinerator shall be limited to dead animal disposal only unless otherwise 
approved by the Department’s Bureau of Air Quality. 
 
 D.  Composters. Composters used for dead animal disposal shall be designed by a professional engineer 
or an NRCS representative and operated in accordance with the approved Animal Facility Management 
Plan. Packaged composters shall be approved on a case by case basis. 
 
 E. Disposal of dead animals in a municipal solid waste landfill shall be in accordance with 
RegulationR.61- 107.25819. 
  
 F. Disposal of animal carcasses or body parts into manure lagoons, manure treatment systems, manure 
storage ponds, waters of the Sstate, ephemeral and intermittent streams, ditches, and swales is prohibited. 
 
 G. Disposal of animal carcasses or body parts by rendering shall be approved by the Department and 
include a signed contract with the rendering company. 
 
 GH. Other methods of dead animal disposal that are not addressed in this regulation may be proposed in 
the Dead Animal Disposal Plan. 
 
200.140. Other Requirements. 
 
 A. There shall be no discharge of pollutants from the operation into surface waters of the State (including 
ephemeral and intermittent streams). There shall be no discharge of pollutants into groundwater, which 
could cause groundwater quality not to comply with the groundwater standards established in South 
Carolina RegulationR.61-68. 
 



84 
 

 B. On a case-by-case basis, the Department may impose additional or more stringent requirements for 
the management, handling, treatment, storage, or utilization of animal manure and other animal 
by-products. 
 
 C. The following cases shall be evaluated for additional or more stringent requirements: 
 
  1. Source water protection. Facilities and manure utilization areas located within a state approved 
source water protection area. 
 
  2. 303(d) Impaired Water bodies List. Facilities and manure utilization areas located upstream of an 
impaired waterbody. 
 
  3. Proximity to Outstanding Resource Waters, trout waters, shellfish waters, or potential to adversely 
affect a federally listed endangered or threatened species, its habitat, or a proposed or designated critical 
habitat. 
 
  4. Aquifer Vulnerability Area, an area where groundwater recharge may affect an aquifer. 
   
 D.  If an adverse impact to the waters of the State, (including ephemeral and intermittent streams or 
groundwater), from animal manure and other animal by-products handling, storage, treatment, or utilization 
practices are documented, through monitoring levels exceeding the standards set forth in 
RegulationR.61-68, or a significant adverse trend occurs, the Department may require the producer 
responsible for the animal manure and other animal by-products to conduct an investigation to determine 
the extent of impact. The Department may require the producer to remediate the water to within acceptable 
levels as set forth in RegulationR.61-68. 
 
 E. No manure may be released from the premises of an animal facility to waters of the State, (including 
ephemeral and intermittent streams.) unless a permit pursuant to Section 402 or 404 of the CWA has been 
issued by the Department. 
 
 F. Animal medical waste cannot be disposed into animal lagoons, treatment systems, or manure storage 
ponds, or land applied with animal manure and other animal by-products. 
 
 G.  In the event of a discharge from an animal facility or an animal lagoon, treatment system, or manure 
storage pond, the owner or operatorpermittee is required to notify the Department immediately, within 
twenty-four (24) hours of the discharge. 
 
 H.  When the Department determines that an nuisanceundesirable condition exists at an animal facility, 
the permittee shall take action to correct the nuisanceundesirable condition to the degree and within the 
time frame designated by the Department. 
 
 I. Permittees shall maintain all-weather access roads to their facilities at all times. 
 
 J. The body of vehicles transporting manure shall be wholly enclosed and while in transit, be kept 
covered with a canvas cover provided with eyelets and rope tie-downs, or any other approved method which 
shall prevent blowing or spillage of loose material or liquids. Should any spillage occur during the 
transportation of the manure, the owner/operator shall take immediate steps to clean up the manure. 
 
200.150. Odor Control Requirements. 
 



85 
 

 A.  The Animal Facility Management Plan shall contain an odor abatement plan for the animal facility, 
lagoon, treatment system, manure storage pond, and manure utilization areas, which may shall consist of 
the following: 
 
  1. Operation and maintenance practices which are used to eliminate or minimize undesirable odor 
levels in the form of a Best Management Plan for Odor Control; 
 
  2. Use of treatment processes for the reduction of undesirable odor levels; 
 
  3. Additional setbacks from property lines beyond the minimum setbacks given in this part; 
 
  43. Other methods as may be appropriate; or 
 
  54. Any combination of these methods. 
 
 B. Producers shall utilize Best Management Practices normally associated with the proper operation and 
maintenance of an animal facility, lagoon, treatment system, manure storage pond, and any manure 
utilization area to ensure an undesirable level of odor does not exist. 
 
 C. No producer may cause, allow, or permit emission into the ambient air of any substance or 
combination of substances in quantities that an undesirable level of odor is determined to result unless 
preventive measures of the type set out below are taken to abate or control the emission to the satisfaction 
of the Department. When an odor problem comes to the attention of the Department through field 
surveillance or specific complaints, the Department shall determine if the odor is at an undesirable level. 
 
 D.  After determining an undesirable level of odor exists, the Department shall require remediation of the 
undesirable level of odor. If the Department determines an undesirable level of odor exists, the Department 
may require these abatement or control practices, including, but not limited to, the following: 
 
 E. The Department may require these abatement or control practices, including, but not limited to the 
following: 
 
  1. Remove or dispose of odorous materials; 
 
  2. Methods in handling and storage of odorous materials that minimize emissions; 
 
   a. Dry manure to a moisture content of fifty (50)% percent or less; 
 
   b. Solids separation from liquid manure, and composting of solids; 
 
   bc. Disinfection to kill microorganisms present in manure; 
 
   cd. Aeration manure; 
 
   de. Composting of solid manure and other animal by-products; and/or 
 
   ef. Odor Ccontrol Aadditives. 
 
  3. Prescribed standards in the maintenance of premises to reduce odorous emissions; 
 
   a. Filtration (biofilters or other filter used to remove dust and odor) of ventilation air; 



86 
 

 
   b. Keep animals clean orand separate from manure; 
 
   c. Adjust number of animals confined in the pens or paddocks in accordance with Clemson 
University Animal Space Guidelines. 
 
   d. Increase thefFrequencyt manure removal from animal houses; 
 
   e. Keep fFeeding areas should be kept dry, and minimize waste feed accumulation; 
 
   f. Maintaining feedlot surfaces in a dry condition (twenty-five (25)%- to forty (40)% percent 
moisture content), with effective dust control; 
 
   g. Maintain Proper maintenance of the dead animal disposal system; 
 
   h. Covering or reduceing the surface area of manure and other animal by-products storage. (Vents 
shall be provided for the release of pressure created by manure gases if completely sealed covers are used); 
 
   i. Plant trees around or downwind of the manure and other animal by-products storage and treatment 
facilities; Planting trees around or downwind of the manure and other animal by-products storage and 
treatment facilities (Trees shall not be planted within 25 feet of the toe of the dike.);  
 
   j. Incorporateion of manure and other animal by-products immediately after land application; and/or 
 
   k. Selection of appropriate times for land application. 
 
  4. Best Available Technology to reduce odorous emissions. 
 
 E. Nothing in this section prohibits an individual or group of persons from bringing a complaint against 
a facility including problems at lagoons, treatment systems, manure storage ponds, and manure utilization 
areas. 
 
 F. If the permittee fails to control or abate the odor problems at a land application site an animal facility, 
lagoon, treatment system, manure storage pond, and any manure utilization area to the satisfaction and 
within a time frame determined by the Department, the permit may be revoked. If the permittee fails to 
control or abate the odor problems at land application sites, approval for land application of manure on the 
manure utilization area in question may be revoked. Additional land may be required to be added to the 
Animal Facility Management Plan, if necessary to provide a sufficient amount of land for manure 
utilization. 
 
200.160. Vector Control Requirements. 
 
 A. Vector Abatement Plan. The Vector Abatement Plan shall at a minimum consist of the following: 
 
  1. NormalBest management practices used at the animal facility, lagoon, treatment system, manure 
storage pond, and manure utilization areas to ensure there is no accumulation of organic or inorganic 
materials to the extent and in such a manner as to create a harborage for rodents or other vectors that may 
be dangerous to public health. 
 
  2. A list of specific actions to be taken by the producer if vectors are identified as a problem at the 
animal facility, lagoon, treatment system, manure storage pond, or any manure utilization area. These 



87 
 

actions should be listed for each vector problem, e.g., actions to be taken for fly problems, actions to be 
taken for rodent problems, etc. 
 
 B. No producer and or broker/land applier may cause, allow, or permit vectors to breed or accumulate in 
quantities that result in a nuisanceundesirable condition level, as determined by the Department. 
 
 C. The Department shall require remediation of the problem to the satisfaction of the Department, after 
determining a vector problem exists.For an existing facility, if the Department determines a vector problem 
exists, the Department may require these abatement of control practices, including, but not limited to the 
following: 
 
 D. The Department may require abatement or control practices, including, but not limited to the 
following: 
 
  1. Remove and properly dispose of vector infested materials; 
 
  2. Methods in handling and storage of materials that minimize vector attraction; 
 
   a. Remove spilled or spoiled feed from the house as soon as practicably possible not to exceed 
forty-eight (48) hours, unless otherwise approved by the Department; 
 
   b. Remove and properly dispose of dead animals as soon as practicably possible not to exceed 
twenty-four (24) hours, unless otherwise approved by the Department; 
 
   c. Increase the frequency of manure removal from animal houses; 
 
   d. Prevent solids buildup in the pit storage or on the floors or walkways; 
 
   e. Remove excess manure packs along walls and curtains; 
 
   f. Compost solid manure and other animal by-products; 
 
   g. Appropriately use vector control chemicals, poisons, or insecticides (take caution to prevent 
insecticide resistance problems); 
 
   h. Utilize traps, or electrically charged devices; 
 
   i. Utilize biological agents; 
 
   j. Utilize Integrated Pest Management; 
 
   k. Incorporate manure and other animal by-products immediately (within twenty-four (24) hours) 
after land application.; and/or 
 
   l. Contact Clemson Extension Service for appropriate measures to control a vector problem. 
 
  3. Prescribed standards in the maintenance of premises to reduce vector attraction; 
 
   a. Remove any standing water that may be a breeding area for vectors; 
 
   b. Keep animals clean or separated from manure; 



88 
 

 
   c. Keep facility clean and free from trash or debris; 
 
   d. Properly utilize and service bait stations; 
 
   e. Keep feeding areas dry, and minimize waste feed accumulation; 
 
   f. Keep grass and weeds mowed around the facility and manure storage or treatment areas; 
 
   g. Properly maintain the dead animal disposal system; 
 
   h. Cover or reduce the surface area of manure and other animal by-products storage. (Vents shall be 
provided for release of pressure created by manure gases if completely sealed covers are used); 
 
   i. Properly store feed and feed supplements; 
   
   j. Conduct a weekly vector monitoring program; 
   
   k. Be aware of insecticide resistance problems, and rotate use of different insecticides; 
 
   l. Prevent and repair leaks in waterers, water troughs, or cups; and/or 
 
   m. ProvideEnsure proper grading and drainage around the buildings to prevent rain water from 
entering the buildings or ponding around the buildings. 
 
  4. Utilize the best available control technology to reduce vector attraction and breeding. 
 
200.170. Record Keeping. 
 
 A.  A copy of the approved Animal Facility Management Plan, including approved updates, and a copy 
of the permit(s) issued to the producer shall be retained by the permittee for as long as the animal facility 
is in operation. 
 
 B. All application information submitted to the Department shall be retained by the permittee for eight 
(8) years. However, if the facility was permitted prior to June 26, 1998, and the permittee has previously 
discarded these documents since there was no requirement to maintain records at that time, this requirement 
shall not apply. 
 
 C. Records shall be developed for each manure utilization area. These records shall be kept for eight (8) 
years. The records shall include the following: 
 
  1. For each time animal manure and other animal by-products are applied to the site, the amount of 
animal manure and other animal by-products applied (in gallons per acre or pounds per acre, as appropriate), 
the date and time of application, and the location of application.; 
 
  2. All sampling results for animal manure that is land applied; 
 
  3. All soil monitoring results; 
 
  4. All groundwater monitoring results, if applicable; and 
 



89 
 

  5. Crops grown. 
 
 D.  Records for the facility to include the following on a monthly basis: 
 
  1. Monthly aAnimal count and the normal production animal live weight; and 
  
  2. Mortality count and method of disposal. 
 
 E. Records for lagoon, treatment system, or manure storage pond operations to include the following: 
 
  1. Monthly water levels of the lagoon, treatment system, and manure storage pond; and 
 
  2. All gGroundwater monitoring results, if applicable. 
 
 F. All records retained by the producer shall be kept at either the facility, an appropriate business office, 
or other location as approved by the Department. 
 
 G.  All records retained by the producer shall be made available to the Department during normal business 
hours for review and copying, upon request by the Department. 
 
200.180. Reporting. 
 
 A.  Large and X-large animal facilities (greater than 500,000 pounds normal production live weight)are 
required to submit an annual report, on a form approved by the Department. The Department may establish 
reporting requirements in permits as it deems appropriate. These reporting requirements may include the 
following: 
 
  1. All manure sampling results for the last year and the latest rolling average concentration for the land 
limiting constituent; 
 
  2. All soil monitoring results if applicable; 
 
  3. All groundwater monitoring results, if applicable; 
 
  4. Calculated (permitted application rate) application rates for all manure utilization areas; and 
 
  5. The adjusted application rates, if applicable, based on the most recent animal manure sampling, soil 
samples, and crop yield(s). The application rate change could also be due to a change in field use, crop 
grown, or other factors. 
 
 B. The Department may require small animal facilities (500,000 pounds or less of normal production live 
weight)to submit annual reports on a case-by-case basis. 
 
 C. The Department may establish permit conditions to require a facility to complete and submit a 
comprehensive report every five (5) years. The Department shall review this report to confirm that the 
permitted nutrient application rates have not been exceeded. Based on the results of the review, additional 
soil and/or groundwater monitoring requirements, permit modification, and/or corrective action may be 
required. 
 
200.190. Training Requirements. 
 



90 
 

 A.  An owner/operator of an animal facility or manure utilization area shall attend a training program on 
the operation of animal manure management under the program created and operated by Clemson 
University. 
 
 B. Owners/Operators of new and existing animal facilities and large animal facilities (greater than 
500,000 pounds normal production live weight)shall be required to obtain certification under the program 
created and operated by Clemson University. The Department may also require existing operators with 
documented violations to obtain certification under Clemson’s program. 
 
 C. The training andcertification program shall be completed by owners/operators of new facilities within 
one (1) year of the effective date of the issued permit. 
 
 D.  The training and/orcertification program shall be completed by owners/operators of existing facilities 
within two years one (1) year of the effective date of this regulation. 
 
 E. Training and/or cCertification shall be maintained as long as the facility remains in operation. All 
facilities must have a CAMM certified operator at all times. 
 
 F. Failure to obtain the training and/orcertification as provided in this Section shall be deemed a violation 
of this regulation and the permit may be revoked. 
 
 G. An owner/operator of a cattle stockyard shall be exempt from attending the training program on the 
operation of animal manure management under the program created and operated by Clemson University 
(CAMM). 
 
200.200. Violations. 
 
 A. Persons who violate this regulation or any permit issued under this regulation are subject to the 
penalties in Sections 48-1-320 (Criminal Penalties) and 48-1-330 (Civil Penalties) of the South Carolina 
Pollution Control Act. 
 
 B. Any person who falsifies, tampers with, or knowingly renders inaccurate any monitoring device or 
method required by the Department to be maintained as a condition in a permit, or who alters or falsifies 
the results obtained by such devices or methods, shall be deemed to have violated a permit condition and 
shall be subject to the penalties provided for pursuant to 48-1-320 and 48-1-330 of the Code. 
 

PART 300 
INNOVATIVE AND ALTERNATIVE TECHNOLOGIES. 

 
  300.10. General 
  300.20. Submittal Requirements. 
  300.30. Requirements in Lieu of Requirements Under Part 100 and Part 200 of This Regulation. 
  300.40. Innovative and Alternative Treatment for Technologies. 
  300.50. Exceptional Quality Compost. 
  300.60. Public Notice Requirements. 
 
300.10. General. 
 
 A.  The Department supports and encourages the use of appropriate innovative and alternative 
technologies. 
 



91 
 

 B. When innovative or alternative technology is proposed for an agricultural facility for manure and other 
animal by-products handling, treatment, storage, processing, or utilization, a meeting should be held with 
the Department prior to the submittal of the project. The purpose of the meeting is for the applicant and the 
Department to go over the proposed project and the purpose and expected benefits from the use of the 
innovative or alternative technology. 
 
300.20. Submittal Requirements. 
 
 A. When innovative or alternative technology is proposed for an agricultural facility for manure and 
other animal by-products handling, storage, treatment, processing, or utilization, the applicant shall provide 
to the Department the submittal information contained in Sections 100.50 or 200.50, as appropriate, and a 
detailed project report which explains the innovative or alternative technology and the purpose and expected 
benefits of the proposal. 
 
300.30. Requirements in Lieu of Requirements Under Part 100 or Part 200 of This Regulation. 
 
 A.  When the Department determines that appropriate alternative or innovative technology is being 
proposed, the specific requirements given in Part 100 and 200 of this regulation which deal with the purpose 
or expected benefits of the technology may not have to be met except when required by a specific statute 
or the Department after review of the project. Requirements in Part 100 that apply to X-large swine facilities 
with 1,000,000 pounds or more normal production live weightshall not be reduced or waived. 
 
 B. The Department shall review the project and determine the purpose or benefits of the proposed 
innovative or alternative technology and determine which requirements under Part 100 or 200 do not have 
to be met and the appropriate requirements to be used in lieu of the requirements in Part 100 or 200. 
 
 C. When an alternative or innovative technology is proposed, the review criteria shall be established on 
a case-by-case basis by the Department when the project is received. 
 
 D.  When alternative or innovative technology is utilized at an animal facility, the setbacks given in Part 
100 or 200 may be reduced by the Department as appropriate. Requirements in Part 100 that apply to large 
or X-large swine facilities with 1,000,000 pounds or more normal production live weightshall not be 
reduced or waived. 
 
300.40. Innovative and Alternative Treatment Technologies. 
 
 A.  The following is a list of innovative or alternative technologies for agricultural facilities to consider. 
This list is not exhaustive. Other processes exist and new technologies are being developed. 
 
  1. Aerobic treatment systems or combination aerobic/anaerobic systems; 
 
  2. Artificial (constructed) wetlands use for treatment; 
  
  3. Use of steel tanks; 
 
  4. Use of solid separators; 
 
  5. Methane Gas Recovery Systems; 
 
  6. Surface Water Discharge Systems; 
 



92 
 

  7.6. Composting manure solids; 
 
  8.7. Bioreactors; 
 
  9.8. Covered liquid or slurry manure storage; 
 
  10.9. Air Scrubbers; 
 
  11.10. Ozonation; and 
 
  12.11. Alternative Fuels. 
 
 B. At a minimum, the preparer of the agricultural Animal Facility Management Plan should consider the 
technologies given in 300.40.A for use at a proposed agricultural facility when the Animal Facility 
Management Plan is being developed. 
 
 C. When odors exist or are reasonably expected to exist at an undesirable level, the Department may 
require the use of appropriate innovative or alternative treatment technology to eliminate the odors or the 
potential for odors. 
 
 D.  When the Department determines under Section 100.70.G. (Permit Decision Making Process) that 
there is reasonable potential for cumulative or secondary impacts due to methane gas from facilities, the 
Department may require the use of methane gas recovery systems or other appropriate technology to 
eliminate the potential impacts. 
 
300.50. Exceptional Quality Compost. 
 
 A.  When the Department determines that the composting of solid animal manure and other animal 
by- products is performed in such a manner that the odor and vector attraction potential is reduced and the 
controlled microbial degradation of the organic manure and other animal by-products has been 
accomplished, this material may be considered eExceptional qQuality cCompost. Exceptional qQuality 
cCompost may be sold or distributed without regulation by the Department, if it meets the requirements of 
this part and the standards established by Penn State University. The Department shall review and approve 
the composter design and proposal for operation and distribution of the composted product. Composting 
systems shall be designed by a professional engineer or an engineer with the Natural Resources 
Conservation Service. 
 
 B. Composting can be subject to nuisanceproblems such as odors, dusts, and vector attraction. Therefore, 
the composting facility shall incorporate measures to control such conditions. An Odor and Vector 
Abatement Plan shall be developed for a composting facility. 
 
 C. Compost Product Quality Standards. 
 
  1. Product Standards are necessary to protect public and environmental health and to ensure a measure 
of commercial acceptability. 
 
   a. Based on EPA standards for pathogen reduction, the time/temperature conditions required are 
equivalent to an average of 128 degrees Fahrenheit (°F) (53 degrees Celsius (°C)) for five (5) consecutive 
days, 131°F (55°C) for 2.6 consecutive days, or 158°F (70°C) for thirty (30) minutes. 
 



93 
 

   b. The composted product shall meet or exceed the minimum standard of mature or very mature 
compost as set forth in the USDA Test Methods for the Examination of Composting and Compost 
(TMECC) Section 05.02-G CQCC Maturity Index. A maturity rating shall be given based upon the Maturity 
Assessment Matrix given in this method. 
 
   c. When land applied, the compost shall adhere to requirements for constituent concentrations and 
loading rates as outlined in Part 100.100, Part 200.100, or Part 400.60. 
 
  2. Compost products which meet these standards and also comply with pathogen quality and vector 
attraction standards are considered to be of eExceptional qQuality and can be used without regulatory 
oversight, other than the compliance of agronomic application rates based on product analysis. 
 
  3. If the Department determines that the composting system is not being operated properly or that the 
composted product is not of an Exceptional Quality, the composted product shall be handled in accordance 
with the land application requirements of Part 100, 200 or 400 (as applicable) of these regulations. 
 
  4. An operable thermometer capable of measuring temperatures within a compost pile shall be kept at 
the composting facility for monitoring the temperature of each compost pile or batch. A written log of the 
daily temperature reading should be kept for each batch of compost. Temperatures shall not be allowed to 
rise above 180°F (82°C), which may cause combustion in the compost pile and start a fire. 
 
  5. The composted product shall be analyzed by Clemson University or another Department approved 
laboratory. The composted product content information along with recommended application rates shall be 
distributed with the product. The consumer shall be advised that the composted product shall be applied at 
an agronomic rate. 
 
300.60. Public Notice Requirements. 
 
 A. When the Department permits an alternative or innovative technology, the notice on the issuance of 
the permit required under Sections 100.60.H. or 200.60.H. shall contain a general description of the 
innovative or alternative process and a summary of the expected benefits. 
 

PART 400 
MANURE BROKER/LAND APPLIER OPERATIONS. 

 
  400.10 Purpose and Applicability. 
  400.20. Permits and Compliance Period. 
  400.30. Relationship to Other Regulations. 
  400.40. Permit Application Procedures (Broker Management Plan Submission Requirements). 
  400.50. Permit Decision Making Process. 
  400.60. Manure Utilization Area Requirements. 
  400.70. Other Requirements. 
  400.80. Odor Control Requirements. 
  400.90. Vector Control Requirements. 
  400.100. Record Keeping. 
  400.110. Reporting. 
  400.120. Training Requirements. 
  400.130. Violations. 
 
400.10. Purpose and Applicability. 
 



94 
 

 A. Purpose. 
 
  1. To protect the environment and the health and welfare of citizens of the State from pollutants 
generated by the processing, treatment, and land application of dry animal manure and other animal 
by-products. 
 
  2. To establish standards, which consist of general requirements, constituent limits, management 
practices, and operational standards, for the use of dry animal manure and other animal by-products 
generated at animal facilities. Standards are included in this part for dry animal manure and other animal 
by-products applied to the land. 
 
  3. To establish standards for the frequency of monitoring and record keeping requirements for 
brokers/land appliers who operate dry animal manure and other animal by-products handling businesses. 
 
  4. To establish standards for the proper operation and maintenance of dry animal manure and other 
animal by-products treatment and storage facilities associated with manure brokering/land applying 
operations. 
 
  5. To establish criteria for dry animal manure and other animal by-products storage facilities and 
manure utilization areas location as they relate to protection of the environment and public health. The 
location of dry animal manure and other animal by-products storage facilities and manure utilization areas 
as they relate to zoning in an area is not covered in this regulation. Local county or municipal governments 
may have zoning requirements and these regulations neither interfere with nor restrict such zoning 
requirements. Permit applicants should contact local municipal and county authorities to determine any 
local requirements that may be applicable. 
 
 B. Applicability. 
 
  1. This part applies to: 
 
   a. All new and expandingrenewing dry manure brokering/land applying operations; 
 
   b. All dry animal manure and other animal by-products treatment or storage facilities operated by 
brokers/land appliers; and 
 
   c. Permanent manure utilization areas added to a manure broker/land applier management plan. 
 
  2. This part applies to all dry animal manure and other animal by-products taken, bought, given, 
handled or sold by a manure broker. 
 
  3. This part applies to all land where dry animal manure and other animal by-products bought, given, 
taken, handled or sold by a manure broker/land applier is applied. 
 
  4. This part applies to out-of-state and in-state based manure brokers/land appliers who accept manure 
and other animal by-products from agricultural animal facilities located in the State. 
 
  5. This part applies to all manure brokers/land appliers who bring animal manure and other animal 
by-products from other states into the state of South Carolina. 
 



95 
 

  6. Part 200.80 C. (Dry Animal manure and other animal by-products Treatment and Storage Facility 
Siting Requirements) of this regulation applies to dry animal manure and other animal by-products 
treatment or storage facilities proposed by brokers/land appliers. 
 
  7. If a manure broker/land applier proposes to handle, process, treat, or store liquid animal manure as 
a part of the operation, the requirements of this part shall be met, at a minimum. However, the Department 
may require that the applicant meet additional requirements applicable to liquid manure that are included 
in Part 100 and Part 200. 
 
  8. Existing brokers that hold a valid permit from the Department are deemed permitted under this 
regulation, and do not need to apply for a new permit. The deemed permitted brokers shall meet all the 
requirements of this part. 
 
400.20. Permits and Compliance Period. 
 
 A. Permit Requirement. Animal manure and other animal by-products from an animal facility with dry 
manure handling can only be handled, stored, treated, processed, or land applied in the State in accordance 
with a permit issued by the Department. The handling, storage, treatment, and final utilization of animal 
manure and other animal by-products from a manure broker/land applier operation shall be permitted under 
the provisions of this part before the broker/land applier can operate in the State. 
 
 B. Notification Requirements. The permittee shall notify the Department in writing and receive written 
Departmental approval, prior to any change in operational procedures in a permitted broker/land applier 
operation, including, but not limited to, the following: 
 
  1. Change in operations or in manure and other animal by-products treatment, storage, handling, or 
utilization; 
 
  2. Change in contracts routinely used in manure and other animal by-products transfers; or 
 
  3. Termination of operations. 
 
400.30. Relationship to Other Regulations.  
 
 The following regulations are referenced throughout this part and may apply to facilities covered under 
this regulation. 
 
 A. Nuisances are addressed in Regulation 61-46. 
 
 BA. Application and annual operating fees are addressed in Regulation R.61-30. 
 
 CB. The proper closeouts of wastewater treatment facilities are addressed in Regulation R.61-82. This 
regulation includes animal manure treatment lagoons and manure storage ponds. 
 
 DPermitting requirements for concentrated animal feeding operations as defined by Regulation 61-9 are 
contained in Regulation 61-9. 
 
 EC. Setbacks and construction specifications for potable water wells and Mmonitoring wells shall be in 
accordance with Regulation R.61-71. 
 
 FD. Permits for air emissions from incinerators are contained in Regulation R.61-62. 



96 
 

 
 GE. Disposal of animal manure in a municipal solid waste landfill unit is addressed in Regulation 
R.61-107.25819. 
 
 HF. Disposal of animal manure with domestic or industrial sludge is addressed in Regulation R.61-9 and 
permitted under R.61-9. 
 
 IG. Procedures for contested cased are addressed in Regulation R.61-72 and the Rules of the State’s 
Administrative Law Judge Court Division. 
 
 JG. Laboratory Certification is addressed in Regulation R.61-81. 
 
 KH. Water Classifications and Standards are addressed in Regulation R.61-68. 
 
400.40. Permit Application Procedures (Broker/Land Applier Management Plan Submission 
Requirements). 
 
 A.  A brokerperson who proposes to operate as a broker/land applierdry animal manure brokering 
operation or expand an existing operation shall makesubmit an application for a permit under this part using 
an application form as designated by the Department. The following information shall be included in the 
application package. 
   
  1. A completed application form as designated by the Department. 
 
  2. A Broker/Land Applier Management Plan prepared by qualified Natural Resources Conservation 
Service personnel, an S.C. registered professional engineer, or other qualified individuals, such as certified 
soil scientists or S.C. registered professional geologist. The Broker/Land Applier Comprehensive Nutrient 
Management Plan shall at a minimum contain: 
 
   a. Brokering/land applying Ooperation name, address, email, telephone number, county, and permit 
number (if applicable) and CAMM number (or if applicable, date of CAMM class); 
 
   b. Applicant’s name, address, email, and telephone number (if different from above); 
 
   c. Broker’s/land applier’s name; 
 
   d. Dry Animal manure and other animal by-products Storage or Treatment Facility Information (if 
applicable): 
 
    i. Description of animal manure and other animal by-products storage and storage capacity; 
 
    ii. Description of animal manure and other animal by-products treatment (if any); 
 
    iii. Facility location description and the zoning or land use restrictions in this area (this 
information should be obtained from the county). Facility shall meet the siting requirements outlined in 
Section 200.80.C of this regulation;The minimum separation distance required between a dry animal 
manure and other animal by-products treatment or storage facility operated by a manure broker/land applier 
and the lot line of real property owned by another person is 200 feet and 1,000 feet to the nearest residence. 
However, the Department shall evaluate each proposed site to consider increasing distances, when the 
amount of manure stored, treated or processed at this facility is significant. 
 



97 
 

   e. Animal manure and other animal by-products handling and application information shall be 
included as follows: 
 
    i. A generalcrop management plan which includes the optimum time of year of the animal manure 
and other animal by-products application and how it relates to crop type, crop planting, and harvesting 
schedule (if applicable) in generalfor manure utilization areas in the State. This information should be used 
as a guide in the absence of more accurate information. The Plan Preparer may need to include this 
information for the different regional areas of Tthe State, as necessary, to provide the broker/land applier 
with general crop information for the entire State; 
 
    ii. Type of equipment used to transport and/or spread the animal manure and other animal 
by- products(if applicable); 
 
    iii. Description of services provided by the broker/land applier (clean-out houses, transport 
manure and other animal by-products, drop-off only, land application, incorporation of manure and other 
animal by-products into field, stacking or storing manure and other animal by-products, manure and other 
animal by-products treatment, etc.); 
 
    iv. Example of the contract or letter of intent to buy or accept animal manure and other animal 
by-products between the broker/land applier and the producer who is supplying the animal manure and 
other animal by- products; and 
 
    v. Example of the manure transfer contract to be used for the transfer of animal manure and other 
animal by-products between the broker and the person(s) who is accepting or purchasing the animal manure 
and other animal by-products. The Department has developed a Manure transfer contract that can be used 
or the broker may develop his own contract as long as it contains the minimum information outlined in part 
400.60.BC.12. 
 
  3. The Broker/Land Applier Management Plan shall contain an odor abatement plan for the dry animal 
manure and other animal by-products storage or treatment facility or manure utilization areas, as 
appropriate. 
 
  4. A Vector Abatement Plan shall be developed for the dry animal manure and other animal 
by-products storage or treatment facility or land application areas, (if applicable). 
 
  5. Soil Monitoring Plan.A soil monitoring plan shall be developed for all broker/land applier 
operations. 
 
  6. Plans and specifications for the construction and operation of all manure and other animal 
by-products treatment or storage structures, such as composters or manure storage sheds that are to be 
owned and operated by the brokering/land applying operation. 
 
  7. Adjoining property owners written agreement for reduction of setbacks for any manure storage 
and/or treatment facilities (if applicable). 
 
  8. Application fee and first year’s operating fee as established by RegulationR. 61-30. 
 
 B. The Department may request an applicant to provide any additional information deemed necessary to 
complete or correct deficiencies in the broker/land applier operation permit application prior to processing 
the application or issuing, modifying, or denying a permit. 
 



98 
 

 C. Applicants shall submit all required information in a format acceptable to the Department. 
 
 D.  Incomplete submittal packages mayshall be returned to the applicant by the Department. An 
application package for a permit is complete when the Department receives all of the required information, 
which has been completed to its satisfaction. 
 
 E. Application packages for permit modifications only need to contain the information applicable to the 
requested modification. 
 
400.50 Permit Decision Making Process 
 
 A.  No permit shall be issued before the Department receives a complete application for a permit. 
 
 B. After the Department has received a complete application package, a technical review shall be 
conducted by the Department. The Department may request any additional information or clarification from 
the applicant or the preparer of the Broker/Land Applier Management Plan to help with the determination 
on whether a permit should be issued or denied. If a permit application package meets all applicable 
requirements of this part, a permit may be issued. 
 
 C. A site inspection of any proposed sites for dry animal manure and other animal by-products storage 
or treatment facilities shall be made by the Department before a permit decision is made. 
 
 D.  For permit issuances, the Department, at the expense of the applicant,shall publish a notice of issuance 
of a permit to operate a dry animal manure brokering operation on the Department’s websitein a local 
newspaper of general circulation in the area of the broker’s base of operations. 
 
 E. For permit denials, the Department shall give the permit applicant a written explanation, which 
outlines the specific reason(s) for the permit denial. 
 
 F. The appeal of a permit decision is governed by the S.C. Administrative Procedures Act, 
Regulation61-72, and the Rules of the State’s Administrative Law JudgeCourt Division. 
 
 GF.  When a permit is issued, it shall contain an issue date and an effective date. The effective date shall 
be at least twenty (20) fifteen (15) calendar days after the issue date to allow for any appeals. If a timely 
appeal is not received, the permit is effective. 
 
 HG.  Permits issued under this part for broker/land applier operations shall be renewed at least every five 
years. However, subsequent to the issuance of a permit, if the broker/land applier operation is not in 
operation or production for two consecutive years, the permit is no longer valid and a new permit shall be 
obtained. If the Broker/Land Applier does not apply for permit renewal or does not fulfill the requirements 
of the permit renewal, the permit is terminated. 
 
 IH. An expired broker/land applier operation permit which was issued under this part continues in effect 
until a new permit is effective only if the permittee submits a complete application, to the satisfaction of 
the Department, at least 120 days before the existing permit expires. The Department may grant permission 
to submit an application later than the deadline for submission stated above, but no later than the permit 
expiration date. If the facility has been closed for any two (2) consecutive years since the last permit was 
issued, the provision for the expiring permit remaining in effect does not apply since the permit is no longer 
valid. Permittees shall notify the Department in writing when they go out of business. 
  



99 
 

 JI. The Department shall review all broker/land applier operation records for permit renewal at the time 
of application. The Department may require that broker/land applier is required to add routine application 
sites are addedto thean updated brokermanagement plan at the time of renewal. These manure utilization 
areas that are added to the broker management plan shall meet all the requirements for manure utilization 
areas included in Part 200 of these regulations. 
 
 KJ.  The brokering/land applying operation can only be built (if a manure storage or treatment facility 
was included) or operated when the permit is effective with no appeals pending. The dry animal manure 
and other animal by-products treatment or storage facility cannot be placed into operation until the 
Department grants written authorizationto begin operationsATO. 
 
 LK. For manure brokers/land appliers who do not have any constructed facilities associated with their 
operations, the Department shall issue an permitapproval to operate with an effective date. Once this permit 
is effective, with no appeals pending, the broker/land applier may begin operations. No additional written 
authorizationapproval from the Department shall be required. 
 
 ML. For manure brokers/land appliers who are permitted to construct a storage or treatment facility 
associated with the brokering/land applying operation, authorizationapproval to begin operations shall be 
obtained prior to operation. To receive authorizationapproval to begin operations, the broker/land applier 
shall have the preparer of the Broker/Land Applier Management Plan submit to the Department written 
certification that the construction of the dry animal manure and other animal by-products treatment or 
storage facility has been completed in accordance with the approved Broker/Land Applier Management 
Plan and the requirements of this regulation. 
 
 NM.  The Department may shall conduct a final inspection of any dry animal manure and other animal 
by-products treatment or storage facilities before granting authorizationapproval to a broker/land applier to 
begin operations (if applicable). 
 
 ON.  The Department shall grant written authorizationapproval for the broker/land applier to begin 
operations of the dry animal manure and other animal by-products treatment or storage facility after it has 
received the certification statement in 400.50.M and the results of the final inspection, if conducted, are 
satisfactory. 
 
400.60. Manure Utilization Area Requirements. 
 
 A.  Application Rates. The Department shall approve a Broker/Land Applier Management Plan that 
establishes application rates based upon the limiting constituent (a nutrient or other constituent as given in 
item 400.60.B). The limiting constituent shall be Nitrogen, unless the soil test results exceed the limits for 
phosphorus. More information on maximum allowable constituent concentrations are outlined in item 
400.60.B and item 400.60.C. 
 
 B. Constituent Limits for Land Application of Dry Animal manure and other animal by-products and 
Operational Practices for Land Application. 
 
  1. Dry animal manure and other animal by-products. When the animal manure analysis indicates there 
are high levels of arsenic, copper, zinc, or other constituent of concern, the producer shall comply with the 
following criteria: 
 
   a. Constituent Limits. If animal manure and other animal by-products subject to a constituent limit 
is applied to land, either: 
 



100 
 

    i. The cumulative loading rate for each constituent shall not exceed the loading rate in Table 1 of 
Section 400.60; or 
 
    ii. The concentration of each constituent in the animal manure and other animal by-products shall 
not exceed the concentration in Table 2 of Section 400.60. 
 
   b. Constituent concentrations and loading rates - animal manure and other animal by-products. 
 
    i. Cumulative constituent loading rates. 
        
TABLE 1 OF SECTION 400.60 - CUMULATIVE CONSTITUENT LOADING RATES 
Cumulative Constituent Loading Rate 
Constituent (kilograms per hectare) (pounds per acre) 
Arsenic 41 37   
Copper 1500 1339   
Zinc 2800 2499   
 
    ii. Constituent concentrations. 
   
TABLE 2 OF SECTION 400.60 - CONSTITUENT CONCENTRATIONS 
Monthly Average Concentrations 
Constituent Dry weight basis (milligrams per kilogram) 
Arsenic 41 
Copper 1500 
Zinc 2800 
 
    iii. Annual constituent loading rates. 
        
TABLE 3 OF SECTION 400.60 - ANNUAL CONSTITUENT LOADING RATES 
Annual Constituent Loading Rate 
  (kilograms per hectare (pounds per acre per 
Constituent per 365 day period) 365 day period) 
Arsenic 2.0 1.8   
Copper 75 67   
Zinc 140 125   
 
   c. Additional constituent limits may be required, from the application information or subsequent 
monitoring in a permit thereafter, but such needs shall be assessed on an individual project basis. 
 
   d. No person shall apply animal manure and other animal by-products to land if any of the loading 
rates in Table 1 of Section 400.60.B.1 have been reached. 
 
   e. No person shall apply animal manure and other animal by-products to land during a 365-day 
period after the annual application rate in Table 3 of Section 400.60.B.1 has been reached. 
 
   f. If animal manure and other animal by-products have not been applied to the site, the cumulative 
amount for each constituent listed in Table 2 of Section 400.60.B.1 may be applied to the site in accordance 
with Section 400.60.B.1.a.i (cumulative loading rate shall not exceed the cumulative constituent loading 
rate). 



101 
 

 
   g. If animal manure and other animal by-products have been applied to the site and the cumulative 
amount of each constituent applied to the site in the animal manure and other animal by-products is known, 
the cumulative amount of each constituent applied to the site shall be used to determine the additional 
amount of each constituent that can be applied to the site in accordance with Section 400.60.B.1.a.i 
(cumulative loading rate shall not exceed the cumulative constituent loading rate). 
 
   h. Manure application shall not exceed the agronomic rate of application for plant available nitrogen 
(PAN) for the intended crop(s) on an annual basis. For those years that fertilizer is land applied, manures 
in combination with the fertilizer shall not exceed the agronomic rate of nutrient utilization of the intended 
crop(s). 
 
  2. Any person who land applies animal manure and other animal by-products shall ensure that the 
applicable requirements in this part are met when the animal manure and other animal by-products are 
applied to the land. 
 
  3. When the Department receives complaints on a land application site, the Department may restrict 
land application of animal manure on this site completely or during certain time periods. 
 
 C. Requirements for the land application of animal manure and other animal by-products. 
 
  1. Animal manure and other animal by-products shall not be applied to land that is saturated from 
recent precipitation, flooded, frozen, or snow-covered. Animal manure and other animal by-products shall 
not be applied during inclement weather, or when a significant rain event is forecasted to occur within 48 
hours.Manure (solid or liquid) shall only be applied when weather and soil conditions are favorable and 
when prevailing winds are blowing away from nearby dwellings. Animal manure and other animal 
by-products should not be applied to land when the soil is saturated, flooded, during rain events, or when a 
significant rain event is forecasted to occur within forty-eight (48) hours. 
 
  2. Animal manure and other animal by-products shall not be placed directly in groundwater. 
 
  3. Animal manure and other animal by-products shall not be applied to cropland more than thirty (30) 
days before planting or during dormant periods for perennial species, unless otherwise approved by the 
Department in an emergency situation. 
 
  4. The land application equipment, when used once or more per year, shall be calibrated at least 
annually by the person who land applies animal manure; more frequent calibrations may be required in a 
permit to ensure that proper application rates are being attained. If the land application equipment has not 
been used in over a year, the equipment shall be calibrated prior to use.The land application equipment, 
when used once or more per year, shall be calibrated at least annually by the applicator. A permit may 
require more frequent calibrations to ensure proper application rates. The two (2) most recent calibration 
records should be retained by the broker/land applier and made available for Department review upon 
request. If the land application equipment has not been used in over a year, the equipment shall be calibrated 
prior to use. 
 
  5. If the broker chooses to offer manure analysis as a service, the manure shall be analyzed at least 
once per year. If the broker does not perform manure analysis, the animal producer shall provide the broker 
with a copy of the most recent manure analysis. Dry animal manure information (as appropriate) shall be 
included as follows: 
 
   a. Dry animal manure shall be analyzed for the following: 



102 
 

 
    i. Nutrients (on a dry weight basis). 
 
     (a) Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (mg/kg). 
 
     (b) Total inorganic nitrogen (mg/kg). 
 
     (c) Total ammonia nitrogen (mg/kg) and Total nitrate, nitrogen (mg/kg). 
 
     (d) P2O5 (mg/kg). 
      
     (e) K2O (mg/kg). 
 
     (f) Calcium Carbonate equivalency (if animal manure is alkaline stabilized). 
 
    ii. Constituents (on a dry weight basis). 
 
     (a) Arsenic (mg/kg). 
 
     (b) Copper (mg/kg). 
 
     (c) Zinc (mg/kg). 
 
   b. Name, address, email, and telephone number of the laboratory conducting the analyses. 
 
   c. Analysis shall be conducted by Clemson University Extension Service or a laboratory certified 
by the Department. This laboratory shall have and maintain certification for the constituents to be analyzed. 
 
  6. Permittees do not have to analyze for any constituent that they can demonstrate to the satisfaction 
of the Department is not present in their manure. 
 
  7. No person(s) accepting or purchasing manure or other animal by-products from a manure broker 
shall apply animal manure and other animal by-products to the land except in accordance with the 
requirements in this part. The broker shall inform the recipient of their responsibility to properly manage 
the land application of manure to prevent discharge of pollutants to waters of the State (including ephemeral 
and intermittent streams) and ditches that lead to waters of the State. 
 
  8. An animal producer who supplies animal manure to a broker/land applier shall provide the 
broker/land applier with the concentration of plant available nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, and the 
concentration of all other constituents listed in the permit. UnlessIf the broker/land applier is providing an 
additional service of performing the manure analysis, collecting the manure samples to be analyzed, which 
shall be agreed upon up-front in the manure transfer contract, the analysis shall identify the name of the 
farm where the manure originated. 
 
  9. Animal manure and other animal by-products shall not be applied to or discharged onto a land 
surface when the vertical separation between the manure and other animal by-products and the seasonal 
water table is less than 1.5 feet at the time of application. For special cases, no land application can occur 
when the vertical separation from the ground surface to the water table is less than 1.5 feet at the time of 
application unless a situation is deemed an emergency with departmental concurrence. 
 



103 
 

  10. Soil sampling (6-8 inches depth) shall be conducted for each field prior to manure application to 
determine the appropriate application rate. Each field should be sampled once per year. If manure 
application frequency will be less than once per year, at least one (1) soil sample should be taken prior to 
returning to that field for land application again. This sample shall not be more than one (1) year old. All 
new manure utilization areas shall be evaluated using the NRCS-CPS to determine the suitability for 
application and the limiting nutrient (nitrogen or phosphorus). This information shall be obtained from 
person(s) accepting dry animal manure and other animal by-products prior to the delivery or land 
application of animal manure and other animal by-products by the broker/land applier. Soil phosphorus 
shall be addressed according to NRCS-CPS in the broker management plan. However, fields that are high 
in phosphorus may also be required to incorporate additional runoff control or soil conservation features as 
directed by the Department. The Department may require additional limits on soil phosphorus in the permit 
conditions. Additional soil sampling may be required by the Department on a case-by-case basis to ensure 
there is no potential for groundwater contamination. 
 
  11. The permittee shall obtain information needed to comply with the requirements in this part. 
 
  12. A Manure Transfer Contract shall be developed for the Bbroker to use with any person who is 
accepting manure in quantities greater than twelve (12) tons per recipient per year. The contract should 
contain, at a minimum, the following information: 
 
   a. Name, address, email, county, and telephone number of the person who is purchasing or accepting 
animal manure and other animal by-products; 
 
   b. Name, address, email, CAMM number, county, and telephone number of the broker who is selling 
or providing animal manure and other animal by-products; 
 
   bc. Manure nutrient composition (pounds per ton of Plant Available Nitrogen, Phosphorus, and 
Potassium) to be filled in or provided by the broker/land applier. This information shall be obtained from 
the manure analysis results and the broker shall provide this information on the manure transfer contract; 
 
   cd. Land Application Field Information: 
 
    i. Physical Description (acreage, crop, soil type); 
 
    ii. Soil Test Results (Nitrogen, Phosphorus, Potassium, Zinc, and Copper in pounds/acre); and 
 
    iii. Recommended Application Rates (Nitrogen, Phosphorus, and Potassium in pounds per acre 
as reported on a soil test). 
 
   de. Attach a copy of a soils map, topographic map, county tax map, plat, FSA map, ORor a site plan 
sketch which includes the following information: 
 
    i. Manure application area with setbacks outlined; 
 
    ii. Known water supply wells within 100 feet of the property line; 
 
    iii. Adjacent surface waters, including ditches, streams, creeks and ponds; and 
 
    iv. Identification of roads and highways to indicate location. 
 
   ef. Description of application equipment and name of person to land apply manure; 



104 
 

 
   fg. Signed agreement that informs the land owner/applier that he is responsible and liable for land 
applying the animal manure and other animal by-products in accordance with these regulations; and 
 
   gh. A copy of the land application requirements shall be provided to the recipient of the manure. 
 
  13. All persons who routinely accept animal manure and other animal by-products, in quantities greater 
than twelve (12) tons per recipient per year, from a broker shall be listed in the approved Broker 
Management Plan at the time of permit renewal. The Broker Management Plan shall include the appropriate 
manure utilization area information for the sites routinely used by other persons. The person accepting the 
manure may be required by the Department to have a Management Plan and a permit for their manure 
utilization areas. 
   
  14. Dead animals shall be removed from dry manureanimal manure and other animal by-products prior 
to land application. The livestock producer is responsible for removing all dead animals from the manure 
prior to transfer. Manure brokers/land appliers may not accept manure that contains dead animals, unless 
the broker/land applier plans to separate out the dead animals and handle the dead animals in accordance 
with a dead animal disposal plan approved by the Department. 
 
  15. When the Department receives nuisancecomplaints on a land application site, the Department may 
restrict land application of animal manure on the site completely or during certain time periods. 
 
  16. The Department may require manureanimal manure and other animal by-products, spread on 
cropland, to be disked in immediately. 
 
  17. Manure (solid or liquid) shall only be applied when weather and soil conditions are favorable and 
when prevailing winds are blowing away from nearby opposite dwellings. Manure (solid or liquid) shall 
only be applied when weather and soil conditions are favorable and when prevailing winds are blowing 
away from nearby dwellings. Animal manure should not be applied to land when the soil is saturated, 
flooded, during rain events, or when a significant rain event is forecasted to occur within forty-eight (48) 
hours. 
 
  18. Any manureanimal manure and other animal by-products that contains fly larvae and fly pupae 
shall be disked into the ground immediately or be treated with an approved and effective fly control method. 
If the manure utilization on a land application area creates a fly problem for the community, the owner 
and/or applicator shall be responsible for the control of all flies resulting from the application of the manure. 
Assistance in fly control and fly problem prevention can be obtained through contact with the local Clemson 
Extension Service Office. 
 
  19. ManureAnimal manure and other animal by-products shall not be spread in the floodplain if there 
is danger of a major runoff event, unless the manure is incorporated during application or immediately after 
application. 
 
  20. Should the manure be stockpiled more than three (3) days,If the manure is stockpiled outside, the 
manure shall be stored on a concrete pad and/or other acceptable meansapproved pad and covered with an 
acceptable cover to prevent odors, vectors and runoff on a daily basis (unless otherwise stated in the permit). 
The cover should be properly vented with screen wire to let the gases escape. The edges of the cover should 
be properly anchored. 
 
  21. Manure Brokers/Land Appliers and other manure transporters shall use all sanitary precautions in 
the collection, storage, transportation, and spreading of manuresanimal manure and other animal 



105 
 

by-products. The body of all vehicles transporting manure shall be wholly enclosed, or shall at all times, 
while in transit, be kept covered with an appropriate cover provided with eyelets and rope tie-downs, or any 
other approved method which shall prevent blowing or spillage of loose material or liquids. Should any 
spillage occur during the transportation of the manureanimal manure and other animal by-products, the 
owner/operator shall take immediate steps to clean up the manureanimal manure and other animal 
by-products. 
 
 D.  Setbacks for manure utilization areas. 
 
  1. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and a residence 
is located is 300 feet. If there are no residences within 300 feet of the manure utilization area, manure may 
be utilized up to the property line. The setback may be waived with the written consent of the owner of the 
residence. If the application method is injection or immediate incorporation (same day), manure can be 
utilized up to the property line. 
 
  2. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and waters of 
the State (including ephemeral and intermittent streams) is 100 feet when dry manure is spread on the 
ground surface, 75 feet when incorporation is the application method, and 50 feet when injection is the 
application method. When incorporation is accomplished within twenty-four (24) hours of the initial 
application, the distance can be reduced to 50 feet. 
 
  3. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and ditches and 
swales that discharge to waters of the State including ephemeral and intermittent streams is 50 feet. 
 
  4. The minimum separation distance in feetrequired between a manure utilization area and a potable 
drinking water well is 100200 feet. 
 
  5. The Department may establish additional application buffer setbacks for property boundaries, 
roadways, residential developments, dwellings, water wells, drainage ways, and surface water (including 
ephemeral and intermittent streams) as deemed necessary to protect public health and the environment. 
Factors taken into consideration in the establishment of additional setbacks would be animal manure 
application method, adjacent land usage, public access, aerosols, runoff prevention, adjacent groundwater 
usage, and potential for vectors and odors. 
 
 E. The Department may establish additional permitting restrictions based upon soil and groundwater 
conditions to ensure protection of the groundwater and surface waters of the State (including ephemeral 
and intermittent streams). Criteria may include but is not limited to soil permeability, clay content, depth 
to bedrock, rock outcroppings, and depth to groundwateraquifer vulnerability, proximity to a State 
Approved Source Water Protection Area, and depth to the seasonal high groundwater table. 
 
 F. The Department may establish permit conditions to require that animal manure and other animal 
by- products application rates remain consistent with the lime and fertilizer requirements for the cover, 
feed, food, and fiber crops based on land grant universities (in the southeast) published lime and fertilizer 
recommendations (, such as the Lime and Fertilizer Recommendations, Clemson Extension Services, 
Circular 476). 
 
 G.  The Department may establish minimum requirements in permits for soil and/or groundwater 
monitoring, for manure utilization areas. Factors taken into consideration in the establishment of soil and 
groundwater monitoring shall include groundwater depth, operation flexibility, application frequency, type 
of animal manure and other animal by-products, size of manure utilization area, aquifer vulnerability, 
proximity to a State Approved Source Water Protection Area, and loading rate. 



106 
 

 
  1. The Department may establish pre-application and post-application site monitoring requirements in 
permits for limiting nutrients or limiting constituents as determined by the Department. 
 
  2. The Department may establish permit conditions, which require the permittee to reduce, modify, or 
eliminate the animal manure and other animal by-products applications based on the results of this 
monitoring data. 
 
  3. The Department may modify, revoke and reissue, or revoke a permit based on the monitoring data. 
 
 H.  The Department may require manure to be treated for odor control (i.e., composting or lime stabilizing 
for dry operations) prior to land application if the manure is not incorporated into the soil at the time of land 
application or if odors exist or are suspected to exist at an undesirable level. Manure, which has a very 
undesirable level of odor before treatment, such as turkey manure, shall not normally be permitted to be 
land applied on land near residences without appropriate treatment for odor control. 
 
400.70. Other Requirements. 
 
 A.  On a case-by-case basis, the Department may impose additional or more stringent requirements for 
the management, handling, treatment, storage, or utilization of animal manure and other animal 
by-products. 
 
 B. The following cases shall be evaluated for additional or more stringent requirements:  
 
  1. Source water protection. Facilities and manure utilization areas located within a state approved 
source water protection area.  
 
  2. 303(d) Impaired Waterbodies List. Facilities and manure utilization areas located upstream of an 
impaired waterbody. 
 
  3. Proximity to Outstanding Resource Waters, trout waters, shellfish waters, or would adversely affect 
a federally listed endangered or threatened species, its habitat, or a proposed or designated critical habitat.  
 
  4. Aquifer Vulnerability Area, an area where groundwater recharge may affect an aquifer. 
 
 C. If an adverse impact to the waters of the State, (including ephemeral and intermittent streams and 
groundwater,) from animal manure and other animal by-products handling, storage, treatment, or utilization 
practices are documented, through monitoring levels exceeding the standards set forth in 
RegulationR.61-68 or a significant adverse trend occurs, the Department may require the person responsible 
for the animal manure and other animal by-products to conduct an investigation to determine the extent of 
impact. The Department may require the person to remediate the water to within acceptable levels as set 
forth in RegulationR.61-68. 
 
 D. Animal manure shall not be released to waters of the State, (including ephemeral and intermittent 
streams). 
 
 E. Animal medical waste shall not be land applied with animal manure and other animal by-products. 
 
 F. Animal manure and other animal by-products shall not be removed by a manure broker from a 
quarantined farm, until that quarantine has been lifted by the State Veterinarian. 
 



107 
 

 G. Animal manure and other animal by-products that are quarantined for noxious weed seed 
contamination shall not be removed by a manure broker unless approved by Clemson Plant Industry. 
 
 H. When the Department determines that an undesirable condition exists, the broker/land applier shall 
take action to correct the undesirable condition to the degree and within the time frame designated by the 
Department. 
 
400.80. Odor Control Requirements. 
 
 A.  An odor abatement plan shall be included, which may consist of the following: 
 
  1. Operation and maintenance practices which are used to eliminate or minimize undesirable odor 
levels in the form of a Best Management Plan for Odor Control; 
 
  2. Use of treatment processes for the reduction of undesirable odor levels; 
 
  3. Additional setbacks from property lines beyond the minimum setbacks given in this part; 
 
  4. Other methods as may be appropriate; or 
 
  5. Any combination of these methods. 
 
 B. Person(s) who transport, treat, store, or land apply manure and other animal by-products shall utilize 
Best Management Practices normally associated with the proper operation and maintenance of an animal 
manure and other animal by-products treatment or storage facility and any manure utilization area to ensure 
an undesirable level of odor does not exist. 
 
 C. No person(s) who transport, treat, store, or land apply manure and other animal by-products may 
cause, allow, or permit emission into the ambient air of any substance or combination of substances in 
quantities that an undesirable level of odor is determined to result unless preventive measures of the type 
set out below are taken to abate or control the emission to the satisfaction of the Department. When an odor 
problem comes to the attention of the Department through field surveillance or specific complaints, the 
Department shall determine if the odor is at an undesirable level. 
 
 D.  After determining an undesirable level of odor exists, the Department shall require remediation of the 
undesirable level of odor.For an existing facility, iIf the Department determines an undesirable level of odor 
exists, the Department may require these abatement or control practices, including, but not limited to the 
following: 
 
 E. The Department may require these abatement or control practices: 
 
  1. Remove or dispose of odorous materials; 
 
  2. Methods in handling and storage of odorous materials that minimize emissions; 
 
   a. Dry manure to a moisture content of fifty (50)% percent or less; 
 
   b. Use disinfection to kill microorganisms present in manure; 
 
   c. Aerate manure; 
 



108 
 

   d. Compost solid manure and other animal by-products; and/or 
 
   e. Utilize Oodor Ccontrol Aadditives. 
 
  3. Prescribed standards in the maintenance of premises to reduce odorous emissions; 
 
   a. Cover or reduce the surface area of manure and other animal by-products storage. (Vents shall be 
provided for release of pressure created by manure gases if completely sealed covers are utilized); 
 
   b. Plant trees around or downwind of the manure and other animal by-products storage and treatment 
facilities; 
 
   c. Incorporate manure and other animal by-products immediately, within twenty-four (24) hours 
after land application; 
  
   d. Select appropriate times for land application. 
 
  4. Best available control technology to reduce odorous emissions. 
 
 FE. If the permittee fails to control or abate the odor problems at a land application site to the satisfaction 
and within a time frame determined by the Department, the broker permit may be revoked. If the permittee 
fails to control or abate the odor problems at land application sites, approval for land application of manure 
on the manure utilization area in question may be revoked. Additional land may be required to be added to 
the animal facilitybroker management plan, if necessary to provide a sufficient amount of land for manure 
utilization. 
 
400.90. Vector Control Requirements. 
 
 A.  A Vector Abatement Plan shall be developed for the dry animal manure and other animal by-products 
storage or treatment facility or land application areas, (if applicable). The Vector Abatement Plan shall at a 
minimum consist of the following: 
 
  1. Normal management practices used at the dry animal manure and other animal by-products storage 
or treatment facility to ensure there is no accumulation of organic or inorganic materials to the extent and 
in such a manner as to create a harborage for rodents or other vectors that may be dangerous to public 
health. 
 
  2. A list of specific actions to be taken by the broker/land applier if vectors are identified as a problem 
at the dry animal manure and other animal by-products storage or treatment facility or land application site. 
These actions should be listed for each vector problem, e.g., actions to be taken for fly problems, actions to 
be taken for rodent problems, etc. 
 
  3. If the broker is not performing land application, but is only transferring the manure to a person who 
is accepting responsibility for handling the manure in accordance with these regulations, the person 
accepting the manure shall be responsible for correcting any nuisance problems resulting from the land 
application of manure. 
 
 B. No broker/land applier may cause, allow, or permit vectors to breed or accumulate in quantities that 
result in an nuisanceundesirable  level, as determined by the Department. 
 



109 
 

 C. After determining a vector problem exists, the Department shall require remediation of the problem 
to the satisfaction of the Department.For an existing broker/land applier, if the Department determines a 
vector problem exists, the Department may require these abatement or control practices, including, but not 
limited to, the following: 
 
 D. The Department may require abatement or control practices, including, but not limited to the 
following: 
 
  1. Remove and properly dispose of vector infested materials; 
 
  2. Methods in handling and storage of materials that minimize vector attraction; 
 
   a. Compost solid manure; 
 
   b. Appropriately use vector control chemicals, poisons, or insecticides (take caution to prevent 
insecticide resistance problems); 
 
   c. Utilize traps, or electrically charged devices; 
 
   d. Utilize biological agents; 
 
   e. Utilize Integrated Pest Management; and/or 
   
   f. Incorporate manure and other animal by-products immediately, within twenty-four (24) hours 
after land application. 
 
  3. Prescribed standards in the maintenance of premises to reduce vector attraction; 
 
   a. Remove any standing water that may be a breeding area for vectors; 
 
   b. Keep storage and/or treatment facilities clean and free from trash or debris; 
 
   c. Properly use and service bait stations; 
 
   d. Keep grass and weeds mowed around the manure storage and/or treatment areas; 
 
   e. Cover or reduce the surface area of manure and other animal by-products storage. (Vents shall be 
provided for release of pressure created by manure gases if completely sealed covers are used); 
 
   f. Conduct a weekly vector monitoring program; 
 
   g. Be aware of insecticide resistance problems, and rotate use of different insecticides; and/or 
 
   h. Ensure proper grading and drainage around the buildings to prevent rain water from entering the 
buildings or ponding around the buildings. 
 
  4. Utilize the best available control technology to reduce vector attraction and breeding. 
 
400.100. Record Keeping. 
 



110 
 

 A.  A copy of the approved Broker/Land Applier Management Plan, including approved updates, and a 
copy of the permit(s) issued to the broker/land applier shall be retained by the permittee for as long as the 
broker is in operation. 
 
 B. All application information submitted to the Department shall be retained by the permittee for eight 
(8) years.However, if the facility was permitted prior to the effective date of this regulation, and the 
permittee has previously discarded these documents since there was no requirement to maintain records at 
that time, this requirement shall not apply. 
 
 C. Animal mManure Records. These records shall be kept for fourfive (5) years. The records shall include 
the following: 
 
  1. Name, address, email, county, and phone number of all producers from whom the broker/land 
applier purchases or accepts animal manure; 
 
  2. Sampling results for the animal manure; 
 
  3. Amount (in tons) of animal manure obtained from each producer; and 
 
  4. Date of transfer. 
 
 D.  All completed Manure Transfer contracts, including soil analysis results, between the broker and the 
person(s) purchasing or accepting animal manure, shall be kept by the broker for eight (8) years. 
 
 E. All records retained by the broker/land applier shall be kept at an appropriate business office, or other 
location, as approved by the Department. 
 
 F. All records retained by the broker/land applier shall be made available to the Department during 
normal business hours for review and copying, upon request by the Department. 
 
400.110. Reporting. 
 
 A.  The Department may establish reporting requirements in permits as it deems appropriate. These 
reporting requirements may include the following: 
 
  1. Manure Balance Sheet. Listing the producer/farm name and amount (tons) of manure provided and 
a listing of all person(s) who bought or accepted animal manure and the amount (tons) accepted. Any 
manure that is currently in storage or treatment structures at the broker/land applier facility shall be 
accounted for in this report. 
 
 B. The Department may require on a case-by-case basis any of the required records, as outlined in section 
400.100, to be reported on an annual basis. 
 
400.120. Training Requirements. 
 
 A.  An owner/operator of a manure brokering/land applying business shall be trained and certified on the 
operation of animal manure management under the poultry version of the certification program created and 
operated by Clemson University (CAMM). The certification shall be obtained within one (1) year of the 
effective date of the issued permit. 
 



111 
 

 B. The certification program shall be completed by owners/operators of existing brokerage/land applier 
businesses within one (1) year of the effective date of this regulation or of a transfer of ownership approval. 
 
 B C. Failure to obtain the trainingcertification and education as provided in this Section shall be deemed 
a violation of this Rregulation and a violation of the permit. 
 
400.130. Violations. 
 
 A. Persons who violate this regulation or any permit issued under this regulation are subject to the 
penalties in Sections 48-1-320 (Criminal Penalties) and 48-1-330 (Civil Penalties) of the South Carolina 
Pollution Control Act. 
 

PART 500 
INTEGRATOR REGISTRATION PROGRAM. 

 
  500.10. General. 
  500.20. Submittal Requirements. 
  500.30. Certificate of Integrator Registration. 
  500.40. Reporting. 
  500.50. Other Requirements. 
  500.60. Violations. 
 
500.10. General. 
 
 A.  The Department encourages Integrators to be involved with the permitting and compliance of their 
growers. 
 
 B. The Department encourages Integrators to assist growers in the disposal of dead animals and the 
proper utilization of animal manure. 
 
 C. Integrating companies shall inform each prospective grower that they are required by State law to 
obtain a permit to construct and an approval to operate from the Department, and a certification of 
construction from the engineering company or NRCS. The Department recommends that growers verify an 
exemption status from the Department prior to construction of an agricultural animal facility. 
 
500.20. Submittal Requirements. 
 
 A.  Each integrating company that contracts with animal producers that operate facilities located within 
the State shall submit to the Department a Request for Registration form, as provided by the Department. 
The integrator shall work with the Department to identify growers that are unpermitted. The Department 
may schedule an annual inspection in order to review grower lists and identify unpermitted farms. The 
integrator shall provide the Department any additional information needed to contact unpermitted growers 
contracting with their company.Existing Integrators or integrating companies shall submit a request form 
to the Department no later than one year after the effective date of these regulations. 
 
 B. Animal Manure Analysis Information. If the producers that contract with the integrator use the same 
feed rations and have dry animal manure analyses that come out to be consistently the same, they may 
qualify to use one (1) analysis for their individual testing requirement. However, if any of these producers 
utilize a different feed ration, utilize a significant amount of medications as compared to the others, or use 
any other inconsistent bedding materials, animal manure treatments or vector treatments, they shall be 
required to run a separate and individual analysis on their animal manure. The Integrator is responsible for 



112 
 

notifying the Department of any significant feed composition changes. This benefit shall not be available 
to liquid manure handling systems, since other factors specific to each site, such as rainfall, could affect the 
nutrient analysis of the manure. 
 
 C. If an integrating company can certify through general feed composition reports that a certain 
constituent, such as arsenic, is not present in their feed or medications, the producers that contract with that 
integrator may be exempt from testing for that constituent. The integrator shall submit a written request, 
along with general feed composition reports, and a list of growers who are using this feed ration. The 
Department shall approve this report in writing before the constituent can be removed from the analysis 
requirements. Each grower who is included in this exemption shall be notified in writing by the Department. 
 
 D.  Swine Integrators must submit a plan addressing cumulative environmental and public health impacts 
of their contracted facilities with their first request for integrator certification. The plan must cover the 
integrator’s existing contract growers and the projected three (3) year increase in the number of permitted 
facilities and swine. The plan must include: 
 
  1. The general area served by the integrator; 
 
  2. The number of existing swine facilities under contract; 
 
  3. The number of swine grown (broken down by facility); 
 
  4. The number of projected new facilities (broken down by facility size) with the total number of 
swine; 
 
  5. The integrating company’s: procedures, protocols, policies, programs, required manure treatment 
and utilization technologies, etc. to ensure the cumulative impacts from their contracted facilities do not 
cause any adverse impact to the environment or public health; and 
 
  6. An assessment of the adverse environmental or public impact, if any, from the existing and proposed 
swine facilities under contract with the integrator. 
 
  E. 7. The Swine Integrator must also provide to the Department any other supplemental information 
that may reasonably be required by the Department to assess cumulative adverse environmental or public 
health impacts. 
 
  F.8. The environmental and public health impact assessment plan must be approved by the Department 
before integrator certification can be granted. Once approved, the integrator may update the plan at any 
time. Also, the Department may require the plan be updated from time to time. 
 
 GE. All permits for growers under contract with the integrator must be in accordance with the integrator’s 
approved plan. 
 
 F. All integrators are required to submit, on an annual basis by December 31st of each year, a list of active 
and inactive growers that have been added and/or released from their contracts. 
 
500.30. Certificate of Integrator Registration. 
 
 A.  The Department shall issue a certificate of integrator registration to integrators or integrating 
companies that meet all the requirements of this part. 
 



113 
 

 B. All integrators or integrating companies shall hold a valid certificate of registration to operate in the 
State. 
 
 C. Certificates of integrator registration issued under this part do not have any administrative procedures 
for public notice under these regulations. 
 
 D.  The certificate of integrator registration may be modified, revoked, or reissued if the requirements of 
this part are not met by the integrator or integrating company. 
 
500.40. Reporting. 
 
 A.  The Department may establish reporting requirements for integrators as it deems appropriate. These 
reporting requirements may include the following: 
 
  1. General feed composition reports. Feed composition reports provided in accordance with this 
section shall be exempt from disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act; and 
 
  2. A list of any special treatments or chemicals added to the manure or manure storage structure that 
are required by the integrator. 
 
500.50. Other Requirements. 
 
 A. An integrator or integrating company shall not knowingly provide animals to an animal facility that 
does not hold a valid agricultural permit and an approval to operate from the Department. Any existing, 
unexpired contracts may be fulfilled, but the integrator may not renew the contract until the facility has 
obtained a valid permit and approval to operate. If an integrator knowingly provides animals to an animal 
facility that does not hold a valid permit, the Department may require the integrator to remove the animals 
from the facility and be subject to Part 500.60.The Department shall allow a grace period of at least one 
year for existing unpermitted farms. 
 
 B. The integrator or integrating company shall take reasonable steps to ensure that the animal facilities 
that are under contract with the company are certified, trained, and educated on compliance with their permit 
to include the following: 
 
  1. Notify growers of their responsibility to update their Animal Facility Management Plan and permit 
if changes are made in the operation of the farm; and 
 
  2. Provide information on technical assistance to its growers on compliance and assist the producers 
in selecting a corrective action. 
 
500.60. Violations. 
 
 A. Persons who violate this regulation or any permit issued under this regulation are subject to the 
penalties in Sections 48-1-320 (Criminal Penalties) and 48-1-330 (Civil Penalties) of the South Carolina 
Pollution Control Act. 
 
Part 600. Severability 

 
PART 600 

SEVERABILITY 
 



114 
 

 A. Should a section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase, or other part of this regulation be declared 
invalid for any reason, the remainder shall not be affected.  
 
Fiscal Impact Statement: 
 
The amendments have no substantial fiscal or economic impact on the state or its political subdivisions. 
There are no anticipated additional costs by the Department or state government due to any requirements 
of this regulation. 
 
Statement of Need and Reasonableness: 
 
The following presents an analysis of the factors listed in 1976 Code Sections 1-23-115(C)(1)-(3) and 
(9)-(11): 
 
DESCRIPTION OF REGULATION: 61-43, Standards for the Permitting of Agricultural Animal Facilities. 
 
Purpose: The Department amends R.61-43, Standards for the Permitting of Agricultural Animal Facilities, 
to incorporate statutory changes made by the General Assembly’s passage of Act 139 of 2018, and to correct 
typographical errors, citation errors, and other errors and omissions. These amendments expand and clarify 
definitions applicable to agricultural animal facility regulations and standards, streamline permitting 
options, clarify reporting requirements, identify the Department’s consistent noticing method, improve the 
regulation’s organizational structure, and provide corrections for consistency, clarification, reference, 
punctuation, codification, formatting, and spelling to improve the overall text of R.61-43. 
 
Legal Authority: 1976 Code Sections 44-1-60, 44-1-65, 46-45-80, and 48-1-10 et seq. 
 
Plan for Implementation: The DHEC Regulation Development Update (accessible at 
http://www.scdhec.gov/Agency/RegulationsAndUpdates/RegulationDevelopmentUpdate/) provides a 
summary of and link to these amendments. Additionally, printed copies are available for a fee from the 
Department’s Freedom of Information Office. Upon taking legal effect, Department personnel will take 
appropriate steps to inform the regulated community of the amendments and any associated information. 
 
DETERMINATION OF NEED AND REASONABLENESS OF THE REGULATION BASED ON ALL 
FACTORS HEREIN AND EXPECTED BENEFITS: 
 
The Department amends R.61-43 to adopt the changes of Act 139 that amended S.C. Code Sections 44-1-60 
and 46-45-80 and added Section 44-1-65. S.C. Code Section 44-1-65 establishes specific requirements for 
review and appeal of decisions by the Department regarding the permitting, licensing, certification, or other 
approval of poultry and other animal facilities, except for swine facilities. Section 44-1-60 sets procedures 
for reviewing permits for poultry and other animal facilities, except swine facilities, relating to appeals from 
Department decisions giving rise to contested cases. Section 46-45-80 includes provisions regarding 
setback distances for poultry and other animal facilities, except swine facilities, so as to prohibit requiring 
additional setback distances if established distances are achieved, allow waiver of the established setback 
distances in certain circumstances, and other purposes. Since the above-referenced statutory provisions 
added and removed requirements currently contained in the R.61-43, Standards for the Permitting of 
Agricultural Animal Facilities, the regulation should be amended to reflect these changes. 
The Department also makes amendments to correct typographical errors, citation errors, and other errors 
and omissions that have come to the Department’s attention. These include correcting form references and 
regulation references, updating definitions, adding and/or omitting language and punctuation, clarification, 
reorganizing sections for consistency, and other such changes.  
 



115 
 

The amendments seek to simplify, clarify, and correct elements of the Department’s agriculture animal 
facility permitting regulations while supporting the Department’s goal of promoting and protecting the 
health of the public and the environment in an efficient and effective manner.  
 
DETERMINATION OF COSTS AND BENEFITS: 
 
The Department does not anticipate an increase in costs to the state, its political subdivisions, or the 
regulated community resulting from these revisions. Changes to the public notice process will be a cost 
saving measure to the applicants and the Department. The changes are meant to create a more usable and 
functional regulation that will assist the regulated community and the citizens of South Carolina.  
 
UNCERTAINTIES OF ESTIMATES: 
 
There are no uncertainties of estimates relative to the costs to the state or its political subdivisions.  
 
EFFECT ON THE ENVIRONMENT AND PUBLIC HEALTH: 
 
These amendments seek to provide continued state-focused protection of the environment and public health. 
 
DETRIMENTAL EFFECT ON THE ENVIRONMENT AND PUBLIC HEALTH IF THE REGULATION 
IS NOT IMPLEMENTED: 
 
If these revisions are not implemented, R.61-43 will not include the policy initiatives advanced by Act 139. 
 
Statement of Rationale: 
 
The Department amends R.61-43, Standards for the Permitting of Agricultural Animal Facilities, to 
incorporate statutory changes made by the General Assembly’s passage of Act 139 of 2018 and to correct 
typographical errors, citation errors, and other errors and omissions. These amendments expand and clarify 
definitions applicable to agricultural animal facility regulations and standards, streamline permitting 
options, clarify reporting requirements, identify the Department’s consistent noticing method, improve the 
regulation’s organizational structure, and provide corrections for consistency, clarification, reference, 
punctuation, codification, formatting, and spelling to improve the overall text of R.61-43. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



116 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT B 
 

SUMMARY OF PUBLIC COMMENTS AND DEPARTMENT RESPONSES 
 

Document No. 4886 
R.61-43, Standards for the Permitting of Agricultural Animal Facilities 

 
As of the September 23, 2019, close of the Notice of Proposed Regulation comment period: 

 

NAME SECTION 
CITATION PUBLIC COMMENT DEPARTMENT 

RESPONSE 
Dave Wicker, 
Fieldale Farms 

Definitions Add the word “manure” to the “Animal 
Facility Management Plan” name. 

Not adopted. The plan 
encompasses more than 
just manure; therefore 
the name remains as is. 

Dave Wicker, 
Fieldale Farms 

Definitions 
Throughout 
document 

Change the term from “agricultural 
facility” to “producer” to be consistent 

with terms in the regulations. 

Adopted. This will 
include all who produce 
waste. 

Dave Wicker, 
Fieldale Farms 

Definitions Change “Certificate of Construction” to 
“Certificate of Completion.” 

Not adopted. The form 
required is a 
“Certificate of 
Construction” from the 
engineer. 

Ethan Ware, 
Williams Mullin 

Law Firm 

Definitions “Critical Habitat” add “as designated by 
U.S. Endangered Species Act and the 
South Carolina Department of Natural 

Resources.” 

Adopted. Change has 
been made. 

Ethan Ware, 
Williams Mullin 

Law Firm 

Definitions Add the word “air” before emission in 
the definition for “Discharge.” 

Adopted. Change has 
been made. 

Ken Martin and 
Dave Wicker, 
Fieldale Farms 

Definitions Do not like the use of the term “Inactive 
Facility”; keep permits active for future 

use. 

Not adopted. If the 
farm is not being used 
actively for raising 
animals, then the farm 
should be considered 
inactive and the permit 
terminated. 



117 
 

Dave Wicker, 
Fieldale Farms 

Definitions Change “Manure Application Rate” to 
include “rate of manure in tons/acre 
applied to land at agronomic rates.” 

Adopted. Change has 
been made using 
similar language. 

 Dave Wicker, 
Fieldale Farms 

Definitions Remove the term “section” and add 
“part of a plot of land” to the term 
“Mass Burial Site,” as the word 

“section” is defined as an area of one 
square mile. 

Adopted. Change has 
been made. 

Ethan Ware, 
Williams Mullin 

Law Firm 

Definitions 
and 

throughout 
Document 

Remove the definition and replace the 
term “Nuisance” with acceptable 

language to avoid comparison with the 
nuisance laws of South Carolina.  

Adopted. Change has 
been made. 

Ethan Ware, 
Williams Mullin 

Law Firm 

Definitions Redefine the term “Outstanding 
Recreational of Ecological Resource 

Waters.” 

Not adopted. This term 
is defined using the 
same term as found in 
R.61-68, Water 
Classifications and 
Standards, for 
consistency with other 
Department 
regulations. 

Ken Martin and 
Dave Wicker, 
Fieldale Farms 

Definitions Add the word “annual” to the Rolling 
Average definition. 

Agreed and the change 
has been made 

Charleston 
Laffin, Poultry 

Federation 

Definitions Prefer to use the term Class I, Class II, 
and Class III, instead of small, large and 

X-large for size of facilities. 

Not adopted. These 
terms are consistent 
with other Department 
regulations. 

Ken Martin and 
Dave Wicker, 
Fieldale Farms 

200.10.D.1 Keep the term “closed” in the language, 
as opposed to the new proposed term 
“inactive.” “The only change was on 

the use of the term “inactive Farm” we 
would want to be able to place back in a 
reasonable time such as 5 years after the 
facility became inactive. At times, due 
to bankruptcies, banks cannot obtain 
possession of a farm for 2 years and 

may take another year to resell the farm. 
We do not want the banks to unable to 
sell the facility due to the farm being 

unpermittable.” 

Not adopted. The term 
“inactive” as defined is 
appropriate for this part 
of the regulation. The 
terms “closed” and 
“inactive” have been 
better defined in the 
proposed changes for 
the regulation. 

Ethan Ware, 
Williams Mullin 

Law Firm 

200.70.F.2 Capitalize the word “receptor” to match 
the definition.  

Adopted. Change has 
been made. 

Gary Spires, 
Farm Bureau 

200.90.B Keep original language from making a 
change from 25 yr/24 hr storm event to 
50 years or 1 ½ feet of freeboard to 2 
feet of freeboard without science or 

Statutes, set precedent. 

Adopted. Changes have 
been made to match the 
swine part of the 
regulations for lagoons. 



118 
 

Dave Wicker, 
Fieldale Farms 

200.150.E Remove the word swine. Adopted. Change has 
been made. 

Dave Wicker, 
Fieldale Farms 

200.160.B Add Broker/Land Applier language to 
be consistent and show responsibility. 

Adopted. Change has 
been made. 

Dave Wicker, 
Fieldale Farms 

Definitions Definition of mg/l and µg/l are 
universal definitions and do not need to 

be defined. 

Adopted. Definitions 
have been deleted. 
Terms were not used in 
the regulation. 

 
 





















































































































































































































Date: December 12, 2019 

To: S.C. Board of Health and Environmental Control 

From: Office of Budgets and Financial Planning 

Re: Public Hearing for Notice of Final Regulation Repealing R.61-1, Medical and Dental 
Scholarship Fund, Document No. 4898 

I. Introduction 

The Office of Budgets and Financial Planning proposes the attached Notice of Final Regulation repealing 
R.61-1, Medical and Dental Scholarship Fund. Legal authority resides in S.C. Code Sections 59-111-510 
through 59-111-580, which established and outlined how the program was to be managed through the 
Department of Health and Environmental Control ("Department"). The Administrative Procedures Act, 
S.C. Code Section 1-23-120(A), requires General Assembly review of this proposed repeal. 

II. Facts 

1. S.C. Code Sections 59-111-510 through 59-111-580 established a Medical and Dental Scholarship Fund 
to be administered by the Department. Pursuant to S.C. Code Section 59-111-580, the Department 
promulgated R.61-1 to administer the program. In 1985, the General Assembly amended the statute to 
eliminate references to scholarships, leaving the program as only a loan fund, revised certain program 
criteria, and made other changes to the program. The regulation was never revised to conform to the 
amended statute. 

2. The Department had a Notice of Drafting published in the March 22, 2019, State Register. 

3. Appropriate Department staff conducted an internal review of the proposed repeal on August 7, 2019. 

4. The Office of Budgets and Financial Planning emailed and phoned SC AHEC Executive Director Ann 
Lefebrve, MSW, CPHQ to inform the organization of the proposed drafting and rationale for the repeal. 

5. The Department had a Notice of Proposed Regulation published in the September 27, 2019, State 
Register. The Department received public comments from (no) people by the October 28, 2019, close of 
the public comment period. . 

ill. Request for Approval 

The Office of Budgets and Financial Planning respectfully requests the Board to find need and 
reasonableness of the attached proposed repeal of R.61-1, Medical and Dental Scholarship Fund, for 
submission to the General Assembly. 

~(!_~._..__J -
Bruce C. Busbee 
Office of Budgets and Financial Planning and Operations Director 



Attachments: 
A. Notice of Final Regulation 



ATTACHMENT A 

STATE REGISTER NOTICE OF FINAL REGULATION 
FOR R.61-1, Medical and Dental Scholarship Fund 

December 12, 2019 

Document No. 4898 
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL 

CHAPTER61 
Statutory Authority: 1976 Code Sections 59-111-510 through 59-111-580 

61-1. Medical and Dental Scholarship Fund. 

Synopsis: 

The Department of Health and Environmental Control ("Department") repeals R.61-1, which implements 
a Medical and Dental Scholarship/Loan Fund established by S.C. Code Sections 59-111-510 through 
59-111-580. The Fund was intended to provide financial assistance for medical and dental school 
educations to recipients who would agree to practice in a rural area of the state for a specified period of 
time. The fund had originally been a scholarship program when the regulation was first adopted but was 
converted by statute to a loan fund in 1985; however, the regulation was never amended to conform to the 
amended statute. The General Assembly last funded the program in the 1988 Appropriations Act for the 
1988-1989 fiscal year. The last recipients completed their service obligations in 1996 following three years 
of residency and four years of service. 

In 1989, when the S.C. General Assembly ceased to fund the Medical and Dental Loan Fund, it established 
a Rural Physician Program to address the undersupply of clinicians in rural and underserved South Carolina 
communities. The new program is administered by the South Carolina Area Health Education Consortium 
and fiscally managed by the Medical University of South Carolina. The program provides incentive grants 
for primary care physicians and advanced practice professionals who commit to practice in a rural or 
underserved area of South Carolina for a period of four years. Per S.C. Code Section 59-123-125, the 
Department's only current involvement with this fund extends to the SC DHEC Commissioner/Director or 
designee serving on the Rural Physician Board. 

The Department had a Notice of Drafting published in the March 22, 2019, South Carolina State Register. 
A Notice of Proposed Regulation was published in the September 27, 2019 State Register. 

Instructions: Repeal R.61-1 , Medical and Dental Scholarship Fund, in its entirety in the South Carolina 
Code of Regulations. 

Text: 

Indicates Matter Stricken 
Indicates New Matter 

61-1 . Medical aad Dental Scholarship Fund. 

1. Public Notice: As soon as the initial appropriation to the Fund is approved by the G0'1emor, and at 
appropriate intervals (at least annually) thereafter, the Office of Communications of the Department of 
Health and Environmental Control shall sead a news release to all ne\\'S media in South Carolina and nearby 



eommumties deseribing the fr',ailability of seholarship funds, the persons eligible, the eontraetual 
obligations to be assumed by sueeessful applieants, and the address for applieation forms and information. 

2. Assignment of Responsibility in Department: The Commissioner shall designate an offiee in the 
Department to be responsible for distribution of applieation forms approved by the Board, for eolleetion of 
eompleted forms, and for performing other staff funetions related to the operation of the Fund. 

3. Deadline for Reeeipt of Applieations: The Board may set from time to time appropriate dates after 
whieh no more applieations v,rill be aeeepted for a partieular granting period. In order that all applieants be 
given equal eonsideration, sueh deadlines 1tYill allov,r adequate time for proeessing the applieations prior to 
final seleetion of sueeessful applieants by the Board. 

4. Legal Resideney in South Carolina: South Carolina resideney shall be established in aeeordanee 1.Yith 
the prineiples of Seetion 59 101 70, S.C. Code, as amended, v,rhieh eurrently provides in part as follo1.vs: 
"Persons 1.vho have been domieiled in South Carolina for a period no less than twelve months 1.Yith an 
intention of making a permanent home therein, ineluding persons in their majority, emaneipated minors 
and unemaneipated minors 1.Yhose parents hfr',e been domieiled in this State for no less than twelve months 
with an intention of making a permanent home herein may be eonsidered South Carolina residents, provided 
that where the parents of an unemaneipated minor are living apart or are separated, divoreed, or deeeased, 
the resideney of the ehild shall be determined by the plaee of domieile of the parent or legal guardian with 
whom the ehild normally resides. Students making applieation for resideney status shall have the burden of 
pro•,ing that these requirements are met." 

5. Investigation of Fitness of Applieants: The offiee designated in paragraph 2 shall make a eareful and 
full in,,estigation of the ability, eharaeter and qualifieations of eaeh applieant to determine his fitness . The 
offiee shall submit a written summary of its findings on eaeh applieant to the Board through the 
Commissioner. This investigation shall inelude a sharing of information pertaining to the applieant 1,vith the 
medieal or dental sehool(s) whieh has aeeepted him for enrollment and a visit to his home eommunity 
eontaeting his family, his ehureh, his sehool, his eredit referenees, lfr'H enforeement authorities, and other 
kno1.Yledgeable persons. Eaeh applieant shall be required to sign a release form authorizing any person or 
ageney hfr'ling information about his ability, eharaeter and qualifieations to release sueh information to the 
Board or its agents. 

6. Appearanee before Board: The Board may examine eaeh applieant to assist in determining if he is 
qualified. 

7. Duration of Loan or Seholarship: Eaeh loan or seholarship shall be for a period of one year. Ho1Never, 
reeipients of a loan or scholarship who sueeessfully complete the related year of study shall have first 
priority on unobligated funds for renev,ral of the loan or seholarship for the sueceeding year. 

8. Amount of Loan or Seholarship: Eaeh loan or seholarship shall consist of tv,'o parts: (1) Payment of 
tuition and other sehool related expenses up to a total of $5000 per year, and (2) an allO'tvanee of $100 per 
month for living expenses. 

9. Praetiee Seleetion: Eaeh loan or seholarship shall be based upon the eondition that on or before six 
months from the date the applicant completes one year of internship he engage in the general praetice of 
medieine or dentistry in a eounty within the State whieh has a doetor ratio of not more than one doetor for 
eaeh two thousand people or a dentist ratio of not more than one dentist for eaeh four thousand people. The 
Department shall keep a list of the eounties having sueh ratios and the applieant may ehoose 1Nhieh of these 
counties he desires to praetice in. 

2 



10. Determination of Doctor and Dentist Ratios: The number of doctors and dentists practicing in counties 
shall be primarily based on the latest data from the State Board of Medical EKaminers and the State Board 
of Dentistry pertaining to practitioners licensed and registered by these Boards. The Board of Health and 
Environmental Control may also take into consideration the Federal physicians assigned in the counties 
inasmuch as the people they serve are inch:1ded in the population of the counties. The population used in 
calculating the ratios shall be the estimate of the Research and Statistical Services Division of the Budget 
and Control Board elosest to the time of assembly of the information from which the number of 
professionals is defr,•ed. 

11. Repayment of Loan or Scholarship: For each year during which an applicant benefits from a loan or 
scholarship he shall be required to engage in practice as defined in paragraph 9 for one year. Such v,rork 
shall in addition constitute a repayment of the loan or scholarship. Applicants who receive a scholarship or 
loan for four years shall only be required to practice in such a county for three years, at the end of '+'l'hich 
time the loan shall be considered paid in full. '}/here the Board is convinced that there is justifiable cause 
which the applicant could not have foreseen, the Board may allow him to repay the loan or scholarship by 
paying in cash the full amount of the loan or scholarship, plus 7% interest per year compounded 
semiannually. 

12. Contracts with Applicants: Before being granted a loan or scholarship, each applicant shall enter into 
a contract with the Board, agreeing to the terms and conditions upon which the loan or scholarship shall be 
granted to him. The contract shall include terms and provisions to carry out the purpose and intent of 
paragraphs 7 through 10 and 14 of these regulations. It shall be signed by the chairman of the Board, 
countersigned by the eKecutive secretary of the Board, and signed by the applicant. 

13. Contracts with Professional Schools: The Board may make arrangements and eKecute contracts v,ith 
approved medical or dental schools for the admission of students granted loans or scholarships by the Board. 
Such contracts may provide for the payment of tuition and other school related eKpenses directly to the 
schools. The Board, upon proper notice, may cancel any contract made with such institutions. 

14 . Failure of Recipient to Fulfill Contract: If the recipient of a scholarship fails without justifiable cause 
to practice medicine or dentistry in accordance vt'ith the terms of his contract, three times the entire amount 
of the scholarship benefits received, plus 7% interest per year compounded semiannually shall become due 
and payable. However, if the Board determines there is justifiable cause for the failure to practice pursuant 

to the terms of the contract, it may relieve the recipient of the obligation to practice according to the terms 
of the contract, and shall provide for repayment of the amount received, plus 7% interest per year on any 
terms it may deem proper. Upon recommendation and request of the Board, the Attorne~· General shall 
institute proceedings for the purpose of recovering any amount due the State upon breach of the contract. 

15. Receipts and E~q3enditures: Funds appropriated and all sums received in repayment of loans and 
scholarships shall be placed in the State Treasury to the credit of the South Carolina Medical and Dental 
Scholarship Fund. Loan and scholarship payments shall be paid out of this fund upon a voucher to the State 
Comptroller General signed by the chairman and the eKecutive secretary of the Board.[Repealed]. 

Fiscal Impact Statement: 

No fiscal impact to the agency. 

Statement of Need and Reasonableness: 

3 



The following presents an analysis of the factors listed in 1976 Code Section 1-23-115(C)(l)-(3) and 
(9)-(11 ): 

DESCRIPTION OF REGULATION: 61-1 , Medical and Dental Scholarship Fund. 

Purpose: R.61-1 is no longer needed because when the S.C. General Assembly ceased to fund the Medical 
and Dental Loan Fund, it established a Rural Physician Program to address the undersupply of clinicians in 
rural and underserved South Carolina communities. The new program is administered by the South Carolina 
Area Health Education Consortium and fiscally managed by the Medical University of South Carolina. 
Should the General Assembly decide to fund the Medical and Dental Fund the statute provides for funding 
loans without the need for regulation. 

Legal Authority: 1976 Code Sections 59-111-510 through 59-111-580. 

Plan for Implementation: The DHEC Regulation Development Update (accessible at 
http://www.scdhec.gov/ Agency/RegulationsAndUpdates/RegulationDevelopmentUpdate/) provides a 
summary of and link to this repeal. Additionally, printed copies are available for a fee from the 
Department's Freedom of Information Office. Upon taking legal effect, Department personnel will take 
appropriate steps to inform the regulated community of the repeal and any associated information. 

DETERMINATION OF NEED AND REASONABLENESS OF THE REGULATION BASED ON ALL 
FACTORS HEREIN AND EXPECTED BENEFITS: 

The General Assembly last funded the program in the 1988 Appropriations Act for the 1988-1989 fiscal 
year. The last recipients completed their service obligations in 1996 following three years of residency and 
four years of service. Since the General Assembly has not funded the Medical and Dental Scholarship/Loan 
program since FY 1989, the Department has had no funds to administer and the program has been dormant 
for the past thirty years. As such, the Department repeals R.61-1. 

DETERMINATION OF COSTS AND BENEFITS: 

There are no costs to the state or its political subdivisions associated with the repeal of R.61-1. The benefit 
of repealing this regulation is removing an unnecessary regulation that is no longer consistent with the 
statute. 

UNCERTAINTIES OF ESTIMATES: 

None. 

EFFECT ON THE ENVIRONMENT AND PUBLIC HEALTH: 

Repealing R.61-1 will have no effect on the environment and public health. 

DETRIMENT AL EFFECT ON THE ENVIRONMENT AND PUBLIC HEALTH IF THE REGULATION 
IS NOT IMPLEMENTED: 

Repealing R.61-1 will have no detrimental effect on the environment and public health. 

Statement of Rationale: · 

Here below is the Statement of Rationale pursuant to S.C. Code Section 1-23-1 l0(h): 

4 



The fund had originally been a scholarship program when the regulation was first adopted but was converted 
by statute to a loan fund in 1985; however, the regulation was never amended to conform to the amended 
statute. The General Assembly last funded the program in the 1988 Appropriations Act for the 1988-1989 
fiscal year. The last recipients completed their service obligations in 1996 following three years of residency 
and four years of service. In 1989, when the S.C. General Assembly ceased to fund the Medical and Dental 
Loan Fund, it established a Rural Physician Program to address the undersupply of clinicians in rural and 
underserved South Carolina communities. The new program is administered by the South Carolina Area 
Health Education Consortium and fiscally managed by the Medical University of South Carolina. 

5 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South Carolina Board of Health and Environmental Control 

Final Review Conference 

December 12, 2019 

 

Final Review Conference Docket No. 19-RFR-48, Maguro Enterprises, LLC – Groundwater 

Withdrawal Permit, Berkeley County, Permit No. 08IN015, for groundwater withdrawal at 

source 08IN015G01. 

A Request for Final Review was filed on October 23, 2019.  

Counsel of Record – 

Matthieu Erramuzpe and Catherine Wannamaker for South Carolina Coastal Conservation League 

Mary D. Shahid for Maguro Enterprises, LLC 

Nathan Haber for SCDHEC 

 
Table of Contents 

Note: Page #s for this record are located on the bottom of the page. 

Staff Decision (Groundwater Withdrawal Permit # 08IN015) – page 1 of 549  

Request for Final Review – page 5 of 549 

Email Communications to Board – page 113 of 549  

Staff Response – page 537 of 549 

Acknowledgment Memorandum from Clerk – page 546 of 549  

Notice of Final Review Conference – page 548 of 549 


	BRD-Agenda 20191212
	Item 2 - Health Reg Enforcement Report
	Item 3 - FINAL December 2019 BAI
	Item 4 - NFR_R.61-43_4886 - Board
	Signed Board Memo for R.61-43

	Item 5 - R. 30-1 and R. 30-14
	Item 6 - R.61-32 and R.61-54
	Item - 7 - R.61-36 and R.36-35
	Item 8 - R.61-1 
	cover sheet for 19-RFR-48



